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S. 88—THE LOCAL EMPOWERMENT AND
FLEXIBILITY ACT OF 1995

TUESDAY, DECEMBER 5, 1995

U.S. Senate,
Committee on Governmental Affairs,

Washington, DC.

The Committee met, pursuant to notice, at 9:34 a.m., in room
SD-342, Dirksen Senate Office Building, Hon. Ted Stevens, Chair-

man of the Committee, presiding.

Present: Senators Stevens and Glenn.

OPENING STATEMENT OF CHAIRMAN STEVENS

Chairman Stevens. Good morning. I am constrained to say that

my good friend and our colleague Senator Hatfield startled us all

by his announcement last week. Mark, as I told you, it took me
back so many years.

Senator Hatfield and I met at General Eisenhower's farm in

about September of 1962, when he was Governor of Oregon, and
later, fate brought me here, and I caught up with him in 1968, and
I have been standing in his shadow since then. It is a large shad-
ow, and I would just as soon stand in it for the rest of my time
in the Senate, as a matter of fact. But I do welcome you. Senator.

This hearing this morning is on S. 88, your Local Empowerment
and Flexibility Act. Every Member of Congress has heard com-
plaints from our State and local governments about the bureauc-
racy involved in using Federal funds. We have heard that Federal
rules and regulations stifle creativity and effectiveness. Each local

government and each state is unique. They are unique in the exact
nature of their specific problems, and they are unique in their own
particular capabilities. But Federal grants and programs are de-

signed primarily for the Nation as a whole and rarely recognize the
uniqueness of our system.
We have a one-size-fits-all approach that wastes money and ef-

fort and minimizes effectiveness, due in large part to the fact that
the programs are generally structured to focus on the process and
not on performance.
Senator Hatfield, I believe you have initiated a very commend-

able effort to reverse the focus. You propose in S. 88 to allow local

governments to restructure their Federal assistance and emphasize
performance and results rather than uniform procedural require-

ments.
Your legislation encourages much greater coordination of Fed-

eral, State, local and private sector efforts and focuses on the prob-
lems of each community rather than on the Nation all at once.

(1)



In Alaska, we live under Federal rules and regulations written
in Washington, DC that are particularly trying. For instance,
under Federal housing rules, a flush toilet and a bathtub must be
in every home financed by HUD; but 95 of our communities have
no running water, and there is no water source to hook them up
to, particularly in wintertime.
Although some villages have been creative and use their tubs to

butcher game or to store fish, it is not a smart use of Federal funds
to put a bathtub in a house that does not have plumbing.

Giving local communities the flexibility to either use the money
that would otherwise be used for useless plumbing fixtures, to in-

crease insulation in a harsh climate, or to build fewer homes and
provide the money to establish and start a water system would
make a lot more sense.

Partnering State and Federal funds seeking to accomplish the
same goal will allow us to better marshal resources to address com-
plex issues in the local area, such as we face with water and sewer
in Alaska.
Congressman Clinger has introduced a companion bill in the

House. There is bipartisan interest in this legislation, I believe,

and like unfunded mandates, which we enacted earlier this year,

I think this is an important reform that could and should be en-

acted by this Congress if we have the support of both parties.

We will be hearing fi'om administration witnesses shortly, but let

me thank Senator Hatfield for his leadership in this area, and I do
believe, Mark, that this would be an excellent capstone to your out-

standing legislative career.

Senator Glenn?

OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR GLENN
Senator Glenn. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I will be just a mo-

ment here.

Senator Stevens said he met you at the Eisenhower Farm. I was
not invited to that meeting, I do not believe, but that does not
mean that I do not share a sense of loss in your announcement to

retire. You are going to be missed. You have been a voice of reason
and accommodation in trying to work things out. We see a lot of

things going in the other direction around here these days, and I

think that is to the detriment of the Senate, and while I can under-
stand your decision, I do not agree with it, and I am sorry to see

you leave, Mark.
I look forward to hearing testimony from our witnesses on legis-

lation introduced by our colleague. Senator Hatfield, to provide
greater flexibility to local governments.
When local officials look to the Federal Government for funding

and assistance, they are conft"onted with a dizzying array of Fed-
eral grant programs. According to ACIR, the Advisory Commission
on Intergovernmental Relations, there are currently more than 630
different Federal grant programs to State and local governments

—

630. In just one budget sub-fiinction, elementary, secondary and vo-

cational education, there are 78 different Federal grant programs.
So I can certainly sympathize with local officials who are frustrated

with the red tape, regulations and procedures that inevitably ac-

company such a large number of Federal programs. It is a tough



job just to keep up with what the programs are, let alone being

able to get in and make some use of them.
We have made some progress in this Congress, however, in sim-

plifying and rebuilding the intergovernmental partnership. Earlier

this year, we enacted the Unfunded Mandates Reform Act, which
was a big step forward—this Committee worked on it for several

years—and the Paperwork Reduction Act, which goes beyond just

paperwork reduction and also covers the computerization of Gov-
ernment. I am proud to have coauthored both of those bills. More
recently, the Senate passed welfare and job training reform legisla-

tion which block grants and simplifies dozens of Federal programs.
Of course, turning responsibility for national programs over to

the States and localities is not without its risk. That is why I be-

lieve we should insist on what some call "accountable devolution,"

the key word being "accountable." It is a version of the old concept

that comes, I guess, out of the cold war: Trust, but verify.

In order for accountable devolution to work, we must have in

place strong governmental information and evaluation systems so

we can assess how these programs are implemented. We can then
see what approaches work, what approaches do not, which States

and local governments are succeeding and which ones are not.

Further, we must have strong financial systems to ensure that

Federal funds are not misused or wasted. These are Federal tax-

payer dollars, and we are under an obligation to see that they are

not wasted at any of the three levels of Government.
I commend my colleague Senator Hatfield for his long-time advo-

cacy of this bill. I also thank him for building some accountability

provisions—that magic word again—into his legislation by requir-

ing the development of specific goals and performance measure-
ment criteria as part of any local flexibility plan.

I certainly want to work with him and the administration to

strengthen these provisions, particularly as they relate to financial

accountability. I do have some concerns about the overly broad
scope of the bill. As the bill is currently drafted, a locality could get

a waiver, for example—and granted, it would have to run back
through the Flexibility Council—to shift Federal education funds
into highway construction, or Alzheimer grant funds into rural

housing, even though Congress may have stipulated in the law that

those funds are only to be spent for their stated purpose. As I see

it, that is an enormous amount of authority to grant to the Flexibil-

ity Council, which would be the authority that would grant such
waivers.
And if the Council does not oversee these waived laws and rules

and combined programs, who will? Will the Department of Edu-
cation really be able to oversee how its education money is being
used to build a local highway project—and granted, it has to come
back through the Council.
But from the local point of view, I also think there are some

questions. The bill sets up a performance-oriented planning proc-

ess—and I understand that 0MB has some ideas about strengthen-
ing that process. In an ideal world, that would be great, but it

looks like an awful lot of work for localities.

Right now, many of the 600-plus Federal grants are made di-

rectly to local governments. When you add in the local planning re-



quirements and the need to coordinate with State governments, the
goal of flexibihty, I hope, does not get buried under red tape and
new procedures. I think that is something we need to discuss fur-

ther.

The goal of a balanced budget means less discretionary domestic
spending, so we do need to think about creative ways for serving
local needs. I like the concept behind this bill. I believe we want
to work on its mechanics a little bit. As I said earlier, I would like

to work with Senator Hatfield and my colleagues on the Committee
to work these problems out and produce bipartisan legislation out
of this Committee.

I do not think we should move to a markup until we have had
a chance to discuss some of these things and decide where we are
going; it might be counterproductive to move too soon. But I look
forward to hearing from the witnesses on how the bill might work
and how some of the problems I have raised might be addressed.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Stevens. Thank you, and I look forward to such a dia-

logue and conferences with Senator Hatfield and perhaps Members
of the House who are similarly interested to see if we cannot work
out a bipartisan bill. I am sure that is our colleague's goal.

Senator Hatfield?

TESTIMONY OF HON. MARK O. HATFIELD, U.S. SENATOR FROM
THE STATE OF OREGON

Senator Hatfield. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, Senator Glenn.
First, I appreciate your kind remarks and would indicate to you

that as I look forward to a new career, I shall miss you as people,
as fi'iends, and I will have many fond memories as I leave the Sen-
ate, with great respect for the Senate, especially as made up of

quality leaders like Senator Stevens and Senator Glenn.
Mr. Chairman, I would like to submit my written statement for

the record and highlight my statement and then be responsive to

your questions.
Chairman Stevens. Without objection, it will be printed in full.

Senator.
Senator Hatfield. As all of us know, we have been through the

reconciliation process; at least, we have moved measurably upon
the accomplishment of those goals in the reconciliation process. But
I do not believe that the reconciliation process or the general budg-
et act, or rather, the budget resolution, is going to solve our prob-
lem of trying to balance the budget by the year 2002.

I think, if we are going to continue to do business as usual, that
that goal will elude us because of the tremendous costs in admin-
istering the hundreds of categorical grants that Senator Glenn has
referred to. And I think, unless we do provide localities with a cer-

tain flexibility and stimulate creativity, rather than stultify it as
we do now, that we are going to fail. Because there is such esca-
lation of costs of administering these programs, of bureaucrats
talking to bureaucrats, you also exclude the opportunity to really
deal directly with the constituents whom you are targeting.

I feel very strongly that there are many ways to analyze this,

and I am happy to say that Speaker Gingrich and Majority Leader
Dole sent a letter to President Clinton last December, urging the



President to consider the flexibility factor, and Vice President Gore
has sent a letter indicating that the administration has been en-

couraging the State and local governments into innovation and en-

trepreneurship. So it appears that we have a fairly bipartisan, top

leadership support for the concept.

Mr. Chairman, Senator Glenn, I want to also say that it seems
to me that many of the problems we face today have failed to recog-

nize that diversity is a strength, and that this Nation was founded
on the principle of pluralism, of great diversity amongst our people,

and therefore, with diversity and pluralism, we have to entertain

and exercise flexibility. There are competing thoughts. There are

competitive ideas of how this Government should operate, and we
have created a very, very marvelous framework to be able to exer-

cise that diversity.

I might also say that the creativity factor that goes with diver-

sity is paramount. When we begin to look at some of these pro-

grams that we today take as national programs, we fail to recall

that they really were experimented with in the laboratory of the

States. Social Security, progressive income tax, workmen's com-
pensation, unemployment compensation, women's rights, child

rights, civil rights, and many, many more, were all experimented
at the State level. And we have increasingly shut off the States' op-

portunity to experiment and to be innovative.

So I offer this bill with a little background as a Governor for 8
years, and my frustration at feeling, in the—that was in the late

fifties and sixties, before we had a lot of the new regulations—but
I recall that it seemed to me that we ought to try to encourage the
able-bodied people on welfare to engage in some productive con-

tribution for their communities. So, as a Governor, I put together
a proposal that was approved, and we put it together in a way that
incorporated participants and local officials.

We took three counties out of our State of 36 countries, and we
said every able-bodied man shall labor in some community program
for his welfare check—work fare, it came to be known. I think we
were the first State, or one of the first States, to try this.

We worked with the labor unions, we worked with the county
commissioners, the city mayors and councilmen. We wanted to get

to those projects not to make work, but to have a specific contribu-
tion that they did not have the resources to budget. So it was not
competing with other labor.

What we targeted was county roads, which needed a lot of brush
removal and better vision through the brush removal; we created
county parks and local parks to expand recreational opportunities
for people. And we embarked upon that, providing the work
clothes, providing the equipment, and under supervision, to get the
able-bodied out there, contributing back to the community some-
thing they were receiving on a temporary basis, hopefully.

Now, that worked very well in those three counties until we were
knocked in the head by the feds. The Federal Government sent a
very, I would say, excited letter to me—they were very excited
about this situation, but negatively so

—'Tou cannot do this. You
are adding State requirements to welfare criteria. You are pre-
empting the Federal Government's rights." And they said, "Cease
and desist."



Well, we did, but we also went out and made a very careful study
of the recipients of that welfare check who were contributing back
to the community, and we found 90-some percent of those recipi-

ents welcoming the opportunity to maintain their dignity, to main-
tain their status as contributing members of society and not as
wards of the State. We were very, very pleased to be able to prove
that in our State, at least for a brief period of time.

I only use that as an example. I think we also have to realize

that there has been not only steady growth of the number of pro-

grams, as Senator Glenn has referred to, but let me say that we
now have 202 volumes of Federal regulations, 202 volumes total-

ling more than 130,000 pages. We have 16 volumes alone on envi-

ronmental regulations. We have 20 volumes alone on agricultural
regulations. And we could go on and on and on.

Now, the crux of the Federal-State-local government relation

today in these programs is one objective: Compliance—compliance,
compliance, compliance with the regulations—not whether the pro-

grams are working, not whether you have been able to measure a
success reaching a certain goal in these programs, but compliance,
compliance, audits, filling out the annual reports, interviews, et

cetera, et cetera—bureaucrats talking to bureaucrats. That is what
the programs have now come down to in most or many instances.

Why not find a way to set goals that these programs were origi-

nally intended to achieve and have benchmark reviews as to

whether they are achieving those goals and having some oppor-
tunity or incentive to be more innovative, again, going back to the
pluralism of our society, the diversity in our society, and let the
local people say: Hey, we have a better way to do this. We have
agreed to the goal. We are going to have the progress of that goal
reviewed in benchmarks. But at the same time, let us conduct us
on this basis that we have created.

Now, when we talk about waiving Federal regulations, remember
that that is with the exception of civil rights—no civil rights regu-
lation waiver and no health and safety regulation waiver.
Taking education as an example, I believe that all of these things

should be tried out, proven, and not have these massive national
changes thrown at us. I cannot help but cite the Kerr-Mills ap-
proach to Medicare. When we had Kerr-Mills, it was to give every
State an opportunity first to establish the base of need, an inven-
tory of need, and an assessment of ability to meet that need. I am
happy to report that Oregon was the first State to adopt the Kerr-
Mills approach. I called together all of the various representatives
of agencies of delivery, agencies like the medical association and all

of those others involved, and we began to set up the whole base on
how we felt Medicare would be required.
But no, that approach was overridden by the King-Anderson,

where the Congress said, "We know all the answers. We know how
it is going to work. It will never cost more than $10 billion at the
most in 25 years." And by the way, instead of $10 billion, it was
$60 billion.

But nevertheless, we abandoned the approach of proving the
case, demonstrating and experimenting, and we adopted national
criteria which ended up costing us extraordinary amounts of
money.



When I was able to get the Congress to agree to flexibihty in the

Goals 2000 program—that was adopted by both Houses and signed

by the President—Secretary Riley set up five States where he
would start the flexibility program. Oregon was selected as one of

them. Now, bear in mind that there are more state regulations

today governing our public education than there are Federal regu-

lations; so in that, the State was going to have to lift its regula-

tions as well as the Federal Government, and in turn, the State of

Oregon, with a contract with the Federal Government, said we are

going to pick so many school districts across our State—not the

whole State—so many school districts that show an interest in

wanting to apply this flexibility factor.

So out of these 5 States, out of the 10 districts within my State,

we are beginning to build an experiment, a trial, to prove the the-

ory, and I think that that is how flexibility should be approached

—

make it prove itself. It is easy for us to talk about theory here in

this area of the Congress, but let us get out there where it is actu-

ally being applied and the people say, "We have a better way to do
it."

Now, by giving those waivers and waiving those regulations, they
are agreeing to a set of goals. They are committed to the best meth-
od of achieving those goals, but they are given the flexibility to

adapt to the diversity, the pluralism, within this country.

Some have raised the question about waiving environmentals; is

this going to gut the environmental laws and regulations—or the
labor regulations. No, no. I think what we again have to under-
stand is that it is an agreed set of goals—the Federal, the State,

the local—and there are waiver standards given to the President,

there are waiver standards given to the Governors, so that they
work within a framework of accountability. We do not yield one
inch on accountability.

But surely, there must be something more than the accountabil-

ity of money. There ought to be the accountability of whether the
program is working. That is the key, in my view, of how we can
really reach some improvement and reduce the costs.

Senator Stevens, you are on the Appropriations Committee. I

think it is very interesting that when you look at the Department
of Education today, it has more assistant secretaries than any
other department—more assistant secretaries, which reflects the
hierarchy of the Department of Education, which led in part the ar-

gument of the Reagan administration to abolish the Department of

Education—which I did not agree with, throwing the baby out with
the bath water.
But when you begin to add all of the hierarchy that we have,

within the feds, within the States as well. And, relating to edu-
cation, when you and I appropriate one dollar to a Head Start stu-

dent in that classroom, we see a diminishing part of that dollar

reaching that student, but being filtered off, skimmed off, by the
process of administration. And those dollars should be targeted and
should reach those people that we created the program for.

I am happy to say that today, we have, by your generosity, pro-
vided Sue Cameron, who is the administrator of Tillamook County
Health Department in the State of Oregon. She is going to be on
a later panel, talking about the success of this flexibility program
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in Tillamook, Oregon and county. I think you will sense there that,

as the local people have engaged in this process, they feel that they
have evidence of its success.

I will not tarry longer on my opening statement. It is often like

this, I know, in my own committees, in which people who bring a
written statement say they will just highlight it, and they end up
taking more time to highlight it than if they had just read it. So
I am going to stop at this point and respond to any questions.

Chairman STEVENS. Thank you, Senator.
If a program involved only one department, would you envision

that they still would have to go to a 21-member interagency council

for review and to judge the flexibility plan?
Senator Hatfield. Again, I would like to refer back to the flexi-

bility factor. I think that we are going to have to have language
that recognizes the diversity and the scope and the extent and com-
plexities of programs within as well as between departments. I am
not locked into an3rthing like that, except I believe it might even
be easier to try with one department that has, say, a single pro-

gram that would be affected; it might be a good way to start this.

I am not suggesting that we throw the whole Government into

this experiment at one time. By the way, we have the Work Fare
program; we have the flexibility factor that Congress has adopted
for the work program in the Department of Labor. We have had
good response from the Cabinet officials in those departments, so

we are starting out slowly, but I do believe that we have to have
the overall generic authority for departments to wade in as they
would see fit.

Chairman Stevens. Well, I wondered if you would be amenable
to having some sort of a review by the interagency council if a de-

partment refused to accede to a flexibility plan request, where it

involved just one department. Most of the agencies
Senator HATFIELD. Well, Senator, we are approaching it depart-

ment by department, if I understand your question, for instance, in

the Council on Competitiveness and in regulatory reform, the Sen-
ate adopted flexibility for each one of those bills, which have yet
to become law.
Chairman STEVENS. Yes. Are you satisfied that the accountabil-

ity factor would be there in terms of the real necessity to assure
that the Federal funds have been used for the program for which
they were intended to be spent?

Senator HATFIELD. Two things, when you raise the term, "legal."

I would like to say also at this time that the American Law Divi-

sion of the CRS has reviewed this local flex, and they feel that it

does fall within the constitutional parameters of our Government.
Now, to the other part of your question, I think that in any

agreement that is reached on any program, the financial account-
ability is part of that agreement, but it is not the sole focus. We
are trying to shift fi-om the accountability of money to incorporate
and include as well the accountability of the worthiness of the pro-

gram. Why put more money into a program that is either failing

or is doing poorly without some kind of a report card? Right now,
it does not make any difference whether the program is working
or not, as long as you are complying with the rules and the regula-
tions. And to me, that is a far cry fi-om the totality of responsibility
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that we have as Federal legislators to not only make the dollars ac-

countable, but to make the program accountable, to some degree of

success or achieving goals.

Chairman Stevens. Let me be a little bit of a devil's advocate
now. I do not know how many local governments we have in the
country, but this plan envisions all of them having access to a 21-

member interagency council. It is sort of like turning all of the dis-

trict courts of the Nation into having direct access to the Supreme
Court.

Is it possible that there would have to be a regional entity to deal

with local problems and then go to the 21-member council for those
that are

Senator Hatfield. It certainly ought to be able to be adapted in

that kind of manner. Take the Bonneville Power Administration,
which is so regional in character in purpose and so important to

the Northwest. Certainly, we are trjdng to regionalize a fish pro-

gram now to see if it succeeds, which we have not done in the past.

So that sure, there will be regional applications as well as State
and county and city.

Chairman STEVENS. Thank you very much.
Senator Glenn?
Senator Glenn. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I would appreciate your comments on the authority of the Flexi-

bility Council, because it would have enormous power, it seems to

me. It could waive any other regulatory requirements of Govern-
ment, any other requirements of law outside of civil rights, ADA,
and—what is the other one?
Senator Hatfield. Health and safety.

Senator Glenn. That was not exactly what I was thinking of, but
maybe that one, too. Anyway, you give enormous power to cut
across all the other regulations of Government and all the other
provisions of Government, and that is really centering more power
than the executive branch has right now to do anything, and this

will be centered in one council to waive all the things we pass here
on the Hill, except for civil rights, ADA, and whatever the other
one was—maintenance of effort.

Senator Hatfield. While we are talking. Senator, let me make
sure—we are talking not about waiving laws, but we are talking
about waiving regulations made by the departments, made by the
agencies, in the execution of granting money for certain programs.
It is primarily focused on categorical grants.
Senator Glenn. Could they not waive Federal statutory require-

ments? As I understood it, they could waive Federal statutory and
regulatory requirements.

Senator Hatfield. Only what authority they have now. HCFA
has some of those rights. Some agencies have those rights now, but
only in the pursuit of the goals of their programs. We are not going
to take money that is appropriated, say, for highways and transfer
it by having the authority to waive some regulation or law, and
take that highway money and put it over into education. We are
not talking about that kind of flexibility. We are talking about
flexibility only in achieving the goals that the departments set up
as we set up through law. In other words, if we set up a law relat-

ing to an educational program, that law, executed through the Sec-
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retary of Education, like Mr. Riley is doing now, cay say: These are

the goals that we want to achieve, and any regulations that are in-

hibiting State and local governments from coming up with a better

method, we are waiving to get to methodology, not to change the

concept of the law. That is the only thing—in the administrative

machinery.
Senator Glenn. OK. Maybe we need to talk a little bit about this

separately. But in the bill, on page 18, Section 8(b), it says: "Not-

withstanding any other law and subject to paragraphs (2) and (3),

the Flexibility Council may waive any requirement applicable

under Federal law to the administration of or provision of benefits

under any covered Federal assistance program included in an ap-

proved local flexibility plan if that waiver is (a) reasonably nec-

essary for the implementation of the plan and (b) approved by a

majority of the members of the Flexibility Council."

That would appear to be very, very broad discretion to cut across

any requirements of law.

Senator Hatfield. Yes, but let me tell you what the intent of

that is and what I hear the wording to mean. The regulations

under that law are what they are going to be considered to waive,

the regulations made by the departments and the bureaucracy
under the law. They are not waiving the generic legislation to set

up the program.
If that language needs clarification, of course, that is fine, and

I am happy to do it; but all I am saying is that that council is

waiving the regulations in that law or made under that law.

Senator Glenn. OK. Do you plan to put any limitation on what
the Council could do with regard to transferring money across func-

tions of Government? For instance, just to make a ridiculous exam-
ple, could you take money intended for Alzheimer's research and
use it to build a bridge?
Senator Hatfield. No. That is not their function.

Senator Glenn. OK.
Senator Hatfield. No. That is not the intent at all of the flexibil-

ity. And even when money is identified, say, for Alzheimer's, they
cannot use it for cancer.

Senator Glenn. OK, but that would stay within a medical func-

tion, say, and that would be OK, then. If they decided they had a
bigger problem with cancer there than they did with Alzheimer's,
then they could not put in for

Senator Hatfield. I would not conceive that they could change
the goal, basically, of the law. If we identify in the appropriations
process $310 million, as we have, for Alzheimer's, they are not
going to set up a council that can take that $310 million, or $10
million of it, and say we are going to transfer it over to breast can-
cer.

Senator Glenn. They could not do that?
Senator Hatfield. That is not the intent.

Senator Glenn. OK. When staff went through this and then
briefed me, I think there was a little concern about this. We may
want to work with you on some language on this.

Senator Hatfield. That is not the intent.
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Senator Glenn. OK. Now, the community sets up its own plan
first. Could the State block a plan that the community has submit-

ted fi'om going on to the council?

Senator Hatfield. The community and the State have to reach
agreement with the Federal Government.
Let me go back to what is currently underway in the Department

of Education. In the Department of Education, our State super-

intendent of public instruction is engaged in this as the State rep-

resentative. She is working out the goals of these various categor-

ical grants with the given local school districts that have either an
elected county school superintendent or a school board, whatever
the governing agency may be. She is working that out with them
to present to Secretary Riley. Then, Secretary Riley, the State su-

perintendent of public instruction, and that local school district

agree on the goals that they want to achieve under this particular

categorical grant. Then, they all waive the State and the Federal
regulations—not the law, the regulations—that they have set up,

and say, on the basis of the agreement we have made that you
come forth in the local school district and say, We can do it better

this way, we can achieve this goal better this way, if we just do
not have to spend all of this time on compliance factors.

Now, the new agreement has accountability. It does not elimi-

nate accountability, but they merely say the methodology by which
you achieve that goal is now flexible for you to try that. For a given
period of time, every 3 months, or every 6 months, we are going
to have a benchmark review of how much of that goal you are

achieving.
Senator Glenn. But where a Federal program goes directly to a

city or a county or whatever, and they want to make some
changes—say, they want more flexibility—they draw up their plan,

and they are required to submit that to the State even though the
State was not the administering entity to begin with.

Senator Hatfield. Yes.
Senator Glenn. Could the State stop that at that point by dis-

approving it?

Senator Hatfield. If there is a direct—if I understand your
question—a direct county grant, such as the PILT program, but
that is more of a block grant; that is the only thing that I can think
of offhand going directly to the county without going through some
State or regional agency—but if there is a program that goes di-

rectly to the county, which I cannot think of, and the State objects

because a State does not have a hierarchical relationship, the State
could object to that.

Senator Glenn. OK, but even if the State does have control of

the funds that run through the State and down, and the local com-
munity draws up their plan, the State would have the authority to

stop that plan, and it would not be submitted to the Federal finan-
cial

Senator Hatfield. You have got to have an agreement through-
out the chain.
Senator Glenn. Now, would this—we do not cover in this States'

responsibility to waive their own laws or regulations.
Senator Hatfield. No.
Senator Glenn. That would still be up to the State.
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Senator Hatfield. That is required, too, because again, in the ed
flex that we have adopted in Goals 2000, the State has to agree as
well to lift or waive their regulations under their laws.

Senator Glenn. OK, so we are not trying to cover that.

Senator HATFIELD. No.
Senator Glenn. Anything where the States agree with the local

council, and they are approving it and sending it on to the Federal
flexibility council, if it requires some waiver of State law in some
respect, or their own regulations, they would be responsible for

doing all that?
Senator Hatfield. Yes.
Senator Glenn. OK. Are there any others that you considered

exempting from being waived under this bill besides civil rights,

ADA, and maintenance of effort?

Senator Hatfield. We have not at this point, but certainly, if

there are such similar regulations that should not be waived, they
should be incorporated.
Senator GLENN. I do not have a list. I just wondered if you had

a list that you had started from on this, in putting this together.

Senator Hatfield. In combing through the categories of regula-
tions, we felt that they represented the most universal, accepted,
and expected as well to be administered and not be waived.
Senator Glenn. This Committee was originally responsible for

putting into effect the IG Act and expanding it back in 1988, so we
now cover some 61 different agencies and branches of Government;
and they have been doing a good job. They are concerned that their

authority to follow up on where Federal dollars are going and to

account for them might be a problem under this Act.

They have three concerns, and you can comment on all of them.
They are concerned that their authority would now be supplanted
and circumscribed by the new provisions giving responsibilities to

the States. Second, let us assume that they retain authority. They
are not going to be able to do these things, with budgets being cut
the way they are, for the IGs, as they see it. And third—and I

would agree with them on this—that as you send these things
downhill to more and more different levels of Government, the
chance of fraud, waste and abuse coming in is going to increase
rather than decrease.
How are we going to handle that? I am very concerned about ac-

countability. I am for the goals of what you are trying to do, but
I am very concerned about accountability.
Senator HATFIELD. Well, I would respond in two ways, first of all,

we are not prescribing this. We are making this an authorization
or an intended empowerment for the agencies to take advantage of
if they wish to.

Second, I think we have to recognize that the agencies are going
to have, perhaps, a stimulus from the local and the State up to the
Federal, but they still have to reach an agreement with those local

and State. A local and State proposal, if it clears the council and
so forth, is not automatically established until the Federal agencies
say. We are in a position to do this.

We do not force the Federal agencies into this. Also, if I were
head of a Federal agency, and this were now law, I would do as
Secretary Riley. I would say let us try it, but let us try it on a re-
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stricted basis until we have proven the case—take 50 counties
across the country, and we will try it in 50 counties, and if it

works, fine, then we will expand it. Otherwise, we are not going
to put it into effect across-the-board. I would do that, and that was
the intent of Secretary Riley.

Senator Glenn. Among the requirements in the bill, the local

plan has to identify "fiscal control and related accountability proce-

dures". They would have to build them in at the local level. I pre-

sume that this does not mean that there could not be other levels

of accountability. And is it your intent that the IGs would not be
permitted to follow down into the local communities and audit the
books on occasion and things like that, if they thought there was
something wrong?
Senator Hatfield. I do not think there is intended to be any re-

striction on an IG going right down—wherever the IG has author-
ity to go now, I do not see anything that is going to or intended
to restrict him from continuing that authority.

Senator Glenn. What would happen to Indian tribes?

Senator Hatfield. Well, we are dealing there with nations, and
of course, with nations, we are dealing with treaties, and we al-

ways have to make the exception, as we do in the gambling situa-

tion today.
Senator Glenn. So they would be exempt from this?

Senator Hatfield. I would assume that they would be as we are
exempting them fi*om many other things that affect the 50 States.
I have no intent of changing any of the treaty obligations or the
status of the Indian nations.
Senator Glenn. We have a number of Indian programs, of

course, and there might be a requirement for flexibility there, just
for better purposes, just as much as there is anywhere else.

Senator Hatfield. Well, I would say they ought to, in an admin-
istrative way, have the opportunity to avail themselves on any
flexibility in the administrative machinery, but I am referring to

their status as nations, the treaties, and so on.

Senator Glenn. It is sort of mind-boggling that we have 630 dif-

ferent programs. I think the dollar figure totals up to somewhere
around $225 billion a year for these 630 programs, and you prob-
ably have better figures, being on the Appropriations Committee,
than I do; but I think that is the estimate that has been given for

these 630 programs.
I think a big coroUaiy effort to this should be to combine a lot

of these programs, which the National Performance Review has
been trying to do and working on, and we have worked with them
on this Committee to do some of these things.

It is unbelievable—what did I read earlier—there are 78 dif-

ferent programs in elementary and secondary education alone. I

think we should be working to try to combine many of these pro-
grams so that local communities can have a better handle on what
is available.

Senator Hatfield. I could not agree with you more. Senator
Glenn. I do not believe this is a substitution for reorganization re-

quirements that we have in our Federal Government, but I do
think it is going to maximize more dollars to the targeted commu-
nity or to the targeted demographics.
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It is time we have another Hoover Commission, perhaps, deahng
with that subject.

Senator GLENN. I agree with that.

Senator HATFIELD. And I would hke to add to this Committee,
if you start considering a Hoover Committee, I would suggest that
a problem that we have had with reorganization efforts, going back
to the Brownlee Commission under President Roosevelt, on up
through the various others, even the most recent one that we have
had, is that there is no follow-up. And reorganization to me is a
continual policing job. If we are going to get a major reorganiza-
tion, we ought to have a very independent police agency out there,

watching it as it begins to revert to old habits.

Senator GLENN. Just one more question—I know I am taking a
long time—and I will let Senator Levin question. But the Federal
law that applies in some of these areas is the Single Audit Act,

which prescribes how the auditing of Federal funds will be tracked,

what will happen, and so on.

We had a case recently that was brought to light in Akron, Ohio
by some of the auditing that was done following up under the Sin-

gle Audit Act, as I understand it, and there were several articles

in the Akron Beacon Journal dealing with that case.

Is your proposal in complete harmony with the Single Audit Act?
That is another area that we might want to check, if that has not
been checked. Do you know whether it is compliance with all of

that?
Senator Hatfield. I will have to check that.

Senator Glenn. OK, good.
Thank you. I may have some more questions, Mr. Chairman, but

Senator Levin has been waiting.
Chairman STEVENS. Senator Levin?
Senator Levin. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Maybe we will call it a "Hatfield Commission" instead of a Hoo-

ver Commission and try to hang onto your expertise after you leave
this place. Is there any chance we could con you into taking over
that kind of a job?
Chairman STEVENS. And put the headquarters in Oregon.

[Laughter.]
Senator Levin. Yes—that is the old appropriator in you. I have

got to tell you, before I ask a few questions, how much we are going
to miss you here, assuming—I cannot speak for myself because I

am not sure I will be reelected, but I know how much the institu-

tion will miss you. And I am very happy for you and Antoinette,
Mark, but I am very sad for those of us who will not have the bene-
fit of your very, very special integrity and independence and just
basic decency.
One of the few regrets I have is that I have never served on a

committee with you. We have had a lot of dealings together in

many areas, but I would have loved to have also served on a com-
mittee with you because you have very wonderful characteristics.
Senator Hatfield. Thank you.
Senator Levin. The goal of your legislation is one that I share

in terms of flexibility. I came here as a local official, frustrated by
the one-size-fits-all thing, and knowing how different our commu-
nities are not only from communities in other States, but from each
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other. It is not just that communities in Michigan are different

from communities in Oregon, but each community has differences

with other communities inside the same State. And we were in-

stead faced with a rigid, kind of monohthic regulatory process
which frequently made absolutely no sense. So we were constantly,

just as you were as Governor of Oregon, bucking up against a Fed-
eral bureaucracy which adopted a regulation and was imposing it

in a uniform way, and a way which it considered to be fair because
it was not deviating for each particular unique circumstance, but
which nonetheless created problems for us.

So I start with the same kind of frustration and, to put it posi-

tively, the same kind of goal that you have, which is to increase
flexibility.

I do have a number of practical questions as to how this could
be implemented in a fair way. First, it seems to me that you have
got tens of thousands of local communities out there—I think they
number 87,000 or something like that—and we have I do not know
how many tens of thousands of nonprofits that also apply for cat-

egorical grants and would be eUgible to seek flexibility through
their municipalities and States.

So you have a huge number of potential applicants for flexibil-

ity—and I think it was Senator Stevens who used the analogy of
the Supreme Court—all seeking flexibility from a 21-person agency
that I think would be absolutely flooded with a huge volume.
Has anyone done any assessment as to how many categorical

grants might be eligible? Do you know offhand? For example, are
there 50,000 grants that would be eligible for this kind of flexibil-

ity, or 10,000, do you know? Do we have any feel for that?
Senator Hatfield. Well, as Senator Glenn said and I have in my

testimony here, I put it out in terms of volumes of regulations.

That is one way to measure it. There are about 600 categories. In
1972—here are the statistics—there were 422 different types of cat-

egorical grants; in 1993, there were 578. That is your trendline.
And I believe probably more recently—Senator Glenn uses the 600-
plus figure

Senator Glenn. Six hundred thirty.

Senator Hatfield. It would probably be the difference between
1993 and 1995.
Senator Levin. Now, those are the programs.
Senator Hatfield. Yes, categorical grants. That is the thing that

it is targeted to is the categorical grants.
Senator Levin. Then you have literally tens of thousands of po-

tential appUcants who will be seeking waivers under a huge num-
ber of grant programs, so you have a big potential volume, and I

think your instinct is to start slow.
Senator Hatfield. Yes. It is not going to happen all at one time.

Senator. Again, based on our efforts in the Clean Water Act, in the
work bill, in the competitiveness bill, in the regulatory reform regu-
lations, and as now implemented in the Department of Education,
it has not just given blanket authority out there to all these thou-
sands of groups as you indicate, and I do not think it is going to
happen that quickly, even under this generic legislation that would
empower the agencies to do that. They have to adapt; they have
to have the flexibility to adapt to their particular programs. It may



16

work one way in a program, and it may work in a slightly different

way in another program. The same program may work one way in

Michigan and a different way in Ohio or Alaska or Oregon.
So we have got to keep the flexibility in the flexibility factor as

well.

Senator LEVIN. You use the word "empower." It is your intention,

then, that this process be discretionary, with each agency operating
each grant program, so that if an agency says, "We are not ready
to do that," there is no obligation created in here to do that?

Senator Hatfield. No. That is not the intent.

Senator Levin. That is not the intent?
Senator Hatfield. No, no, not at all.

Senator LEVIN. All right.

Senator Hatfield. It cannot work if people do not want it to

work. And there has to be some feeling that, hey, we want to make
this work, and we are going to try it, with that positive approach.
If it is going to be jammed down their throats, it will not work.
Senator Levin. I think there should be a clarification there, but

that is the intent nonetheless.
Another area is the question of whether or not this applies to

people who are applying for—is it intended that this flexibility

apply as people apply for the grant, or after they have gotten the
grant, or both?
Senator HATFIELD. The assumption now that we have these

grants out there, and they are now receiving the moneys through
these grants—any change to that is what we are talking about, any
change to the present system as to how they are administering
those grants and how they are being held accountable for those
grants. It will be applied only to those who come up and say, "Hey,
we have a better way; we have a new program that we would like

to try in the administration of this grant." That would be reviewed,
and that would pass the agreement requirement with the feds, the
State and the locals.

Senator Levin. In other words, it is not your intent that this be
used at the beginning of a grant process, where each
Senator Hatfield. No.
Senator Levin. OK. Only after it is granted.
Senator HATFIELD. It is to change the present method that we

are now into, that I find unsatisfactory or that I think could be
greatly improved upon.

Senator Levin. Now, you indicated a distinction between regula-
tions which are enforcing the law as written and regulations which
are not required by the underlying law. And it is only the latter

regulations which you intend could be waived by this group.
Senator Hatfield. Yes.
Senator Levin. Do you have any feel for what percentage—would

that be the minority of regulations that would be those—we will

call them discretionary regulations—or would that be the majority
of regulations on the books, do you think?
Senator Hatfield. Well, I see the potential of 600 agencies that

could be involved, and the scope of that involvement would cover
the 202 volumes of regulations.

Senator Levin. Sally Katzen's estimate on this, I am just in-

formed, is that about 80 percent of the regulations on the books are
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required by law, and about 20 percent fall into that discretionary

area. Have you seen any numbers which are significantly different

fi"om that, or are you willing to assume it might be something like

that?
Senator Hatfield. I do not have that statistic. I will accept your

staff estimate.
Senator Levin. OK It is Sally Katzen's estimate of it, and she

is in a pretty good position to know.
Senator Hatfield. Yes.
Senator Levin. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Senator Hatfield. Thank you.
Chairman STEVENS. Thank you. Senator. We appreciate your

courtesy, and we are going to explore this very thoroughly today.

Senator HATFIELD. Thank you very much.
Chairman STEVENS. We have six more witnesses and about an

hour and a left for the hearing, so I would urge the witnesses to

follow the Senator's example and summarize their testimony and
let us inquire about it.

We will now impose the 10-minute rule on the Committee, and
our first witness will be Ms. England-Joseph, who is accompanied
by some people. Would you please state who they are for the

record?

TESTIMONY OF JUDY A- ENGLAND-JOSEPH, DIRECTOR, HOUS-
ING AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT ISSUES, U.S. GENERAL
ACCOUNTING OFFICE, ACCOMPANIED BY PAUL POSNER, DI-
RECTOR, BUDGET ISSUES, AND SUSAN BEEKMAN, SENIOR
ANALYST, COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT ISSUES

Ms. England-Joseph. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I am accompanied by Paul Posner, Director of Budget Issues at

GAG, and Susan Bee^nan, who is the senior analyst responsible
for community development issues. And I represent the housing
and community development issues group within GAO.
Chairman Stevens. Good. Thank you for appearing. We are

pleased to have your testimony.
Ms. England^oSEPH. It is a pleasure to be here before the Com-

mittee to talk about the Local Empowerment and Flexibility Act of
1995 which, as we have been discussing, increases or intends to in-

crease flexibihty for local governments and private nonprofit orga-
nizations using Federal funds to assist communities and their resi-

dents.
My testimony is based primarily on a February 1995 report on

community groups that are using a multifaceted or comprehensive
approach that relies on resident participation to address housing,
economic, and social services needs in distressed neighborhoods.

In that report, we examined why community development ex-
perts and practitioners advocate a comprehensive approach, what
challenges they see to its implementation, and how the Federal
Government might support such comprehensive approaches.
The report incorporated information obtained during our review

of four organizations that are applying this comprehensive ap-
proach for improving their respective communities.

In addition, my testimony discusses how recent experience with
the Empowerment Zone and Enterprise Communities Program may
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provide helpful insights on the complexity of an undertaking such
as that envisioned in the Flexibility Act.

In summary, our February report and recent work have shown
the following. Community development experts advocate com-
prehensive approaches to address the problems of distressed neigh-
borhoods because such complex, interrelated problems are better

addressed in tandem than individually.

The comprehensive approach was endorsed by HUD in March of

1994, and several national foundations, frustrated with the results

of programs they previously funded, have begun funding organiza-
tions that are now taking such a comprehensive approach.
However, multiple challenges confronted the four organizations

we studied. The organizations had to, among other things, piece to-

gether a complex web of funding from several private and public
sources to cover program and administrative costs. Overall, the
groups relied on public funding for up to 30 to 60 percent of their

budgets, often with conditions or other restrictions on their use.

The organizations also faced the onerous task of managing a di-

verse set of concurrent housing, economic development, and social

service programs.
The Federal Government assists distressed urban communities

and their residents through such a complex system involving mul-
tiple Federal departments and agencies. Together, these agencies
administer, as you have heard this morning, hundreds of programs
in the areas of housing, economic development, and social services.

These agencies have tended not to coordinate their efforts with one
another because they have separate missions and have been con-

cerned about losing control over their own resources.
In addition, the Federal efforts to coordinate that have been un-

dertaken have had few successes, leaving community organizations
such as the ones we reviewed with the burden of trying to piece
together programs to serve their communities.
The result of all this with regard to the communities we visited

was that they had difficulty in using and tracking funds from many
different sources to meet their specific community needs. The orga-
nizations found the program and reporting requirements and the
restrictions on the use of funds to be restrictive and burdensome.
In some cases, these hurdles were daunting enough that they chose
not even to use the Federal funds.

Representatives from the communities said that they had turned
down funding from certain Federal programs, or had chosen not to

apply for some Federal grants, because the programs were not
flexible enough to be used to address their local needs.
There are several things that have occurred since the work that

we did in the comprehensive area, including the implementation of
the local Empowerment Zone and Enterprise Communities Pro-
gram. And we thought it would be useful to look at the experience
of that particular program because as a part of that program, com-
munities who applied for this program were allowed to actually re-

quest waivers from Federal regulations in the hopes that that
would address their local needs and streamline their program im-
plementation.
As a part of this particular program, there were a number of ap-

plications that were received. Over 293 urban applicants, for exam-
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pie, came in, and they requested over 1,100 waivers of Federal pro-

grams asking for greater flexibility that covered maybe as many as

17 different Federal agencies.

According to HUD, who has the lead on this, the waiver process

was time-consuming and resource-intensive because localities often

lacked enough knowledge about Federal programs to define the

regulatory rehef that they sought. For example, many of the re-

quests submitted were relevant to State rather than Federal agen-

cies. Others were requests to assist that could be resolved through
dialogue rather than changes in either the regulations or statute,

and technical assistance actually solved their problems.

Although the Community Empowerment Board was established

under this program to serve as an inner-agency group, the majority

of the agencies that actually support that group and are rep-

resented on that board have no formal process for reviewing and
granting these waivers. In fact, what we found is that decision au-

thority sometimes hes in the field in some agencies, or at the

central headquarters level in others, and that adds to the time and
the staff-intensive nature of the process.

In light of the lessons that HUD and others have learned from
the experience with the Empowerment Zone and Enterprise Com-
munities Program, some questions that policymakers may ask in

considering the Local Empowerment and Flexibility Act of 1995 are

as follows:

What kind of process will aUow the flexibility plans to be ap-

proved and waivers to be granted in a timely manner while allow-

ing the affected agency or agencies time to consider and process the

requests?
The Empowerment Zone and Enterprise Communities experience

suggests that communities are not always clear about which agen-
cy has responsibihty for which requirements, or indeed whether the
requirement is a Federal or State responsibility.

How will the waiver requests that cut across Federal agencies be
approved and monitored? This becomes somewhat troublesome if

the funds are commingled across various Federal agencies and Fed-
eral programs, where different requirements exist for those pro-

grams.
How can accountability for the funds and programs impacted by

the waivers be built into the process without being overly burden-
some for the locahties? If performance standards in the flexibility

plans prepared by the localities are not specific enough, it will be
difficult to determine the waivers' impact and to ensure that pro-

gram goals are achieved and fiinds are adequately safeguarded.
And finally, what level of resources will be needed to administer

the provisions of this Act? Several agencies would face a time or
resource burden similar to the one they faced under the
Empowerment Zone and Enterprise Communities Program, and in

an era of downsizing, where will these resources come from?
In closing, Mr. Chairman, while these and other questions may

exist regarding the proposed Act, our work reviewing community-
based comprehensive programs indicates a clear need for greater
flexibility to address the problems and conditions in distressed
communities, and S. 88 is a major step in that debate toward gain-
ing greater flexibiMty.
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I would be happy to answer any questions or comments that you
all might have, and we are here to serve whatever you need.
Chairman STEVENS. Thank you very much.
You mentioned that in one instance, there were some 1,100 ap-

plications for flexibility and some of the difficulties that were in-

volved, that they really were not asking for a waiver of Federal
law, but of a State or local law. Did your examination indicate in

how many instances flexibility was actually granted?
Ms. England-Joseph. Do you want to talk about that?
Chairman Stevens. Ms. Beekman?
Ms. Beekman. They are still in the process of reviewing the ap-

plicants and granting them. What the board did was they started
first with the waiver requests fi-om what they call the "big 12," the
empowerment zones that got most of the Federal funding, and
there were about 270 waiver requests for those; about 115 were
statutory requests, so they could not be granted, at least not right

away. The board is going back to try to work out legislative propos-
als or try to figure out other ways to grant flexibility. There were
130 on which they told us they have been able to grant favorable

action. They are now in the process of categorizing the rest of the
waiver requests.

Chairman Stevens. But what they did was they addressed those
that had the largest amount of money first?

Ms. Beekman. That is correct. They told us the reason for that
is because they were afraid that not looking at those first would
hurt those localities' chances of being able to implement their

plans.

Chairman Stevens. Do you have the ability to cost out what ad-

ditional administrative costs we might incur because of this bill?

You mentioned, Ms. England-Joseph, that this seems to be one of
the major problems, that is, what would it cost to administer it.

Have you the ability to cost that out?
Ms. England-Joseph. No, sir, partly because I think the ques-

tions that we talk about needing to answer in terms of accountabil-

ity—how much accountability do you really want; how much addi-

tional requirements do you want to impose; how much is involved
in terms of reviewing these plans; to what extent do you want
enough coordination and cooperation across agencies so that we are
collaborating on some comprehensive approaches to addressing
community needs—all of these things have to be decided as part of

this legislation before you could really decide exactly how much re-

sources you would have to expend.
Chairman Stevens. Well, Ms. Beekman, can you tell us how

much it has increased the costs of the programs you are looking at

now?
Ms. Beekman. That is not something we have looked at so far.

Chairman Stevens. I did not ask that. Can you—can you—find

a way to get an estimate of that?
Ms. England-Joseph. We could get an estimate of the number

of people who have been involved as part of the Community
Empowerment Board and the agencies that have staffed it with
detailees—that is the process they have used so far. We could at-
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tempt a staffing estimate in terms of cost, but I do not know that
that would cover all the costs you might be looking for.i

Chairman Stevens. What about the delay in terms of the pro-

grams getting to the beneficiaries, the delay involved in seeking the
administrative flexibility; how long is that? How long a review are
they doing on these 10 major zones?
Ms. Beekman. It has taken an extraordinarily long time. The

sites were designated last December, and the process has just been
incredibly burdensome, trying to figure out exactly what the com-
munity is asking for. A lot of the waiver requests—they did not re-

quire any specific format, so a lot of them were very broad and very
general. So it has taken a lot longer than what this bill would
allow for the requests.
Chairman Stevens. But is it fair to say that this is asking the

people involved to give up some of their own authority? I mean,
these waiver requests are made to the people who would otherwise
administer the program, aren't they?
Ms. England-Joseph. Yes, sir.

Chairman STEVENS. So that to the extent they grant the author-
ity, they lose their own business.
Ms. England-Joseph. Possibly. It really depends on the re-

quested waiver. But it is not clear to us whether the length of time
is because of the lack of incentive to try to approve these things
or whether it is the lack of real forethought in the way in which
the process was developed, so that when these waivers came in,

they could be quickly evaluated and approved or quickly evaluated
and disapproved.
Chairman Stevens. This is probably too speculative, but I won-

der if you have looked at this from the point of view of finding out
if there is any other way we could grant flexibility in these pro-

grams. It does seem to me that it is needed, but I do not see that
it is very probable that people who would lose their jobs if the pro-
grams become so flexible if the local governments could run them
are going to grant the flexibility.

Ms. England-Joseph. I think part of what this bill calls for,

S. 88, is a paradigm shift in the way we think about the role of the
Federal Government, and to some extent, I think we probably need
to create the right incentives so that Federal program managers
really see the input of their activity being the ultimate accomplish-
ment of that outcome. To the extent that that occurs, perhaps there
would be greater incentive to try to figure out how to increase the
flexibility.

Chairman Stevens. Thank you.
Senator
Senator Glenn. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I appreciate the need for flexibility. I am all for it, and NPR has

worked toward that end, Senator Hatfield is proposing it, and I

think it is a good idea. I am concerned about how it is going to be
implemented, as I have indicated, and I am very concerned about
the accountability in this process.
There is only one passing reference in S. 88 for the local plans

to ensure, "fiscal control and related accountability procedures,"

> See letter on page 294.
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and that is it. There is not much in the way of exphcit require-

ments for financial reporting, audits or evaluations.
Do you have any ideas about how we are going to set this up,

how we are going to make sure we protect against the fraud, waste
and abuse farther down, when the more different levels of Govern-
ment get involved, what greater chance is there for fraud, waste
and abuse? How are we going to protect against that?
Mr. POSNER. If I could just take that question, we have an estab-

lished framework for grant-in-aid programs, as you well know, with
the Single Audit Act. And I would imagine that basically, the first

thing you want to make sure of is that the money you are spending
has appropriate internal controls and that financial management of

those funds that is adequate. The Single Audit does do that and
particularly does that well as you broaden the purpose of your as-

sistance, because remember, the Single Audit Act focuses on the
entity receiving the funds. In some sense, it makes sure that the
vessels into which we are pouring Federal monej^ are sound. So the
Single Audit Act gives you a basic guarantee of

Senator Glenn. Will it set up the accounting standards? It

doesn't do that, does it?

Mr. PosNER. Well, the Single Audit Act uses the standards of the
General Accounting Office, the Government auditing standards,
and that kind of thing. Auditors use those kinds of things.

The second key issue on accountability, though, is what about
the various program requirements and compliance requirements,
and that is where the Single Audit may cover some of these kinds
of requirements, as they do now; anything that is designated a
major assistance program in dollar terms has to be checked.
And then, in terms of program monitoring, as long as these funds

are appropriated for these purposes, you would have to have some
process for monitoring the use of the funds and give yourself some
assurance that the program results are on track. And you could do
that through a combination of reporting, which as I understand it,

is specified here to some extent, and agency—and management
oversight by the Federal Government.
Senator Glenn. How far down does the Single Audit Act go?
Mr. PoSNER. It goes to all State and local governments.
Senator GLENN. So it would apply for everything; it goes clear

down to the local, county, city, town level?

Mr. PoSNER. Yes.
Senator Glenn. So the Single Audit Act could follow it down and

audit books.
Mr. PoSNER. As I understand, it is any entity receiving over

$100,000 in funds.
Senator GLENN. I know we are in a big budget-cutting feeding

frenzy around here, and I understand that, and it is necessary to

do some of these things. I am concerned, though, in some of these
enforcement activities and monitoring activities that we cut funds
in those areas I think too much. IGs are not going to be able to

do all of this. Their funds are in general going down. GAG is not
going to be able to take on some of these things to monitor them.
Their funds are going down. And I am not sure the local commu-
nities are going to be able to do this. If we expect the local commu-
nities and the States to implement it, in effect this falls as an un-
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funded mandate on them, if we want to bring it back to those
terms. But have you made any estimates at all on how much this

would cost at the local level, or at the community or the State
level? I think Senator Stevens mentioned this a moment ago. Is

there any way to estimate these things? We have got to have some
resources to make the whole thing work if it is going to mean any-
thing.

Mr. POSNER. If I can give some perspective based on history, we
track very closely the block grants of the 1980's, which are some-
what similar in some ways to what we are doing here. We spent
a lot of time trjring to decide to measure whether administrative
costs were really saved there, and we really could not, when all

was said and done, get a handle on that. The records are not set

up consistently to track across the board according to the categories
we think of here at the Federal level. But what we deduced was
a more qualitative assessment, which might be relevant here,
which is that you had some reduction, just by consolidating all of
those programs and reducing the separate application reporting re-

quirements. You had some burden reduction and some efficiencies

achieved.
Senator Glenn. That is at the local level?

Mr. PosNER. At the local level or at the State level, as the case
may be.

On the other hand, you have an increased responsibility on the
part of a government to superintend a total program that is being
contemplated under some of these plans.

Senator Glenn. You are sa3dng, then, that you think it might be
a possibility that they could do these things just by the new effi-

ciencies of being able to combine the programs?
Mr. Posner. I think there could be—and again, this is just his-

tory, and I would defer to these folks about the enterprise zones

—

but the block grants illustrated that there were some additional re-

sources freed up at the State and local level, not dollars, but people
who were deployed in other ways, so to speak.

Senator Glenn. I am always very dubious of these things where
new efficiencies are going to bring us a balanced budget and so on;
I think that is wishful thinking 9 times out of 10.

Does anybody else have a comment on this area?
Ms. England-Joseph. The only thing I can speak to is that for

the four communities that we looked at in addressing the com-
prehensive approach to revitalizing those communities, evaluation
was low in terms of priority. Their intent was to serve their clients

and their neighborhoods and to provide services very immediately.
That is why it was very difficult for us to get data on effectiveness
or to be able to evaluate, other than on a very general level, exactly
what was achieved over a period of time.

Several of these communities had been around as a part of this
endeavor, comprehensive approach, 6, 8, 10 years. So it is very dif-

ficult to measure some of the things that we are talking about and
why I think it is critical to pay some attention to exactly what type
of performance measurement do we really want to have the local
communities develop, and then how much do we really want them
to document that or to collect data in order to prove that they have
achieved what they have said they have achieved.
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Senator Glenn. It has been said that in both the waivers and
the block grants, we should turn more authority over to the States
to investigate the use of those funds for fraud, waste and abuse,
and depend more on the States. I am not a big proponent of that
myself, but do you see any potential conflicts of interest here?
WTiat is the State and local incentive to root out fraud in the pro-

grams they administer with Federal dollars, especially if, as many
of these new block grant programs provide, their next year's fund-
ing would be reduced accordingly? They sort of have mixed emo-
tions when they get into looking at fraud, waste and abuse?
Any comments on these areas, or do you think we still need a

good, solid Federal follow-up to make sure the funds are used prop-
erly?

Ms. England-Joseph. I think a lot depends on the extent to

which Congress wants to impose real Federal oversight over their

use of those funds.
Senator Glenn. Well, that is an obvious answer, but do you
Ms. England-Joseph. But it is a policy call as to how much do

you really want to depend on the States to really drive the machine
at the State and local level and to be able to assure that the funds
are being spent as intended, and how much do you need assurance
at this level that when you at least are appropriate those funds,
that you have some degree of confidence that those funds are being
used the way you intended them.

Striking a balance between those two—it is very difficult from
our perspective to actually call where that balance ought to occur.

Senator Glenn. Well, it is difficult, I agree with you, but I think
where there are Federal funds going out, and we are responsible
for auditing those funds, I think we have to have a strong Federal
follow-up, and they have to know that at the State and local levels

and know they are going to be audited occasionally, and a tough
audit at that, and that is the way it should be. I think once you
get off into all the vagaries of whether States have adequate IGs
and follow-up systems within their auditors' office, that varies; we
may have 50 different systems across this country. So I think we
have to have a strong Federal follow-up in this area myself.

I understand that you have performed some analysis of the
JTPC, the Job Training Partnership Corps, program, and that you
had an in-depth look at 13 States and how well they measured
their performance to meet Federal standards to qualify for funds.
Can you comment on your findings in that, and how accurate were
their own performance measurements, as you saw it?

Ms. England-Joseph. I am sorry, Senator, but I am not pre-
pared to respond to that. I can get that information for you. An-
other group within GAO that deals with education issues worked
on that.

insert for the record

Response for the Record to Senator Glenn's Question on a GAO Analysis of
THE JTPA Program

A. No such study has been performed by GAO on JTPA. Perhaps the reference
was to our April 1995 report on the use of outcome measurement in determining
whether JOBS program participants are finding employment and leaving AFDC
{Welfare to Work: Measuring Outcomes for JOBS Participants, GAO/HEHS-95-86,
April 17, 1995). JOBS and JTPA title II-A are the two largest federal employment
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and training programs that target services to the economically disadvantaged and
share a common goal of enhancing clients' participation in the workforce. JOBS is

administered by the Department of Health and Human Services and is limited to

recipients of AFDC while JTPA is overseen by the Department of Labor and serves
AFDC recipients and other economically disadvantaged individuals. In our review
of the JOBS program we found that:

—HHS does not know whether JOBS is reducing welfare dependency because it

does not gather enough information on critical program outcomes, such as the
number of participcuits entering employment and leaving AFDC annually. In
addition, states are held accountable for the number and type of participants
enrolled in education and training, but not for outcomes, such as the number
of participants finding employment.
—Nearly all states use some information on participant outcomes to manage their

individual programs, although the extent to which states monitor outcomes var-
ies widely. At least in part to demonstrate to their state legislatures that pro-

gram objectives are being achieved, a majority of states monitor the number of

JOBS participants entering employment and hourly wages at hire. In addition,
over one-half of the states have established annual outcome goals.

—The current national interest in making welfare more employment focused, as
well as requirements in the Government Performance and Results Act that per-
formance monitoring become more outcome oriented governmentwide, indicate

a need for HHS to move decisively to ensure that it meets its current schedule
for developing outcomes measures and goals for JOBS. HHS has reported to the
Congress that it plans to finalize JOBS outcome measures by October 1996 and
outcome goals by October 1998.

Attached please find copies of our reports on employment training programs. ^

Senator Glenn. OK. Can anybody else comment on JTPC?
[No response.]
Senator Glenn. OK. Well, I hope the accountability issue is

something we can work with you on. I think it is key to making
this whole bill work. Otherwise, we are just setting up a morass.
If we are just sending out Federal dollars—it is a big pocketbook,
and we just send them out and say, OK, States, you run this

thing—I think that is a recipe for disaster in the long haul, my-
self—not that I do not trust the States, but let us verify at the
same time we trust the States.

I think we have to have a good follow-up system of evaluation
on this bill. Otherwise, let the States raise their own money, and
let them administer their own money. If we are sending Federal
dollars out, I think we have to have a good follow-up system.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Stevens. Thank you. I understand what you are say-

ing. Senator, but it seems to me that if we combine State and Fed-
eral accounts and have one audit instead of 17, we ought to be able
to get some efficiency out of it somehow.

Senator Glenn. I agree, but I want to see a Federal entity in
there so that we are not just turning bags of money over to State
or local communities for their administration without any Federal
follow-up.

Chairman Stevens. Well, thank you very much. We appreciate
your courtesy, and I think we will be getting back to you before we
are through with this subject.
Ms. England-Joseph. Thank you very much.
Chairman Stevens. Next, we have the Deputy Director for Man-

agement at the Office of Management and Budget, Mr. Koskinen.
Are you accompanied by anyone, sir?

iSee pages 101, 145, 179 and 198.
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Mr. KOSKINEN. No; I am soloing it.

Chairman Stevens. We will print your statement in full in the
record, too, Mr. Koskinen. Please proceed.

TESTIMONY OF JOHN A. KOSKINEN, DEPUTY DIRECTOR FOR
MANAGEMENT, OFFICE OF MANAGEMENT AND BUDGET

Mr. Koskinen. Thank you. I will summarize briefly, Mr. Chair-
man.
Mr. Chairman, I am pleased to have the opportunity today to tes-

tify before the Committee on Governmental Affairs on S. 88, the
Local Empowerment and Flexibility Act of 1995.

This Committee's leadership in the efforts to encourage innova-
tion and entrepreneurship at the State and local levels has been
exemplary.
The administration believes S. 88 is focused on an important

issue of how to assist our distressed rural and urban communities
to empower themselves, and we appreciate the chance to express
our views and concerns about this legislation.

The President has consistently supported efforts to empower
communities to take charge of their own destinies and to remove
Federal impediments that constrain innovation, experimentation
and entrepreneurship at the local level. In a time of declining Fed-
eral resources, the granting of waivers and the providing of flexible

funding streams are two ways to increase the impact of Federal
programs.
The President and his administration have supported greater

waiver authority and flexibility in a number of ways. In September
1993, the National Performance Review recommended a bold, bot-

tom-up grant consolidation to encourage innovation and create
flexibility in the face of grant proliferation. Then, in the 103rd Con-
gress, the President proposed legislation as part of the Empower-
ment Zones/Enterprise Communities initiative that would have
given the Federal Government broad authority to provide waivers
in a one-step process to local governments that develop a com-
prehensive strategic plan. As you all are aware, the Senate adopted
similar legislation as an amendment offered by Senator Hatfield to

S. 4, the Competitiveness Act, but the bill was not enacted.
A few existing Federal programs are authorized to provide waiv-

ers to States in administering programs within statutory and regu-
latory guidelines. The best-known are the demonstration authori-
ties in AFDC and Medicaid. Those particular authorities were de-
signed to allow State experimentation with new ideas for research
and evaluation purposes, not as a vehicle for regulated State flexi-

bility.

This administration has increased the use of the existing system
of granting waivers, and we are proud of the fact that we have
been able to reduce the time it takes to review waiver requests.
However, no matter how much we continue to streamline the exist-

ing waiver process, there are statutory limits to our waiver author-
ity.

In his 1996 budget, therefore. President Clinton proposed that
271 separate programs be consolidated into 27 performance part-
nerships. Each of these partnerships would consolidate funding
streams and eliminate overlapping authorities, create financial in-
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centives, and reward results consistent with broad national pur-
poses, and reduce micro-management and wasteful paperwork.
The distinctive feature of the performance partnership model, in

contrast to the traditional block grant approach to consolidation, is

the combination of greatly increased flexibility with accountability
and rewards for performance.
While the administration's efforts to promote flexibility have

proven to be a strong beginning to devolving power to the local

level, they are not complete answers to the problem. For Federal
grant programs to work, we believe strongly that the executive
branch agencies must have the flexibility to waive statutes and re-

move barriers that interfere with communities trying to improve
their economic and social conditions.

The administration would like to support legislation such as S. 88
introduced by Senator Hatfield if we can reach agreement on the
issues that we beheve are critical to the effectiveness of this legis-

lation. These include improving the review of applications for waiv-
ers by changes such as establishing an appropriate time frame for

reviewing them and ensuring that legislation does not make the
process so complex and difficult to administer that it unnecessarily
delays community efforts. And approval of plans should be contin-

gent upon the submission of a strategic plan containing specific

goals and measurable performance criteria.

As both Senators Glenn and Hatfield have suggested this morn-
ing, it is important, as we talk about waivers and flexibility, that
we make certain we are not waiving accountability. In fact, well-

designed accountability provisions help clarify the financial and
programmatic relationship between the Federal Government and
States and locahties. Thus, we strongly believe the bill should
clearly maintain the financial accountability provided through sin-

gle audits as a foundation for ensuring appropriate financial man-
agement and internal controls.

States as well as local governments should be eligible for waiv-
ers. The involvement of States in the review of proposed waivers
should be expanded, and State and local governments should be en-
couraged to eliminate barriers to innovation at the State and local

level.

We support providing additional exclusions for certain important
areas such as tax pohcy, worker safety, environmental protection,
labor standards and relations, financial management, and public
health.

We should also provide appropriate authority for Federal agency
heads to approve waiver requests and sufficient administrative
support for the interagency mechanism to respond efficiently and
effectively to the local strategic plans and waiver requests.
We recommend replacing the Flexibility Council provided in the

Act with the Community Empowerment Board, removing the as-
sistants to the President for domestic and economic policy, and
maintaining the President's discretion in choosing the CEB's mem-
bers.

The continuation of waivers should be tied to the performance
measures provided under a related strategic plan. Our goal is to
have States and cities begin to consider how they deploy all Fed-
eral resources available to them, whether block grants or other-
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wise. We would, for example, be looking to see how they answer
such questions as "What are we trying to accomplish?" and "Who
will be held accountable?"
We would like to narrow the criteria of those who may apply, or

provide some priority consideration to communities of greater need
or distress, so that agencies can process requests in reasonable
time frames. The questions from the Senators this morning about
the efficiency of the process, it seems to us are appropriate, and we
should address those concerns.

We look forward to working with you to address these and other
concerns, and we thank you for your leadership in this area.

I would be happy to answer any questions you and the members
of the Committee may have.
Chairman Stevens. Well, have you considered any type of ar-

rangement that would give the local or statewide or even regional

existing Federal authorities the power to move in and adopt a flexi-

ble plan without all the delay of coming to Washington, to a 21-

member council?

Mr. KOSKINEN. We have not considered that at the start. We
think it is important, though, as you raised earlier, as a corollary,

to stress more than the statute does that we should not have a
wide range of governmental entities just showing up on their own,
independently, in Washington. We should encourage through the
statute States and localities to cooperate together in the develop-
ment of plans. They could then come as a united group to Washing-
ton, having already dealt with State and local problems and waiv-
ers before they come to Washington for other waivers. We think
that through that process, you can get an efficient review of the
programs at an effective level at the Federal Government.
As we go through time, I think what will happen to make the

process more efficient, as we have begun to see in the enterprise
zones' experience, is that we will find consistent patterns of regula-
tions and consolidations that communities across the country are
seeking waivers for. We could then begin to respond automatically,
again as a way of treating these as less of a series of individual
responses and beginning to see them as clusters of responses.
Chairman Stevens. Well, most of the regulations that local gov-

ernments seek to have waived are the product of the administra-
tion, not of the statute. They are implementing regulations—

I

would hope, as a consequence of the thinking of Senator Hatfield,
that we would have some thinking in your agency to try to find out
if there isn't some way to hotwire some of those regulations and
make them work quicker.
One of the difficulties we have—and we are going to hear fi*om

our speaker of the State House of Representatives in Alaska—but
one of the difficulties we have in our area is that some of these
local governments do not have enough money to keep up with these
regulations. They do not have all those sets of regulations, and
they do not have enough people to understand them. And when
they run into them, the first thing they want us to do is find some
way to alleviate the burden of those regulations on them.

I wonder if this isn't something—and I am not being political,

and I am not being abusive, I hope—that ought to just come right
back to your doorstep and say why is it we cannot find some way
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to reduce or find some way to define how these regulations apply
to the smaller entities of government that have the greatest burden
under our system.
Mr. KOSKINEN. That is a good point. The Vice President, fi-om

the start of this administration, has been pushing very hard to sim-
plify the regulatory process, to eliminate unneeded regulations, and
to rewrite those that we have to make them more user-friendly. We
have issued this year a set of challenges to the agencies to come
up with a certain number of regulations that are abolished and an-

other set of regulations that are revised to be more understandable
and user-friendly. We can continue to do that, but what this legis-

lation addresses, is that there is a limit to what you can do within
the administrative regulations. As noted earlier, some regulations
are required—a significant number of them are required by statute.

Beyond that, many statutes have regulations built into them
about eligibility standards or applicability of the programs, that
hamstring State and local governments. What this Act begins to

address is the ability of States and local governments to look at

their own circumstances within a programmatic area and come to

the Federal Government with a program that has a broader per-

spective than any particular individual categorical grant may.
Secretary Reich has spoken at some length about the problem of

having over 100 different job training programs. As you note, a
local community wanting to take advantage of job training opportu-
nities has a wide range not only of regulations, but a wide range
of categorical programs to deal with. What this statute would allow
that community to do is to say we have an employment problem
in this community that has certain characteristics. This is our stra-

tegic plan for dealing with the situation. These are our goals for

this program. If we are allowed to consolidate this funding and re-

vise the regulations, these are the outcomes that we will produce
that we can be measured against. What we would like to do is en-
courage more of that thinking.
As Senator Hatfield said, what we would like to do is move away

from measuring and keeping accountability only on the inputs into
the program and start looking at the outcomes. It really is consist-

ent with the work this Committee has done over the years, leading
to the passage of the Government Performance and Results Act.
This Committee has taken the leadership position of sa3ring we
should begin to ask more regularly what do we get for the money
we pay. I think this legislation, properly drafted, can lead us in
that direction.

Chairman STEVENS. Well, I do not know. I hope so. I remember
the experience with the GEO. We finally found out up in Fair-
banks, Alaska that is was costing about 80 cents out of every dollar
to administer the program, and 20 cents was going to the bene-
ficiary.

That is the problem we have in these smaller areas, where com-
plying with regulations is so much more costly on a per capita
basis than it might be in a downtown urban area of one of our
major cities.

The cost of regulation increases as the population base decreases.
I think that is a given. Yet we do not have any system to recognize
the inapplicability of some of these regulations that are designed

21 -461 96-2
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nationally, or even for major city areas like the big megalopolises
of the South 48; we do not have any way to just say these do not
apply to a city of less than 20,000 people, or 10,000, or even down
to the area of a city of less than 500. They have to comply with
the same regulations.

I would like to t£ike you sometime out on the Kuskaquema on the
Yukon and let you see some of those villages of 1,500, 2,000, and
see how they try to comply with the Federal regulations—and
every time they comply with one, they find out there is another de-

partment that has a contrary regulation.

Mr. KOSKINEN. That is one of the things we would hope this stat-

ute would lead us to address. We will be able to get smaller com-
munities, rural communities and States to come together and say,

in this particular area of the country, these are our problems, this

is how we are trying to address them, and what we would like to

do is waive unnecessary or nonproductive regulations and be sub-

jected to accountabihty for what we are actually accomplishing
here.

Going to your point about resources, I think that over time, while
we may, as Senator Glenn noted, not necessarily have a dramatic
decrease in the amount of overhead, what we ought to be doing is

trjdng to shift the overhead in the right direction. That is, we
should be measuring more of to what communities are actually ac-

complishing, rather than simply asking whether they are comply-
ing with this one-size-fits-aU set of regulations that apply wherever
you are, no matter your size or your problems.
Chairman STEVENS. Well, I am encouraged by your report that

indicates that you could support this if we had some basic changes.
I will see to it that Senator Hatfield gets a copy of your report, and
see if we can start working toward the goal of getting us together.

Thank you.
Senator Glenn?
Senator Glenn. Thank you, Mr. Chairm£m.
The bill gives the FlexibiHty Council authority to grant statutory

and/or regulatory waivers notwithstanding any other law. That is

an enormous power. Could the council outvote the agency head re-

sponsible for programs in question that the agency head has re-

sponsibility for, as you see this?

Mr. KOSKINEN. Basically, the way it is operating now in terms
of the enterprise zones is that an agency has the right to disagree
with or veto a proposed change. It is an interesting question—Sen-
ator Stevens implied it as well—^whether somebody who created the
regulations may have a different perspective about the need for

those regulations than others. One of the things we hope is that,

through the operation of a council like this, if there is an attractive

plan from a State and its localities seeking to waive a set of regula-
tions, or even a set of statutory ehgibihty requirements, if the other
agencies all agree that that looks good, that there would be a great-
er inclination on the part of an individual agency to reconsider its

regulatory affairs.

The problem with going simply to the single agency by itself, al-

though we have had very good luck with the Medicaid waivers at
HHS, is that you do not get a dialogue. What this enterprise board
will do is create a dialogue among the agencies about how to re-
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spond to the needs of States and localities. The cities will in effect

have a better forum in which to make their case.

Senator Glenn. We have some 630 plus different programs that
we are talking about here, that involve some $225 billion a year.

One of the jobs you set out to do over there at 0MB was to combine
some of these programs and to streamline Government some under
NPR. Are we making any progress in combining those programs?
I spoke to one person over there who said that, at least in one area,

you were trying to take about a lO-to-one ratio, that is, combine
10 of these programs into one. I do not know that that can be done
across this whole 630, but that is sort of the nub of the problem
here, that communities have so many programs that they cannot
really use some of them properly.

Are we combining any of those? How are we doing on that?
Mr. KOSKINEN. Well, as I noted, we proposed in this year's budg-

et that we take 271 programs and consolidate them into 27 per-

formance partnerships. The goal is to take, in the health area, a
range of individual, relatively small, categorical programs, put
them into a performance partnership and go to communities and
say: In the health area, instead of dealing with over 100 of these
programs, come to us with a program, create a strategic plan and
goals, and we will allow you to deploy those resources in your com-
munity as you see fit.

Thus far, we have not had those partnerships enacted into law,
but we continue to support them, because I think your instinct and
Senator Stevens' are right. What we have is a proliferation of cat-

egorical grant programs designed to deal with very important prob-
lems. However, we have designed them in a one-size-fits-all form,
assuming that the problems in Alaska are the same as in Ohio and
in Florida.

What we need to do is provide a policy at the Federal level that
says these are the problems we are trying to deal with, and then
build in the ability of the State and local governments to flexibly

respond to that policy and the use of those funds. They would not
only develop their own programs, but their own standards of ac-

countability for what they are actually trjring to accomplish and
how they are going to measure those accomplishments. That is why
we call them performance partnerships. We think—and this statute
really contemplates this—that this is a much more attractive way
to proceed than simply to provide a block grant that says, "Here
is the money; let us know how you are doing."

Senator Glenn. The bill provides that in the local plans, they
will ensure "fiscal control and related accountability procedures."
That is the only place that financial accountability is mentioned
per se, I believe. Is there going to have to be a big Federal follow-
up on this, from the experience you have had over there? How are
we going to implant this process?

Mr. KOSKINEN. I think what we need to do is to make sure that
the existing accounting requirements and financial accountability
requirements, such as the Single Audit Act, continue to apply. The
agencies in the States and localities ought not to be less account-
able as a result of this activity.

But—and I think Senator Hatfield said it well—we need to make
sure that there is accountability for the discharge of the steward-
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ship of the funds in terms of the inputs—is the money being
spent—but beyond that, we need to ask for accountabiUty for the
effectiveness of the expenditure of those funds. Not only do we
want to make sure there is not fraud, waste and abuse, but we
want to make sure that something jjositive has actually happened
as a result of the expenditure of those funds. Again, this is consist-

ent with GPRA. We are trjring to say here is a goal, here is what
we are trying to accompUsh in job training, here is what we are

tr3ring to accomplish in housing and in education. However, we
ought to then begin to measure how effectively we are reaching
those goals. What are we accomplishing with the expenditure of

this money?
The fact that we do not have any fraud, waste and abuse is im-

portant, but it may not tell us anything about whether that pro-

gram is being run effectively or whether in fact we should continue
to fund that program.

Senator Glenn. Do you think the IG should be able to delve

down and follow those Federal dollars down, and make investiga-

tions if they think there are indications that they should?
Mr. KOSKINEN. Yes. Actually, if we adopted a program like this

and began to consolidate and make more rational the impact of

these programs, it would be easier for the IGs to follow the dollars

and to follow the accountability than it is now, when you have a
wide range, and a proliferation of grant programs and volumes of

regulations. Measuring compUance in our present system is re-

source-intensive. We could take those same resources and apply
them more effectively if we had a better programmatic outline.

Senator Glenn. Yes. S. 88 emphasizes the use of performance
measurement criteria, and that is all well and good—^I think that
is great. But I consider that to be a little bit different from finan-

cial management and accountabiUty. It is one thing to have per-

formance measurement out there. I do not know who is going to

measure performance with no money provided to do it at the local

level. Maybe we can get the funds from these new efficiencies that
we discussed a little while ago.

I am concerned about that, anyway. I do not know whether you
have any comment on that or not.

Mr. KOSKINEN. I think this is an important distinction. The goals

are not mutually exclusive. We ought to make certain that we are
confident that the money is being expended appropriately, but, at

the same time, once it is expended appropriately, we need to ask
what have we accomplished with that money.

Senator Glenn. Yes. I think the flexibility process—just to turn
around and argue on each side here for a moment—I think it might
be able to tell us a lot about what sorts of programs to keep. If peo-
ple are asking for flexibility and combining programs in a certain
area, and we see that pattern developing in a number of places, it

might indicate what programs are worth keeping or what should
be expanded and what should be done away with in the future.

Mr. KOSKINEN. I think that is right. To the extent you build in

the flexibility, and you deal with some of the issues Senator Ste-
vens has talked about, you ultimately will end up with a set of
demonstration projects or experiments, or you will have an experi-
enced response about what actually is going on in the commu-
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nities—what do people find effective, what do they find is the most
efficient way to administer these programs—and I think we will

learn some lessons from those experiences.

Senator Glenn. Yes. Do you think we need this issue of letting

agencies waive program requirements? Shouldn't we change the
laws to consolidate programs or build in flexibility in specific

areas?
Mr. KOSKINEN. We are in favor of grant consolidation in a num-

ber of areas, and we have proposed legislation in that regard. That
would simplify life to some extent. But again, even with consoli-

dated programs, we will still have the issue of trying to allow com-
munities to adapt those programs to their own unique cir-

cumstances. If we consolidate many of the job training programs,
to make those effective, we are still going to have the issue of are

we going to tell communities how to act with a great set of regula-

tions, or are we going to have flexibility built into that process so

the communities can come to us and say, in the job training area,

this is how we propose to approach the problem. Give us this flexi-

bility, and we will give you these results.

Thus, it will be a simpler process if we have fewer categorical

grant programs, which should be our goal, but even with fewer of

them, we still have this issue of how are we going to tailor the ap-

plications of these programs to different communities in different

circumstances.
Senator Glenn. Then, along with this, is there a possibility that

we ought to consider, instead of setting up a new bureaucratic
process with a Flexibility Council, and with review at the local

level, at the State level, with a lot of people involved, and it is at

the Federal level, and there is a lot of time involved in the plan
development and review process, should we consider going back to

block grants and revenue sharing that we had before?
Mr. KOSKINEN. The problem—if you move along the spectrum,

with revenue sharing, you basically say we will collect the money
and give it to you, and you do whatever you want with it. With
block grants, we say we will collect the money and give it to you
to spend in a general area, however you want.
We think that, moving slightly along the spectrum to something

we call performance partnerships, what we ought to do is take
areas like health, as we proposed in the budget, and consolidate
the programs. Then we can say, here is the money, but you have
to tell us what you are going to do with it, and you are going to

be held accountable for the performance and how you spend the
funds. It is your judgement as to how to apply the funds, but you
cannot simply spend them and worry only about waste, fraud and
abuse; you also have to spend them and worry about what are you
accomplishing with these funds.
That is why this Flexibility Act moves in that same direction of

sa3ring State and local governments should come in with strategic

plans describing how they are going to accomplish the goals that
we have set at the Federal level, if we can provide them the appro-
priate flexibility.

Therefore, even in that area, even with anything like a block
grant, I think you are going to find more and more regulations.
What we ought to do if we are sending the money out there is to
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hold people accountable not only for the integrity of the spending
process, but for the results they achieve. We also ought to provide
funds in a way that is flexible, to be tailored locality by locality.

Senator Glenn. Well, that is taking the existing system, but if

we are starting over again, if we are going to change the system,
would it be better to go to revenue sharing in certain block areas
or certain purpose areas, as you mentioned?
Mr. KOSKINEN. Well, one of the things you noted
Senator Glenn. Would that be better, and just cut out all the bu-

reaucracy around this thing?
Mr. Koskinen. We have a great tendency in this country to al-

ways want to start with a clean slate. Whether it is new towns or

something else, we say let us just get rid of the whole thing and
start all over again. Then we notice 10 years later that we have
replicated the same problems if we have not analyzed what the
cause of the problem was.

I think your point is very well-taken that, if we started along
this line and looked at what the communities tell us they need in

terms of flexibility and in terms of consohdation, we will know bet-

ter at the end of a period of time what needs to be consolidated
than simply in abstraction ourselves saying, well, let's consolidate

these and not those, at a national level.

We will learn a lot from this kind of enterprise and this kind of

dialogue. As GAO noted, part of what has happened in the enter-

prise zone and community activity is that we have engaged in a lot

more dialogue with States and locaUties about what their needs
are. We have had much more of an interchange with them than
simply issuing regulations and edicts and telling them to follow our
rules.

Senator Glenn. Under this legislation the way it is now pro-

posed, who would track and evaluate local programs? Will the
Flexibility Council have resources to follow this up—in other
words, do in effect a CFO job—^which was passed by this Commit-
tee. We look at the CFO at the end of each year to monitor what
is going on, do an audit and decide what worked, what did not
work. Who is going to do that in this case, as you see it?

Mr. Koskinen. Once the waivers are granted, the agencies will

still be responsible for their programs. Tliey will now, as we have
done under Medicaid, have estabhshed waivers and local flexibility.

So the agency responsible that has been appropriated the funds
would continue through its IGrS and its financial accounting sys-

tems to be responsible for ensuring that the funds are appro-
priately spent.
Senator Glenn. Senator Hatfield testified just a few moments

ago that he thinks the dollars could not get out of the budget func-
tions, as I understand what he said—I think I am correct on that

—

that they would stay within their certain budget functions. In other
words, health funds could not be taken to build a bridge or some-
thing like that.

Mr. Koskinen. That is an important principle to establish, and
I think we need to make those exclusions clear.

Senator Glenn. I am not sure that is in the legislation now.
Mr. Koskinen. No; I think we have to make sure the legislation

is clear. But the legislation should also be clear, within pro-
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grammatic areas, if there are statutory as well as regulatory inhi-

bitions to using funds, that the Flexibility Council would have the

ability to grant requests if they seemed appropriate in response to

a strategic plan from an area. For instance, in job training, a local-

ity could say we are going to pull all of these programs together

in a way that provides an eligibility standard and an application

in our community that works for us, rather than having to follow

all of these different, sawtooth eligibility standards. Or a commu-
nity might say we want to provide health care, as the Medicaid
waivers have, in a different way than the national requirements.

They might have more home care rather than nursing home care,

which has happened.
You might decide that you want to provide some job training and

education funds in a public housing context as opposed to the nor-

mal institutional way. If there were a way to do that, we ought to

be able to allow that flexibility within the programmatic area.

Therefore, we should not move money programmatically out of

job training into bridge-building, but at the same time we have to

have the flexibility within those programmatic areas to deal with
both statutory as well as regulatory limitations.

Senator GLENN. As you see the legislation now, would the Flexi-

bility Council be permitted only to judge yes or no on a particular

flexibility plan that was submitted to the States and then up to the
Flexibility Council, or would they be in a position to say, "We have
met, and we think your submission looked pretty good, but it

lacked so-and-so, and with proper changes we will approve this as

a new proposal"? Will they be able to tell people how to do some
of these things if they do not agree with the plan or part of the

plan?
Mr. KOSKINEN. My hope would be that they would not only be

able to do that, but that they would deal with Senator Stevens'

problem and over time, be able to develop and be a clearinghouse
for what we call "promising practices." If something worked very
well in Iowa, in small communities, the board would be able to col-

lect that information and provide it, not as a requirement, but as

an option in Alaska or in California for small communities.
We need to have enough resources in the board to ensure that

we can do just what you are talking about, that is, provide feed-

back to the communities. That has been our experience in the
empowerment zones. We have had to spend as much time in dia-

logue and explanation with agencies at the State and local level as

we have in reviewing their process.

Senator Glenn. Thank you.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Stevens. Thank you, Mr. Koskinen. We will get back

to you, I am sure. We appreciate your testimony very much.
Mr. Koskinen. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Stevens. Next, we have a panel consisting of Susan

Cameron, who is the administrator of the Tillamook County Health
Department in Tillamook, Oregon; the honorable Gail Phillips, who
is our Speaker of the Alaska State House of Representatives; Scott
Fosler, president of the National Academy of Public Administra-
tion; and Charles Griffiths, director of intergovernmental liaison.

Advisory Commission on Intergovernmental Relations.
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Ladies and gentlemen, please proceed in the order in which I in-

troduced you. We will print in full the statements that you have
prepared and then have questions after your oral testimony.
Ms. Cameron?

TESTIMONY OF SUSAN A. CAMERON, ADMINISTRyVTOR,
TILLAMOOK COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT, TILLAMOOK,
OREGON, ON BEHALF OF NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF COUN-
TIES

Ms. Cameron. Mr. Chairman, members of the Committee, I ap-
preciate the opportunity to come today to talk about our support
of the Local Empowerment and Flexibility Act. I would like to also

say that I am here on behalf of the National Association of Coun-
ties, which has passed a resolution endorsing this bill, and we have
submitted some information on that.

I am the administrator for Tillamook County Health Depart-
ment. Our county has about 20,000 people, and in reality we have
more cows than we do people. We also have a lot of issues in our
county that we deal with, and our most auspicious resident right

now happens to be Senator Hatfield, so we are very pleased that
if he has to leave, he will come to Tillamook County.

I would like to suggest that we have some challenges in

Tillamook County. Right now, 42 percent of our population is below
200 percent of poverty. We are a medically underserved county. We
also rank number 33 in per capita income in the State of Oregon,
out of 36 counties. So we have some challenges.
But I would also like to say that we have some successes, and

they are built around focusing on results, which is a major compo-
nent of this particular Act. In the last year, we have been able to

reduce our welfare case load by 30 percent. We have been able to

drastically impact teen pregnancy over the last 5 years, taking it

from 24 per thousand to 7 per thousand for teen pregnancy in

Tillamook County. And the basis of this is focusing on the outcome,
focusing on what the result is that we are trying to obtain.

In 1989, Oregon put together a strategic plan called the Oregon
Benchmarks. It took 257 goads around Oregon for people, for econ-
omy, and for the environment, and listed what it is that we are try-

ing to accomplish, what kinds of targets we are trjdng to meet with
these benchmarks.
Through that process, we were able to sort out those benchmarks

in a way that we put together a strategic plan, a citizen-based stra-

tegic plan, that will allow us to look at focusing on outcomes and
hold our communities accountable for those results.

Exactly 1 year ago today, we signed an agreement with the Fed-
eral Government regarding the Oregon Option. That has allowed
us over the last year to look at barriers that are imposed by Fed-
eral, State and local governments to moving toward an outcome-
based process.

Through our Oregon Option, we have a pilot project that will

allow us to focus on results. It gives us a different way of thinking.
It talks about focusing on literacy rates rather than dollars spent
on school expenditures. It allows us to focus on crime reduction
rather than prison beds. And it allows us to focus on teen preg-
nancy reduction rather than the number of contraceptives issued.
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It is a new way of thinking, and it helps us move toward an ac-

countabiUty approach to reaching the goals embodied in this Act.

It allows us to start bringing up the barriers that we run into, such
as the red tape and the micromanaging that we run into in trying

to reach those goals.

What I would like to do is give you an example of what we have
been able to do, for instance, in teen pregnancy. In 1989, we said

this is unacceptable. We had the second highest rate of teen preg-

nancy in the State of Oregon. What could we do to change that?

How can we change that focus to an outcome of something that is

more acceptable to our community?
So we brought people together. We brought the schools together,

the churches, the business community, and the services groups,
and we focused on reducing teen pregnancy. Everybody went back
to their own arena, and they approached it from their own direc-

tion. The churches provided family communication on values to

their congregations. The schools increased their sexuality education
as well as their self-esteem education. The county health depart-

ment changed the way that we approach teen pregnancy. Teens
who call for birth control are given first priority and seen within
48 hours.
We all focused on reaching that result in our new mechanism,

without judging those strategies. So this Act will allow commu-
nities to take that flexibility, look at how they can focus on that
outcome and change it.

We were successful. We were able to take teen pregnancy from
24 per thousand to 7 per thousand over 5 years. We cannot rest

on our laurels. We will have to continue to look at what it is we
are doing to keep that teen pregnancy rate down. But it is an effec-

tive way of mobilizing your community around an outcome where
you can have a true effect on what happens.

I would like to give you another example, which is our Jobs in

the Woods Program. Our Jobs in the Woods Program basically

takes displaced timber workers and helps them get back in the for-

est, to restore trees to our land and fish to our streams. The appro-
priate way to do that is by taking our partners. Federal, State and
local partners, and putting all of that energy and resources to-

gether—the U.S. Fish and Wildlife, U.S. Forestry, the Oregon De-
partment of Forestry, Tillamook County, and numerous other part-
ners—to help displaced workers work on those lands.
They ran into barriers. They ran into the barrier that you cannot

take workers and have them work on State land with Federal dol-

lars, or on Federal land with State dollars and equipment. Those
are the kinds of barriers that get in the way of making a difference
in our communities.
When we talk about the per capita income in Tillamook County

and our ranking, it is being able to get people employed, getting
those displaced timber workers back to earning family wage jobs,

that will help us take our per capita ranking from 33 out of 36 to

a much higher place in that process.
In the last year, we have been able to get workers back on line,

but it takes focus on that outcome of what you are trying to accom-
plish to do that, and we need to help reduce those barriers and the
red tape that gets in the way of achieving that result.
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One other thing that I would hke to say is that as we start to

focus on the outcome, we have developed some tools. I have passed
out those tools for you. We believe that accountability is important
for reaching those goals. We have also found that the tools we have
developed—you will see maps in here around a benchmark, a
benchmark of teen pregnancy or infant mortality or per capita in-

come, or whatever it might be. Picture yourself as a local county
commissioner, sitting there and looking at where your county
might be in the State of Oregon in terms of that benchmark. It is

being able to watch the numbers flow and focus toward the out-

come as you approach that.

So we have developed some tools that make it visible, that make
it real, and then you can start to understand how focusing on the
outcome can actually make a change. This Act will allow us to do
that. It changes the way we do business. It is a paradigm shift, and
it helps us focus more on what it is we are trying to accomplish
rather than how we got there, and not judging.

In closing, I would like to thank you for the opportunity to come
before you and support this bill and ask you to help us put it to-

gether in a way that is doable for our communities so that we can
reduce the numbers of teens who are pregnant, reduce our welfare
caseloads, and work and focus toward that long-term goal that will

allow all American communities to have the opportunity that Or-
egon has had recently to try to pilot this project.

I would be more than happy to answer questions and talk about
what we have done.
Chairman Stevens. Thank you. And you do speak for the Na-

tional Association of Counties; is that correct?
Ms. Cameron. Yes, I do.

Chairman Stevens. That is very interesting. Thank you.
Chairman Stevens. Ms. PhiUips?

TESTIMONY OF GAIL PHILLIPS, SPEAKER, ALASKA STATE
HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES

Ms. Phillips. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. It is nice to see you
again.

I appreciate this opportunity to testify favorably on S. 88, the
Local Empowerment and Flexibility Act. Also, I would like to ex-

press my appreciation to Senator Hatfield for introducing this leg-

islation.

My name is Gail Phillips, and I am Speaker of the Alaska House
of Representatives. Before my legislative service, I also served in

local government, at the city council and burrough assembly levels.

This background experience gives me the impetus for strongly sup-
porting the concept of this legislation.

Communities around our country are different from one another
in many ways. This Act provides a framework which recognizes the
differences by providing greater flexibility to local governments to

administer the funding.
Federal regulation as administered across the country in many

instances is not as effective as it could be, simply because the com-
munities and situations are so different.
Alaska communities in many cases are hit hardest by the unilat-

eral regulation and Federal administration of funding because of
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their differences from other locahties across the country. Part of
this difference is the size of Alaska, its distance from the Continen-
tal United States, differences in the size of our communities in the
State, such small, small communities, and the lack of a cohesive
transportation corridor or transportation network connecting every
part of the State.

Many rural communities, as Senator Stevens has already men-
tioned, simply do not have the wherewithal for implementing any
of these Federal regulations. When you have to haul in your drink-
ing water and haul out your human waste, you approach life a lot

differently than anybody living in an urban community does.

Rural roads are much, much different in Alaska than they are
in other areas of the Continental United States. There are many
differences in our health care facilities. Our rural health care pro-
vider programs are different than health care provider programs in
the Continental United States. Regulations of the Clean Air and
Water Acts affect us totally differently than in many other commu-
nities.

I was raised in the community of Nome, Alaska, located in the
Northwestern Region of Alaska. The differences between Nome, a
mining town of about 5,000 people now, and a community like Ar-
lington, Virginia are staggering; yet the Federal regulations that
apply to many of the funds that we receive in Alaska are the same
for both communities.
Alaska will benefit greatly from this legislation, given the unique

situations found in our State and the need to recognize the dif-

ferences. My constituents are the people of Alaska, and they feel

strongly about the need to decentralize Government. I believe the
American people feel the same way.

This Act is a great beginning at truly reinventing Government to

better serve the needs of its citizens while at the same time maxi-
mizing efficiency. Regulatory reform is one of the major goals of
many State government entities, and I believe that this bill will
help greatly in that respect.

This Act, though, does not give money freely away to local com-
munities. It incorporates checks and balances into the granting of
a flexibility plan. I think a strong process for accountability will
guarantee its success. If there is not a process for accountability,
I do not believe it will be a feasible program.

Local and State government entities need to work together to
make certain the program works. If they cannot work together,
then they cannot get the program support at the Federal level.

In reading through a transcript on the bill, I have several rec-
ommendations that I would like to offer for consideration. First, I

would like to suggest that the bill writers consider funding for
State government, also, especially in the area of the Federal Trans-
portation Act, the Department of Transportation, in education and
in health, and certainly in the Federal Transportation Act where,
in Alaska—I will give you one example—we have a highway con-
necting the Kenai Peninsula to the center of Alaska at Anchorage.
This is a greatly used highway in the summertime but not used
very much at all in the wintertime. The highway cuts through a
very, very small community of about 1,500 people. When the Fed-
eral highway requirements for improving and increasing this road
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were put into effect, this area of highway that was built through
about a 15-mile area had to have 140-some huge highway lights in-

stalled, it had to have 5 lanes of traffic. We are talking about a
simple highway. It had to have sidewalks on both sides of the road,

where there are no people living and no one walking. It had to

have all of this money wasted to put in that 15-mile segment of

road, and we could have taken that money had we had the flexibil-

ity to do something different and certainly paved many, many
miles of the unpaved roads we have across Alaska, or even built

roads in the villages connecting their dumps to the main part of

their communities.
So I think the States need the flexibility in these funding pro-

grams just as much as the local governments do.

I also want to again stress that in order for this program to be
successful, there does have to be accountability and results orienta-

tion.

Also, once the local governments have instituted a program and
have a funding mechanism in hand, it is very important that the
Federal Government does not try to change the rules later in the
game, and change them so drastically that those local governments
cannot provide the services again.

I think the Flexibility Council should have representation from
the State or local government organizations, and certainly, through
the organization of counties or National Council of State Legisla-

tors, there are plenty of organizations that should be represented
on that council as well.

Then, after developing the list of regulations most frequently
waived, I think the Flexibility Council should prepare justification

for dismissing those regulations that are most frequently requested
for waiving. If, time after time after time, regulations are requested
to be waived and do not need to be there, then let us get rid of

those regulations. That certainly makes sense to me.
As mentioned earlier, I think some sidebars need to be in place

because we have so many communities and local government enti-

ties in the United States that could apply for this. So I think you
have got to have some sidebars in place to be able to control the
requests for flexibility and the idea of regional councils. That
sounds like a good plan to me.

I strongly urge the concept for this legislation and again, Mr.
Chairman, I appreciate the opportunity to testify.

Chairman Stevens. Well, thank you very much for joining us
today.

The next witness is Mr. Scott Fosler.

TESTIMONY OF R. SCOTT FOSLER, PRESIDENT, NATIONAL
ACADEMY OF PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION, WASHINGTON, DC.

Mr. Fosler. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and as you indicated, I

would request that my written statement be made a part of the
record. Today I will highlight several points.

Let me also note that I am basing my testimony on similar testi-

mony that was provided by the Academy's standing panel on the
Federal system before the House Subcommittee on Human Re-
sources and Intergovernmental Affairs on H.R. 2086.
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The Academy is an independent, nonpartisan, nonprofit organi-
zation chartered by Congress to identify emerging issues of govern-
ance and to provide practical assistance to Federal, State and local

governments to improve their performance. In 1993, we created the
Alliance for Redesigning Government to help generate a dramati-
cally more effective system of governance and to look at the kinds
of issues addressed in this bill.

Let me note five points that we consider to be especially impor-
tant about the bill. First, authorizing local flexibility plans creates
a powerful incentive for the most innovative local governments and
nonprofit organizations to pioneer new approaches to meeting
pressing social needs. It will help demonstrate the efficacy of plac-

ing greater emphasis on aligning public and nonprofit resources
through a bottom-up process.

State governments are also important conduits for categorical
programs and providers of services. We would urge you to consider
expanding the bill to include State flexibility plans as well.

Second, the bill would require participants to specify goals and
measurable performance criteria, manage and report performance
against these goals, and provide for a comprehensive evaluation of
the impacts and costs. All of these are important steps toward
more results-oriented governance systems.
The proposal, however, may benefit from greater specificity on

the procedures for ensuring accountability. Evaluation and termi-
nation provisions would require annual reports on activities under
each approved local flexibility plan. Periodic reporting will be nec-
essary. But it may be better to authorize the Flexibility Council to

establish reporting periods appropriate for each individual case.
Further, rather than emphasizing termination of plans when

goals and performance criteria have not been met, the proposal
should stress prompt consultation between the Federal agencies
and the local authorities and the opportunity to adjust both the
flexibility plan and its goals based on experience and changing con-
ditions. Ambitious goals may not be met by successful programs,
just as modest goals can be met by failing programs.

Third, the bill recognizes the importance of developing databases,
planning and evaluation in building more results-oriented govern-
ance systems. Policymakers too often assume data are available,
reliable, current, and with appropriate geographical coverage to
support effective benchmarking, performance monitoring and re-

porting. This is not generally the case, however. Data systems and
collection efforts should be improved to meet the uses envisioned.

Fourth, the proposal creates a feedback system by requiring re-

ports on the Federal regulations most frequently waived under this
new authority. Congress should consider giving an "early out" to
statutory and administrative restrictions that are identified as out-
moded in the course of implementation and evaluation of local
flexibility plans. The process used to review and recommend the
closure of military bases is one model that may be worth consider-
ing for this purpose.

Fifth and finally, Section 10 of the proposal will help ensure that
technical assistance will be available to local governments and oth-
ers involved in designing flexibility plans. This is a desirable fea-
ture in view of the complexity and possible inadequate information
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available about appl5dng this new approach. While Federal agen-
cies can be an effective provider of such assistance, you might want
to consider broadening the range of options by authorizing or di-

recting agencies to support technical assistance provided by others
as well.

I would be happy to answer any questions that you may have.
Chairman STEVENS. Thank you, Mr. Fosler.

Mr. Griffiths?

TESTIMONY OF CHARLES GRIFFITHS, DIRECTOR, INTERGOV-
ERNMENTAL LIAISON, ADVISORY COMMISSION ON INTER-
GOVERNMENTAL RELATIONS, WASHINGTON, DC.

Mr. Griffiths. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I appreciate the op-

portunity to testify on S. 88. Like Mr. Fosler, my comments will be
similar to those I gave before the House Subcommittee on H.R.
2086.

I know time is of the essence, and I have a terrible head cold,

so I really am going to be very brief.

I am speaking as a member of a staff of the Advisory Commis-
sion on Intergovernmental Relations. Our Commission has not
taken a position on this bill, and therefore, the comments are those
of a professional staff. However, I come from the State of Penn-
sylvania, where I had extensive State and local experience. I have
done just about ever5rthing there is to do with grants and Federal
programs, so I share much of the frustration that State and local

officials will describe to you.
In my written testimony, I provide a number of suggestions for

how I believe the bill might be improved, which I will not go into

here in detail, but I talk about four criteria that I think are impor-
tant. One is that whatever approach we use, it should be holistic

and not a partial solution.

I have been apprised of Federal reforms over the last 20 years;

I have seen them come and go. Some are good, some are bad. But
if they had one common weakness, it was that they tried to solve

a problem partially, not fully. And when you try to approach a

problem in a partial fashion, you are likely to fail.

In this regard, for example, in S. 88, it talks about joining two
or more Federal programs. I would add that in many cases, the
problem is at the local level, with the need to combine one Federal
program with a State program. They do not have that flexibility at

this point. Therefore, I have suggested in my testimony that the
bill include only one Federal program if it is joined with a State
program at the local level.

In the same light, one of the biggest problems of smaller local

governments, rural governments, is the streamlining of the Federal
planning requirements. If they have more than a single Federal
program, they have to go through great cost and time and effort

in different planning streams to develop a program.
This bill, if it were to approach this and streamline Federal plan-

ning requirements, could allow local governments, for instance, to
use one comprehensive plan which they mostly are required to do
at the local level, to satisfy a number of Federal planning require-
ments. This would save cost, time, and everybody would be a lot

happier.
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Another example in the flexibiUty area, the bill talks about "eligi-

ble local governments." I would like to see that changed to "eligible

local applicants," in which you could also include regional bodies,

perhaps councils of governments. In the State of Pennsylvania, for

example, 90 percent of our governments are under 10,000 in popu-
lation. They have very few professional staff, they do not have a
lot of staff capacity, and therefore they turn to counties or they
turn to regional bodies to assist them. This is particularly true in

the area of Federal programs. If those bodies were not enabled by
this law to provide the flex plan that is required, you will not see

those local governments preparing flex plans.

There is also the issue of waiver. The bill actually prohibits

waiving Federal match. In fact, I think there is a rationale for

doing that in some cases, and I would like to see the bill not be
that restrictive.

And then, in the area of complexity, the bill does not address the
ability of a single flex plan to satisfy all application requirements
of all the programs that are involved. It does not talk to it. That
does not necessarily mean that you cannot do it, but I think it

needs to be specific that if you submit a flex plan, that satisfies the
application requirements of all programs.

I was taking notes during the testimony, and being last, I have
the opportunity to go through and answer some of the questions
that were raised by the Committee, from my own experience and
perspective.

I was a little bit surprised by Senator Hatfield's interpretation

of the bill; I guess I had a different one, in some cases, and maybe
some of the Committee did, too. But when I heard the figure that
80 percent of all requirements were statutorily generated, that is

a problem for me. If that is the case, I believe the bill should be
able to waive some statutory requirements in addition to discre-

tionary requirements.
Some of the problems that they are having at the local level are

driven by some of those statutory requirements. I gave the example
in my last testimony before the House about the different poverty
definitions by different Federal laws. If you are a local official who
is trying to develop a low-income program utilizing funding from
different Federal programs, you are immediately thwarted by the
fact that each of those programs has a different definition of what
a low-income person is, and therefore, some programs can help
them, some programs cannot help them, even if they have common
objectives. In this case, they may want to come to the Federal Gov-
ernment and ask if they can waive the statutory requirements in

some programs to have one common definition of what a low-in-

come person is. That is the type of waiver I am talking about, and
I think they should have that flexibility.

I was also surprised to hear the Senator say the only programs
that would be affected by this bill are the ones that recipients al-

ready have. I think it should be up-fi-ont as well. Most of the dis-

cretionary programs, you are going to have to apply for, and you
are going to have to have a purpose and performance goals before
you get those programs. I do not see why we would exclude the
ability of a government to propose a flex plan before they actually
get the money as part of the application process.
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I do not believe there is going to be a great rush of 89,000 units
of local government to do this. There was a concern that the Fed-
eral Government would be swamped. I have seen past reforms

—

some of them are very similar to the ones that this bill is trying
to accomplish—and they had to pull teeth to get local governments
to do it. There is a natural tendency to be suspicious of these kinds
of things. You do not want to get involved in it and find out, all

of a sudden, 2 years later, that the program is gone, or they have
lost interest in it, and you are out there, hanging, with all this pa-
perwork and consultants and committees and nowhere to go.

I do not believe there is going to be a great rush for this. In fact,

I think it is going to take a selling job to get some local govern-
ments to do this. So I guess my point here is do not worry about
the great wave and tide of local governments rushing in to do this.

On the fraud and abuse issue that Senator Glenn was concerned
about, frankly, I have been in the grant business for over 20 years,

and I do not believe there will be any more fraud and abuse with
this law than there is now, under current law. And I do not think
everyone out there is dishonest. Frankly, I do not find as many dis-

honest people as I find honest people, which is a happy thing.

I believe that the current Federal regulations for fiduciary and
fiscal requirements will satisfy Senator Glenn's concerns about the
fraud and abuse. All of the IG requirements now and abilities, and
all of the things under the Single Audit Act, they all apply to this,

so I do not think we are going to have any additional fraud and
abuse under this law.

I would be careful about exclusions. I know there is a tendency
to want to add exclusions, but again, this is a basic mistrust of

human nature. The more exclusions you add to this bill, the less

valuable this bill becomes. So I would be careful about the number
of exclusions.

Frankly, my point is that if they develop a wonderful flex plan,

and it passes muster at the local level, and it is reviewed at the
State level, and they like it, and it comes to the Federal Govern-
ment, and they like it—what is so bad about it? There are enough
thresholds here where we can review this and weed out the bad
things, and I do not think we have to add a lot of exclusions to it.

The issue about the cost of regulation, Senator Stevens men-
tioned. Regulations are very costly. That is a great part of State
and local administration. When I complained to the Federal Gov-
ernment in my days when I was at the State level, I found that
there are really four reasons why we are told for all of these regu-
lations. One is that there is simply a mistrust—you are going to

try to gyp me, you are going to try to cheat me, and therefore I

am going tie your hands by dotting every "i" and crossing every "t."

There is also just the old tradition that we have to have regula-
tions; that is just the way it is.

Another is that Federal agencies will tell you that Congress is

the biggest culprit, because they will call those agencies on the car-

pet and require an accounting, and that if they do not have all this

information, and they do not hold your feet to the fire, Congress
will get them. And then there are the lawsuits. Everyone is afraid
of being sued, so the only way of not being sued is to have regula-
tions in volumes and volumes and volumes, so you can tell the
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judge and the court that, "By God, I required this of them, and
they did not do it."

So the issue of the cost of regulations is more than just getting

rid of them. There are other reasons which we have to look at,

other problems.
And finally, on the Flexibility Council, there is a concern about

excessive power for it. I suggest in my testimony that the Flexibil-

ity Council should have minimal responsibility. I agree with the
lead agency concept. I think agencies should take care of these

things. If HUD, for instance, is the lead agency, and another pro-

gram happens to fall over in Commerce, those two should get to-

gether to decide on the waiver and whatever is in the flex plan. I

think the function of the council should be mainly oversight, infor-

mation gathering, monitoring, trying to learn from the experiences

of these agencies and disseminating that information to other agen-

cies so they can do a better job.

I think the less that 21 agencies have to do with reviewing these

things, the better it will be. In fact, I cannot imagine a program
that requires 21 agencies to review it. So I really do not see that
agency having a central role in the review process.

In my testimony, I also recommend that the States be given more
of a role of coordination and review, which would be the first step

to advising the Flexibility Council. If the States did more of this,

the Flexibility Council would have less to do, it would be less cost-

ly, there would be more time for them to deal with the things that
Congress asked them to deal with in the first place.

With that, I will stop and answer any questions.

Chairman STEVENS. Thank you very much. You do much better

with a cold than I do, I will tell you.
Let me do this. I think it would be helpful if we print the record,

which will include the bill, the statements that have been made
and reports that have been received, and send them to each of you.
You represent the counties, Ms. Cameron, and the National Asso-
ciation of States Legislators, Gail, and I think the National Acad-
emy of Public Administration could be very helpful, and I do be-

lieve that we would like to see the Advisory Commission on Inter-

governmental Relations take a position.

I would like to request that we get this to you—I do not know
how long it will take, but let us assume we can get it to you in a
week or 10 days or so—and ask you to review this subject and send
us, say by the third week of January, suggestions for amendments.
Actually get your people to look at it and give us some language
as to how you would like to see this bill changed.
We will submit those and discuss them with Senator Hatfield,

and hopefully with the House committee also, and see if we can
have another hearing, or at least a consensus meeting, you might
say, sometime in late January or early February, with the hope
that we can get this bill on the calendar sometime in the early part
of next year and get it out and get it debated and see if we can
get it passed.

I do think we are going to need some specific suggestions for

amendments. You have each made some very valid suggestions,
and the Deputy Director for Management at the Office of Manage-
ment and Budget did, also, but I think we would like to see those
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suggestions in legislative form, in the form of suggested amend-
ments or deletions to the bill, additions to the bill. We will turn
that over to our staff and then have, as I said, either a hearing or

a consensus meeting in late January or early February.
I do appreciate all of your suggestions. I do not know how well

we are going to be able to print your very interesting series of

charts, Ms. Cameron, but we will do our best. I think they make
a good point as to how you are proceeding with your situation.

I would like to see more capability for portions of States or

States as a whole to move in and get flexibility in certain areas
that would cover a whole series of other governments—in other
words, if our State did it, all the burroughs and cities of our State
could take advantage of that, rather than have each one of them
come up to this council and ask for flexibility on something that ob-

viously, for the whole area, needs some flexibility.

So unless you disagree, that is the process I would like to follow.

It is quite similar to the one we followed in another instance which
worked several years ago. And we may have a couple other entities

that we will want to submit this same request to, and I will just
write them a letter and ask them if they will participate.

So I do appreciate your help today. I think it has been a good
hearing, and I look forward to working with you.
Thank you very much.
[Whereupon, at 12 o'clock p.m., the Committee was adjourned.]
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104th congress
1st Session S.88

To increase the overall economj' and effieiency of Goveniineiit oj)eration.s

and enable more efficient use of Federal finidin^, by enablin{r local

governments and private, nonprofit organizations to use amounts avail-

able under certain F'ederal assistance programs in accordance with ap-

proved local flexibility plans.

IN THE SENATE OF THE UNITED STATES

January 4, 1995

Mr. Hatfield introduced the following bill; which was read tAvice and

referred to the Committee on Governmental Affairs

A BILL
To increase the overall economy and efficiency of Government

operations and enable more efficient use of Federal fund-

ing, by enabling local governments and private, nonprofit

organizations to use amounts available under certain

Federal assistance programs in accordance with approved

local flexibility plans.

1 Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representa-

2 tives of the United States ofAmerica in Congress assembled,

3 SECTION 1. SHORT TITLE.

4 This Act may be cited as the "Local Empowerment

5 and Flexibility Act of 1995".

(47)
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2

1 SEC. 2. FINDINGS.

2 The Congress finds that

—

3 (1) historically, Federal programs have ad-

4 dressed the Nation's problems by providing eategor-

5 ical financial assistance with detailed requirements

6 relating to the use of funds;

7 (2) while the assistance described in paragraph

8 (1) has been directed at critical problems, some pro-

9 gram requirements may inadvertently impede the ef-

10 fective delivery of services;

11 (3) the Nation's local governments and private,

12 nonprofit organizations are dealing with increasingly

13 complex problems which require the delivery of many

14 kinds of services;

15 (4) the Nation's communities are diverse, and

16 different needs are present in different communities;

17 (5) it is more important than ever to provide

18 programs that

—

19 (A) promote more effective and efficient

20 local delivery of services to meet the full range

21 of needs of individuals, families, and society;

22 (B) respond flexibly to the diverse needs of

23 the Nation's communities;

24. (C) reduce the barriers between programs

25 that impede local governments' ability to effec-

26 tively deliver services; and

•S 88 IS
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3

1 (D) empower local governments and pri-

2 vate, nonprofit organizations to be innovative in

3 creating programs that meet the unique needs

4 of their communities while continuing to ad-

5 dress national policy goals; and

6 (6) many communities have innovative planning

7 and community involvement strategies for providing

8 services, but Federal, State, and local regulations

9 often hamper full implementation of local plans.

10 SEC. 3. PURPOSES.

1

1

The purposes of this Act are to

—

12 (1) enable more efficient use of Federal, State,

13 and local resources;

14 (2) place less emphasis in Federal service pro-

15 grams on measuring resources and procedures and

16 more emphasis on achieving Federal, State, and

17 local pohcy goals;

18 (3) enable local governments and private, non-

1

9

profit organizations to adapt programs of Federal fi-

20 nancial assistance to the particular needs of their

21 communities, by

—

22 (A) drawing upon appropriations available

23 fix)m more than one Federal program; and

•S 88 IS
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4

1 (B) integrating programs and progi-am

2 funds across existing Federal financial assist-

3 ance categories; and

4 (4) enable local governments and private, non-

5 profit organizations to work together and build

6 stronger cooperative partnerships to address critical

7 service problems.

8 SEC. 4. DEFmiTIONS.

9 For purposes of this Act

—

10 (1) the term "approved local flexibility plan"

11 - means a local flexibility plan that combines funds

12 from Federal, State, local government or private

13 sources to address the service needs of a community

14 (or any part of such a plan) that is approved by the

15 Flexibility Council under section 5;

16 (2) the term "community advisory committee"

17 means such a committee established by a local gov-

IB ernment under section 9;

19 (3) the term "Flexibility Council" means the

20 council composed of the

—

21 (A) Assistant to the President for Domes-

22 tic Policy;

23 (B) Assistant to the President for Eco-

24 nomic Policy;

25 (C) Secretary of the Treasury;

•S 88 IS



51

5

1 (D) Attorney General;

2 (E) Secretary of the Interior;

3 (F) Secretary of Agriculture;

4 (G) Secretary of Commerce;

5 (H) Secretary of Labor;

6 (I) Secretary of Health and Human Sen^-

7 ices;

8 (J) Secretary of Housing and Urban De-

9 velopment;

10 (K) Secretary of Transportation;

1

1

(L) Secretary of Education;

12 (M) Secretary of Energy;

13 (N) Secretary of Veterans Affairs;

14 (O) Secretary of Defense;

15 (P) Director of Federal Emergency Man-

1

6

agement Agency;

17 (Q) Administrator of the Environmental

1

8

Protection Agency;

19 (R) Director of National Drug Control

20 Policy;

21 (S) Administrator of the Small Business

22 Administration;

23 (T) Director of the Office of Management

24 and Budget; and

•S 88 IS
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6

1 (U) Chair of the Council of Economic Ad-

2 visers.

3 (4) the term "covered Federal financial assist-

4 ance program" means an eligible Federal financial

5 assistance program that is included in a local flexi-

6 bility plan of a local government;

7 (5) the term "eligible Federal financial assist-

8 ance program"

—

9 (A) means a Federal program under which

10 financial assistance is available, directly or indi-

11 rectly, to a local government or a qualified or-

12 ganization to carry out the specified program;

13 and

14 (B) does not include a Federal program

15 under which financial assistance is provided by

16 the Federal Government directly to a bene-

17 ficiary of that financial assistance or to a State

18 as a direct payment to an individual;

19 (6) the term "eligible local government" means

20 a local government that is eligible to receive finan-

21 cial assistance under 1 or more covered Federal pro-

22 gr-ams;

23 (7) the term "local flexibility plan" means a

24 comprehensive plan for the integration and adminis-

25 tration by a local government of financial assistance

•S 88 IS
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7

1 provided by the Federal Government under 2 or

2 more eligible Federal financial assistance programs;

3 (8) the term "local government" means a sub-

4 division of a State that is a unit of general local gov-

5 ernment (as defined under section 6501 of title 31,

6 United States Code);

7 (9) the term "priority funding" means gi\ing

8 higher priority (including by the assigmnent of extra

9 points, if applicable) to applications for Federal fi-

10 nancial assistance submitted by a local government

1

1

having an approved local flexibility program, by

—

12 (A) a person located in the jurisdiction of

13 such a government; or

14 (B) a qualified organization eligible for as-

15 sistance under a covered Federal financial as-

16 sistance program included in such a plan;

17 (10) the term "qualified organization" means a

18 private, nonprofit organization described in section

19 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 that

20 is exempt fi-om taxation under section 501(a) of the

21 Internal Revenue Code of 1986; and

22 (11) the term "State" means the 50 States, the

23 District of Columbia, Puerto Rico, American Samoa,

24 Guam, and the Virgin Islands.

>S 88 IS
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1 SEC. 5. PROVISION OF FEDERAL FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE IN

2 ACCORDANCE WITH APPROVED LOCAL

3 FLEXIBILITY PLAN.

4 (a) Payments to Loc.y. Goverxmexts.—Notw-ith-

5 standing" any other provision of law, amounts available to

6 a local government or a qualified organization under a cov-

7 ered Federal financial assistance program included in an

8 approved local flexibility plan shall be proxdded to and

9 used by the local government or organization in accord-

10 ance with the approved local flexibility plan.

11 (b) Elkjibility for Benefits.—^An indi\idual or

12 famity that is eligible for benefits or services under a cov-

13 ered Federal financial assistance program included in an

14 approved local flexibility plan ma}^ receive those benefits

15 only in accordance with the approved local flexibility plan.

16 SEC. 6. APPLICATION FOR APPROVAL OF LOCAL FLEXIBIL-

17 ITYPLAN.

18 (a) In General.—^A local government may submit

19 to the Flexibility Council in accordance with this section

20 an application for approval of a local flexibility plan.

21 (b) Contents of Application.—^An application

22 submitted under this section shall include

—

23 (1)(A) a proposed local flexibility plan that

24 complies with subsection (c); or

25 (B) a strategic plan submitted in application

26 for designation as an enterprise community or an

•S 88 IS
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9

1 empowerment zone under section 1391 of the Inter-

2 nal Revenue Code of 1986;

3 (2) certification by the chief executive of the

4 local government, and such additional assurances as

5 may be required by the Flexibility Council, that

—

6 (A) the local government has the ability

7 and authority to implement the proposed plan,

8 directly or through contractual or other ar-

9 rangements, throughout the geographic area in

10 which the proposed plan is intended to apply;

1

1

and

12 (B) amounts are available from non-Ped-

13 eral sources to pay the non-Federal share of all

14 covered Federal financial assistance programs

15 included in the proposed plan; and

16 (3) any comments on the proposed plan submit-

17 ted under subsection (d) by the Governor of the

18 State in which the local government is located;

19 (4) public comments on the plan including the

20 transcript of at least 1 public hearing and comments

21 of the appropriate community advisory committee

22 established under section 9; and

23 (5) other relevant information the Flexibility

24 Council may require to approve the proposed plan.

S 88 IS 1
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1 (c) Contents of Plan.—^A local flexibility plan sub-

2 mitted by a local government under this section shall

3 include

—

4 (1) the geographic area to which the plan ap-

5 plies and the rationale for defining the area;

6 (2) the particular groups of individuals, by serv-

7 ice needs, economic circumstances, or other defming

8 factors, who shall receive services and benefits under

9 the plan;

10 (3) (A) specific goals and measurable perform-

11 ance criteria, a description of how the plan is ex-

12 pected to attain those goals and criteria;

13 (B) a description of how performance shall be

14 measured; and

15 (C) a system for the comprehensive evaluation

16 of the impact of the plan on participants, the com-

17 munity, and progi-am costs;

18 (4) the eligible Federal financial assistance pro-

19 grams to be included in the plan as covered Federal

20 financial assistance programs and the specific bene-

21 fits that shall be provided under the plan under such

22 programs, including

—

23 (A) criteria for determining eligibility for

24 benefits under the plan;

25 (B) the sei-vices available;

•S 88 IS
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11

1 (C) the amounts and form (such as cash,

2 m-kmd contributions, or financial instruments)

3 of nonservice benefits; and

4 (D) any other descriptive information the

5 FlexibiUty Council considers necessary to ap-

6 prove the plan;

7 (5) except for the requirements under section

8 8(b)(3), any Federal statutory or regulatory require-

9 ment appUcable under a covered Federal financial

10 assistance program included in the plan, the waiver

11 of which is necessary to implement the plan;

12 (6) fiscal control and related accoimtability pro-

13 cedures applicable under the plan;

14 (7) a description of the sources of all non-Fed-

15 eral funds that are required to carry out covered

16 Federal financial assistance programs included in

17 the plan;

18 (8) written consent ftx)m each qualified organi-

19 zation for which consent is required under section

20 6(b)(2); and

21 (9) other relevant information the Flexibility

22 Council may require to approve the plan.

23 (d) Procedure for Applying.—(1) To apply for

24 approval of a local flexibility plan, a local government shall

25 submit an appheation in accordance with this section to

•S 88IS



58

12

1 the Governor of the State in which the local government

2 is located.

3 (2) A Governor who receives an application from a

4 local government under paragraph (1) may, by no later

5 than 30 days after the date of that receipt

—

6 (A) prepare comments on the proposed local

7 flexibility plan included in the application;

8 (B) describe any State laws which are necessary

9 to waive for successful implementation of a local

10 plan; and

11 (C) submit the application and comments to the

12 Flexibility Council.

13 (3) If a Governor fails to act within 30 days after

14 receiving an application under paragraph (2), the applica-

15 ble local government may submit the application to the

16 Flexibility Council.

17 SEC. 7. REVIEW AND APPROVAL OF LOCAL FLEXIBILITY

18 PLANS.

19 (a) Review of Applications.—Upon receipt of an

20 application for approval of a local flexibility plan under

21 this Act, the Flexibility Council shall

—

22 ( 1 ) approve or disapprove all or part of the plan

23 within 45 days after receipt of the application;
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1 (2) notify the applicant in writing of that ap-

2 proval or disapproval by not later than 15 days after

3 the date of that approval or disapproval; and

4 (3) in the case of any disapproval of a plan, in-

5 elude a written justification of the reasons for dis-

6 approval in the notice of disapproval sent to the

7 applicant.

8 (b) Approval.—(1) The Flexibility Council may ap-

9 prove a local flexibility plan for which an application is

10 submitted under this Act, or any part of such a plan, if

11 a majority of members of the Council determines that

—

12 (A) the plan or part shall improve the effective-

13 ness and efficiency of providing benefits under cov-

14 ered Federal programs included in the plan by re-

15 ducing administrative inflexibihty, duplication, and

16 unnecessary expenditures;

17 (B) the applicant local government has ade-

1

8

quately considered, and the plan or part of the plan

19 appropriately addresses, any effect that administra-

20 tion of each covered Federal program under the plan

21 or part of the plan shall have on administration of

22 the other covered Federal programs under that plan

23 or part of the plan;

24 (C) the applicant local government has or is de-

25 veloping data bases, planning, and evaluation proc-
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1 esses that are adequate for implementing the plan or

2 part of the plan;

3 (D) the plan shall more effectively achieve Fed-

4 eral financial assistance goals at the local level and

5 shall better meet the needs of local citizens;

6 (E) implementation of the plan or part of the

7 plan shall adequately achieve the purposes of this

8 Act and of each covered Federal financial assistance

9 prog:ram under the plan or part of the plan;

10 (P) the plan and the application for approval of

11 the plan comply with the requirements of this Act;

12 (G) the plan or part of the plan is adequate to

13 ensure that individuals and families that receive ben-

14 efits under covered Federal financial assistance pro-

15 grams included in the plan or part shall continue to

16 receive benefits that meet the needs intended to be

17 met under the program; and

18 (H) the local government has

—

19 (i) waived the corresponding local laws nee-

20 essary for implementation of the plan; and

21 (ii) sought any necessary waivers from the

22 State.

23 (2) The Flexibility Council may not approve any part

24 of a local flexibility plan if

—
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1 (A) implementation of that part would result in

2 any increase in the total amount of obligations or

3 outlays of discretionary appropriations or direct

4 spending under covered Federal financial assistance

5 programs included in that part, over the amounts of

6 such obligations and outlays that would occur under

7 those programs without implementation of the part;

8 or

9 (B) in the case of a plan or part that applies

10 to assistance to a qualified organization under an el-

11 igible Federal financial assistance program, the

12 qualified organization does not consent in writing to

13 the receipt of that assistance in accordance with the

14 plan.

15 (3) The Flexibility Council shall disapprove a part of

16 a local flexibility plan if a majority of the Council dis-

17 approves that part of the plan based on a failure of the

1

8

part to comply with paragraph ( 1 )

.

19 (4) In approving any part of a local flexibility plan,

20 the Flexibility Council shall specify the period during

21 which the part is effective. An approved local flexibility

22 plan shall not be effective after the date of the termination

23 of effectiveness of this Act under section 13.

24 (5) Disapproval by the Flexibility Council of any part

25 of a local flexibility plan submitted by a local government
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1 under this Act shall not affect the ehgibihty of a local gov-

2 ernment, a quaUfied organization, or any individual for

3 benefits under any Federal program.

4 (c) Memoranda of Understanding.—(1) The

5 Flexibility Council may not approve a part of a local flexi-

6 bility plan unless each local government and each qualified

7 organization that would receive financial assistance under

8 the plan enters into a memorandum of understanding

9 under this subsection with the Flexibihty Council.

10 (2) A memorandum of imderstanding under this sub-

11 section shall specify aU understandings that have been

12 reached by the Flexibihty Council, the local government,

13 and each quahfied organization that is subject to a local

14 flexibility plan, regarding the approval and implementa-

15 tion of all parts of a local flexibihty plan that are the sub-

16 ject of the memorandum, including understandings with

17 respect to

—

18 (A) all requirements under covered Federal fi-

19 nancial assistance programs that are to be waived by

20 the Flexibility Council under section 8(b);

21 (B)(i) the total amount of Federal funds that

22 shall be provided as benefits under or used to ad-

23 minister covered Federal financial assistance pro-

24 grams included in those parts; or
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1 (ii) a mechanism for determining that amount,

2 including specification of the total amount of Fed-

3 eral funds that shall be provided or used under each

4 covered Federal financial assistance program in-

5 eluded in those parts;

6 (C) the sources of all non-Federal funds that

7 shall be provided as benefits under or used to ad-

8 minister those parts;

9 (D) measurable performance criteria that shall

10 be used during the term of those parts to determine

1

1

the extent to which the goals and performance levels

12 of the parts are achieved; and

13 (E) the data to be collected to make that deter-

14 mination.

15 (d) Limitation on Confidentiality Require-

16 MENTS.—The Flexibility Council may not, as a condition

17 of approval of any part of a local flexibility plan or with

18 respect to the implementation of any part of an approved

19 local flexibility plan, establish any confidentiality require-

20 ment that would

—

21 (1) impede the exchange of information needed

22 for the design or provision of benefits under the

23 parts; or

24 (2) conflict with law.
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1 SEC. 8. IMPLEMENTATION OF APPROVED LOCAL FLEXIBIL-

2 ITY PLANS; WAIVER OF REQUIREMENTS.

3 (a) Payments and Administration in Accord-

4 ANCE With P*lan.—^Notwithstanding any other law, any

5 benefit that is provided under a covered Federal financial

6 assistance program included in an approved local flexibil-

7 ity plan shall be paid and administered in the manner

8 specified in the approved local flexibility plan.

9 (b) Waiver op Requirements.—(1) Notwithstand-

10 ing any other law and subject to paragraphs (2) and (3),

1

1

the Flexibility Council may waive any requirement applica-

12 ble under Federal law to the administration of, or provi-

13 sion of benefits under, any covered Federal assistance pro-

1

4

gram included in an approved local flexibility plan, if that

15 waiver is

—

16 (A) reasonably necessary for the implementa-

17 tion of the plan; and

18 (B) approved by a majority of members of the

19 Flexibility Council.

20 (2) The Flexibihty Council may not waive a require-

21 ment under this subsection unless the Council finds that

22 waiver of the requirement shall not result in a qualitative

23 reduction in services or benefits for any individual or fam-

24 ily that is eligible for benefits under a covered Federal fi-

25 nancial assistance program.
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1 (3) The Flexibility Council may not waive any re-

2 quirement under this subsection

—

3 (A) that enforces any constitutional or statu-

4 tory right of an individual, including any right

5 under

—

6 (i) title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964

7 (42 U.S.C. 2000d et seq.);

8 (ii) section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of

9 1973 (29 U.S.C. 701 et seq.);

10 (iii) title IX of the Education Amendments

11 of 1972 (86 Stat. 373 et seq.);

12 (iv) the Age Discrimination Act of 1975

13 (42 U.S.C. 6101 et seq.); or -

14 (v) the Americans with Disabilities Act of

15 1990;

16 (B) for payment of a non-Federal share of

17 funding of an activity under a covered Federal fi-

18 nancial assistance program; or

19 (C) for grants received on a maintenance of ef-

20 fort basis.

21 (c) Special Assistance.—To the extent permitted

22 by law, the head of each Federal agency shall seek to pro-

23 vide special assistance to a local government or qualified

24 organization to support implementation of an approved
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1 local flexibility plan, including expedited processing, prior-

2 ity funding, and technical assistance.

3 (d) Evaluation and Termination.—(1) A local

4 government, in accordance with regulations issued by the

5 Flexibility Council, shall

—

6 (A) submit such reports on and cooperate in

7 such audits of the implementation of its approved

8 local flexibihty plan; and

9 (B) periodically evaluate the effect implementa-

10 tion of the plan has had on

—

11 (i) individuals who receive benefits under

12 the plan;

13 (ii) conununities in which those individuals

14 live; and

15 (iii) costs of administering covered Federal

16 financial assistance programs included in the

17 plan.

18 (2) No later than 90 days after the end of the 1-

19 year period be^nning on the date of the approval by the

20 Flexibility Council of an approved local flexibility plan of

21 a local government, and annually thereafter, the local gov-

22 ernment shall submit to the Flexibility Council a report

23 on the principal activities and achievements under the plan

24 during the period covered by the report, comparing those
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1 achievements to the goals and performance criteria in-

2 ckided in the plan under section 6(c)(3).

3 (3) (A) The Flexibility Council may terminate the ef-

4 fectiveness of an approved local flexibility plan, if the

5 Flexibility Council, after consultation wath the head of

6 each Federal agency responsible for administering- a cov-

7 ered Federal financial assistance program included in

8 such, determines

—

9 (i) that the goals and performance criteria in-

10 eluded in the plan under section 6(c)(3) have not

11 been met; and

12 (ii) after considering any experiences gained in

13 implementation of the plan, that those goals and cri-

14 teria are sound.

15 (B) In terminating the effectiveness of an approved

16 local flexibility plan under this paragraph, the Flexibility

17 Council shall allow a reasonable period of time for appro-

18 priate Federal, State, and local agencies and qualified or-

19 ganizations to resume administration of Federal programs

20 that are covered Federal financial assistance programs in-

21 eluded in the plan.

22 (e) Final Report; Extension of Plans.—(1) No

23 later than 45 days after the end of the effective period

24 of an approved local flexibility plan of a local government,

25 or at any time that the local government determines that

•S 88 IS



68

22

1 the plan has demonstrated its worth, the local government

2 shall submit to the Flexibility Council a final report on

3 its implementation of the plan, including a full evaluation

4 of the successes and shortcomings of the plan and the ef-

5 fects of that implementation on individuals who receive

6 benefits under those programs.

7 (2) The Flexibihty Council may extend the effective

8 period of an approved local flexibility plan for such period

9 as may be appropriate, based on the report of a local gov-

1 ernment under paragraph ( 1 )

.

1

1

SEC. 9. COMMUNITY ADVISORY COMMITTEES.

12 (a) Establishment.—^A local government that ap-

1

3

plies for approval of a local flexibility plan under this Act

1

4

shall establish a community advisory committee in accord-

15 ance with this section.

16 (b) Functions.—^A community ad^^soly committee

17 shall advise a local government in the development and

1

8

implementation of its local flexibility plan, including advice

1

9

with respect to

—

20 ( 1 ) conducting public hearings; and

21 (2) reviewing and commenting on all commu-

22 nity policies, programs, and actions under the plan

23 which affect low income individuals and families,

24 with the purpose of ensuring maximum coordination
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1 and responsiveness of the plan in providing benefits

2 under the plan to those individuals and families.

3 (e) Membership.—The membership of a community

4 advisory committee shall

—

5 (1) consist of

—

6 (A) persons with leadership experience in

7 the private and voluntary sectors;

8 (B) local elected officials;

9 (C) representatives of participating quali-

10 fied organizations; and

1

1

(D) the general public; and

12 (2) include individuals and representatives of

13 community organizations who shall help to enhance

14 the leadership role of the local government in devel-

15 oping a local flexibility plan.

16 (d) Opportunity f^or Remew and Comment by

17 Committee.—Before submitting an application for ap-

18 proval of a final proposed local flexibility plan, a local gov-

19 ernment shall submit the final proposed plan for review

20 and comment by a community advisory committee estab-

21 lished by the local government.

22 (e) Committee Review of Reports.—Before sub-

23 mitting annual or final reports on an approved Federal

24 assistance plan, a local government or private nonprofit
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1 organization shall submit the report for review and com-

2 ment to the conimunity advisory committee.

3 SEC. 10. TECHNICAL AND OTHER ASSISTANCE.

4 (a) Technical Assistance.—(1) The Flexibility

5 Council may provide, or direct that the head of a Federal

6 agency provide, technical assistance to a local government

7 or qualified organization in developing information nec-

8 essary for the design or implementation of a local flexibil-

9 ity plan.

10 (2) Assistance may be provided under this subsection

11 if a local government makes a request that includes, in

12 accordance with requirements established by the Flexibil-

13 ity Council

—

14 (A) a description of the local flexibility plan the

15 local government proposes to develop;

16 (B) a description of the groups of individuals to

17 whom benefits shall be provided under covered Fed-

18 eral assistance programs included in the plan; and

19 (C) such assurances as the Flexibility Council

20 may require that

—

21 (i) in the development of the application to

22 be submitted under this title for approval of the

23 plan, the local government shall provide ade-

24 quate opportunities to participate to

—
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1 (I) individuals and families that shall

2 receive benefits under covered Federal fi-

3 nancial assistance programs included in

4 the plan; and

5 (II) governmental agencies that ad-

6 minister those programs; and

7 (ii) the plan shall be developed after con-

8 sidering fully

—

9 (I) needs expressed by those individ-

10 uals and families;

11 (II) community priorities; and

12 (III) available governmental resources

13 in the geographic area to which the plan

14 shall apply.

15 (b) Details to Council.—^At the request of the

16 Flexibility Council and with the approval of an agency

17 head who is a member of the Council, agency staff may

18 be detailed to the Flexibility Council on a nonreimbursable

19 basis.

20 SEC. 11. FLEXroiLITY COUNCIL.

21 (a) Functions.—The Flexibility Council shall

—

22 (1) receive, review, and approve or disapprove

23 local flexibility plans for which approval is sought

24 under this Act;
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1 (2) upon request fit)m an applicant for such ap-

2 proval, direct the head of an agency that administers

3 a covered Federal financial assistance program

4 under which substantial Federal financial assistance

5 would be provided under the plan to provide tech-

6 nical assistance to the appUeant;

7 (3) monitor the progress of development and

8 implementation of local flexibility plans;

9 (4) perform such other functions as are as-

10 signed to the Flexibility Council by this Act; and

11 (5) issue regulations to implement this Act

12 within 180 days after the date of its enactment.

13 (b) Reports.—No less than 18 months after the

14 date of the enactment of this Act, and annually thereafter,

1

5

the Flexibility Council shall submit a report on the 5 Fed-

16 eral regulations that are most fi^uently waived by the

17 Flexibility Council for local governments with approved

18 local flexibility plans to the President and the Congress.

19 The President shall review the report and determine

20 whether to amend or terminate such Federal regulations.

21 SEC. 12. REPORT.

22 No later than 54 months after the date of the enact-

23 ment of this Act, the Comptroller General of the United

24 States shall submit to the Congress, a report that

—
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1 (1) describes the extent to which local govern-

2 merits have established and implemented approved

3 local flexibility plans;

4 (2) evaluates the effectiveness of covered Fed-

5 eral assistance programs included in approved local

6 flexibility plans; and

7 (3) includes recommendations with respect to

8 local flexibility.

9 SEC. 13. CONDITIONAL TERMINATION.

10 This Act is repealed on the date that is 5 years after

1

1

the date of the enactment of this Act unless extended by

1

2

the Congi-ess through the enactment of the resolution de-

13 scribed under section 14.

14 SEC. 14. JOINT RESOLUTION FOR THE CONTINUATION AND

15 EXPANSION OF LOCAL FLEXIBILITY PRO-

16 GRAMS.

17 (a) Description op^ Resolution.—^A resolution re-

18 ferred to under section 13 is a joint resolution the matter

19 after the resolving clause is as follows: "That Congress

20 approves the application of local flexibility plans to all

21 local governments in the United States in accordance with

22 the Local Empowerment and Flexibility Act of 1995, and

23 that-

's 88 IS



74

28

1 "(1) if the provisions of such Act have not been

2 repealed under section 13 of such Act, such provi-

3 sions shall remain in effect; and

4 "(2) if the repeal under section 13 of such Act

5 has taken effect, the provisions of such Act shall be

6 effective as though such provisions had not been re-

7 pealed.".

8 (b) Introduction.—No later than 30 days after the

9 transmittal by the Comptroller General of the United

10 States to the Congress of the report required in section

11 12, a resolution as described under subsection (a) shall

12 be introduced in the Senate by the chairman of the Com-

1

3

mittee on GroVernmental Affairs, or by a Member or Mem-

1

4

bers of the Senate designated by such chairman, and shall

15 be introduced in the House of Representatives by the

16 Chairman of the Committee on Government Operations,

17 or by a Member or Members of the House of Representa-

1

8

tives designated by such chairman.

1

9

(c) RefekkaIj.—^A resolution as described under sub-

20 section (a) shall be referred to the Committee on Govern-

21 mental Affairs of the Senate and the Committee on Gov-

22 ernment Operations of the House of Representatives. The

23 committee shall make its recommendations to the Senate

24 or House of Representatives within 30 calendar days of

25 the date of such resolution's introduction.
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1 (d) Discharge From Committee.—If the commit-

2 tee to which a resolution is referred has not reported such

3 resolution at the end of 30 calendar days after its intro-

4 duction, that committee shall be deemed to be discharged

5 from further consideration of such resolution and such

6 resolution shall be placed on the appropriate calendar of

7 the House involved.

8 (e) Vote ox Final Passage.—^WHien the conunittee

9 has reported or has been deemed to be discharged from

10 further consideration of a resolution described under sub-

11 section (a), it is at any time thereafter in order for any

12 Member of the respective House to move to proceed to

13 the consideration of the resolution.

14 (f) Rules of the Senate and House.—This sec-

15 tion is enacted by Congress

—

16 (1) as an exercise of the mlemaking power of

17 the Senate and House of Representatives, respec-

18 tively, and as such it is deemed a part of the rules

19 of each House, respectively, but applicable only ^\^th

20 respect to the procedure to be followed in that

21 House in the case of a resolution described in sub-

22 section (a), and it supersedes other rules only to the

23 extent that it is inconsistent \vith such rales; and

24 (2) with full recognition of the constitutional

25 right of either House to change the rales (so far as
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1 relating to the procedure of that House) at any time,

2 in the same manner, and to the same extent as in

3 the case of any other rule of that House.

O
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF SENATOR HATFIELD

I would first like to thank Chairman Stevens for scheduling this hearing today
and for inviting me here to testify. As the Committee is aware, the House Sub-
committee on Human Resources and Intergovernmental Relations has already con-

ducted two hearings on companion legislation, H.R. 2086, introduced in the House
by Chairman Clinger and Subcommittee Chairman Shays.
My motivation for introducing S. 88, The Local Empowerment and Flexibility Act

of 1995, is two fold. First as a former governor of Oregon, I experienced the frustra-

tion expressed by many State and local authorities when federal policies do not
make sense for their particular communities. Blanket standards from the Federal
Government are incapable of taking into consideration the diversities of each local-

ity. National policy objectives often stifle creativity at the State and local level be-

cause authorities are compelled to comply with rigid federal stipulations. Secondly,

as an Appropriator, I have witnessed first hand the shrinking pool of federal re-

sources for local and State governments. This decline is unavoidable and we must
now concentrate our efforts to making the most of the scarce dollars that are avail-

able.

As the debate over how to balance the federal budget continues, it is important
to remember that long-term fiscal responsibility should not only depend upon cuts

in spending. It demands a radical transformation in the way we do business as a
government. Business as usual is no longer sufficient. We have finally realized that

we can no longer spend more than we have, and the next step is to look to the

innovators at the State and local level to see how they are making limited resources

go further. From my experience as governor I have discovered that it is on these
levels that much of the innovation and creativity in government takes place.

The federal budget outlook is growing increasingly bleak. Nondefense discre-

tionary spending will decline 12 percent firom 1995 spending levels by the year 2002,
shrinking from its current level of 18 percent of the total federal budget, to 13 per-

cent in 2002. As the attached chart indicates, total outlays in discretionary spending
as a percentage of GDP have declined from 13.5 in 1962 to a projected 6 percent
in the year 2000. It is this block of shrinking dollars that fund the grant programs
that benefit local governments. In our efforts to reduce the deficit, discretionary dol-

lars are becoming scarce. Faced with declining resources, we must turn our atten-

tion to developing the most efficient allocation of these dollars.

Permit me to provide one example from my home State that demonstrates a poor
allocation of federal dollars. As a result of the Crime bill passed last year, Marion
County in Oregon was the recipient of additional federal funds. These funds were
a welcome addition to the community but the money came with many strings at-

tached that prohibited the county from spending it where it was needed. Instead of

using the funds to hire additional corrections officers to deal with the growing num-
ber of prisoners, the county was directed by federal law to spend the money only

for hiring additional police. This federal mandate did not serve the best interests

of the community of Marion Coimty in their effort to fight crime. This example high-

lights the need for providing increased flexibility for State and local governments.
The Federal Government was willing to spend federal dollars to help, but without
flexibility, the needs of the county could not be addressed.
The Federal Government should compliment not hinder the efforts of innovators

on the local level. The need to provide flexibility to local and State governments is

immense. These localities need to be able to use their acquired funds in a manner
suitable to the needs of their communities. While I was pleased with the passing
of the Unfunded Mandates Reform Act of 1995, Congress has failed to examine the
existing regulations that continue to hamper the innovation of local authorities. We
need to replace program compliance and regulatory rigidity with local flexibility.

There are four crucial aspects to The Local Empowerment and Flexibility Act.

First, different governments of this Nation have different strengths. The Federal

Government does two things well: effectively establishing broad goals that tie us to-

gether as a Nation and achieving certain economies of scale which cannot be at-

tained at the local level. The Federal Government often forgets that local govern-

ments bring a great deal of resources to the table. Perhaps the greatest strength
is that States and local governments are innovators. Local and State governments
have demonstrated again and again that they find the most creative ways to tackle

problems in solutions that fit the local context. Local governments are eligible for

hundreds of separate federal categorical grants to provide services and implement
federal programs. The number of these categorical grants has skyrocketed in the

last decades. In 1972 there were 422 different types of categorical grants compared
with 1993 in which there were a total 578. These grants often encumber local gov-
ernment with burdensome stipulations and requirements.



78

Secondly, the Local Empowerment and Flexibility Act will not only permit vari-

ation in how local governments meet national goals, but it will encourage solutions

that best fit the local context. Federal laws and regulations have tended to treat

every area of the county the same. Universal requirements force Congress to legis-

late to the lowest common denominator, and consequently, few governments perform

to their full capability. We all strive to meet the average instead of to excel. Politi-

cally, socially, structurally, local and State governments are very different from one
another. Adding flexibility to the Federal/State relationship will encourage local gov-

ernments to find solutions that fit the local context. In addition, providing flexibility

will eliminate regulations that force local governments to "solve" problems that they

do not have. Many programs are narrowly designed which means dollars end up
mired in audits and record-keeping rather than directed to meet community needs.

While the well-intentioned programs of the New Deal and the Great Society put
safety nets in place for those who are in greatest need, these nets now strangle

local. State, and Federal Governments by tying up precious funding in a knot of reg-

ulations and poor management.
Thirdly, this legislation will create a new system of accountability. Currently, the

Federal Government holds State and local governments accountable through regula-

tion, procedures and paperwork. The existing accountability structure is very good
at determining where federal money is spent, but it tells us very little about wheth-
er we are actually achieving results. Hundreds of hours and scarce dollars are in-

vested in complying with these regulations, and the investment in bureaucratic
processes does nothing to improve the quality of services that we deliver to citizens.

Moreover, our current structure of accountability has made us very responsive to

each other, rather than to the people we serve We need to re-orient our system of
government to view taxpayers as investors and our citizens as customers of the
business of government.

Finally, we must also help re-tool all governments for this new relationship. We
need to re-equip our nation's governments to function in a new cooperative environ-
ment. The federal bureaucracies need to re-create the ability to listen to local gov-
ernments. In the 1980s, we witnessed the destruction of the "intergovernmental" af-

fairs offices at most federal agencies. The Federal Government must actively solicit

and use the ideas and experience of State and local governments.
This legislation is designed to create a new spirit of cooperation among federal,

State, and local governments. It will lead to strategic and realistic decentralization
and deconcentration of power throughout the government. Governments will be al-

lowed to combine their different strengths to achieve their objectives. It will also
permit variation in how local governments meet national goals, encouraging solu-

tions that best fit the local context.

The Republican-controlled Congress has committed itself to a more efficient, cost-
effective approach to governing. This commitment is highlighted in a letter sent to

the President in December of last year signed by Senate Majority Leader Bob Dole,
and Speaker of the House, Newt Gingrich. The letter suggests that the President,
"recommend actions to give State, local, or tribal governments more flexibility to

meet federally-imposed responsibilities." Providing local flexibility has also enjoyed
a wide array of bipartisan support. In February of 1994, the Senate voted 97-0 in
favor of a demonstration project for education flexibility along the same lines as this
legislation. While that project provided for 6 test sites throughout the country, due
to its effectiveness, all 50 States have expressed interest in the program. I have also
received a letter from Vice President Gore stating the administration's support of
"efforts to empower communities to take charge of their own destinies and to re-
move Federal impediments that constrain innovation, experimentation, and entre-
preneurship at the local level."

I would like to thank the Committee again for the opportunity to testify. I look
forward to seeing the Local Empowerment and Flexibility of 1995 become the
launching point for this country's greatest innovators, the State and local govern-
ment of this nation.
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Daited states
Geaoal AccovBtiBK OfEce
WaaU^toa, D.C. 20B48

AectMBtiBK mad bforaatioB
MaBageacat DmstoB

Sqatemba- 1, 1995

The HoDoaMe Bob F^Kkwood
Chamnan, Coaimittee on Finance

United States Senate

Dear Mr. Chainnan:

The Congress has shown a strong interest in consolidating narrowly

defined categorical grant (Mxigraiiis for specific purposes into broader

purpose block grants. The fiscal year 1996 budget resolution explicitly

assumes enactment of a number of such consolidations, llie Congress is

also considering proposals to block grant Medicaid, Aid to Families with

Dependoit Children (afdc), and other entitlement programs in order to

both fimit federal budgetary exposure and increase state flexibility. A total

of 15 Mock grant programs with fimding of $35 billion were in effect in

fiscal year 1994, constituting a small portion of the total federal aid to

states, $239 billion for about 583 programs. However, if Medicaid :u\d afdc

are added. Mock grant spending could lise substantially—to as much as

$138 biDian or about SS percent of total fed«al aid to states

As demonstzated in the past, such basic changes in the grant structure can

signifiranHy alter fedoal and state and local government relationships. In

contrast to categorical programs that are consoUdated, block grants

IHtrvide significant additional discretion for states and localities to define

and implement federal programs in light of local needs and conditions.

However, unlike prior block grant initiatives, some of the health and

wdfare programs presently under conaderation are entitlement programs

with open-ended fimding. Accordingly, they would pose much larger

iinplenientation challenges and impHcations for intergovernmental

relatione

In response to your request thatwe syntheaze our past work on block

grant and accountability issues, this report summarizes information on

how accountability for financial management and program performance

can be designed to fit a block grant approach and the potential

consequences flowing firom such provisions To provide an overview and

sanrmiaiy ofour evaluations of past block grant programs, we reviewed

nearly two decades of reports, evaluations, testimony, and other gao

coiTespofMlence on accountability issues related to intergoverrunental

programs In addition, we consulted with experts on block grants,

perfonnance budgeting, and financial accountability.
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P It "n Rriof Building accountability into the newly proposed block grants is an
KeSUllS III rJnei

important, but difficult, task requiring trade-offs between federal and state

control over program finances, activities, and admiiustration. More

prescriptive federal requirements can limit the states' ability to implement

block grants in an integrated and efficient fashion. But fewer federal

financial and programmatic accountability provisions can limit federal

goals and lead to reduced funding and/or recategorization. Accountability

provisions will need to strike a balance between the potentially conflicting

objectives of increasing state and local flexibility while attaining certain

national objectives

—

a balance that inevitably involves philosophical

questions about the proper roles and relationships among the levels of

govenunent in our federal system.

Well designed accountability provisions help clarify the financial and

programmatic relationship between the federal govenunent and the states

and could be important in sustaiiung the block grant approach as these

programs mature. There is general agreement that financial accountability

/ provisions implemented through single audits can provide a foundation for

assuring that states ^ply appropriate financial management and internal

controls. There is less consensus on whether and how to promote

accountability for block grant implementation and results. For those

national goals and standards that are established, however, policymakers

have options for building in adequate, but less burdensome, provisions.

These options include (1) relying on state processes both to manage block

grant funds and to monitor and assess compliance, (2) assessing the

nature of requirements imposed on states, including the ^plicability of

cross-cutting requirements' for national policy for block-granted

programs, and (3) emphasizing results-based evaluation rather than

examining specific program or administrative activities.

Whatever approach to program accountability the Congress chooses, the

need for comparable data across the states is a critical issue. Comparable

data make it possible to assess progress in meeting national objectives.

Also, the lessons learned from state experiences are transferable only

when conclusions can be drawn about the relative efficiency and

effectiveness of different state strategies. Developing and implementing

guidelines for comparable data will not be easy, especially imder a

results-oriented sqiproach where states have discretion about the means
#" they will use to achieve program objectives. In particular, the broad range
*

of objectives identified for some block grants—coupled with state

'Cross<utting requirements are grant conditions that generally apply to alt or most federal assistance

programs and recipients. Unless block grant statutes specify otherwise, these requirements and their

regulatory prescriptions would apply.
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discretion—win complicate the task of developing and implementing

suitable performance measures and assessing state performance.

Regarding the identification of suitable measures and data collection

strategies, it win be im{>oitant to have a partnership between the states

and the federal government Moreover, assessments of state progress will

need to recognize that outcomes are often affected by factors beyond state

administrators' control

Federal pt^cymakers win also need to be aware of existing state spending

and programmatic commitments in areas that are block-granted.

Evaluation studies have shown that the smaUer the share of federal funds

in block grant programs—and the broader the national objectives—the

more difficult it is to assess performance and evaluate the impact of

federal resources. Categorical and some block grants currently include

maintenance-of-eCfort provisions requiring states to continue their

^>ending for federany aided areas to prevent this kind of fiscal

substitution. Although such requirements help to ensure that block grant

folds are used in the program area intended, they can also encumber state

resources in federany funded areas and reduce states' fiscal flexibility,

paiticulaily during times of fiscal stress. Similatiy, they can reduce a
state's programmatic flexibility to shift money among programs so that

resources are used as effectively as possible. Maintenance of effort can

also penalize states that take the initiative to start programs before the

federal government—they essentiany become locked into this spending

even when federal fiinds become available. Carefuny designed

maintenance-of-effort provisions can help to overcome some of the

technical difficulties. Yet, the decision to require maintenance of effort

presents difficult trade-ofEs among competing concerns.

RafVfTrminH Of the three kinds of grants-in-aid—categorical, block, and"
general-purpose fiscal assistance—block grants Ue in the grey, middle

area. Categorical programs feature narrowly prescribed, federally

determined program objectives, processes, and administration. At the

apposite end of the spectrum—general-purpose fiscal

assistance—recipients are free to ^)end grant funds in the manner they

clKXJse with few, if any, federany imposed programmatic or administrative

requirements. Althou^ existing block grants differ with reject to
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specificity of objectives and administrative requiretnents, most share the

following characteristics:

federal aid is authorized for a wide range of activities within a brosidly

defined functional area;

recipients have substantial discretion to identify problems, design

programs, and allocate resources;

administrative, fiscal reporting, planning, and other federally imposed

requirements are limited to those necessary to ensure that national goals

are being accomplished; and

federal aid is distributed on the basis of a statutory formula with few, if

any, matching requirements and, historically, spending has been capped.

A decision on whether to block grant programs raises important questions

involving the appropriate balance ofpower and responsibilities in our

federal system. Thus, the question of whether and what kind of

accountability to require is a policy decision for the Congress to make. In

previous reports, we have stated that stsites have become more capable of

responding to public service demands and initiating iimovations in the

past two decades. At the same time, we have also noted that the new block

grant proposals include programs that are much broader than block grants

of the past and would present a challenge for states to both implement and
finance.^

Accountability is an important yet elusive concept whose meanings and
characteristics differ depending upon the context For categorical grant

programs, accountability is promoted through rules and regulations that

hold state and local officials responsible for federally established

programmatic objectives, implementation strategies, and administrative

processes that are largely prescribed by federal agencies.

Under block grants, the principal locus of accountability shifts fi-om the

federal government to the states, consistent with the fact that grant

purposes are broadened and authority is delegated. Under block grants,

state and local elected officials bear the primary responsibility for

monitoring and overseeing the plarming, management, and implementation

of activities that formerly were the purview of federal agencies.

Nonetheless, because federal funds are involved, some residual

accountability for national objectives is invariably provided, albeit in

different doses and through different means.

'Block Grant Characteristics, Eaiperience, and Uaaons Learned
,
(GAO/HEHS-95-74, February 9. 1995).
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Accountability Will

Likely Play a Critical

Role in Block Grant
Implementation

For block grants, accountability plays a critical role in balancing the

potentially conflicting objectives of increasing state and local flexibility

while attaining certain national objectives. Accordingly, the resolution of

these issues invariably reflects a political decision properly decided

through the democratic process.

The recent history of block grants suggests that the balance struck

between federal objectives and state discretion has often been unstable.

The failure to reach an acceptable accommodation of these competing

concerns can undermine continued support for block grant programs. As a

result, the balance is often ac^usted and reformulated as implementation

proceeds.

In building accountabiUty into block grant programs, problems can arise

from either too many accountability provisions or too few. The presence

of too many requirements and cor ^.tions can inhibit states from realizing

the kinds of efficiencies and service delivery improvements promised by

the block grant mechanism. Overly prescriptive federal requirements can

limit states' abihties to integrate related federal and state programs in new
and more efficient ways. Moreover, they may limit states' interest in taking

ownership and responsibihty for program management and results—a key

attribute that the 1981 block grants initially succeeded in instilling at the

state level Prompted by their newly won flexibihty, state legislators and
governors exercised a level of involvement and oversight for block grant

programs typically not found for categorical programs.

On the other hand, insufficient federal accountability provisions can

create other problems for consolidated programs. Continued

congressional support for block-granted programs has historically rested

on sufficient information and assurances that the funds are being well

managed and used to support natior\al objectives. The recent history of

block grants suggests that the absence of such provisions can either

undermine continued congressional funding or prompt recategorization

and prescriptive regulations to ensure that national objectives are

achieved. For instance, the block grants enacted as part of the Omnibus
Budget Reconciliation Act of 1981 (obra), which lacked consistent

national program reporting on state implementation, were subject to more
than 50 congressional actions to tighten program requirements and

accountability provisions.'

'Block Grants Increases in Set-Asides and Cost Ceilinga Sinoe 1982 (GA0/HR1>«2-68FS. July 27.

1
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A balance will need to be struck to respond to these two conflicting

objectives. It should include safeguards to ensure that states are applying

proper financial controls. Also, the Congress will not only have to

determine the level and extent of national programmatic objectives for the

individual block grants, but also decide the most £q}propriate means to

monitor and oversee state progress toward these objectives.

In considering ways to build financial and program accountability that

could be built into the new block grants, the following observations based

on our work may be usefial.

Accountability for

Financial

Management

The Single Audit Act of 1984 provides an important tool for ensuring that

states are promoting financial accountability for block grant programs.

The act expanded the focus of federal oversight from a grant-by-grant

examination to an overall financial audit of the state or local government

or agency receiving federal funds with a ^edfic focus on federal

programs.

A single audit is expected to address the states' or state agencies' overall

financial statements and compliance with m^or federal assistance

program requirements. Moreover, as we have said repeatedly over the

years, the single audit is a more efficient and less burdensome way to use

auditing resources in satisfying federal accountability interests than the

prior grant-by-grant auditing approach.

The Single Audit Act of 1984 helps ensure that state agencies responsible

for block grant funds have sound financial management systems and

internal controls. The act promotes sound financial management by
requiring each state or agency to arrange for an aimual^ audit of its

financial statements. This involves more than simply preparing schedules

of financial data; it involves a disciplined process that promotes proper

recording of financial transactions and maintaining accurate records of

financial flows. The single audit also involves evaluating the adequacy of

the internal financial and management controls used by the agency to

prevent problems and ensure the integrity of pubUc funds, including block

grant fluids.

Finally, the act, and its implementing guidance, requires that single audits

test compliance with federal program requirements for "msyor federal

e circuinstances. biennial audits are allowed, provided they cover both years of the biennial
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assistance piograms.''^ Auditors are required to test two types of grant

requirements: (1) general requirements that are national policies

prescribed by statute, executive order, or other authoritative sources that

apply to federal assistance programs oftwo or more agencies and

(2) specific requirements that apply only to individual programs.

TTie results of sin^e audits can also contribute toward achievement of the

objectives of the Chief Financial Officers (cro) Act of 1990. The act, as

amended, requires the 24 CFX) executive branch agencies to prepare

fii\ancial statements, beginning for fiscal year 1996, and to have those

statements audited. It also requires gao to conduct an audit of the annual

consolidated financial statements for the entire executive branch

beginning with fiscal year 1997. Since many federal funds often flow to

their ultimate beneficiaries through multiple state and local entities, and
because many of these amounts are subject to single audit, the results of

these audits can provide information on the successful completion of the

required federal agency and executive branch-wide consolidated financial

statement audits.

Tlie sin^e audit process could be particularly advantageous for block

grant programs. As the purposes of federal aid programs broaden and the

federal financial role diminishes, federal funds become fungible.* This is

especially true for block grants because the programs anticipate the

integration of federal and state funding streams. Accordingly, the

management and outcomes of federal assistance programs depend heavily

on the overall controls states use to manage the combined effort. Thus, the

block grant approach coincides with the act's shift away fi-om individual

grant auditing.

It is also likely that most block grants under consideration would continue

to be considered m^or programs for Single Audit Act purposes.

Accordingly, they are likely to be reviewed for their compliance features

under this process. A single audit is not and should not be viewed as

sufficient for evaluating state performance relative to block grant

programmatic goals and objectives. However, a sin^e audit is an

important oversight tool that can be used to provide insights into the

entity operating federal programs.

'A pnjgram b cUasified as a m^jor program baaed upon the ajnount of expenditures. Presumably all

the lai^ block grants cuzrently being proposed—notably, Medicaid and AFDC—would be classiried a

major.

*ln the context of federal grants, the term fungibility refeis to the tendency for federal funds to be

commingled with state or local funds to the point where the use of federal funds is difficult to track.
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Although we believe that the Single Audit Act of 19S4 is a suitable means
for promoting financial accountability for the block grants, several

improvements are needed in the single audit process. First, criteria for

determining which assistance programs will be subject to compliance

checks are based solely on dollar amounts. While, this approach has the

advantage of subjecting a high percentage of federal funds to audit, it does

not necessarily focus audit resources on identified high-risk programs. We
have made recommendations^ to enhance the single audit process and to

make it more useful for program oversight, including oversight of the

block grants.

Second, the single audit cannot be viewed as a substitute for management
oversight and program reviews by federal agencies, should such activities

be deemed appropriate for particular block grants. The single audit

assesses the financial integrity and internal control of the entities receiving

block grant funds and implementing programs. The audit may not select

particular programs for compliance reviews if they are not defined as

m^or programs. But even when programs are included for compliance

checks, the single audit is not intended to provide in-depth analysis of

state administrative practices or programmatic accomplishments.

Accountability for

Program Goals and
Objectives

As noted earlier, block grants present a dilemma to federal poUcymakers

for they must balance the objectives of enhancing state and local

flexibility, wtule also maintaining a degree of federal control, consistent

with the fact that federal dollars as well as national objectives are

involved. There is no easy way to resolve this tension; rather, a continuum

of trade-ofEs between federal objectives and state flexibility will be

required. First, the Congress will need to consider which national

objectives remain appropriate for block grant programs. Then, it will need

to determine how these objectives should be defined and implemented.

Among the various kinds of national objectives that could be implied to

block grants are the following:

Program specific requirements: These are standards or goals pertaining to

program services or implementation processes funded by the grant In

terms of these grant conditions, prior block grants have included both

federal rules involving program inputs—that is, what grantees do with

their funds—and rules involving program results—that is, what is

accomplished with the funds.

'single Audit: Refinements Can Improve Usefulness (GAO/AIMD-94-133, June 21, 1994).

GAlCVAIMD-95-226 Block Grant*



89

Cros&<:utting requirements: These are grant conditions that generally
apply to all or most federal assistance programs and recipients. 0MB had
identified nearly 60 such requirements ranging from the Davis-Bacon wage
standards for federally-assisted construction projects to Hatch Act
prohibitions on funded employees' political activities. Unless block grant
statutes specify otherwise, these requirements and their regulatoiy
prescriptions would be expected to apply.

Once the new block grant requirements and programmatic concerns are
defined and ^ecified, the Congress may wish to design approaches that
satisfy federal interests in less burdensome ways, in keeping with the
block grant philosophy of enhanced flexibility and reduced regulation. Our
work and other examinations of past block grant efibrts suggest the
fcdlowing two sq>proaches the Congress could consider.

Reliance on State

Processes
Relying on state processes and procedures to govern the administration
and management ofblock grant fiinds, as was done under the obra 1981
block grants, is one approach available to the Congress. For categorical
programs, OMB circulars and federal agency regulations and guidance
prescribe procedures governing such issues as state procurement,
recordkeq)ing, cost allocations, and other business-type functions.

However, this land of national administrative prescription is contrary to

the block grant premise of instilling responsibility in the states. In

addition, as we found in the 1980s, moving away fix)m such prescriptions
opens iq) opportunities for states to more fiilly integrate the management
of the block grants with broader state administrative practices and
procedures.

In 1981, state authority was also promoted by shifting the re^onsibility for
monitoring and assessing compliance with federal requirements away
from the federal government toward states and localities. Reviews of state

plans and applications were sigiuficantly limited. States, moreover, were
principally responsible for interpreting the block grant statutory

prohibitions and requirements; federal regulations and guidance were kept
to a minimum. Federal agencies were actually prohibited from imposing
burdensome' reporting requirements, allowing the states to interpret the
compliance provisions in the statute.

In seeking to minimize block grant program requirements, the Congress
will need to decide whether the broad scale delegation to the states that

occurred under the 1981 block grants is appropriate for the block grants
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currently being proposed. The federal dollars involved are far larger than

under past block grants; during fiscal year 1993, approximately 18 percent

of total state spending was for Medicaid, with 1 1 percent from state-only

sources. Moreover, the stakes involved stand to significantly affect

vulnerable poptiladons and involve a number of entitlement programs that

comprise the "social safety net."

Reexamining some of the more burdensome cross<utting requirements

also would provide states with additional flexibility. Cross-cutting

requirements—also known as generally ^pUcable requirements—could

become some of the more burdensome federal mandates for new block

grants because administrative guidance and regulations that have built up

over the years to implement them do not discriminate between categorical

and block grant programs. Our work has specifically identified one such

cross<utting requirement for potential elimination. We have stated that

the Congress could repeal the Davis-Bacon Act cross<utting requirement

because of the act's administrative problems and associated increases in

federal construction costs.'

Emphasis on Results Another approach for balancing competing state and federal interests

would be to promote accountability for results rather than accountability

for implementation and administrative processes. Applying a results focus

to the block grants would free state officials and program administrators

to determine the most appropriate means for achieving federal block grant

program goals and objectives, while also vesting them with responsibility

for their choices. This approach presumes, of course, that the Congress

has decided that imposing national block grant outcomes on the states is

appTopTiate. Furthermore, this approach is fraught with technical

problems and could engender conflict between the federal government

and the states.

Under a results-oriented sqiproach, states would be respoi\sible for

reporting on program outputs, outcomes, or other types ofperformance

oriented measiu-es. While outputs and outcomes are often correlated, they

are not the same. Program output indicators generally involve measures of

activities or services supported by the funds, such as the number of

participants in job training programs or the number of children vaccinated.

In contrast, program outcome indicators measure progress in terms of the

end result intended by the program, such as increases in employment from

'Addressing the Deficit: Budgetary ImpUcations of Selected GAD Work for Fiaca} Year 1996

(GAOA3CG-96-2. March 16, 1996).
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job training or reductions in the incidence of communicable childhood

diseases.

The Government Performance and Results Act of 1993 (gpra) could be

used as a guide for a results-based approach, gpra seeks to fundamentally

change the focus of federal management and accountability from a

preoccupation wilJi iiq>uts—^what grantees do—to a greater focus on the

outcomes—what has been achieved gpra requires federal agencies to

develop outcome-oriented goals, systematically measure their

performance, and report on their progress toward achieving goals.^ While

gpra's implementation time frames do not match those for congressional

consideration of the block grants, gpra principles provide a lo^cal starting

point.

Under a results-oriented sqq>roach, federal policymakers would specify

national goals and objectives in block grant statutes, enact a process for

establishing them, or adopt some combination of the two. Ultimately, the

decision whether to impose or call for such national objectives is a

political dedsion that the Congress must make. The Congress may, in fact,

decide to allow states to establish their own program objectives, thus

limiting the federal role in monitoring block grants to collecting

information on state program efforts and accomplishments as well as,

perhaps, evaluating and disseminating information on "best state

practices."

Outcome-Based Approach An outcome-based approach to accountability has some advantages for

block grants. Notably, unlike categorical grants, block grants provide

states a broader scope of allowable activities to select from in attaining

national outcomes. For example, if the desired outcome is to move welfare

recipients into work, a categorical program providing resources for a

single strategy forces grantees to select that nationally determined

strategy—irrespective of local conditions and circumstances. This

approach, in effect, suggests that 'one size fits all." In contrast, a block

grant gives states flexibility to mix services and activities best suited to

achieving this outcome goal and to better integrate federal, state, and local

efforts.

However, caution will be needed as welL While state efforts will certainly

be closely tied to block grant results, outcomes will just sis certairJy be

affected by factors outside the control of state administrators. Because of

'Fbrm fuMer description of the reqmittiiMits ofGfRA and the progress agencies are making in

implefnenting the act, see Managing for Reaatta: Stana of the Goveniment Peribnnance and Results

Act {GA0/T-CGI>«6-1B3, June 27. 1996).
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the role that these variables may play, evaluation will need to isolate the

effect of outside factors on state programs. For example, the incidence of

low birth weight infants depends not only on the efforts of a particular

state and local agency to fill the gaps in prenatal care, but also on many
other demographic and situational factors, such as regional employment
trends and demographic patterns, that could easily confound an accurate

assessment of state performance.

Just as some features of block grants facilitate a results-oriented

approach, other features add complications. The broad range of objectives

often identified for particular block grants coupled with broad state

discretion in program implementation may make it difficult for the federal

government to specify and select suitable results-oriented measures. For
example, in areas such as community development that encompass a
broad range of activities, it may be difficult to select a single, or even a

small set of, preferred indicators against which to gauge performance.

Alternatively, broader outcomes covering an entire function could be
chosen, such as education achievement levels as measured through

standardized testing. In either case, the states' flexibility to determine how
best to use block grant funds can be compromised.

Performance Incentives Some have suggested that the federal government incorporate monetary
incentives to the states into the new block grants to achieve nationally

desired results. Under such an approach, the incentives and penalties

states face would act as a lever because they would be tied to progress on
standards set for all states or standards predicated on individual states'

past performance.

This kind of incentive structure is incorporated in the administration's

"performance partnerships" and it is also central to Oregon's welfare

proposal to pilot a reinvented form of intergovernmental relationships

(known as the "Oregon Option'^. The President's fiscal year 1996 budget

introduced performance partnerships for a number of areas. Like block

grants, performance partnerships would consolidate funding streams.

However, the partnerships would provide for specific federal standards

and goals expressed in output or outcome terms, and states or localities

would be given incentives if they met or exceeded some of these federal

objectives. For instance, the President's budget reported that under the

performance partnership concept, the Environmental Protection Agency
proposed to consolidate 12 media-specific grants (including, air, water,

and hazardous waste), enabling states to target resources toward their

most pressing priorities. Performance-based funding would be included in
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this program. Similarly, the Department of Housing and Urban

Development's (hud) proposed grant consolidations would distribute

10 percent of formula allocations based on performance.

Although offering the potential to improve states' performance for

federally assisted programs, funding incentives warrant caution in their

design and implementatioa Given the difficulties performance

measiu'ement faces in the near term, significant intergovernmental conflict

could arise from the application of outcome-based measures, particulaiiy

if, in evaluating progress, states were inadvertently held accountable for

the impact of factors beyond their control If performance-based measures

were also tied to future federal funding in some way, such conflicts could

be exacerbated. For example, it would make UtUe sense to penalize a state

that did not meet an immunization target if the msyor reason the state did

not meet this target was a sigiuficant influx of uiummunized immigrants.

Moreover, linking performance measures to funding could cause states to

present only the most favorable performance information.

Data Collection and
Capacity Issues

Whatever emphasis is selected, the Congress should consider carefully its

current and future needs for uniform data and data collection procedures

across the states. The 1981 block grants carried no uniform federal

information and reporting requirements. After the block grants were

enacted, states collected a wide range of program information, but the

collection efforts were designed to meet the needs of the individual states.

The Congress had limited information on program activities, services

delivered, and dients served. As a result, it was difficult, in many cases, to

aggregate state experiences and speak from a natior\al perspective on the

block grant activities or their effects. Similarly, without uruform

information definitions and collection methodologies, it was difficult to

compare state efforts or draw meaningful conclusions about the relative

effectiveness of different strategies. In our recent report. Block Grants:

Characteristics, Experience, and Lessons Learned (gao/hehs-95-74,

February 9, 1995), we noted that problems in ii^ormation and reporting

under many block grants—including the Education block grant, the

Community Services Block Grant (csbg), and the Alcohol, Drug Abuse, and

Mental Health Services Block Grant (adms)—have hampered Congress'

ability to evaluate block grants.

Some have expressed concern that uniform rational data might encourage

the Congress to recentralize or recategorize block grants. This certairJy

could be one outcome, particularly if uniform data showed that states

GAO/AIMD-95-226 Block Gitub

21 -461 96-4



94

were faUing shwt of national e]q>ectations in critical areas. However, the

absence of uniform national data for the 198 1 block grants did not prevent

the Congress fix>m adding new requirements and funding constraints to

the block grant programs of the 1980s. In the absence of uniform

information, policymakers are pressed to change to block grant programs

based on examples and reports that may or may not represent broad-scale

problems with program implementation. In 9 of the 1 1 block grants in

existence from fiscal year 1983 through fiscal year 1991, the Congress

added new cost ceilings and set-asides or changed existing ones 58 times

as a result of congressional concern that states were not adequately

meeting national needs. Reliable information that is comparable across

states could enable federal policymakers to identify systemic problems.

Performance measures for block grants will need to be developed in

partnership with the states. TTus will not be easy. Not only do federal and
state interests differ, but it will take time to develop data collection

systems and reporting capacities once the initial decisions are made. Even
in the case of employment training programs, for example, in which there

has been a congresaonal focus on program outcomes, we have found that

most state agencies do not collect information on participant outcomes,

nor do they conduct studies of program effectiveness.'"

Federal agoides wiD need time to work with the states to establish

reporting requirements, including the types and measurement
methodologies for needed program information, and how and by whom
such information wiD be collected and analyzed. For example, we recently

testified" that hud may face difficulties implementing its plans for

consolidating housing and community development funds into larger

programs that rely on performance measures to evaluate state and local

efforts. LocaUties will need time to establish performance measures and
work out program details. Community development researchers have had
difficulty developing suitable performance measures because

communities' needs differ and the results of some activities may not be

quantifiable.

According to work on the eaily implementation of gpra, many federal

agencies curraiHy lack the ability to track progress, evaluate results, and

"MuMple Buitoyiiient Trainiig Programs: Most Federal Agencies Do Not Know U Their Prognure Are
Woriang Eflecthgly (GAO/MliUS-»M«, March 2, 1994).

"Housing and UitrnDeveloiimeM: HtTOs Reinvenlion Blueprint Raises Budget Issues and
Opportunities (GAOT-BCE1X6-196, July 13. 19%).
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use performance data to improve their agencies' effectiveness.'^ Like

executive branch agencies, states, will need to make significant

investments in people, skills, and systems to effectively gather and use

performance information.

In designing performance measurement systems for block grants, it will be
important to take into account certain lessons from evaluation research.

Most notably, performance measurement efforts and evaluation studies

both involve cause and effect relatior\ships. In the case of performance

measurement, there is an assumption—perhaps implicit—that any results

observed are a cor\sequence of the programs and activities under scrutiny.

However, as we have reported,'^ good evaluative information about these

lands ofprogram effects is difficult to obtain. E^h of the tasks

involved—measuring outcomes, ensuring the consistency and quality of

data collected, establishing the causal connection between outcomes and
program activities, and separating out the influence of extraneous

factors—raises formidable technical or logistical problems that are not

easily resolved.

Implications of State

Involvement and
Spending on Block
Grant Accountability

Federal officials need to be aware of existing fiscal and programmatic

state and local commitments when designing federal block grant

accountability provisions. Overall, evaluations and studies suggest that the

broader the objectives and range of authorized activities and the fewer the

requirements on grants, the greater the fimgibility of funds. AH grant

programs potentially are susceptible to the problems of fungibility, but

these issues loom larger in a block grant context for two reasons. First,

under block grants the commingling of federal and state funds is allowed

to help realize administrative cost savings, promote innovation, and
improve service delivery." Second, the federal government often asstimes

the role of a fiscal Junior partner under block grants as state and local

expenditures can easily overshadow the federal contribution within

broadened categories of state and local spending.

"Managing For Resuits Steps for Strengthening Federal Maiagement (GAO/T-GGn/AIMIW6-168,
May 9, 1996).

"Program Evaluation: Improving the Flow of Infonnation to the Congreaa CGAO/PEMD-95-1,
Januuy 30, 1996).

'^While there is agreement that administrative cost savings can follow from consolidaljons of federal

grant programs—including those involved in block grants—measuring these savings is fraught with

technical difficulties. We have reported on these problems in numerous reports and testimonies, many
of which are summarized in Program Consolidation; Budgetaiy Implications and Other Issues

(GA0/T-AIMI>9&46, May 23. 19%).

GAl(VAIMD-9S-226 Block Grant*
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The fiingilHlitjr of federal funds will vary by type of block grant It is far

easier to isolate the impact of federal funds for block grants where federal

fimdiiig win comprise a nuyor ^lare of state q^ending or where the

activities funded are relatively limited in purpose. The afdc block grant,

for example, may be more easily accounted for because federal block

grant funds will continue to be a nuuor, if not larger, share of total

q>ending and because funding is provided for cash payments to eligible

low income individuals. Proposed block grants for education or

community and economic development, on the other hand, would be more
difficult to track due to their broad, diChise purposes and the relatively

minor role played by federal funds.

Implications for Data
Reporting

FungibiUty clearly has implications for the lands of information that can

be e^)ected on block grant resiilts. Imposing data reporting requirements

for the federal funds alone would force states to separately track and

report on expenditures and accomplishments achieved with federal block

grant hinds. But this could provide only a bookkeeping perfective, having

Uttle or no relation to the actual impact of the funds.

We found this to be the case for reporting in the General Revenue Sharing

(GBs) program. When we examined how gbs funds were used, we found

that reports filed by grantees did not necessarily provide accurate

information on how funds might have been used, lliis was because the

flexibility inherent in revenue sharing permitted states and locahties to use

the federal funds to finance other programs, reduce taxes, or a

combination. For reporting purposes, it became somewhat meaningless to

earmark one revenue source for a specific set of expenditures and a

second source for another where both revenues can be used

interchangeably because funds can easily be displaced or substituted.

Hie problem with interchangeable resources led us to conclude that, to be

meaningful, data in broadly defined grant programs should be integrated

and related to total e^>enditures for state and/or local activities by

purpose or functioa Tliis logic ^jplies to block grants. Assiune, for

example, that a community stron^y supports the development of a

recreation project and community officials elect to use block grant funds

for this purpose. The community's accounting records and financial

reports would reflect that the funds were used for the new project

However, the key question in this situation is what would have happened

in the absence of the federal funds. If the funds for the new project would

have been provided in the absence of the block grant, by reducing funding

GMVAIMI>-95-Z2a Bloek 6n
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for other programs, increasing taxes, or using available surplus, then the

net effects of the grant are not in the area of the project In this case, the

effect of the block grant would have been to negate the need to reduce
other programs, halt a tax increase, or maintain the existing level of

surpluses. Thus, instead of tracking the accomplishments of federal fiinds

alone, it might be more realistic to assess the extent to which the entire

federal-state effort promotes accountability for national goals of interest
to the Congress.

Implications for Federally

Imposed Prohibitions and
Restrictions

The inherent difficulty of tracking the use of federal fiinds in a fungible

fiscal environment, raises some basic questions about the enforceability of

federal prohibitions or restrictions that might be applied to block grants. If

state funds significantly outweigh federal funds, states can simply shift

their own money to support a federally-eUgible activity previously

financed with state funds. This shift enables states to conform to the letter

of the requirement, without fulfilling its spirit

Implications for

Maintenance-of-Effort

Requirements

Maintenance-of-effort requirements are often found in categorical

programs and some block grants to prevent states from substituting

federal for state dollars. Maintenance of effort is potentially more
sweeping than a matching requirement For most close-ended grant

programs, matching is minimal and can be met with existing state or local

resources dedicated to the program. States and localities frequently

provide far more funding to broad-based programs than federal matching
provisions require. Maintenance of effort, on the other hand, requires

states or localities to maintain their own previous or current level of

nonfederal funding for the program.

Deciding whether to include a maintenance-of-effort requirement will be
controversial. The benefits to the federal interest must be weighed against

the encumbrance such requirements place on states' fiscal flexibility.

Because the stakes are significant in either case, the Congress needs to

carefully consider both sides of the equatioa

Maintenance of effort can help ensure that federal block grant dollars are

used for the broad program area intended by the Congress, whether it be
spending on special education or spending for day care. Without such
provisions, federal fimds ostensibly provided for these broad areas could,

in effect, be transformed into general fiscal relief for the states. States

could use some or all of their federal block grants to replace their own

GA0/AIMD-9B-226 Block Grants



98

money invested in the program area. To the extent that this occurs, the

ultimate impact of these federal dollars would be to either increase state

spending in other programs or reduce taxes.

Maintenance of effort does not overcome the fungibility dilemmas

discussed above. These provisions would not permit easy tracking of the

contributions of federal versus state dollars in a flexible block grant

funding environment Yet, they could ensure that federal block grant funds

contribute to the broad program area addressed by the block grant

Maintenance-of-effort requirements also have potentially significant

effects on states' fiscal policy-making. They can encumber state resources

in federally funded areas, even though state funds may far exceed federal

block grants in magnitude. States, thus, are limited in their ability to shift

their own funds across programs without hsking the loss of federal

dollars. This is particularly problematic for states facing cuts, as

maintenance of effort has reportedly caused some to make
disproportionate cuts in areas not receiving federal funds. Maintenance of

effort can also penalize states that take the initiative to start programs

before the federal government; they essentially become locked into this

spending even when federal funds become available. States whose
programs do not precede the federal government with their own programs

impUcitly get rewarded for their lack of initiative. As a result, the prospect

of such requirements could defer program innovation until federal funds

become available.

We have previously reported that most maintenance-of-effort requirements

have not avoided widespread fiscal substitution by states or localities.'^

T^ically, states were required to maintain their spending levels fi-om

several years before. Inflation alone gives states sufficient leeway to use

federal fimds to replace a significant amount of state funds.

Should the Congress wish to provide for a maintenance of effort, requiring

states to do so based on a rolling average of the past 2 years of spending,

for example, would help better protect agaii\st fiscal substitution.

Permitting waivers for states experiencing fiscal stress or for those having

innovative programs would be one way to at least partially address the

states' concerns.

"Proposed Changes in Federal Matching and Maintenance of Effort Requirements (GAO/GGIV81-7,
December 23, 1980).

GAO/AIMD-9S-226 Block Grants
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We hope this information meets your needs. Ifyou have any questions,

please call me at (202) 512-9573 or Margaret T. Wrightson, Assistant

Director, at (202) 612-3516.

Sincerely yours,

fo^i^f.(7<?7ue<_
Paul L Posner

Director, Budget Issues

GAO/AIMD-»S-226 Block GranU
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Appendix I

Major Contributors to This Report

Xnnnuntina anH Margaret T. Wrightson, Assistant Director
ACCOUnimg dJlU j^^ ^ ^^^^^ Assistant Director

Information BiU J. KeUer, Evaluator-in-Charge

Management Division,

Washington, D.C.

General Government "^ Ch^^he' Mi^m. Assistant Director

Division
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GAO
United States

General Accoonting OCBce
Washington, D.C. 20548

Health, Edncation, and
Human Services Division

April 17, 1995

The Honorable Daniel P. Moynihan

Ranking Minority Member
Committee on Finance

United States Senate

Dear Senator Moynihan:

Between 1989 and 1994, federal and state governments spent about

8 billion dollars on the Job Opportunities and Basic Skills Training (jobs)

program. The program helps recipients of Aid to Families with Dependent

Children (afdc) obtain the education, training, and services necessary for

emplojfment. For program managers and policymakers to determine

whether this investment has helped achieve the objective of reducing

welfare dependency requires information on jobs participants' outcomes,

such as whether they are becoming employed and leaving afdc. In working

toward welfare reform, information on the extent to which jobs is

achieving its objectives is more important than ever for the Congress.

This report responds to your request that we study the use of outcome

measurement by the Department of Health and Human Services (HHs) and

states in determining whether jobs participants are finding employment

and leaving afdc. Specifically, we addressed the following questions:

(1) What progress has HHS made in measuring the employment and afdc

status of jobs participants at the national level and setting national goals

against which program performance will be measured? (2) To what extent

are states measuring participant outcomes and setting performance goals?

(3) What m^jor issues should be considered in establishing a national

approach to measuring jobs participant outcomes and setting performance

goals?

To assess the progress that hhs has made in establishing outcome

indicators and goals, we interviewed officials fi-om hhs and various welfare

research and interest groups. We also reviewed jobs regulations and

reports. Using a mail questioruiaire, we surveyed jobs administrators in the

50 states and the District of Columbia to determine state performance

monitoring practices. To determine the issues that should be considered in

developing indicators and goals, we reviewed hhs' proposed approach to

developing outcome indicators, examined the literature on the

development ofperformance monitoring systems, and interviewed experts

GMVHEHS-9S-86 JOBS Ontcomn
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in the field. See ^pendix I for further details on our scope and

methodology.

R«i<iiilt« in Rripf hhs does not know whether jobs is reducing welfare dependency because

it does not gather enough information on critical program outcomes, such

as the number of participants entering employment and leaving afdc

annually. In addition, states are held accountable for the number and type

of participants enrolled in education and training but not for outcomes,

such as the number of participants finding employment. While the current

approach to monitoring performance provides important information on

the activities of jobs participants, state jobs directors are concerned that

the approach provides little incentive for states to focus on moving

participants off afdc and into jobs.

While little progress has been made in monitoring jobs outcomes at the

federal level, the picture is better at the state level. Nearly all states use

some information on participant outcomes to manage their individual

programs, although the extent to which states monitor outcomes varies

widely. At least in part to demonstrate to their state legislatures that

program objectives are being achieved, a m^ority of states monitor the

number of jobs participants entering employment and hourly wages at

hire. In addition, over one-half of the states have established annual

outcome goals. Although many states gather some jobs outcome data,

without a standard federal approach, few states could provide us with

comparable data. However, our survey of jobs directors found that 27

states could provide annual data on individuals entering employment In

these states, about 21 percent of jobs participants found jobs in 1993.

The current national interest in making welfare more employment

focused, as well as requirements in the Government Performance and

Results Act (gpra) that performance monitoring become more outcome
oriented govemmentwide, indicate a need for hhs to move decisively to

ensure that it meets its current schedule for developing outcome measures

and goals for jobs, hhs has reported to the Congress that it plans to finalize

JOBS outcome measures by October 1996 and outcome goals by

October 1998. A critical first step in developing performance goals will be

working with the states and other concerned parties to resolve differences

regarding whether the prinuuy objective of jobs is to help participants

(1) obtain employment quickly or (2) get the education and training

needed for better-paying jobs. Congress is considering whether afdc and

JOBS should be replaced with a welfjire-to-work block grant program that

GACVHEHS-95-86 JOBS Outcomes
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indudes some jobs' objectives and activities. However this issue is

resoJved, the need for federal accountability would be well served by

deaiiy defined program objectives and outcome goals.

RactcrmiinH toes, created by the Family Supfmrt Act (psa) of 1988, is designed to help^^ families avoid long-term welfare d^jendency. The act requires all states to

establish x>BS programs that make available to .^fdc recipients the

education, training, and support services they need to prepare for. accepc

and retain employment. States can provide these services either directly or

throu^ local s^icc providers. Both the states and the federal

govanment share in the costs of the program. States were required to

begin their »bs programs by October 1, 1990. and be in full statewide

opaation by October 1. 1992. hhs" Administration for Children and
Families (act) is responsible for managing jobs at the federal leveL

To understand whether a human services program, such as jobs, is

achieving its objectives or in need of improvement requires a system for

gathering information about program performance. Evaluating a program

by regularly collecting and analyzing performance information is known as

performance monitoring. Performance monitoring systeins include two
key elanents: (1) indicators—which define what performance informaticMi

will be gatho^ and (2) goals—a target level of performance against

which actual program performance wUl be gauged

Tl>«e are two basic types of indicators: process and outcome. Process

iitdicators for jobs would provide information about program activities,

such as the number of .•jdc recipients participating in jobs, the nuitvber of

JOBS participants receiving training, and the amount of money being spent

on teoMge participants. Outcome indicators for jobs, on the other hand,

would capture what happens to people after participatir\g in program
activities, such as the number of people who begin working, the number
who leave afdc, and the number still employed after 6 months.

Goals establish the levels of performance that programs are expected to

achieve. For example, the goal for participants starting work could be
"25 percent of those participating in jobs each year will enter full-time

anpkjyment.' Goals can be established for outcomes, such as the

percentage of participants finding employment and processes, such as the

percentage of participants mvolved m jobs skills training, for example.

Goals are often accompanied by financial incentives for meeting or

&MyHEHS-W-86 JOBS
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fiynfiM < Iii^5£nii7 w in 11m i ttwy mt irltfr rt tn ooteomesor

Because the CTvaall goal of JOBS was defined very btoadfy. states haive had

the flexibility to focus an a vaiiet; of diHei'eitt objectives in an e&m to

adiieve cfae broader purpose. These vaiying objectives can result in

different approacites for proviifing jobs services and JUenaa program

results. For example, programs wiiii tiie oi^fecove of qaickly increasmg

WeuaPe p^ nmnuw t*m iiin^^ m^^ IKIIIMIIICUM nwiMUg TWfOH'IIMMB'i ^BIQ Sly

job; wtaeieas, twuMiiiig the objective of long-cena seSsafEdeaxy map lead

to znore of an pniphaRS an education and nj»iiiiitga*ii*.iii*»^ willi the hope
of placing parti<^)ants in employment that allows tiiem to move off and
st^offAFlx:. If tiiere is no agreement oo program objectives, reaching

affleonaa on the ontimme inffiratms and goals needed to monitor

jLliiuvoaent of the objectives will be very difficulL

PSA manriatwi that hbs develop outcome goals Cknown as "^''*"»- in the

act) fiorXHS outconies over time sid estabiisfaed goals £ar cenain

processes. Itinilially required hbs by October 1993 to icconmiend jobs
goals based on specific oatcome indicatois, such as the Dumber of

partitjpauis who obtained jobs and moved off welfare. This requirement

was later amended to aDow hbs until October 1994 lo develop critezia for

mai'iwie goals for xiBS. Through its ftmding foonuia. fsa. in e£Eect. set

mmiimm goals for two JOBS process indicators: rate ofpra^KD
patk^Mion and taiget graiq>^ expencfitures. fsa specified that (1) at a
Hiifiiiiiiim, 20 percent of rwoexEinpt^ adult .afdc recqHems paniculate in

JOBS in fiscal year (rf1 1995 and (2) 55 pocent ofjobs pwjgram hmds be

sfient in each ft on ^lecified target groups. States are held accountable for

meeting both of these process goals and can kne a portian of their federal

fimfing if they £ul.

that HBS develop ootcome indicators and goals £ar JOBS, onu seeks, among
other objectives, to uaieafmm the focus of federal agencies firm what they

are doing to what results they are accomplishmg. To acconiiiiA this
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purpose, the act requires agencies to develop 5 year strategic plans

beginning in FT 1998 and annual performance plans beginning in FY 1999.

The strategic plans need to include comprehensive mission statements and

general goals and objectives for the agencies' mjyor functions. The annual

performance plans, which are based on the strategic plans, should set

specific performance goals for the year. Performance indicators will then

be used to monitor progress toward meeting the goals. By adopting a focus

on outcomes, agency effectiveness and congressional decision-making are

expected to iiiq>iDve.

Outcome indicators are useful to program managers and policymakers in

assessing the status of program operations, identifying areas needing

improvement, and ensuring accountability for end results. Indicators

alone, however, do not show the extent to which the program accounts for

an observed outcome. For example, suppose 25 percent of jobs

participants become employed in a certain time period, jobs activities as

well as events outside the program, such as participants' independent

efforts to find work or an upsurge in the economy, could account for

participants finding employment. Determining the extent to which the

program contributed to the observed outcome involves studies that use

experimental designs to estimate what would have happened without the

program. In this example, to estimate the program's impact, such studies

mi^t compare the percentage of jobs participants becoming employed

with the percentage of comparable afdc recipients becoming employed
without the program. To measure the impact of jobs, fsa authorized

studies using experimental designs to isolate the actual impact of the

program. Because such evaluations are usually costly, they are done
infrequently and often involve orJy select locatioiis.

HHS Has Made Uttle

Progress in

Establishing an
Outcome-Focused
JOBS Performance
Monitoring System

Six years after passage of fsa, hhs orJy holds state jobs programs

accountable for participation, not employment. As a result, very limited

national data are available regarding the outcomes of jobs participants. In

additiot\, the current approach to performance monitoring does not assist

states in determining whether they are meeting program goals related to

employment and independence fixjm welfare. According to hhs, a

combination of technical and enviromnental factors has impeded the

development of outcome indicators for jobs.

GA<VHEHS-96.g6 JOBS Outcomes
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HHS Data Gathering for

JOBS Focuses on
Participation, Not
Outcomes

HHS focuses its jobs data collection primarily on indicatois of participation.
It collects information from all states on the nimibers of program
participants, expenditures on target group members, and the activities
individuals are participating in on a monthly basis. States are accountable
for meeting process goals; if they fail to meet these goals the rates at
which state expenditures are matched by federal dollars may be reduced.^

Although HHS has established some outcome indicators, data on these
indicators present a veiy incomplete picture of jobs outcomes, hhs data on
job entry show that on an average monthly basis in FY 1993, 8 percent of
JOBS participants entered employment.'' In addition to job entry, hhs
gathers data on hourly wages and whether an individual stopped receiving
AFDC due to increased income from working. An acf ofBcial told us that
because states are not held accountable for outcomes, neither the states
nor HHS pays much attention to the monthly outcome data submitted.

The usefulness of hhs' outcome indicators as tools to help maruige the
program is limited for a number of reasons. Because of this approach to
gathering information, hhs cannot answer important questions regarding
whether participants are becoming self-sufBcienL To measure
participants' activities, including education, training, job search, and
employment, hhs gathers data each month on a sample of jobs participants
who (1) took part in any JOBS-sponsored activity in that month or
(2) became employed in the sample or preceding month. The sample,
therefore, excludes anyone who has been employed for more than 2
months or did not participate in a jobs activity in the sample month. This
approach to sampling is designed to measure participants' current
employment-related activities, not outcomes related to whether
participants remain employed and move off afdc as a result of their
earnings. To measure such outcomes, hhs would need to track individual
participants across time. In addition, current measurement approaches do
not yield annual statistics—a common indicator of program
performance—on the percentage of jobs participants who became
employed, hhs also believes that the quality of some of the data is poor.
For example, an acf ofBcial told us that the data on hourly wages ai«
unreliable because they are missing in many cases and often entered
incorrectly.

"For example, if a state faiJed to meet the JOBS participation goal of 15 percent of adult nonexempt
AFDC recipients m FY 1994. the federal matchmg rate m FY 1995 could be reduced from 90 percent t
50 percent (for expenditures up to an amount equal to the states Work Incentive (WIN) nroeram
allotment for FY 1987)

^^

'HHS began collecting data on job entry in FY 1992 The r

is FY 1993
t recent year for which data are available

GA(VHEHS-$S-8« JOBS Oatcames
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Current Monitoring

Approach for JOBS Does
Not Support an Emphasis
on Employment and
Reducing Welfare

Dependence

Our 1994 survey found that state jobs directors believe that little progress

has been made in establishing a performance monitoring system that

supports achieving program goals related to employment and
independence from welfiare. ES^ty-two percent of jobs directors we
sinveyed believe that HHS has not sufficiently moved to focxis jobs on
outcome measurement. Our survey also found that over one-half of state

JOBS directors believe that the data gathered on participation rates and

target group expenditures are of little or no use in helping states achieve

their employment and training program goals. Over one-half of the states

believed that the nature of federal reporting requirements actually

hindered their abilities to collect data on outcome indicators. In addition,

ACF reported in May 1994 that while it spends a significant amount of time

and resources on monitoring for jobs and other programs, performance

monitoring at acf is in a "state of crisis," in part because the system does

not provide a means for determining if programs are producing the desired

outcomes.^

These beliefe echo concerns about the absence of outcome data voiced in

1989 in response to hhs' notice ofproposed rule making (nprm) for jobs. In

its NPRM for MBS, HHS originally included no outcome indicators. Numerous
commenters on the nprm, however, favored the addition of outcome data.

Some ofthem believed that an excessive emphasis on participation would

drive program operations toward meeting goals not necessarily related to

achieving independence from welfare through employment. In response to

the NPRM comments, hhs amended its proposed regulations to include

some outcome data related tojob entry stating that these data should be

included

*aiice employinralt as a means to self-sufficiency and independei

objective of the jobs pmgranL*
i from welfare is the

Howevra-, hhs chose not to include additional outcome measures at that

time, in part, because it agreed with one commenter's concern that

outcome data do not show the extent to which the program accounts for

the observed outcomes.

hhs' lack of an outcome-focused performance monitoring system also

limits the possibilities for information sharing and coordination with other

employment and training programs, such as the Job Training Partnership

Act (jtpa). At the local level, jobs' and jtpa's services are often combined

"Report oflheAifaBiiialiJiiop for Qrildran aid Families' Monitoring Team, AdministiatiDn for Children

and Families, PqMiliiiMit ofaaMiaid Hmnan Services (May 1994).
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to meet the education, training, and support service needs of afdc

recipients. Close coordination is necessary between the programs to

facilitate effective service delivery. In 1992, the National Governors'

Association reported that a nuyority of the jtpa administrators they

surveyed believed that one barrier to effective coordination was the lack

of consistency between jtpa's outcome goals and jobs' process reporting

requirements.'

HHS Has Encountered
Barriers to Developing an
Outcome-Focused
Performance Monitoring
System

While FSA set process goals, it also required hhs to develop and submit

recommendations for outcome goals to the Congress by October 1993.

These recommendations were to include goals for increased earnings and
reduced welfare dependency, hhs missed the October 1993 deadline, but

submitted its report on September 30, 1994.' This report identified

problems in developing an outcome-focused performance monitoring

system and provided a detailed plan and schedule for developing outcome
indicators and goals.

In its report to the Congress, hhs identified several technical and
enviroiunental factors that contributed to delays in the issuance of

recommendatior\s for outcome goals by the October 1993 deadline, hhs

reported that appropriate outcome indicators had proven difficult to

define in part due to disagreements among key stakeholders, such as

researchers; congressional staff; and federal, state, and local officials,

regarding the primary objectives of the jobs program. In addition, setting

goals was compUcated by possible unintended program effects, such as

programs focusing on the most employment-ready individuals in order to

meet goals, hhs also reported that turbulence in the welfare system—for

example, funding shortfalls and caseload growth—made it difficult to

focus the necessary attention and resources on developing outcome goals.

HHS also wanted to ensure that proposed goals were compatible with

welfare reform plans being developed by the new administration.

^ legislation passed in late October 1994, the reporting requiiement was amended to allow HHS t

submit a report to the Congress by October 1 , 1994, on criteria for the development of o

for JOBS.
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Many States Active in

Monitoring JOBS
Program Outcomes,
but Have Mixed Views
About Setting

Nationwide Goals

In contrast to the relatively slow progress at the federal level, many states

have been active in developing outcome indicators to monitor jobs

participant outcomes. To a large extent, this activity has grown out of each

state program's efforts to demonstrate its effectiveness and gamer support

for additional state funding. According to our survey results, states use a

variety of outcome indicators, relying most often on the number of jobs

participants entering employment and less frequently on job retention rate

and reductions in afdc payments. Over one-half of the states have also

established goals for their outcome indicators. Appendix n contains a

copy of our survey questionnaire and results for selected questions.

Although many states use their own outcome goals and support

establishing national goals, they have concerns about how these goals will

be set and used. They maintain that hhs may not be able to adequately

control for differences across states in local economic conditions and

client characteristics that can affect how successful programs are in

placing participants in jobs. They are also concerned that certain outcome
indicators will automatically favor certain state programs and unduly

influence program design decisions, which they beUeve should be

maintained at the state level.

States Use Various

Indicators to Monitor JOBS
Outcomes

Despite the absence of a federal approach to collecting jobs outcome data,

many state programs have been active in tracking jobs outcomes at the

state level. Our survey of state jobs directors showed that states use a

variety of indicators to measure outcomes. The two indicators that states

use most often are the number of jobs participants entering employment
and their hourly wages at hire (see table 1).

Table 1 : Outcome Indicators Used by
States

Indicator
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As shown in figure 1, almost all states reported that they collected data on
the number of participants entering employment during FY 1993 and
responded that this is one of the most important indicators to use to

monitor jobs outcomes. A relatively large number of states also collected

data on hourly wages at hire. However, slightly fewer states favored using

hourly wages at hire as an outcome indicator. Several states expressed

concerns that hourly wages at hire were more a reflection of local

economic conditions than an outcome of the jobs program. One state

official also noted that measuring hourly wages at hire could discourage

programs from placing participants in low-wjige entry-level positions,

which often serve as stepping stones to higher paying positions.

Figure 1 : Percent of States Using and
Favoring Various Outcome indicators

I

I Indicators Used by the Slates

^^^H Indicators Favored by ttie States
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In comparison to employment entry and wages, only two-thirds of states

collect data on the number of participants no longer receiving afdc due to

employment. However, as shown in figure 1, a relatively large number of

states reported that they believe this indicator should be used to monitor

program outcomes but do not collect the information because of the

difficiJty and resources required to obtain it.

Three other outcome indicators—job retention rate, the number of

participants with reductions in afdc due to employment, and educational

achievement—are used by almost one-half of the states. Many more states,

however, favored using tliese three indicators. While the survey results

show that state officials believe that job retention rate and changes in afdc

benefits are particularly useful outcomes to monitor, tracking afdc

recipients after case closure is difficult, time-consuming, and expensive,

according to several state officials. Staffing limitations and the inability to

locate ex-AFDC clients were two reasons they cited for not pursuing these

indicators more aggressively. Several states also explained that resources

allocated to data collection are limited and that they are bound to first

comply with federal reporting requirements. One state official doubted the

program would be given the authority or resources to gather additioiuil

data without a federal mandate to do so.

States also have relied on different approaches to measure outcomes. For

example, to measure the employment rate of jobs participants, some states

tracked jobs participants over time and maintained a count of individual

JOBS participants obtaining or retaining employment over a year. Other

states performed periodic studies to determine how many jobs

participants were working and for how long. Other states did no more than

collect the monthly caseload data required by hhs.

Given the variation in how states measure employment rates, determining

the rate at which jobs participants are finding employment on a national

basis is difficult. However, as part of our survey of state jobs program

directors, we asked states to provide the number of jobs participants who
had obtained employment during FY 1993. Based on the respor^es from the

27 states able to provide data in the format requested, approximately

21 percent of jobs participants entered employment during fy 1993.* We
also asked states to provide data on the number of JOBS participants

"Of the 50 states, 27 provided us with total number ofJOBS participants and the number who had
entered employment during the year. These 27 states represent 54 percent of the average monthly
participants in the JOBS program. Because we do not have a national count of the total number of

JOBS participants during the year, we could not determine the percent of the total number of

participants in a year represented by these states.
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letaniing llieirjobs for 3 mtHilhs. FV>r the nine states reporting this

infonnati<Hi, 33 percoit ofx>bs participants who entered employment
retained theirjobs for at least 3 months.^

While states have taken differ«tt approaches to measuring outcomes, their

interest in outcome measurement ^peais hi^ As mentioned earlier,

according to our survey, 82 percoit of states indicated hhs has not done

oiou^ to establish outcome indicators for jobs. OfBcials in several states

emphasized that they need to establish outcome indicators to provide their

state legislatures with information about jobs participants outcomes. Some-
states were also disappointed that hhs had not introduced outcome

indicatois earlier whoi states were implementing their jobs data collection

systems so that they would not have to modify their systems later to meet

federal reporting requirements.

M^ority of States Support
Establishing Outcome
Goals, but Want
Substantial Control Over
Their Development and
Use

While stales recognize the need and value ofoutcome indicators in

managing the jobs program, their views on establishing outcome goals are

mixed. According to our survey, 29 states had established at least one goal

at the state level for fiscal year 1993 (see fig. 2). Of these, five states

reported that they formally adjusted the performance goals to account for

local differoices in client characteristics or the availability of employment

i iUMUKjit leperccntaf the sverageinanthty number ofJOBS participants
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ngure 2: States With Outcome Goals

Maryland

[ ]
state reported establishing at least one outcome goal

I I

State reported not setting outcome goals, except Iowa wtiicti did not respond to survey

^ State reported tormatly adjusting outcon>e goals for local differences

As shown in table 2, of the 29 states with established goals, 27 reported

that they did so for the number of participants entering employment. A
substantial number of these states also had established goals for hourly

wages earned at the time of hire, job retention rate, and
educational/training achievement.
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Table 2: Outcome Goals Used by
States

OmeomeimScitor
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better beingjudged on job entiy rate. In either case, states agreed that they

wanted to retain the flexibility to design their own jobs programs.

State views were mixed on whether federal funds should be linked to

meeting i\ational outcome goals. Over 40 percent of the states were against

Unking outcome goals to federal funding, while nearly 30 percent were in

favor of doing so. Several state officials did not beUeve that federal

funding should be tied to national goals because they doubted that hhs

could sufficiently control for differences in economic conditions and client

characteristics across various geographical regions.

Establishing Outcome
Indicators and Goals
Is Critical to Making
JOBS More
Employment-Focused

Establishing effective outcome indicators and goals is critical to

sharpening jobs' focus on the ultimate goals of employment and

independence from welfare, whether jobs remains the same or is replaced

with a welfare-to-work block grant program that includes some jobs'

objectives and activities, as has been proposed. Current congressional and

public interest in welfare reform as well as gpra requirements indicate a

need for hhs to move decisively to establish national leadership regarding

outcome measurement for jobs. Before effective outcome indicators and

goals can be established, important differences among stakeholders

regarding the objectives of jobs will have to be resolved.

HHS Plans to Add
Outcome Indicators to the

JOBS Performance
Monitoring System and
Modify the System's

Process Indicators

In its September 1994 report to the Congress, hhs acknowledged the value

of and affirmed its commitment to using outcome measurement in its

performance monitoring system for jobs. Specifically, hhs plans to develop

outcome indicators and goals and refine existing process indicators and

goals. In addition, hhs plans to modify the afdc Quality Control system" by

adding key process indicators, such as participation rates.

In developing outcome indicators and goals, hhs faces a complex and

difficult task, hhs recogruzes that it must ensure that indicators and goals

help the program achieve its objectives and meet the needs of numerous
stakeholders, including local service providers, state and federal

managers, and policymakers. In its 1994 report to the Congress, hhs

identified and laid the groundwork for addressing a number of critical

design and implementation issues that must be addressed to ensure that

indicators and goals support program objectives, are fair to all states, and
avoid unintended program consequences. These issues include

"The states and HHS use the Quality Control system to evaluate whether AFDC payments are made
accurately and to determine how well states comply with regulations to prevent waste, fraud, and
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(1) devdoping a process to oisure states are given an equal opportunity to

meet standards by adjusting for differences among states (that is, levelling

the playing field), (2) designing strategies to discourage states from

serving only the easiest-to-serve clients, and (3) selecting data collection

approaches that are feasible and cost-effective.

To develop outcome indicators, hhs plans to convene a working group

composed of representatives from the Congress, hhs, the Department of

Labor, the states, afix: recipients, community-based organizations, and

others. ITus group will convene by April 1995 and make recommendations

to HHS on q>ecific outcome indicators and methods for data collection by

January 1, 1996. Proposed indicators are to be published in the Federal

Register no later than April 1996 and finalized by October 1, 1996. Using a

similar process, current plans call for outcome goals to be developed and

fiitalized by October 1, 1998.

HHS supports continued use of existing jobs process indicators but believes

that changes are needed to process goals to make them more effective. In

addition, in its September 1994 report to the Congress, hhs proposed

changing the process goal from the current 20 percent rate to a rate

between 45 and 55 percent hhs also suggested changing target-group goals

to achieve hi^ier levels of participation among the youngest afdc parents.

Congressional and
National Interest and
GPRA Add Urgency to the

Need for HHS to Establish

Outcome Indicators

Recently, there has been strong congressional and national interest in afdc

becoming more focused on helping recipients become employed and leave

AFDC in a limited time period. Numerous bills to reform AFDt: and jobs were

introduced in the 103rd Congress and more are likely to be introduced in

the 104th. Several recent welfare reform bills would replace afix; and jobs

with a wellJare-to-work block grant program. To the extent that jobs

objectives and activities are retained in the block grant, outcome

indicators and goals for jobs would be useful in ensuring accountability

and improving congressional oversight.

While FSA, which originally required inis to develop outcome goals only for

JOBS, was limited to one program, gpra requires all federal agencies to

develop strategic plans, aiuiual performance plans, and aimual

performance reports. Strategic plans articulate the agency's essential

mission, long-term general goals and objectives, and a plan of action for

achieving the objectives. TTie armual performance plans, by establishing a

set of performance indicators and goals, provide a link between the

agency's longer-term objectives and what managers and staff must
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accomplish on a daily basis to achieve those objectives, gpra requires that

agencies must submit to Congress 5-year strategic plans beginning in FY

1998 and annual performance plans beginning in FY 1999. The performance

plans are expected to cover each program activity set forth in the agency's

budget.

Currently, over 70 agencies and programs are involved in pilot projects for

GPRA. The National Academy of Public Administration (napa) recently

reviewed these pilots and found that some agencies had made limited

progress in developing their plans due to insufficient preparation time.

NAPA recommended that all programs in an agency, not oiUy those

currently operating as pilots, begin as soon as possible to develop strategic

and performance plans so that the FY 1998 and fy 1999 deadlines could be

met.

If JOBS activities are retained within an afdc block grant, a system of

accoimtability for the end results of these activities would still be needed.

GPRA and the administration's National Performance Review (npr) promote
the use of outcome indicators for all programs, including those funded

through block grants. To date, however, data collected by states imder

most block grants have focused on process indicators such as the number
of clients served. In addition, past block grant programs have not often

gathered consistent information on program activities and outcomes to

support congressional oversight. In reviewing data collection under block

grants, we found that, among other things, national leadership in directing

the development of model data-gathering criteria could increase data

comparability and, as a result, oversight.

Clarifying Program
Objectives Is First Step in

Establishing Indicators and
Goals

HHS and performance monitoring system experts agree that the first critical

step in developing outcome indicators and performance goals is to reach

agreement among stakeholders, such as the Congress; researchers; and
federal, state, and local officials, regarding the objectives of the program.

According to hhs, disagreements among stakeholders about the objectives

of the JOBS program have been a mioor obstacle to developing jobs

outcome indicators. Difficulty clarifying jobs objectives may again prove

to be one of the biggest obstacles in the effort to establish outcome
indicators and goals.

In our survey of state jobs directors, we found some disagreement

regarding the programs' overriding objectives. Eighty percent of the

directors responded that the overriding objective was to prepare and place
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participants in employment that allows them to move off and stay off afdc.

The other 20 percent stated that their objective was to get participants

employed in any job, part- or full-time, even if the job might not allow

them to move off afdc. Tliese two objectives, although consistent with the

overall objectives of fsa, would likely produce differently designed jobs

programs and different short-teim results, thus making the establishment

of apprc^riate outcome goals difficult

Conclusion Program managos, policymakeis and other stakeholders need to know
whether jobs participants are finding employment and leaving aftx;. Veiy
little is known nationally about the outcomes ofjobs participants because
HHS has not moved aggressively on developing an outcome monitoring

system. Many believe that establishing effective outcome indicators and
goals is critical to refocusing jobs on the ultimate goals of employment and
independence &am welfare. Elective indicators and goals would also help

ensure accountability for achieving these critical outcomes should afix;

and JOBS be replaced with a welfare-to-work block grant program that

includes some jobs' objectives and activities. TTie states have a strong

interest in outcome measurement and are aggressively pursuing a variety

of^proaches in this area. State efforts provide a rich well of experience

that can be drawn on in developing a national approach to measuring jobs

outcomes. To meet the requirements of fsa and gpra, hhs must move
decisively to establish national leadership regarding outcome
measurement for jobs.

Agency Comments In its Ifarch 28, 1995, comments on our draft report, hhs generally agreed
with our conclusion that its data are incomplete and focused on
piiicess-oriented goals. However, hhs believes that we did not

(1) adequately portray the difficulty of developing an outcome-focused

performance measurement system or (2) give adequate weight to the

importance of certain technical issues or the progress that hhs has made in

addressing those issues (see app. ID). We added language in the report to

more explicitly recognize the difficulty of the task and hhs' progress in

identifying important technical issues (see p. 15). hhs also suggested minor
technical revisions to the draft, which we incorporated as appropriate.
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Our work was performed between January 1994 and February 1995, in

accordance with generally accepted government auditing standards, with

the exception that we did not check the accuracy of outcome data

reported by hhs and the states.

We are providing copies of this report to the Secretary of Health and

Human Services, other hhs ofGcials, and state jobs program

administrators. We will also make copies available to other interested

parties upon request. M^or contributors to this report are listed in

appendix IV. If you have questions about this report, please call Robert

MacLafferty on (415) 904-2000.

Sincerely yours.

Jane L. Ross

Director, Income Security Issues
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Abbreviations

ACF Administration for Children and Families
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NAPA National Academy of Public Administration
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Appendix I

Scope and Methodology

To determine the progress hhs had made in establishing outcome
indicatois and goals and the issues relevant to their development, we
interviewed oEBdals from hhs' Administration for Children and Families,

which is responsible for the jobs program at the federal level. We also

reviewed (1) the data-reporting procedures for the jobs program, (2) hhs

reports that simunarize the outcome data collected at the federal level, and

(3) various reports on the status within acf of monitoring and developing

outcome measures. We did not verily the accuracy of federal data, but

were told by hhs ofBcials that the data were not complete or accurate. In

addition, we reviewed the welfare-to-work and performance measurement
literature and spoke with officials from various welfare research and

interest groups, including apwa, the National Governors' Association, and

the Manpower Demonstration Research Corporation.

To determine state performance measurement practices, in May 1994, we
surveyed jobs program administrators in the 50 states and the District of

Columbia. We also examined 1993 and 1994 reviews of state jobs programs

conducted by acf's regional ofBces and obtained available reports on
outcome data produced by the states.

In our survey, we used a mail questionnaire to collect information on FY

1993 general program characteristics, the use of performance indicators

and goals at the state level, and state preferences regarding the

development of nationwide indicatois and goals. We also requested

information for selected outcome data elements for fy 1993. We received

survey responses from the District of Columbia and all 50 states except

Iowa. However, no respondents could provide complete responses to our

request for annual, unduplicated outcome data for fy 1993, even though

many states reported that they monitor some outcome measures.

To obtain additional information and determine why states did not provide

requested outcome data, we conducted follow-up telephone interviews

with o£5cials in 10 states: Alaska, Arkansas, California, Idaho, Louisiana,

New Jersey, New Mexico, Nevada, New York, and Washington. We first

identified states that reported that they monitor participants entering

employment but were unable to provide an annual, unduplicated count of

JOBS participants entering employment for FY 1993 (as we had requested in

our survey). Among these states, we then selected 10 to contact, which

included states with large, medium, and small caseloads. Based on our

follow-up work, we determined that six states could not provide annual,

undiqilicated data because the data were not available. In the other four
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states, the data were available but reporting them would have required

significant time or resources.
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Appendix II

GAO Questionnaire Regarding JOBS
Program Characteristics

Our survey, sent to state jobs administrators, contained questions on
general program characteristics, outcome indicators, outcome goals, and
participant outcome data. This appendix includes the full text of the

survey and the aggregate responses for the first three sections of the

survey. The number cited next to each response category is the number of

states that responsed.

The appendix does not include the responses regarding participant

outcome data. Many states were not able to provide the total number of

individuals served by their programs in fiscal year 1993 and even fewer

states could answer questions about participant outcomes in the format

that we requested. As a result, we have not annotated the participant

outcome data section of the survey with the incomplete data reported to
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Appendix n
GAO Qoestioiiiuire RegardinC J

Program ChArmcterutics

VS. GENERAL ACCOUNTING OFTICE
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Appendix 11

GAO Questioiuiaire Regarding JOBS
Progrmm ChAracteiistics

GENERAL PROGRAM CHARACTERISTICS
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Appendix II

6AO Qaestioiiiiaira Regardiii< JOBS
Procrmm Characteriatlcs

In most of the county (Iocs!) JOBS t«ogmm in your

sutc wtui, if anything, tuppeoed to nundatory

panidpuits who refused to pvtidpHe ii

Mtivity m FY 937 (CHECK ONE)

The imtiil refuul ...

2. (61 bad no intmediaic consequeoces. but

lubscqucni rcfuuls staned the umcaon and

recoDdliaiion proccu

( 2
I

had no caueqoenDCS

( 3 I Other (PLEASE SPECIFY)

Consider the tervices your uaie provukd to JOBS
participants in FY 93. During the coune of providiog

these services, bow often, if ever did your state

communicate to its JOBS participants that the "trimt*-

goal of the JOBS program is employmcm? (CHECK
ONE)

I 18 ) Very often

124 I Often

( 3 ) Soroetiines

I 1 I Rarely, if ever

( 4 I Don'i know/No basis to judge

In FY 93. to wbtt extent, if any, did the JOBS program

in your state emphasiie to JOBS workers thai their role

was to prepare JOBS paraapams for empkiyinent?

(CHECK ONE)

15 I To a very great extent

23 ) To a great extent

8 I To a moderate extent

4 I To some extent

I To bttle cr no extern

) Don't know

In FY 93, to what extent, if any. did the JOBS program
in your state empbasiie to JOBS participams that they

were obbged to participate in JOBS program activities?

(CHECK ONE)

21 ) To a very great e

22 ) To a great extent

5 I To a moderate ex

I I To some extent

I ] To lioie or DO exi

I Don't know

10. To what extent, if any, has the JOBS program in your

state moved the welfare system from a focus on

incooic tTi»i»H^iiffii-»- to one promoting work and sclf-

suffidency? (CHECK ONE)

1

.

( 1 1 ) To a very great extern

2. I 6 I To a great cncni

y ( 17 I To a moderate exiem

4. ( 14 I To SOUK extern

5. I 2 I To bilk or no extent

6. t ) Don't know
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Appendix D
GAO Qnestioniuire Seganlln^ JOBS
Progrmm ChAittcteriatics

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

U. In FY 93. did your stale collect

foUowing perfoi

outcomes of your siatc's JOBS program'' (CHECK
YES OR NO FOR EACH)

12 What arc ibc okmi imponani perfonnance indicaiors

thm should be used lo monitor JOBS participant

outcooes at the narional levcP (CHECK ALL THAT
APPLY)

3 momtor client

Number of paranpanis cnicnng

employmcni thai provides health

Hourly wages canted ai time of fa

Expected weekly earnings at tiiiie

9 Job mention rate after a specified

length of tunc

10 Rate of rclum to AFDC, after a

specified length of tunc, for those who

left AFDC due to employmcni

1

1

Other (PLEASE SPECIFY)

Yes

(1)
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13. Which of tbe foilowiog pafannancc indicMan. if any.
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Appendix n
GAO Qaestionnaire Regarding JOBS
Program Characteristics

ipcrfor

ban enough'' (CHECK ONE)

I ) Much more than enough

t
I More than enough

7
I
Enough

I 25
I
Leu than enough

[ 16 ) Much less than enough

No answer provided

EJunng FY 93. how caiy ot difficult was ii for your

state to collect data on outcomc-relaicd perfarmancc

(CHECK ONE)

] Very easy

5
I
Somewhat easy

5 ] Neither easy nor difficult

23 ) Somewhat difficult

n 1 Very difficuh

1 No basis to judge

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

t. Availability of funds

2 Availabibiy of staff

3 Level of auiomaaon and data

Amount of guidance provided

by ACF on JOBS
performance mdicaion

related to outcomes

Olheis (PLEASE SPECIFY)

Little Of No

(11
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Appendix 11

GAO Qnestioimaire Regardiiix JOBS
Program CliAiacterwtics

PERFORMANCE STANDARDS

Perfonnaoce standards are benchmarks for given

performance indicators For cumpk. a progmn may

collcci data on tbc peifonnancc indicator 'number of

pamcipanu cnifnng cmploymcnL' lis pcrfonnance

sUndard may be "25 percent of paraapants will gain

fuU-ome employment each year " (CHECK ONE)

1
I
29 ) Yes (CONTINUE)

2 I
21 ) No (GO TO QUESTION 22)

20 For whicb JOBS panicipani o

have statewide perfonnaiMX

(CHECK ALL THAT APPLY)

1

21. Id FY 93. did your stale make any formal adjustments

in Its performance standards to account for local

differences m cither clicni charactcn sties or (be

availability of jobs'* (CHECK ONE)

I , I 5 1 Yes

2 I
24

I No

22. In FY 93. bow many county (local) JOBS programs ii

your state had established counlywide performance

standards related to paitiapant outcomes'' (CHECK
ONE)

I
2 I Most

I 0! About I

I
25 I

23. In FY 93. bow many counocs in your state bad

estabUsbed performance standards related to panicipaDt

outcomes for county (local) JOBS propram manapers

orsiafn (CHECK ONE)

I
3 I Number of participams entering

employment that fvovidcs health

coverage

I 16
I
Hourly wages earned ai time of hire

I
2 I Expected weekly earnings at tunc of hire

I
t

I
Hourly wages earned at a spcdGed tunc

period after initial hire

I
2 ] Job r c after a specified length o

10
I

3
I

Rate of return to AFDC after a specified

length of tune, for those who left AFDC
due to employineni

11
I

1 Other (PLEASE SPECIFY)

GAa«EHS-N-86 JOBS OutcMDH
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Appendix II

GAO Qnestioimaire Regarding JOBS
Progrmm Characteristics

, should n

JOBS program'' (CHECK ONE)

1

.

I
9 1 Derimlcly yes

2.
I
17

I
Pn^^lyyes

3 I 8 I As much yes as no (undecided)

4.
I
10 I Probably no

5- 16 1 Dcfimicly no

25. If the federal govenuncni esublishcd na&onwid

performance standards related lo panicipani oui

for JOBS, which one of the following mcihods

establishing standards would yoiu state prefer''

(CHECK ONE)

I

I
3

I
Othcf (PLEASE SPECIFY) _

26, If the federal goi

performance standards Fclaled to panicipani

for JOBS, should amnunU of federal funding

JOBS programs be Unked to mccbng these sl

(CHECK ONE)

I 1^1 Defirutcly yes

2.
I

1 1
I
Probably yes

3.
I 15 I As mttch yes as no (undccidcdl

4.
I

8
I

Probably no

5. I 13
I
Infinitely no

6. [ I
No opinion

27 Consider the data you were required to collect and

report lo me«t federal reporting requirements on JOBS
partldpatloD rates in FY 93 How easy or difficult

was II for your sutc lo gather ibe data required to meet

these repomng requiremcois? (CHECK ONE)

1

,

I 1 Very easy

2 I 3 i
Somewhat easy

3. I 2 I Neither easy nor difficult

4 I
24

I Somewhai difficult

5 I 21 I
Very difficult

6.
I I

No opinion

28 When your state collects federally required JO&S
parttdpaUon ratr data, bow useful, if ai all. ore these

data in helping youi state achieve its JOBS

cmploymcm and iraimng goals'* (CHECK ONE)

1 [It Very useful

2 I
2 I Moderately use^il

3 [ 20 I
SonKwbat useful

4 [ 26
I
Of litUc or no use

5
I II No Opinion

29 Consider the data you were required lo collect and

repon to meet federal reporong requuemrnts on JOBS
targcl groups in FY 93 How easy o» difficult was ii

tor your state to gather the data required to meet these

reporung requirements'' (CHECK ONE)

Very easy

Somewhat easy

Neither easy nor difficult

I
18

I
Somewhat difflculi

I
10

I
Very difficuU

I ) No opinion
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Appendix n
GAO Qnefltionnaire BetfMrdinC JOBS
Progrmm CharacteristKa

30. WbcD your state coUecu ficdcnlly requiral dMs on

JOBS targH eroupK. bow useful, if at all. ar these

data in helping your stale achieve its JOBS
ctnploymcm and training goals? (CHECK ONE)

1. [ 2 )
Vay useful

2. I 5 I Modcmcay useful

3. I 12 I
Somewhat useful

4.
I
30 I Of little cr DO use

5. Ill No Opinion

Eetployraal Entry and Rrtrntloii

33 Of those in an approved JOBS activity in your state in

FY 93. how many entered subsidized or unsubsidized

employment at some point dunng the year? (ENTER
NUMBER; IF NONE, ENTER 'O')

e not available

Entered unsubsidized employment

JOBS PARTICIPANT OUTCOME DATA

In th]<> section of the quesoonnai/e we are intocstcd lo data

thai arc representative of your entire state. If youi state

collects paniapant outcome data on a sample bass, please

generalize to the entire JOBS caseload in answering the

participant outcome questions, if you do not believe your

sample data ai7 rcFrcsentaiivc of tbe entire state, please

check the "data arc not available' box.

31 . Are you providing infonnaDon in this scdian of the

quesuonnairc by fedoal fiscal year or state fiscal year?

(CHECK ONE)

1. I I Federal fiscal year (l(VI/92 90(V93>

2.
I I State fiscal yem -> What is the beginning

1993?

Of those who entered unsubsidized employment in FY
93. bow many had high school diplomat, or GEDs?
(ENTER NUMBER: IF NONE, ENTER -O)

Had high school diploi

not available

, Had high sch

not available

r unsubsidized employment

32. Of your total AFDC aivl AFDC UP redpwatts m FY
93. how many participated tor at least ooe bour. ai an;

time dunng the year, in an appnivcd JOBS activity '*

An approved JOBS activity is one which states can

provide according to federal r^ulaUoos. (ENTER
UNDUPUCATED NUMBER)

36. Of those who entered unsubsidized cmploymem in FY
93, how many had any work experience in the previous

12 mooths-* (ENTER NUMBER; IF NONE, ENTER

Had woric experience in the previous 12

GA0^HEHS-95-S6 JOBS Outcomes
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Appendix n
GAO Questionnaire Regarding JOBS
Program Characteristics

37. Of those who did not enter unsubsidized employmenl

in FY 93. bow many had any work cKpencncc m the

previous 12 months'' fF.>rrER NUMBER. IF NO>aL.

ENTER -O-)

I I Dau a ailable

i unsubsidized employment i FY38. Of ttaosev

93, bow many, if any. took (II full ante jobs (working

30 hours or more per week) and (2) pan-lunc jobs

(woiting less than 30 hours per week)? (EI^TTER

NUMBERS. IF NO>fE. ENTER '0')
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Appendix n
GAO Qnestioanalrc Begardiac J

Prognm CkaiwtbtwiMtiem

CoosidcT iIk individukk in in ipprovcd JOBS acbviiy

who stopped receiving AFDC due to employment in

FY 93. Woe follow-up efFons am
d off AFDC? (CHECK ONE)

1 ( I Ym (CONTINUE)

2 ( ) No (GO TO QUESTION 40

47 Of those in your OMc'i JOBS program who

participttcd in an education component, bow many

successfully completed that component in FY 93?

(ENTER NUMBER; IF NONE. ENTER '0')

Successfully completed education

4S. Consider igain the individuals in an ap^uvul JOBS
activity wbo stopped rccaving AFDC due to

cnqiloyment m FY 93. Please indicate the time pcnod

during which you foUowcd-up oo these individuals, and

for each applicable time period, provide the number of

individuals «^ remained <^ AFDC due to

employmcnL (CHECK YES OR NO FOR EACH: IF

YES. ENTER NUMBER)

NUMBER
If REMAINED OFF
yes AFDC

Aftcr3moiit

After other ti

(SPECIFY)

YES
(1)
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Appendix n
GAO QnestloiiiiAire Hegarding JOBS
Program Characteriatics

Tralnliig

51 Of those in an approved JOBS activity in your state

during FY 93. bow many paroapaied in a training

component (program), tbsi is. one which provides

vocational trmmng in Icchmcal job skills and/or helps

develop knowledge and abilities in a specific

occupaaooal area'' (EKTER UNDUPLICATED
NUMBER; IF NONE, ENTER )

55 How many teen parcnu participated in an approved

activity in your slate's JOBS program during FY 93''

(ENTER NUMBER; IF NONE. ENTER 'O')

Numbo' in a iraioing componcni

[ ] Dau are not available ~> (GO TO QUESTION
55)

52. Of those in your sutc's JOBS program who were in a

training component dunng FY 93. how many

successfully conqileted the training component in FY
93? (ENTER NUMBER; IF NONE, ENTER 0)

,
_^_ Successfully completed training

component

I I Data are not available

S3. Of those in your state's JOBS program who
successfully completed a training component during FY
93. bow many entered unsubsidizcd employment in FY
93? (ENTER NUMBER. IF NONE. ENTER "O")

Entered unsubsidized employment

Of those in your state's JOBS program who entered

unsubsidi/ed employment in FY 93 after compleung a

training caatponcnu bow many, if any, entered an

occupation for which they had been trained by the

JOBS program? (ENTER NUMBER. IF NONE.
ENTER -O")

Entered accupaboa far which they were

56 Of the teen parents parrmpaung w an approved JOBS
activity, dunng FY 93 how many were in a hi^
school. GED. basic educauon, or similar education

program'' (ENTER NUMBER. IF NONE. ENTER 'O')

Teen parents in education programs

I I
Data arc not available

Of the teen parents in an educanon piugram dunng FY
93. bow many completed tbcu high school degree or

equivakni educauon program in FY 93** (ENTER
NUMBER; IF NONE, ENTER 0)

_ Teen parents completed h

58 Of those teen parents who completed a high school

degree or equivalent educaoon program, how many

entered cmploymcai in FY 93'' (ENTER NUMBER; IF

NONE ENTER 'O)

Teen piaienis who completed a

hi^ school degree or equivalent

and entered employment

I ) Dau art not available

GACVHEHS-9S-86 JOBS OntcomeB
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Appendix II

GAO Qaestioniiaire Regarding JOBS
Program Characteristica

65 In youi opinion, which coumy (or other local COMMENTS
juhsdicuon) within your slate operates the moM
effective JOBS pragnun? By efFccDvc wc mean a 67 In this questionnaire, we ask about statewide

program that achieves state program goals and can performance data related to employment, joh r

document its success with outcome based performance AFDC status, and education and trairung Have you

data or program evaluation results'' collected any other data on JOBS outconKS in your

state- for example, from a special program, a pilot

Name of local junsdicUon^ program, or a demonstration project'' (CHECK ONE)

1-1 I Yes-

Please provide below any comments that you mighi

have about this quesDonnairc. performance indicators

and standards, or client outcomes in the JOBS program.

GACVHEHS-95-86 JOBS Outcomes
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Appendix D
GAO Qoestioiuiure Regarding JOBS
Progrmm OMrmctcristics

d cmploymenl

r panial payment of Ibe wages ^m govemme

bcncl^ts and docs not inclodc ckpcndcm ctuldrcn. Examples of this include on-lbc-job naimng and wo

Training - Training pmgrana provide vocaDonal training in

icchiucal )oh ^lls and/or help develop koovflcdgc and

Fducaboo includes programs such as adult abiliDcs in a spca6c occupational area

basic cducaoop. Rnghsh-«s-a-Second Language high school.

GED. and posi-sccmdary degrees. DnsnbsldizR] an|rio3nnent - In unsubsidizcd cmploymenl.

the wages of the employee are paid solely by the employer

Outconc Dam - Infonnaian abam tfac stanis of individuals For the purposes of this qucsuonnmrr. ihis mcludes

enrolled in JOBS at a given poiiit to time. Examples of employment for which an employer receives ibc Targeted

outcoine data im-Hi^h- the nmnba of individuals who find a Jobs Tax Credit

job, tbc number of individaals wbo arc still employed after 1

year, and tbc numfacr of individiuh wbo leave AFDC due to

wages

a Ibc JOBS piognm For

cjumplc. ooe possible poformancc indicatar for the JOBS
program could be tbc pcrccm of those enrolled m tbc

program who Bod jobs antmally

Pi rfui ui—ii Stnartanl - A pofmnancc standard is a

benchmark or qitantiiaiivc large) for a given pcrfonnancc

indicator. For exan^Ic. 75 poccm of iccn parents enrolled

in JOBS each yev wiD rtwrfdrtf tfaetr high school

GAO/^EHS-M-Se JOBS Outcomes
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Appendix III

Comments From the Department of Health

and Hmnan Services

DEPAKTMENTOF HEALTH * HUMAN SCKVICES

Ms. Jane L. Ross
Director, Income

Security Issues
United States General
Accounting Office

Hashington, D.C. 20548

Dear Hs . Rose :

Enclosed are the Department's comments on your draft report,
"Welfare to Work: HHS Does Not Know If JOBS Participants Are
Becoming Self -Sufficient " The coranents represent the tentative
position of the Department and are subject to reevaluation when
the final version of this report is received.

The Department appreciates the opportunity to
draft report before its publication.

this

Sincerely yours.

QjUm^S^r
f /june <

GMVHEHS-9S.M JOBS Oatcomes
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Appendix HI
Comments From the Department of Health

and Hnmaji Services

COMMENTS OF THE DEPARTMEHT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES ON THE
GENERAL ACCOUNTING OFFICE (GAO) DRAFT REPORT: "WELFARE TO WORK:
HHS DOES NOT KNOW IF JOBS PARTICIPANTS ARE BECOMING SELF-
SUFFICIENT" (GAO/HEHS- 95-861

Thank you for the opportunity to comment on the draft report

.

General Conments

The report identified many of the problems with data collection,
the lack of consensus by Job Opportunities and Basic Skills
Training (JOBS) directors on outcome goals and measures, and
whether such goals and measures should be mandatory and/or
subject to penalty. We agree that our data is incon^lete and
that our data collection has been largely focused on process-
oriented goals

-

We believe the report minimizes both the legislation's role in
establishing the process measures and the States' inability to
accurately report even the current required data elements. As
the Department's Report to Congress indicated, there is general
agreement that there should be outcome measures. Deciding on
effective, equitable outcome goals and measures which allow State
flexibility and account for variations across States is not easy.
The only outcome measure that 49 of the 50 States presently
collect is one that is currently required by the Department
(i.e., JOBS participants entering employment).

Outcome goals drive program operations. With the interdependence
of welfare-related programs like Aid to Families with Dependent
Children <AFDC) , Food Stamps and the Job Training Partnership
Act, outcomes need to be consistent among related programs.

We have identified several issues that need to be addressed and
dealt with prior to using outcomes as the basis for perfo
measurement and stamdards. These issues include:

an inconsistent relationship between outcomes
program effectiveness.-

/el playing field"

State JOBS programs may

While these issues are briefly discussed by GAO, we
believe that their importance nor the progress the Depar
made in addressing these issues is given adequate weight. In
particular, the Department has worked closely with researchers,

GACVHEHS-96-86 JOBS Outcomes
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Page 2

academics, and Federal. State, and local officials to identify
and develc^ methods to resolve these issues. This work has been
critical in working tovards the development of a performance-
t>ased syEtem which will be effective in promoting both high
performance prograins and accountability. The Report to Congress
prepared by the D^>artment and submitted in September 1994,
provides more detail on these issues and activities. The GAO
report would be more balanced, accurate, and useful if it
reflected both the issues faced in developing a responsible
performance measurement system and the strides the Department has
made in overcoming tbem.

Additionally, we believe Chat the title on your draft report does
not accurately portray its content. He suggest that you change
the title of your report to: "JOBS Outcome Indicators and
Performance Goals."

GAO/HEHS-95-86 JOBS Ontcoines
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Appendix IV

Major Contributors to This Report

Robert L. MacLafferty, Assistant Director, (415) 904-2000

Stephen D. Secrist, Evaluator-in-Charge, (415) 904-2000

Susan E. Arnold

Kay E. Brown
LuAnn M. Moy '

Ann T. Walker

Christirui L. Warren

Karen D. Wright

GA(VBEHS-9S-«6 JOBS Oatcomes
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United States General Accoanting OfBce

Report to the Chairman, Subcommittee
on Employment and Productivity,

Committee on Labor and Human
Resources, U.S. Senate

MULTIPLE
EMPLOYMENT
TRAINING PROGRAMS

Conflicting Requirements

Hamper Delivery of

Services
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GAO
United States

General Accounting OfSce
Washington, D.C. 20S48

Health, Education, and
Human Services Division

January 28, 1994

The Honorable Paul Simon, Chainnan

Subcommittee on Einployment and Productivity

Committee on Labor and Human Resources

United States Senate

Dear Mr. Chairman:

For many years, administrators and clients have struggled to navigate

through the increasing multitude of federal employment training

programs. Our analysis of the President's proposed fiscal year 1994 budget

identified at least 154 programs' that provide about $25 billion in funding

for employment training assistance for adults and out-of-school youth.^

Many of the 154 programs provide similar or complementary services to

the same target populations. To promote coordination among these

programs, the Congress has required some agencies to jointly plan their

activities, and, in some instances, has provided funding to facilitate

coordination efforts. In addition, several states have taken steps to better

coordinate service delivery at the local level. However, differences in

program requirements often hamper efforts to coordii\ate the delivery of

services to help people find jobs.

This report responds to your request that we identify how programs

serving the same target populations differ concerning (1) eligibility

requirements and (2) aiuiual operating cycles.'' Our review focused on 38

programs providing employment training assistance to four target

groups—economically disadvantaged, older, younger, and dislocated

workers—at a cost of $8. 1 billion.'' In our analysis of each program, we
reviewed the statutes, regulations, and agency documents. We also held

discussions with state and local administrators regarding program

requirements.

'As used in this report, "employment training program' refers to those programs and related funding

streams that provide assistance to adtilts and outKif^school youth that enhances individual skills or

employment opportunities. Appendix 1 lists each of the 154 programs and their proposed funding for

fiscal year 1994.

The origina] request asked that we also look at differences in perfonnance measures; however,

because of the limited number of prtjgranis with specific performance measure definitions, it was
agreed that we would drop this issue from our analysis.

^Appendix n shows the 38 programs by target population and their proposed fundiiig levels for fiscal

year 1994.

GMVBEHS-94-78 Mnldple Employment Trmlniiig Programs
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In addition to this report, we are issuing another report concerning

problems with the current fragmented "system" of multiple employment
training programs. That report. Multiple Employment Training Programs:

Overlapping Programs Can Add Unnecessary Administrative Costs

(GAO/HEHS-94«), Jan. 28, 1994), concerns the extent to which programs
overlap in the populations they target, in the services they provide, and in

the administrative structures they create to deliver those services. We also

have other ongoing work that (1) concerns the extent to which federal

agencies know whether their employment training programs are effective

in helping participants compete in the workforce and (2) addresses the

need for a major overhaul of the entire federal employment training

system.

RarkPrOl inH ^ 1992, at least 9.4 million people of work age were unemployed during
" some part of the year. At the same time, others were trying to enter the

workforce for the first time. While many of these people were successful

at finding jobs, others had more difficulty. Among those groups with the

highest unemployment were youth, with an unemployment rate almost

three times the national average. On average, over 1.3 million youth

between the ages of 16 and 19 were unemployed each month in 1992.

Large numbers of economically disadvantaged workers also had difficulty

finding jobs. Of the 4.8 million families on Aid to Families With Dependent
Children (afdc) each month, about 8 percent of the adults worked in 1992.

Other groups, such as Native Americans, migrants, and older workers, also

had a difficult time finding a job.

To help people from these groups find a place in the workforce, the

federal government has created a variety of programs. Many of these

programs target the same populations. Our work identified 10 groups that

were the focus of most federal employment training programs

—

economically disadvantaged, older workers, youth, dislocated workers.

Native Americans, refugees, migrants, the homeless, women and
minorities, and veterans.

These programs often provide the same target population similar or

complementary services in the same five basic areas: (1) counseling and
assessment, (2) remedial education, (3) vocational skills training,

(4) placement assistance, and (5) support services. To make the most of

the limited resources available in each program, it is important that these

programs work together as they deliver services at the local level.

GMVHEH8-94-78 Mnltlple Employment Training Programs



148

Rp<siilt<! in Rripf Conflicting eligibility requirements and differences in annual operating

cycles are hampering the ability of programs to provide participants

needed services. Despite decades of efforts to better coordinate

employment training programs, conflicting requirements continue to make
it difficult for program staff to coordinate activities and share resources.

One state administrator stated the problem especially clearly: "The aim of

case management is to access various programs in order to deliver the

best services possible to clients. However, conflicting requirements turn

coordination into a jigsaw puzzle...."

Differences in eligibility criteria make determining who is eligible for

which program a complex process that confuses clients and frustrates

administrators. For example, the nine programs targeting the economically

disadvantaged use several different standards for measuring income level,

for defining family or household, and for defining what is included in

income. Programs targeting older workers create confusion because they

use differing age requirements to define "older worker." Programs

targeting youth differ in age criteria at both the lower age limit and the

upper age limit. Dislocated worker programs differ in their criteria for

what constitutes an eligible "job loss" such as in the recognition of

pending layoff notices, definitions of dates of employment, voluntary

separations, and reduced hours or wages.

Within each target group, differences in aimual operating cycles also

hamper the ability of program administrators to plan together to ensure

that participants receive the services they need. For exEimple, the 16

programs that target youth have four different operating cycles. Some
programs serving the same target population will have completed their

planning process and begun operation on January 1, while other programs
will not complete their planning until the followir\g July. As a result,

administrators may not be able to coordinate their plans to ensure that the

resources needed to serve their clients are available.

Differences in
Reconciling definitions for eligibility among programs attempting to serve

_.. -v-i.. /-, •. .
the same target populations can help programs share resources and

EillglDlllty L/ntena coordinate activities. However, we found significant differences in the

Hamper Delivery of eligibility criteria in each of the four target groups we analyzed. For
example, not all programs targeting the economically disadvantaged used

the same definition of "economically disadvantaged." We found that six

different standards were used for defining income eligibility levels, five for

defining family or household, and five for definii\g what is included in

Services

GAD/HEHS-94-78 Multiple Employment Training Prognnu
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income. As a result, a member of a family of four with an income of

$20,040 would be considered "disadvantaged" and eligible for services

from one program, but the same $20,040 income exceeds another

program's definition of "disadvantaged," making the family member
ineligible for services fi-om that program. With the need for programs to be

able to share resources to meet all their clients' needs, this could mean
that some clients may not be able to obtain needed services. See appendix

HI for more information on the different standards used in each of the

programs that targeted the economically disadvantaged.

Given the confusion created by the differing eligibility requirements, it is

not surprising that a recent survey of state and local administrators

showed that administrators frequently recommended standardizing the

term "economically disadvantaged." Most of those surveyed wanted to

standardize all terms related to income definitions, such as what

constitutes family income or personal income, how to establish ownership

of resources, and what is included in income disregards. One benefit that

the administrators felt could be achieved by developing standard

definitions and criteria was that the same intake form could be used

across programs, which would facilitate coordination efforts and improve

service delivery.^

Income criteria are not the only eligibility concern. Programs targeting

older workers differ in how they define "older worker." Some used a

minimum age of 55 years, while others used a minimum of 60 years.

Programs targeting youth also differ in their age limits. Lower age limits

for youth programs ranged fi-om 1 1 to 16 years of age, while upper age

limits ranged from 19 to 27. See appendixes IV and V, respectively, for

more information on the age criteria used by older worker programs and
youth programs. As mentioned earlier, dislocated worker programs differ

in their criteria for what constitutes an eligible "job loss." See appendix VI

for more information on each program's definition of what constitutes a

job loss. These differences, according to state and local administrators,

not only make it difficult for case managers to Jetermine eligibility of

clients, but clients themselves feel confused and discriminated against

^ti^amlining and Integrating Human Resource Developinent Services for Adults. National Goventois'

Association, Training and Einployment Program (Center for Policy Research, 1991).

GAO/HEHS-94-7* llaMyle Emplojment TnlBlnf Pra(nB«
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Differences in

Operating Cycles Also

Hamper Coordination

Differences in program operating cycles also make it difficult for

administrators attempting to coordinate their programs through joint

planning. Matching available funding with estimates of the number of

those seeking assistance is more complex, if not impossible, when
operating cycles do not match. However, as shown in figure 1, we found

that programs within each of the four target groups operate on different

annual cycles. Most programs (20) operated on the basis of a program year

(July 1-June 30); 12 programs operated on the federal fiscal year (October

1-September 30); 4 programs operated on an academic year (September

1-August 31); and 2 programs operated on a calendar year

(January 1-December 31). See appendix VII for more information on the

operating cycles for each program in our analysis.

Figure 1: Programs Differ in Definition of Annual Operating Cycle
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This problem is compounded for program administrators who need to

integrate program operating cycles into state and local operating time

frames. One state administrator, for example, indicated that his state

operates on a September to August time fr^une, while some federal

programs operate on the federal fiscal year (October 1 to September 30),

and others operate on a program year (July 1 to June 30).

To accomplish Joint planning, agencies must resort to several circuitous

strategies. According to local administrators, some officials set low

estimates of the number of clients from other programs they can serve or

others only commit resources they know will be available but contribute

additional resources if they become available at a later time. Other

agencies make such commitments contingent on expected funding so they

are not held to prior commitments when their expected funding levels are

not realized. Unfortunately, these methods can result in the

undeiutilization of available resources or crisis planning when resources

are available.

Pnnr1 1 1 <jion Programs are increasingly being directed to coordinate activities and share

resources to ensure that anyone who needs help can get it Nevertheless,

program administrators, as well as those people needing employment

training assistance, continue to face a fragmented "system" of categorical

programs characterized by differences in eligibility requirements and

annual operating cycles. Differences in eligibility criteria and operating

cycles among programs serving the same target populations act as barriers

to coordinating program services and impede the effective delivery of

needed services and the efficient use of program resources. As a result,

people in need of employment training assistance may not have access to

the services they need to help them find jobs.

GACVHEHS-94-78 Mnldplc Employment Training Programs
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Our work was conducted between April and September 1993 in

accordance with generally accepted government auditing standards. As
you requested, agency comments on this report were not obtained, but

copies will be sent to those involved and other interested parties. Should

you have any questions or wish to discuss the information provided,

please call me at (202) 512-7014. Other m^or contributors are listed in

appendix VHI.

Sincerely yours,

/-/

Linda G. Morra
Director, Education

and Employment Issues

GMVHEHS-M-78 Hnltlple Emplojrment Training Programs
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Abbreviatioiis

AFDC Aid to Families With Dependent Children

EDWAA Ekx>noniic Dislocation and Worker Adjustment Assistance

ms Internal Revenue Service

JOBS Job Opportunities and Basic Skills Training

JTPA Job Training Partnership Act

OPM OfBce of Personnel Management
LLSIL Lower Living Standard Income Level

SCSEP Senior Community Service Eknployment Program
SSI Supplemental Security Income

TAA Trade Adjustment Assistance

in Unemployment Insurance

GMVHEHS-94-78 Multiple Emplojmeiit Training Programs
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Appendix I

Federal Employment and Training Programs
Proposed Funding Levels by Agency (Fiscal

Year 1994)^
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Appendix I

Federal Employment and Training Programs
Proposed Fnntllng Levela by Agency (Fiscal

Tear 1994)*

Dollars in millions
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Appendix I

Federal Employment and Training Programs
Propoaed Pan<Ung Levels by Agency (Fiscal

Tear 1994)'

Dollars in millions
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Appeodlx I

Federal Employnient uid Training Programa
Proposed Funding Levels by Agency (Fiscal

Year 1994)'

Dollars in millions
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Appendix I

Federal Employment and Training Programa
Propoaed Funding Levels by Agency (Fiscal

Year 1994)*

Dollars in millions
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^pendlx I

Federal Employment and Training Progranu
Proposed FuniUng Levels by Agency (Fiscal

Year 1994)'

"School to Work program proposed for fiscal year 1994 Funded at $270 million split evenly

between the Departments of Education and Labor. Department of Education funding is from Cart

Perkins Act $15 million from National Programs-Research and Development and $120 million

from Cooperative Demonstrations Program. Department of Labor funding is from the Job Training

Partnership Act (JTPA)

•Youthbuild: program proposed for fiscal year 1994-

"Famiiy Self-Sufficiency Program: job training, education, and support services are paid for by
other programs such as Job Opportunities and Basic Skills Training (JOBS) and JTPA. Federal

funds may be used to cover local administrative costs. For fiscal year 1993, appropriations for

operating subsidies permit the payment of $25.9 million to cover the administrative costs of

operating the Family Self-Sufficiency program

The actual funding for the JPTA Title III EDWAA program was increased significantly from the

budget request dated April 8. 1993 The proposed funding for substate areas of $229 5 million

was increased to $537 million The proposed funding for the EDWAA Governor's Discretionary

funds were also $229.5 million, but was increased to $357 million Similarly, the Secretary's

Discretionary funds were increased from $1 14 7 million to $223 million

'JTPA IIB Summer Youth Employment and Training Program (Native American): funding included

in JTPA IIB (Regular) program total.

"•JTPA Defense Conversion Adjustment Program: funds allocated in 1991 used to support

programs in out years until funding is depleted

"JTPA Defense Diversification: funds allocated in 1993 used to support programs in out years

until funding is depleted.

°JTPA Clean Air Employment Transition Assistance: no funds were appropnated for the Clean Air

Act in fiscal year 1994,

"New program in 1994

"'Federal Employment for Disadvantaged Youth-Summer: program coordinated by Office of

Personnel r^anagement (OPM). but carried out by numerous fetleral agencies. Obligations

devoted to administration not separately identifiable.

•Hostage Relief Act Program: replaced by the Omnibus Diplomatic Security and Anti-Terrorist Act

of 1986 No program funding used in any year, but available

Vocational and Educational Counseling for Servicemembers and Veterans: program funds

included m other veterans programs, such as the All-Volunteer Force Educational Assistance

Program,

GAD/HEH8-94-78 Multiple Employment Training Programs
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Appendix II

Four Target Groups Included in Analysis

Target group Program

Fiscal year 1994
proposed

funding (In millions)

Economically Disadvantaged JTPA IIA Training Services for the Disadvantaged-Adult

JTPA IIA State Education Programs

JTPA IIA Incentive Grants

Job Opportunities and Basic Sl<ills Training

Food Stamp Employment and Training

Family Self-Sufficiency Program

Vocational Education-Basic State Programs

Educational Opportunity Centers

Student Literacy Corps

Subtotal

Older Workers Senior Community Service Employment Program

JTPA IIA Training Program for Older Individuals

Foster Grandparent Program

Senior Companion Program

Subtotal

Dislocated Workers

JTPA lie Disadvantaged Youth

JTPA lie Disadvantaged Youth - Incentive Grants

JTPA lie Disadvantaged Youth - State Education Programs

JTPA IIB Training Services for the Disadvantaged-Summer Youth

Employment and Training Program (Regular)

JTPA IIB Summer Youth Employment and Training Program (Native

American)

JTPA Job Corps

Youth Fair Chance

Transitional Living for Runaway and Homeless Youth

Independent Living

School Dropout Demonstration Assistance

Vocational Education-Community Based Organizations

Upward Bound

School to Work

Federal Employment for Disadvantaged Youth-Summer

JTPA EDWAA-Dislocated Workers (Local SDA Allotment)

JTPA EDWAA-Dislocated Workers (Governor's 50% Discretionary)

JTPA EDWAA-Dislocated Workers (Secretary's 20% Discretionary)

GAO/HEHS-94-78 Multiple Employment Training Programs
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^pendlx n
Fonr Target Groupe Incladed In Ajudysis

Rsca) year 1994
proposed

Target group Program funding (In millions)

JTPA Defense Conversion Adjustment Program ''

JTPA Clean Air Employment Transition Assistance ®

JTPA Defense Diversification '

Trade Adjustment Assistance-Workers 215.0

Vocational Education-Demonstration Centers for the Retraining of

Dislocated Workers

Transition Assistance Program

Total for Target Groups Analyzed

"Family Self-Sufficiency Program: job training, educabon, and support services are paid for by
other programs such as JOBS and JTPA Federal funds may be used to cover local administratfve

costs. For fiscal year 1993. appropriations for operating subsidies permit the payment of

$25.9 million to cover the administrative costs of operating the Family Self-Sufficiency program

JTPA MB Summer Youtfi Employment and Training Program (Native American): funding included

in JTPA IIB (Regular) program total.

*=^Federal Employment for Disadvantaged Youth-Summer: program coordinated by OPf^^. but

earned out by numerous federal agencies. Obligations devoted to administration not separately

identifiable.

•"JTPA Defense Conversion Adjustment Program: funds allocated in 1991 used to support

programs in out years until funding is depleted.

"JTPA Clean Air Employment Transition Assistance: funds allocated in 1993 used to support

programs in out years until funding is depleted,

'JTPA Defense Diversification: funds allocated in 1993 used to support programs in out years until

funding is depleted

"Data not available at this time.

GAO/HEHS-94-78 Multiple Employment Training Programs
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Appendix HI

Eligibility Standards for the Economically
Disadvantaged

In reviewing the factors generally used to determine eligibility, we found

that the nine programs that specifically target the economically

disadvantaged used six different measures of income level, five definitions

of family or household, and five definitions of income. The large array of

eligibility criteria makes implementation difficult for state administrators

as well as for those seeking assistance.

As shown in table in.l, the standards used to measure low income
included the ofGcial poverty income guidelines, some multiple of those

guidelines (such as 130 or 150 percent), and area median family income.

Two programs illustrate the differences that can result from using a

variety of measures. A member of a family of four with an income of up to

$20,040 would be considered "disadvantaged" and eligible for services

from the Educational Opportunity Centers. This program uses the income

measure of 150 percent of the Bureau of Census poverty level. However,

for this same family member to be eligible for the Food Stamp
Employment and Training Program, income could not exceed $17,420

because this program uses the measure of 130 percent of the official

poverty guidelines. Some programs use two measures. For example, jtpa

programs use the higher of the official poverty measure or 70 percent of

the regionally adjusted Lower Living Standard Income Level (llsil). In the

above example, this would have been the llsil, which was higher in the

metropolitan Northeast, $16,360, compared with $13,400 for the official

poverty measure.

GMVIIEHS-M-78 Multiple Employiaciic Training Progruu
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Appendix 111

EUgibiUty Standards for the Eeonomieally
Disadvantaged

Table III.1 : Different Standards for Measuring Income Used by Programs Targeting Economically Disadvantaged

Income does not exceed...

HHS Official Poverty
Guidelines

Lower
Living

Standard
'""'"« Area Median Bureau of Census Poverty

Level e.niiu Threshold

Program 70%
Family
Income 100% 150%

JTPA MA Disadvantaged Adults

JTPA IIA Slate Education Programs

JTPA IIA Incentive Grants

Job Opportunities and Basic Skills"

Food Stamp Employment and Training

Family Self-Sutficiency Program

Educational Opportunity Centers

Vocational Education-Basic State Programs

Student Literacy Corps'

JTPA programs base eligibility on whictiever is higner. the official poverty guidelines or

70 percent of the regionally adjusted Lower Uving Standard Income Level

''Eligibility varies by state because of differences in stale criteria for AFDC eligibility.

=Uses three measures (1) household income after exclusions and deductions as defined by the

Gross Income Standard for households that include an elderly or disabled member or

(2) household income after exclusions but before deductions for households that do not include

an elderly or disabled member or (3) gross income not to exceed 130 percent of the official

poverty guidelines for households that do not include an elderly or disabled memtier

"Uses two measures: "Low-income" does not exceed 80 percent of area's median income while

"very low income" does not exceed 50 percent of the areas median income.

"This program allows educational institutions to use several low-income measures as well as

"other indices of economic status" with the approval of the Department of Education.

'While program is targeted to the economically disadvantaged, the program requirements do not

include a specific definition of income or related financial eligibility information

Program eligibility and coverage also depends on whose income is

counted in the eligibility calculation. We found five different criteria for

family or household. As shown in table III.2, for example, jtpa considers

the income of the family—all persons related by blood, marriage, or court

decree—in determining eligibility. In contrast, the Food Stamp Program

considers the income of the household, all those who purchase and cook

food together.

GA(VHEHS-94-7g Multiple Employment Training Programs
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Appendix III

Eligibility Stuidanls for the Economically
Disadvantaged

Table III.2: Different Standards for Defining a Family or Household Used by Programs Targeting Economically

Disadvantaged

Family or household assistance unit Includes...

Program

Persons
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Appendix m
EUgibUity SUndanb for the Economically

Disadvmntaged

Table III.3: Income Definitions for Programe Targeting the Economically Disadvantaged

Differences In Income criteria

Program

Excludes $30 *

Uses IRS taxable Includes all Excludes 20% one-third of

Income Income Including earned of earned earned Income

excludes Ul capital gains Income Income first 4 months

JTPA MA Training Services for the

Disadvantaged-Adult

JTPA IIA State Education Programs

JTPA IIA Incentive Grants

Job Opportunities and Basic Skills Training

Food Stamp Employment and Training

Family Self-Sufficiency Program

Educational Opportunity Centers

Vocational Education-Basic State Programs*

Student Literacy Corps"

Excluded from analysis due to wide latitude that stales can exercise in detennining income-

"Program requirements do not Include a technical definition of income-

Differences in income definitions are further magnified by income

exclusions that can vary from state to state. These rules produce a range

of state income eligibility limits. For example, in the Foster Grandparent

Program and Senior Companion Program, income levels cannot exceed

125 percent of the poverty guidelines or 100 percent of the poverty

guidelines plus any Supplemental Security Income (ssi) provided by the

state. As a result, a senior in one state receiving an ssi state supplement

may be eligible for the program with income that exceeds 125 percent of

the poverty level, while a senior in another state that does not provide ssi

would be excluded if income exceeds 125 percent of the poverty level.

Some programs allow automatic eligibility to participants enrolled in

another program. This tends to soften the effect of some of the above

differences. However, minor differences exist within cross-eligibility

definitions that can also create coordination barriers. For example, a

person receiving food stamps is automatically eligible for the jtpa

program. However, some people may choose not to participate in the Food

Stamp program. It has been reported that only 59 percent of persons

eligible for food stamps actually received them in 1989.' A report by the

'•nine for a Change , Welfare Simplification and Coordination Advisoiy Conmilttee Report (June 1993).

Page It GA(VHEHS-»4-7g Multiple Employment TralabigPracraiii*
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Appendix in
EliglMUty Studards for the EconomleaDy
Diudrantaced

National Commission for Employment Policy^ concluded that since many
Hispanic families are clustered around jtpa's income cut-off point and

choose not to participate in the Food Stamp program, many economically

disadvantaged Hispanics are ineligible for needed jtpa training services.

To resolve this problem, this report recommended that "receipt of Food

Stamps," as an eligibility requirement, should be removed from the law

and replaced with "eligible for Food Stamps."

^TraJning Hjspanics: hnplkaiiong for the JTPA System. National Commission for Employment Policy

Report (Jan. 1990).

GAOOEHS-M-TS Mnltlple Employment Training Programs
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Appendix IV

Age Requirements in Older Worker
Programs

Table IV.1 : Older Worker Programs
Differ In Age Requirements

The four programs that target older workers vary in their miiumum age

requirements. As shown in table IV. 1, two programs had a minimum age

requirement of 55, although one program gave priority to those aged 60.

The other two programs had a minimum age requirement of 60. These

relatively minor age differences may result in some older workers under

60 years of age being excluded from needed program services.
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income aitena. In these instances, not only is it difficult for case

managers to track cliait digibilily, but clients themselves feel confused

and discriminated against

In additicHi, program eligibility may vaiy from state to state, scsep includes

Social Security as part of countable income, but for the jtpa Older Worker

Program, each state has the choice of including or excluding Social

Security incMne.

GA(VHEHS-94-78 Maldple Employment Training Progmj
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Appendix V

Lower and Upper Age Limits for Youth
Programs

Programs targeting youth vary in eligibility requirements because of

differences in their lower and upper age limits. As shown in figure V.l,

lower age limits ranged from 1 1 to 16 years of age, while upper age limits

ranged from 19 to 27.

Figure V.l : Lower and Upper Age Limits Differ Among Youth Programs

Numtor of

Programs

3

7

1

1

1

1

10 12 14

Years of Age
16 18 20 22 24 26 28

These differences in age criteria may result in youth being denied access

to some programs. For example, as shown in table V.l, the jtpa

Disadvantaged Summer Youth Program and the Federal Employment for

Disadvantaged Youth both create summer employment for disadvantaged

youth. Although both allow youth up to 21 years of age to participate, the

programs had different requirements regarding lower age limits. Under the

Federal Employment for Disadvantaged Youth, administered by the Office

of Personnel Management (opm), youth under the age of 16 are excluded

from the program. However, the jtpa summer program, administered by

the Department of Labor, permits youth to eiu'oll in the program at 14

years of age.

C<ACWHEHS-94-78 Multiple Employment Training Prograj
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Appendix VI

Definitions of Job Loss Among Dislocated

Worker Programs

Nine separate dislocated worker' programs have been e&- iblished to

ensure that workers adversely affected by special circumstances, such as

increased imports or defense downsizing, have access to reemployment

assistance. Although all programs commonly target those workers who are

dislocated, as shown in table VI. 1, programs vary in their definitions of

what constitutes "job loss." These differences may result in workers being

denied access to program services.
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Appendix VI

Definitions of Job Loss Among Dislocated

Worlter Programs

excluded from eligibility until they are within 24 months of separation. A
second and similar program, the Transition Assistance Program, also

restricts access uiUess the member of the Armed Forces is within 180 days

of separation. Until these arbitrary time periods have expired, some
workers may be denied access to services needed to provide the necessary

traiiung and skills in order to make the transition to new industries and
occupations.

A third program. Trade Ac^justment Assistance (taa), focuses on
trade-impacted workers and has complex job loss requirements related to

the date of separation as well as the level of employment activity during

that time. For example, the worker's first qualifying separation must occur

after the "impact date" (the date on which layofEs began or threatened to

begin), within 2 years of the worker's being certified as adversely affected

by imports, and before the termination date of the certification. Further,

the worker must have (1) been employed at least 26 of the 52 weeks
preceding the last layoff in this trade-affected employment and

(2) received wages of $30 or more per week. In our prior report that

compared taa with the Economic Dislocation and Worker Atjjustment

Assistance (edwaa) program, state officials said that such complex
regulations contribute to the lack of coordination between the two
programs. An important indicator of this lack of coordination is that orUy

10 percent of all taa participants received edwaa services during fiscal

year 1990.^

'Dislocated Workeis: Comparison of Assistance Programs (GAO/HRD-92-163BR, Sept 1992).

Page 30 GAO/HEHS-94-78 Multiple Employment Training Programs
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Appendix VII

Program Annual Operating Cycles

Coordination of services is also hampered by differences in program

operating cycles within each of the four target groups. According to one

administrator, these barriers result in "program coordination

becoming.. .an art," particularly in view of additional state and local

operating time frames superimposed on the differing program operating

cycles. For these reasons, state officials contacted were in agreement that

a standard operating year would greatly facilitate program coordination.

As shown in table Vn.l, the 38 programs we reviewed operated on four

different annual cycles. Some programs completed their planning process

and began operation on January 1, while others did not complete planning

and begin operation until October 1. Most programs (20) operated on the

basis of a program year (July 1-June 30); 12 programs operated on the

federal fiscal year (October 1-September 30); 4 programs operated on an

academic year (September 1-August 31); and 2 programs operated on a

calendar year (January 1-December 31). These operating cycles varied

within each target group regardless of admirustering agency. For example,

two programs previously discussed that target dislocated workers are both

administered by the Department of Labor (see appendix VI). However, the

TAA program operates on a fiscal-year basis while the edwaa program

operates on a program-year basis.

Administrators attempting to coordirutte programs through joint planning

have difficulty when operating cycles do not match. One administrator

told us that his state operates on a September-to-August time frame, while

the JOBS program operates on the federal fiscal year (October 1 to

September 30) and jtpa operates on a program year (July 1 to June 30).

Although administrators strive to coordinate the programs through joint

plaiming, it is difficult, without parallel operating cycles, to match up

available fimdit\g with estimates of clients that may need assistance. To
accomplish Joint plaiming, the state must resort to several circuitous

strategies. Among other things, some agencies involved "lowball," that is,

only commit resources they know will be available, and contribute

additional resources, as available, at a later time. Other agencies make
commitments contingent on expected funding so they are not held to prior

commitments when their funding "falls through."

Another state administrator commented that although coordination is

hampered by many service delivery barriers, such as conflicting eligibility

requirements, other barriers, such as differing operating cycles, pertain to

the process or "mechanics" of administering programs. Accordingly, in his

view, establishing a standard operating year would be "the key to start the

GA(VHEHS-94-78 Multiple Employment Training Programs
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Appendix VII

Program Anniul Operating Cycles

car"— the impetus needed to

successful coordination.
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Appendix Vin

Major Contributors to This Report

Health, Education,

and Human Services

Division,

Washington, D.C.

Detroit Regional

Office

Clarence Crawford, Associate Director

Robert T. Rogers, Assistant Director, Education and Employment,

(313)25&«011

Edna Saltzman, Evaluator-in-Charge

Joiutthon Banas, Intern

Barbara Moroski-Browne, Senior EKraluator

David Porter, E^raluator

I^mda Racey, E>aluator
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GAD United States
Genoal Accoontiiig Office

Washington, D.C. 20648

Healtli, Education, and
Human Services tHvision

B-257383

July 15, 1994

The Honorable Edward M. Kennedy, Chairman

Committee on Labor and Human Resources

United States Senate

Dear Mr. Chairman:

In response to your May 11, 1994, request and discussions with Committee
staff, this letter presents information about certain aspects of the Job

Opportunities and Basic Skills Training (JOBS) and Job Training

Partnership Act (jtpa) programs.' These two programs are among the

employment and training programs that your Committee is developing

legislation to consolidate. Together, they account for about 60 percent of

the federal employment and training funds for the nation's economically

disadvantaged population. While jobs is limited to recipients ofAid to

Families With Dependent Children (afdc) benefits, jtpa serves afdc

recipients and other economically disadvantaged individuals.

In your letter, you asked that we provide information on the

interrelationship between jobs and jtpa. Specifically, you asked that we
determine how funds are spent and reported for education, job training,

siqiport services, and program administration for jobs and jtpa. In

addition, you asked that we determine the outcome-focused data that are

collected and performance standards for the two programs.

To accomplish our objectives, we obtained federal e:q>enditure data;

reviewed legislation and regulations specifying data collection and
reporting requirements and performance standards for the two programs;

and interviewed program officials at the Departments of Health and
Human Services (hhs) and Labor. We did not assess the quality of the jobs

and jtpa data collected nor did we try to determine if the data collected by
HHS and Labor allow the departments to effectively manage or measure the

effectiveness of their respective programs. In addition, to make broad
comparisons of the two programs' expenditures in cases for which actual

data were not available, we estimated the e:q>enditures using other related

program data; we have identified these cases in the report.

'In this report, 'JTPA' refers to title II-A of the act Before 1993. title II-A included adult and yooh
participants. The Job Training Refonn Amendments of 1992 established a separate program for youth
participants, limited title n-A to adults over 22 years of age. and made other changes residing
program services and coordinatioR.

GAOaEHS-»4-177 JOBS and JTPA
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Results in Brief For the program year ending in 1992, jobs and jtpa spent about $3 billion

in federal and state funds providing employment and training services to

ecoiKHDically disadvantaged individuals. Service deUveiy for these two
prograins is coordinated and often interrelated at the state and local level.

For example, an afdc recipient participating in jobs might receive

JTPA^iinded education and training services and afdc child care

guaranteed to her as a jobs participant In addition, state and local welfare

agencies may contract with jtpa providers to administer jobs services.

However, the extent to Much the two programs rely on each other for

services is unknowiL

Table 1 : Comparison of JOBS and
JTPA Title ll-A Expenditures, 1992

Table 2: Comparison of ExpendMura*
for JOBS Including Guaranteed CiiUd

Care and JTPA Title ll-A, 1992

In analyzing jobs' and jtpa's expenditures for the program year ending in

1992, we found that the proporticxi of each program's total funds spent on

educaticm and training, participant support, and administration were fairly

similar, as shown in table 1.

Proportion of total funds*

Expendtture categoty JOBS JTPA title ll-A

Education and training

Participant support

Administration

•Proportiuis do no) add ID 100 percent due to rounding

Includes an undetsrrranable amount for chad care

However, when we included expenditures for child care that is guaranteed

to aD xns partic:^>ants, the spending patterns for the two programs were
mudi different, as shown in table 2. More than two-thirds of jobs'

participant si^ipott expenditures were for child care costs.

Proportion of total funds

JOBS Including

guaranteed
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Background

Both JOBS and jtpa collect similar data on participant characteristics,

services received, job entry status, and wjiges. In addition, jtpa has

established outcome measures as standards to v^hich states are held

accountable for program results, while jobs has process-focused, but no

outcome-focused, performance standards for the states, jtpa tracks

participants after they leave the program and measures program

performance based on the proportion of participants employed and their

wages. In contrast, jobs has standards that focus on states serving a

required proportion of their afdc caseloads and targeting resources to

long-term and potential long-term applicants and recipients. Although hhs

is required to provide the Congress recommendations for

outcome-focused performance standards for jobs, hhs has missed its

mandated report date of October 1993.

JOBS and jtpa title D-A are the two largest among nine federal employment

and training programs that target services to the economically

disadvantaged and share a common goal of enhancing clients'

participation in the workforce.^ Selected background information on these

programs is shown in table 3.
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1993, tide n-A of the act provided job training and employment skills to

economically disadvantaged adults and youth. The Department of Labor

administers the program at the federal level, while over 600 service

ddivay areas (sda) provide program services at the local level In the

program year ending in 1992, state sdas spent about $1.4 billion in title II-A

fimds and served about 796,000 participants.^ jtpa is federally funded with

no state matching requirements.

JTPA is more than 10 years old; jobs, however, is a younger program, jobs,

title IV-F ofthe Social Security Act, was created by the Family Support Act

of 1988 to help afdc parents get the education, job skills training, work

expeti«ice, and support services they need to increase their employability

and avoid long-term weifaie dependency. All afdc recipients considered

able to work must participate in jobs, and other afdc recipients may enroll

voluntarily, as state program budgets permit In addition, all afdc

recipients eruoUed in jobs must be provided child care if needed; title IV-A

of the Social Security Act provides fimds for such child care.* In contrast,

JTPA idoitifies potential volimtary participants through community

outreach efforts and may provide, but does not guarantee, child care funds

for its participants.

jobs' predecessor was the Woitc Incentive program, which the

Departments of Health and Human Services and Labor jointly

administered at the federal level and state welfare and employment

agencies administered locally. The Family Support Act designated hhs and

the state welfare agencies sole responsibility for administering the new
welfare-to-work program

—

jobs. While hhs administers jobs at the federal

level, ttie stales have flexibibty in designing and operating their programs.

In fiscal year 1992, jobs expenditures totaled $1.1 billiott, with about 61

percoit of the total funded by the federal government and the remainder

by the states. JOBS-related child care expenditures during that year totaled

$426.1 minion, with the federal government providing about 57 percent of

the total On average, about 510,000 afdc recipients participated in jobs

activities each month in fiscal year 1992. Unlike jtpa, the overwhelming

m^nty ofjobs participants are women with children. Other jobs and jtpa

prt^ram features are shown in table 4.

*niisJlPA program year began on July 1, 1991, and ended on June 30, 1992. Because the most recent

JOBS data available weie for fiscal year 1992 (October 1, 1991, through September 30. 1992). we used

comparable data from JTPA pim^ aiu year 1991.

*ntle IV.A also goavdees chfld care to AFDC recipients who are employed or participating in

stace^apfimved edocabcn and training other than JOBS.

GMVHEHS-94-1T7 JOBS and JTPA
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jobs' reliance on jtpa to provide services to jobs paiticipants may take

different forms at the state and local level In all cases, however, the state

welfare agency must retain supervisory responsibility for jobs. One study

of JOBS in 10 states reported great variation in the coordination and

inteirelatedness of the two programs. In some localities, the welfare

agency refers jobs participants to jtpa for services that are free of charge

to jobs. In other areas, local welfare agencies contract with jtpa to serve

additional jobs participants beyond those that jtpa is expected to serve

friee of charge to jobs.' In yet other areas on a statewide basis, jtpa and

JOBS are combined as part ofan integrated employment and training

system designed to provide services to jobs participants and other

economically disadvantaged individuals.^

As an example of the interrelatedness of jobs and jtpa, a 30-year-old

mother on afdc may be enrolled in jobs, assigned a caseworker, and

provided initial assessment and orientation by the welfare agency, jobs

then may refer her to jtpa for education and training. While enrolled in

jTPA-provided education and training, she can receive afbc (IV-A) child

care fimds, guaranteed to her as a jobs participant

JOBS and JTPA
Program Differences

Reflected in Spending
Patterns

Although jobs and jtpa report expenditures in similar categories, their

funds are spent differently. These differences reflect distinctions in

program features, populations served, and program requirements.

Ebcpenditures Reported in

Similar Cost Categories

Both jobs and jtpa report expenditures in three main categories:

(1) education and training, including assessment, case management, and

directly related administrative costs such as space and supplies;

(2) participant siq>port, including child care, transportation, and other

work-related needs; and (3) administration, including general siq>ervision,

planning, monitoring, contract administration, and computer systems.

Under jtpa title II-A, one funding source pays for all services, including

child care. In contrast, in the Family Siq>port Act, the Ck>ngress designated

*UlUil 1993, JTPA WIS required to serve APDC redpienls in the ssme proportion as their

Rftreaenision aioag Ike JTPA eligible population. Under cuiTent law, JTPA requires that at least

G6pereentofanSDA'spanidpantsbeinone or more hard^o iKivi categories, such as AFDC, Food
Slanq), and Gcnenl Aaaisxance reapients, those de&aent in basic skills, persons with disabilities, or

school drapootB.

^Por information on the felationahip between JOBS and JTPA in 10 states, see Irene Lorie and Jan L
Hifen, lB<>l>iniwipg JOBS: The Initial De«imaiidSiiiicm»<< Local ProgTMy The Ndaon A
Bodafeligr inslitiilg of Guveiiuiieiil. Sttte Uiii»er«ity of New York (Albaiqt, NY: 1993).

GAO«EHS-»4-177 JOBS aad JTPA
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two sources of funds to meet the needs of jobs participants: jobs (IV-F)

funds for all services except child care and afdc (IV-A) child care funds.

Table 5 shows expenditures for jobs (IV-F) and jobs including guaranteed

child care, both separately and combined, to facilitate the con^)anson

with JTPA, for which child care expenditures cannot be separately

identified The table identifies the jobs and jtpa expenditures by the three

main categories for the most recent year for which comparable data were
available for both programs. Further definition of jobs and jtpa

expenditure categories appear in appendix L

aMtasB»*t-iT7 joaaua jita
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Table 5: JOBS and JTPA Title ll-A Expendlhires, by Category, 1992

Dollars In millions

JOBS and JOBS-related child care, federal and state

expenditures, Oct. 1991 to SepL 1992

Expenditure category JOBS(lV-F)
AFDC (IV-A) child care
for JOBS participants

JTPA title IhA, federal

Total: JOBS including expenditures,

guaranteed child care July 1991 to June 1992

Education and training
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62 percent of jobs expenditures. Also, about 11 percent of jtpa program

expenditures was used to support participants' needs, including

transportation and child care, compared with 19 percent for jobs

participant support, which includes similar costs except child care.

Regarding administrative costs, 16 percent of jtpa dollars and 20 percent

of JOBS (IV-F) dollars were spent in this category.'

Rgure 1 : Expenditures for JTPA Title ^^^^^^IHH^
ll-A and JOBS IV-F, by Category (

1

992) Parcwn of total aipandttun*

16

JTPAtMtl-A* JOBSIV-P

i I
Educabon and training

^^^^ Participant support

^^^H AdministratKX)

•Does not add to 100 percent due to rounding

JTPA data are for July 1991 to June 1992; JOBS data are lor October 1991 to Septetnber 1992,

The participant support category lor JTPA includes child care expenditures; for JOBS, rt excludes
child care expenditures.

Sources: For JTPA—DOUETA Report t^o. JTPA-1 . For JOBS—HHS forms ACF-331 and ACF-332
The allixation ol ACF-331 totals between participant support and administration other than child

care were estimated based on ACF.332 data

*Se« footnote b to table 5 on our estiination of administrative and participant support costs.

Paces GAOflEHS-»t-177 JOBS sod JTPA



189

When JTPA expenditures are compared with jobs expenditures, including

guaranteed child care, the expenditure patterns for the two programs look

quite different. This difference may be attributed to jobs' focus on helping

AFDC recipients, most of whom are women with children, and the

legislative mandate that guarantees child care to participants. As shown in

figure 2, when jtpa expenditures are compared with jobs and guaranteed

child care expenditures combined, 44 percent of jobs program doUars was

for education and training compared with 74 percent of jtpa expenditures.

In addition, the proportion of jobs expenditures for participant support

was 42 percent compared with 1 1 percent for jtpa. More than two-thirds of

the jobs participant support dollars were for chUd care costs. Regarding

administrative costs, 14 percent of jobs dollars was spent in this category

compared with 16 percent of jtpa dollars.

Figure 2: Expenditures for JTPA Title

ll-A and JOBS Including Guaranteed

Child Care by Category (1992)

P«rc«nt of total expandKurw

[ ]
Education and training

^^^^ Participant suppon

^^^H Adminislration

•Does not add to 100 percent due to rounding-

GjUVHEHS-S*-!?? jobs and JTPA

21-461 96-7
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JTPA dala are tor Jiiy 1991 to Jute 1992: JOBS data are for Octolwr 1991 to September 1992.

Sources: For JTPA-OOLETA Report No. JTPA-1 For JOBS—HHS forms ACF-231 . ACF-331 . and

ACF-332. The allocation of ACF-331 totals Ijetween participant support and administration other than

ddd care mere estinated based on ACF-332 data.

An analjisis ofhow x>bs and /tpa funds are used within the education and

training cat^oiy is not possible because neither program requires a

breakdown of ^)ecific costs included in the category. The education and

training category for both programs includes many cost items such as

costs associated with client intake, orientation, assessment, employability

plan development, and case management;

educati(Hi and training services, including teacher and provider salaries,

tiiitioit, books, or supplies; and

directly related education and training administrative costs, including

space and equipment

JOBS data also reflect the distribution of education and training

expoHtitures for various jobs activities, as illustrated in figure 3. Almost

25 percent of these education and training expenditures was used for

client assessment and employability plan development, and another

25 percent was used to provide secondary and remedial education

services. However, we could not idoitify the extent to which these

esqp«Aditures were for teacher salaries or tuition rather than for case

managos who referred, counseled, or monitored clients' progress in

education, jtpa does not report the distribution of education and training

e^>endiUiits fnr pn^raui activities.

GA(VHEHS.94-177 JOBS ud JTPA
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Figure 3: Percentage Distribution of JOBS Education and Training Expenditures by Activity (Oct 1991 to Sept 1992)

30 p«rc«nt of vducatlon and traJnIng expondttura*

OJ OM

/
JOBS KtlvttlM

/' / / # /

Source: HHS Form ACF-332, which reports on JOBS (IV-F) federal and stale expenditures by

spending category and activity.

Differences in Program
Requirements Also Affect

Spending Patterns

Certain liinitations and program requirements also directly affect jobs' and

jtpa's spending patterns. For example, jtpa providers £ace limitations on

the dollars that can be spent in certain categories. In program year 1991,

JTPA SDAS were required to limit administrative costs to 15 percent of

expenditures and combined administrative and participant support costs

to 30 percent The 1992 jtpa amendments raised the limitation on

administrative costs to 20 percent and required that at least 50 percent of

expenditures be used for education and training. Although jobs program

providers do not face similar liinitations, states do have to spend their own

dollars to receive the federal match for jobs expenditures. In addition, jobs

program administrators face requirements to draw on existing community

resources to provide services for participants before spending their jobs

dollars for such services. Consequently, jobs relies heavily on education,

GAO/HEHS-94-177 JOBS and JTPA
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training, and siq^Knt semces funded by other providers, including jtpa,

high schools, state education agencies. Head Start, and others. Although

JTPA has no such requirement, jtpa administrators are encouraged to rely

on oth^ providecs for participant siqiport services. However, neither

program reports the costs of services provided by other organizations to

JOBS (HT JTPA particqtants.

Similar Participant

Outcome-Focused
Data Collected

Similar infcxmation on particqKmts' characteristics, program activities and
support services provided, and particq>ant outcomes are collected for jobs

and JiFA, as shown in taUe 6. Althou^ jobs collects these data for

participants at a p<Hnt in time through a monthly sample of participants,

JTPA cfdlects data on ead participant in a program year. In addition to the

common data dements ccAected for both programs, jobs collects data on
the participants' target groiq> membership,^ volunteer or mandatory
particqiation status, and fsnnily characteristics; jtpa collects data on
hard-to«eive participants" Also, for a sanq>le ofjtpa tenninees, the

program collects data on their hourly wages, hours worked per week, and
number olweeks enq>loyed 13 weeks after they leave jtpa; jobs does not

collect data after particq>ants leave the program.

indnde AFDCiedpieniB or ^iplkants wbo lave received AFDC (or 36
moBdas oic of the peat 6 yeai; «e ander age 24 who (*) have DatfacT conipleled nor*n ennOed in

high ichool cr (b) tad Hole« lao irock eipoience in the pieceding y«*i; CT are aoon to becane
inetgible tor AFDCt)tcanae their jouagMt child Is atooatia States iniMtjpend at leaat 66 percent of
theirJOBS funds on these tai9!t gnxq} membera or face ledoced federal ftmdin^

'"JTPA requires that at leaat 66 perrxnt of an SDA's paitidpaita be in one or more hanMo«erve
cateccnes, sodi AFDC Food Stnqi, and GenenI Aaaiatance rediiienlB, thoae who are defkientin
baaic aldOs, penona with daaMiliea, or achool drofntaa.

G«(MBEHS-M-I77 JOBS mad JTPA
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Table 6: JOBS and JTPA THIe ll-A Participant and Outcome-Focused Data Collected

Data category JOBS JTPA title ll-A

Participant characteristics Age, sex, race, education level, volunteer or

mandatory program participation status,

employment status, AFDC family information, and
target group membership

Age, sex, race, ethnicity, education level,

employment status, welfare status,

unemployment insurance receipt, and information

about whether participant is a member of a
hard-to-serve category

Participant activities Specific component assignment, such as job

search and adult basic or remedial education: job

entry; and scheduled hours and length of time in

activity

Occupation for which training is received,

number of training hours received, program
activities in which participants are enrolled, and
length of time in activities

Participant support Amount spent for support services, including

services transportation and child care; number of

dependent children receiving child care, type of

child care received, length of time received, and
source of child care funding

Checklist of whether participant received various

support services, including child care and
transportation

Participant outcomes Changes in education level, job entry,

occupation, hourly wage, and AFDC case status

Changes in educational level, job entry,

occupation, hours worked per week, and hourly

wage

13-week follow-up sample of participants who left

the program provides information on hours

worked per week, hourly wage, and number of

weeks employed

Performance
Standards Differ for

JOBS and JTPA

JTPA has established outcome measures as standards to which sdas are

held accountable for their performance; jobs has process-focused, but no

outcome-focused, performance standards for the states. Under jtpa, sdas

must meet established performance standards or be reorganized if they fail

to meet the standards for 2 consecutive years. Separate standards for

employment rates and wages at 13 weeks after program termination are

established for all adults, including welfare recipients, and for adult

welfare recipients. In the program year ending in 1994, the performance

standards for adults were 60-percent employed and weekly wages of $228;

for adult welfare recipients, the standards were 46-percent employed and

weekly wages of $207. In addition, as a result of the 1992 jtpa

amendments. Labor may establish retention in unsubsidized employment

for not less than 6 months as a performance standard.

Although JOBS does not have outcome-focused performance standards, the

Secretary of hhs was required to develop and submit recommendations for

JOBS performance standards to the Congress by October 1993; however,

these recommendations have not been submitted, hhs officials have

briefed congressional committees on the delay in issuing the

GAa«EHS-94-lT7 JOBS ud JTPA
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lecononendations and are pursuing outcome-focused perfonnance

standards in the context of welfare reform.

In the absence of outcome-focused perfonnance standards, jobs has

process-focused standards that include participation rates and targeting

requirements for the states. States failing to meet these standards face a

reduced federal funding match rate. Regarding participation rates, for

fiscal years 1990 through 1992, 7 percent of a state's mandatory afdc

recipients was required to participate; for fiscal years 1992 and 1993, this

rate increased to 11 percent; the rate is 15 percent in 1994 and will

increase to 20 percent in 1995. States also must meet participation rates

for AFDC recipients in two-parent families, which start at 40 percent in

fiscal year 1994 and rise to 75 percent in 1997 and 1998. In addition to the

participation rates, states face reduced federal funding if they do not

spend at least 55 percent of their jobs funds on long-term and potential

long-term applicants and recipients."

As agreed with your ofQce, unless you publicly announce its contents

earlier, we plan no further distribution of this report until 10 days after its

issue date. At that time, we will send copies of this letter to the Chairman,

Senate Committee on Finance; Chairman, Subcommittee on Social

Security and Family Policy, Senate Committee on Finance; Chairman,

Subcommittee on Human Resources, House Committee on Ways and
Means; Chairman, House Education and Labor Committee; Chairman,

Subcommittee on Labor-Management Relations, House Education and
Labor Committee; Secretary of Labor; Secretary of Health and Human
Services; Assistant Secretary for Children and Families; and other

interested parties.

"See fioocnote 9 for a definition of long^enn and potential long^enn applicants and redpients.

GAO«£HS-94-177 JOBS and JTPA
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If you have any questions or need additional information, please call David

Bixler at (202) 512-7201 or Nora Perry at (202) 512-7261. Gale Harris and

Thomas Medvetz were also m^or contributors to this report

Sincerely yours,

^^^^^^^'^ <^C^/^<:^

JaneL Ross

Associate Director

Income Security Issues

GMVHEHS-M-177 JOBS ud JlPA
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^pendixl

JOBS and JTPA Expenditure Categories

Expenditure category
JOBS (IV-F) and AFDC (IV-A) child care, Oct.

1 991 to Sept. 1992 JTPA title ll-A, July 1991 to June 1992

Education and training (a) Salaries and t)enefits of full-time personnel

working exclusively on JOBS-related program
and administrative activities:

(b) Costs of part-time personnel for time spent on
orientation, assessment, employability plan

development, case management, education, and
training, and

(c) Assorted nonpersonnel costs, including tfiose

for space and equipment, directly related to

providing JOBS activities

Salaries, benefits, equipment and supplies of

personnel directly engaged in providing training

(including remedial education, jot>-related

counseling, employability assessment, job

development, and preparation for work), tuition,

books, classroom space, and 50 percent of work

experience program costs*

Participant support JOBS IV-F: Transportation, work-related, and
other support services as needed

AFDC (IV-A): Cfiild care services and related

administrative costs

Needs-based payments, supportive sen^ices,

including child care and transportation, and 50
percent of work experience costs

Costs related to general supervision and
administration of the program

Direct and indirect costs associated with

supervising and managing the program

*Undef JOBS, work experience payments are funded through AFDC and not included as JOBS
expenditures In our 1992 study of JTPA participant support (-jpp J[5'"'f'9

^^^^^sfiip Act^

Actions Needed to Improve Participant Support Services (GAO/HRD-92-124, June 12. 1992)). we
noted that about 23 percent ol support expenditures was used for work experience payments.

Under the 1992 amendments to JTPA. all work experience costs will be considered education

and training expenditures.

GMVEEBS-»«-lT7 JOBS ud J1PA
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United States General Acconnting Office

Cl\r) Report to Congressional Requesters

JOB TRAINING
PARTNERSHIP ACT

Inadequate Oversight
Leaves Program
Vulnerable to Waste,
Abuse, and
Mismanagement
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GAO United States
General Accounting Office

Wasliington, D.C. 20S48

Homan Resources Division

B-215774

July 30, 1991

The Honorable Edward M. Kennedy
Chairman, Conunittee on Labor and
Human Resources

United States Senate

The Honorable Paul Simon
Chairman, Subcommittee on Einployment

and Productivity

Committee on Labor and Human Resources

United States Senate

The Honorable William D. Ford

Chairman, Committee on E>lucation

and Labor

House of Representatives

The Honorable Carl C. Perkins

Chairman, Subcommittee on EJmployment

Opportunities

Committee on Education and Labor

House of Representatives

This report responds to your request for information on the vulnerability of the Job Training

Partnership Act program to waste, abuse, and mismanagement and the adequacy of program

oversight to prevent and detect such practices. It recommends actions that the Department

of Labor needs to take to reduce the potential for improper program management and to

address the questionable practices that are occurring.

Copies of this report are being sent to the Secretary of Labor; the Director, Office of

Management and Budget; and other interested parties.

riU**'-«t-t^ ^ '^^^A*,,^9-*rL-»'V«-

Franklin Frazier

Director, Eklucation and

Employment Issues
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Executive Summary

Purpose Since its inceptiaik in 1983, the Job Training Partnership Act (jita) has

spent about $28 billion to provide employment and training services pri-

marily to economically disadvantaged individuals, jtpa has been rela-

tively successful in placing participants in jobs. Recently, however,

several instances of program waste, abuse, and mismanagement have

been brought to tight by the Department of Labor's Inspector General

and the media. The Congress and many in the employment and training

community are cmcemed that the jtpa program lacks accountability

and may not be keeping its "house in order."

At the request of the Senate Committee on Labor and Human Resources

and Subcommittee on Employment and Productivity, as well as the

House Committee on Bklucation and J^abor and Subcommittee on

Employment Opportunities, gao studied jtpa to assess ( 1 ) the program's

vulnerability to waste, abuse, and mismanagement and (2) the adequacy

of federal, state, and kx»l program oversight to prevent and detect such

practices.

Background JTTA is a highly decentralized program with over 600 local programs

(service delivery areas) providing employment and training services to

youth and adults. Some training services are provided directly by the

SCTvice delivery areas but, for the most part, these services are provided

under contract with public and private entities, such as community col-

leges and trade schools. Under jtpa, the nuuority of funds must be spent

on training and a statutory limit is placed on funds used for administra-

tive costs.

States and territories have the primary oversight responsibility for

ensuring that jtpa programs are property implemented. Labor has inter-

preted its oversight role as one of providing broad policy guidance and
limited program monitoring.

GAO examined jtpa activities in two federal regions, six states, and 12

service ddivery areas, mainly for the program year ending June 30,

1990. To avoid biasing its remits, gao did not include in its review those

service delivery areas with known implementation problems, such as

those previously identified by Labor's Inspector General.

Results in Brief Improper spending of jtra funds an program atbninistration and
training contracts has reduced the amount available for training and
ptooement assistanoe. Ftother, federal and state oversight has not

CAO/HBIMI4T jtpa Orantgkt
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detected these problems, leaving the program vulnerable to waste,

abuse, and mismanagement. For example, at the 12 service delivery

areas visited, gao found that:

Administrative expenditures were misclassified by 9 of the service

delivery areas. Seven of these service delivery areas would have
exceeded the statutory limitation on administrative costs if these costs

had been accurately reported.

On-the-job training contracts for excessive training were developed by
1 1 of the service delivery areas. About one-third of the jtpa funds spent

by these service delivery areas on lower skill on-the-job training was for

excess training.

Other contracting practices followed by 8 of the service delivery areas

resulted in improper or unsupported payments being made to training

vendors.

State monitoring efforts and independent audits generally did not detect

these practices. In addition. Labor has not issued specific policy guid-

ance to prevent shortcomings, such as improper charging of certain

administrative costs to other cost categories and on-the-job training con-

tracts for excessive periods of training.

GAO concludes that federal and state oversight of the jtpa program is

inadequate to ensure that incidents of waste, abuse, and mismanage-

ment are detected and such practices are minimized.

Principal Findings

Administrative Cost
Limitation Circumvented

The majority of service delivery areas that gao visited underreported

administrative expenditures, causing a misrepresentation of program
costs and amounting to a circumvention of the statutory limitation

placed on administrative costs. Elxceeding allowable administrative

spending reduces the amount of ftmds available to provide training ser-

vices. JTPA requires that a minimum of 70 percent of available funds be

spent on training and limits to 16 percent the amount that can be used

for administration. Service delivery areas failed to use verifiable cri-

teria, such as time records, in determining the amount of salaries to be

charged to the administrative cost category. As a result, inappropriate

expenditures were being charged to training, and spending on adminis-

tration was being understated. (See pp. 15-17.) If administrative costs

QAO/HBIM14T JTPA Oranl«kt
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had been accurately reported, 7 of the 1 2 service delivery areas would

have exceeded the limitation on administrative spending by an average

68 percent. (See pp. 19 and 20.)

Policies in five of the six states that gao visited may have contributed,

in part, to the underreporting of administrative costs. These pohcies

inappropriately permitted or were sufficiently vague to permit service

delivery areas to charge costs for administrative services to the partici-

pant support cost category. Participant support includes services such

as child care, transportation, and payments to participants that enable

them to attend training. One service delivery area charged the partici-

pant support cost category for such administrative costs as the salaries

of the private industry council staff, rent and supphes for their office,

and their travel to seminars. (See pp. 17-19.)

Excessive Periods of

On-the-Job Training

JTPA funds are being wasted on excessive on-the-job training. For

example, at 1 1 service delivery areas, about 73 percent of on-the-job

training contracts for lower skill positions, such as dishwasher, hotel

maid, and fast-food worker, were in excess of Labor's suggested training

time, jtpa's share of these excess wages was about $250,000 out of the

$690,000 spent on this training. Although we pointed out this problem

in an earlier report and Labor indicated that it contemplated corrective

action. Labor has not issued any guidance to address this problem. (See

pp. 21-23.)

JTPA funds also are being used to subsidize portions of employers' salary

and training expenses. Service delivery areas developed on-the-job

training contracts with employers for individuals who already had sig-

nificant work experience in the job for which they were being trained. In

other cases, the training contracts were for persons already employed
by the company. For example, one service dehvery area contracted with

an employer to provide 4-months' training as a delivery driver to a

person with 5-years' experience as a delivery driver. Another service

dehvery area developed a 6-month on-the-job training contract with an
employer for a person who had been employed by that company for

over a year in a similar position. Similar examples were found in 7 other

service delivery areas. (See p. 24.)

GAO/HRD.9I4T JTPA Ovenlfht
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Executive Sumnury

Other Evidence of
Vulnerability to

Mismanagement

GAO found other problems that, while not widespread, were common
enough to indicate program mismanagement. These included service

delivery areas paying vendors even when contract conditions were not

met, providing vendors with partial payments not in compliance with

Labor guidance, and reimbursing vendors for unsupported expenses. As
many as two-thirds of the payments reviewed at one service delivery

area were improper because contract conditions were not met before

payment. (See pp. 25 and 26.) In addition, service delivery areas made
partial payments on contracts that often resulted in vendors receiving

substantial amounts of money before providing much training. One ser-

vice delivery area contracted to pay a vendor about 80 percent of a con-

tract if 85 participants were erwoUed and attended 5 days of a 6-month

training program. (See pp. 26 and 27.)

Service delivery areas were also using contract modifications to pay
vendors the full contract Emiount even though they failed to fulfill the

original training requirements. Training contracts at one service

delivery area provided for full payment only if participants were placed

in jobs within 45 days after training. In two instances this was extended,

in one case to 66 days and in another to 134 days, to allow full payment.

(See pp. 27 and 28.)

State and Federal

Monitoring and Oversight

Inadequate

States were generally unaware that service delivery areas were improp-

erly classifying administrative costs, even though they were responsible

for, and in most instances performing, local program monitoring. Fur-

thermore, the states failed to detect excessive lengths of on-the-job

training. Other problems relating to contracting practices, although not

pervasive, were nonetheless occurring at the local level and, generally,

were undetected by the states. (See pp. 30 and 31.)

Labor's program oversight has been limited and it has not issued policy

guidance that defines administrative costs, acceptable on-the-job

training contracts, or adequate state monitoring. Labor has, however,

undertaken initiatives aimed at improving program integrity. These ini-

tiatives appear to be a step in the right direction, but it is too soon to

determine their impact, (See pp. 31-33.)

Independent financial and compliance audits, required at least once

every 2 years, do not appear to compensate for inadequate state and

federal monitoring and oversight. Few of the audits noted deficiencies

related to waste, abuse, or nusmanagement within jtpa. (See pp. 33 and

34.)

GAO/HRD.91-97 JTPA Oversight
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Recommendations To reduce the potential for waste, abuse, and mismanagement within

JTPA, GAO recommends that the Department of Labor assiune stronger

leadership in assuring that service delivery areas follow sound manage-

ment and operational practices. Specifically, Labor should:

1. Provide technical assistance to states for the development and imple-

mentation of monitoring procedures designed to detect waste, abuse,

and mismanagement within the program.

2. Provide policy guidance to clarify regulations in regards to

accounting for and reporting of administrative costs to accurately

reflect program expenditures,

developing on-the-job training contracts that appropriately reflect the

job's requirements and the individual's work experience,

monitoring service providers to ensure that incidents of waste and abuse

are detected and minimized, and
maintaining adequate control over property purchased with JTPA funds

to ensure that it is used for its intended purposes.

Agency Comments The Department of Labor generally agreed with the findings and conclu-

sions in GAO's report and stated that it has proposed legislation that was
recently introduced to the Congress and taken other actions that address

GAO's recommendations.

GAO believes that these efforts are a step in the direction of strength-

ening JTPA program monitoring and oversight. Labor's legislative pro-

posal, if enacted, and other initiatives will contribute to improved
program management. However, gag believes that other actions are

needed to ensure that its recommendations are fully implemented.

OAO/HUMl-fT JITA
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Chapter 1

Intxoduction

207

During the past year, the Job Training Partnership Act (jtpa)' program
has been the subject of increased accusations of waste, abuse, and mis-

management. The Department of Labor's Office of Inspector General has
reported on a number of such incidents within the program. Also, the

media have been critical of jtpa's ability to ensure the proper use of

program funds. The Congress and many in the employment and training

community are concerned that the jtpa program lacks accountability

and may not be keeping its "house in order."

Background JTPA was enacted to provide job training and employment seeking skills

to eccmomically disadvantaged adults and youth. Since its implementa-

tion in 1983, it has received annual funding of about $3.6 billion and
served over 2 million people each year, jtpa fluids are distributed to

states and local service providers using a formula based on the number
of unemployed and economically disadvantaged people who live in these

JTPA is a highly decentralized program. Although the Department of

Labor is responsible for overall program administration, the states have
considerable responsibility and autonomy in carrying out and moni-

toring program operations. The states are divided into service ddivery

areas (sms). These can include one or more units of local government or,

in those states with relatively few concentrated population centers, the

entire state may be served by a single sn*. The msyority of jtpa partici-

pants receive job training services through programs administered by
the 56 states and territories and over 600 sdas; the remaining partici-

pants receive services through federally administered programs.

JTPA Activities and
Services

scrts provide a wide range of employment and training services, either

directly or through agreements or contracts with other service prov-

iders. For the most part, these services can be categorized as shown in

table 1.1.

PutaUc Law 97-300. signed on October 13, 1982

GAO/HUMI4T JTPA Ovenlght
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Tabto 1.1: OMCripUona efJTM
ActMUM AetlvHy

Occupational classroom
training

Basic education

On-the-job training

Worl< expenence

Job search assistance

D«»criptlon

Teaches technical skills for specific jobs, such as clerk-typist

or medical assistant.

Provides training to improve basic educational skills, earn a
high school equrvalency degree, or improve knowledge of

the English language

Employer provides training in a specific occupation, such as
machine operator Normally, the employer is reimbursed for

one-half of the participant's wages

Provides short-term or part-time work designed to develop
good work habits and basic work skills

Provides assistance ii

obtaining a job.

locating, applying for, and/or

Because jtpa partidpants are generally economically disadvantaged, the

act allows SDas to also provide these individuals with needs-based pay-

ments and supportive services to enable them to attend training pro-

grams. Supportive services include child care, health care, meals, and
transportation.

Titles IIA and III are the primary jtpa programs for providing year-

round job training services to eligible adults and youth. Title HA pro-

vides year-round training to economically disadvantaged adults and
youth. Title in provides fimds for programs tailored to the specific

needs of dislocated workers—those who have been individually laid off

or who have received a notice of layoff as a result of a mass layoff or

the permanent closure of a plant or facility. Collectively, these two titles

have accounted for about 66 percent of jtpa's annual budget and 62 per-

cent of the participants.

Program Cost
Liimitations

JTPA requires that the m^ority of its funds be spent on training. The act

specifies that at least 70 i)ercent of title IIA funds and 50 percent of title

in funds be spent on training activities. It also places a limit on adminis-

trative costs—not more than 15 percent of funds under both titles HA
and in can be spent for program administration. The act specifies that

not more than 30 percent of title IIA funds can be spent on a combina-
tion of administration and participant support; for title m, up to 26 per-

cent can be spent on participant support.

JTPA regulatioits state that allowable costs under the program must be
charged to one of several specified cost categories. For example, all title

GAO/HBI>«l«T JTPA Orcnilfct
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HA costs must be charged to either training, administration, or partici-

pant support, depending on the nature of the costs involved.

Federal Oversight The Department of Labor is responsible for the oversight of jtpa. Under
JTPA, Labor has the authority to monitor all recipients of funds to ensure

compliance with the act and implementing regulations. For the most
part, however, the act delegates authority for monitoring jtpa program
activities to the states. As pointed out in a report by the National Com-
mission for Employment Policy:

"The Job Training Partnership Act is a fundamental example of 'New Federalism'

and the block grant concept of funding State and Local programs . 'New Feder-

alism' means the assignment of primary responsibility for administering federally

funded programs to the States. The Federal role in oversight and administration is

severely limited by design."-

Labor requires that states provide it with programmatic and fmancial

data on statewide and individual sda performance. These reports consist

of two program status reports (the annual and semiannual reports) and

a longitudinal survey of a sample of jtpa participants. While these

reports provide a program-wide view of how jtpa is operating, they give

only a limited perspective on individual state and local program

operations.

Labor's 10 regional offices fieriodically conduct a series of management
and compliance reviews of state operations. Management reviews are

aimed at helping states and sdas achieve program goals, develop quality

programs through better planning and management, and use available

resources efficiently. These reviews became a state option rather than a

monitoring requirement in February 1990. Compliance reviews are

aimed at determining whether state programs are being carried out in

accordance with the requirements of the act and implementing

regulations.

State Monitoring The states have primary responsibility for monitoring jtpa programs

and activities, jtpa requires that the states establish such fiscal controls

and accounting procedures as are necessary to ensure the proper dis-

bursal and accounting of federal funds. The act also requires that the

states prepare, or have prepared, an independent audit of each sda.

^The Job lYiining i^rtiwnhip Act," National Conunission for Onployment Policy, Washington, D.C.,
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According to jtpa regulations, the states are responsible for oversight of

all SDA grant recipients as well as title III substate grantee activities and
state-supported programs.

The states have discretion in determining how to carry out their over-

sight and monitoring responsibilities. Typically, the states visit each sda

and assess a number of areas or activities, including fmancial manage-

ment and management information systems, procurement practices, and
eligibility determinations. The states also carry out monitoring through

the use of (1) management devices, such as quarterly fmancial reports;

(2) performance reports comparing planned with actual performance;

and (3) state liaison officials responsible for maintaining continuing con-

tact with the SDAs, as well as for dealing with day-to-day questions and
problems.

Objectives, Scope, and
Methodology

The Chairmen of the Senate Committee on Labor and Human Resources

and its Subcommittee on Einployment and Productivity as well as those

of the House Committee on Education and Labor and its Subcommittee

on Employment Opportunities asked us to assess several aspects of jtpa.

Specifically, we were asked to assess (1) jtpa's vulnerability to waste,

abuse, and mismanagement; and (2) the adequacy of federal, state, and
local program oversight and monitoring to prevent and detect such

practices.

We concentrated our efforts at the three levels responsible for over-

seeing and administering jtpa: the federjil, state, and local program
levels. At the federal and state levels, we focused on their roles and
responsibilities and the procedures they followed to ensure that the pro-

gram was being carried out in accordance with the law and imple-

menting regulations. At the local level, we concentrated on snAs'

procurement and financial management practices and procedures. With
regard to procurement, we looked at the selection of training vendors,

the contracting methods used, performance under training contracts,

and contract monitoring by the sdas. In the financial management area,

we examined intemfd controls, the procedures followed in accounting

for expenditures, property inventory and control, and audit coverage

and resolution.

We carried out our work in two federal regions—Region I (Boston) and
Region V (Chicago)—and in three states in each region. In Region I, we
included Connecticut, Massachusetts, and Rhode Island. In Region V, we
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visited minais, Michigan, and Ohio. We included 12 sd\s in our review

—

2 in each state we visited (app. 1 ccmtains a listing of the seas).

We selected sdas from among those in the states visited that speared to

be more or less representative of sems program-wide. For example, we
sdected sdas that (1) had a variety of training programs, (2) used

varioiis contracting methods, (3) were neither too large nor too small in

tenns of funding, and (4) did not have an unusual administrative struc-

ture. To diminate potential bias in our results, we excluded those sims

where previous reviews may have revealed managerial and operational

weaknesses (eg., those previously examined by Labor's Inspector Gen-

eral and those recently visited by Labor regional officials). While the

selected states and sms do not constitute a representative sample, in our

view, they provide examines that illustrate the vulnerability of the pro-

gram to waste, abuse, and mismanagement.

Our audit work was carried out from January 1990 to November 1990.

For the most part, we reviewed financial management activities and pro-

curonent practices for program year 1989 (July 1, 1989 to June 30,

1990). Our review was conducted in accordance with generally accepted

govonment auditing standards.
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Chapter 2 ^_^

Inaccurate Reporting of JTPA Costs Results in

Administrative limits Being Exceeded

The mEUority of the sdas we visited underreported administrative

expenditures, causing program costs to be misrepresented. Such under-

reporting amounts to a circumvention of the statutory limitation placed

on administrative expenditures by jtpa. Nine of the 12 sdas we visited

often reported administrative salaries as training costs and other admin-

istrative expenditures as participant support costs. If these administra-

tive expenditures had been charged properly, 7 of these sdas would

have exceeded the administrative cost limitation specified in the act by
an average of 68 percent.

ProCram Costs ArP ^^ ^ °^ ^^ ^^ ^'^"^ ^^ visited, administrative expenditures were being

Ik * • 1 • *• J reported inaccurately in the two areas in which we concentrated our
MlSCi£lSSlI16Cl efforts—allocation of costs for administrative salaries and employment-

generating activities.' In 8 sdas, salaries for certain administrative per-

sonnel were charged entirely or partially to training; at 4 sdas, the costs

of employment-generating activities were inappropriately charged to

participant support. Improperly charging administrative costs not only

misrepresents the extent of services actually being provided, but also

reduces the amount of funds available for training and participant

support.

On average, the 9 sdas underreported their administrative expenditures

by 38 percent. As illustrated in figure 2.1, the amount of underreported

administrative expenditures at these nine sdas ranged from about

$62,000 (10 percent) at one sda to about $456,000 (66 percent) at

another sda.

' Employment-generating activities are activities that increase job opportunities for JTPA eligible indi-

viduals; for example, special surveys and studies, community profiles, job skill forecasts, essential

labor market and program analyses, and consultant services.
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Tf»tr »i |iiiill»g ofJTPACo«t»BMrit«
I A^iiilKimttiw liBlla Beiag Exceeded

Figure 2.1: Raportad and Actual

Admlnlaln«ve ExpandHuraa lorMna
SOAa

Sanric* IMIvanr Ana (30A)

CD naiMIBd iperwfcig

Administrative Salaries

Improperly Charged to

Training

Entire salaries for some individuals performing only supervisory or

administrative functions were being charged to training at five of the

SDAs we visited. Other si>« did not use a supportable basis (e.g., time

records) for allocating a percentage of salaries to training for those indi-

viduals who perform training as well as administrative duties.

TTPA regulations stipulate that (1) direct or indirect costs associated with

the supervision and management of the program shall not be charged to

training and (2) salaries and fringe benefits of project directors, pro-

gram analysts, labor market analysts, supervisors, and other adminis-

trative positions shall not be charged to training.

The sn\s we visited often failed to follow these regulations. We noted a

number of instances where administrative salaries had been partially or

entirely charged to training, including

about $87,000 for such positions as an executive director, a msmager for

administration, and a manajger for planning and operations;

GAO/HBI>«14r7 JTFA Ovenlcht
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Chapter 2

Iiuccnrate Reporting ofJTPA Coats Besnlts

in Administrative Limits Being Exceeded

about $105,000 for an operations director, a planning director, and a

progrsim coordinator;

approximately $ 1 13,000 for such positions as an administrator, a pri-

vate industry councU liaison, an assistant management information sys-

tems manager, jind a program monitor;

approximately $191,000 for a director, an operations manager, an

administrative assistant, and a management information systems coordi-

nator; and

about $456,000 for such positions as a casework director, a planner, six

employment and training supervisors, and two administrative analysts.

We discussed the characteristics of these positions with Labor officials,

who agreed that, based upon available job descriptions, the positions

appeared to be administrative rather than training related.

Seven sdas also lacked a supportable basis for allocating the salaries of

individuals who perform both administrative and training duties to

these cost categories, jtpa regulations require that seilaries of those indi-

viduals performing both training and administrative functions be pro-

rated among training and administrative cost categories using verifiable

criteria, such as time records. The sdas estimated percentages for such

salaries, rather than using a basis that could be verified. For example,

two SDAS relied upon estimates to allocate the percentage of time individ-

uals devoted to training and administration. Neither sda had such docu-

mentation as time records to support the estimates.

Administrative Ck)sts

Further Understated by
Charging Employment-
Generating Activities to

Participant Support

Five of the six states we reviewed improperly permitted sdas to charge

costs for employment-generating activities to participant support, even

when such activities were administrative in nature.

JTPA regulations specifically stipulate that the costs for employment-

generating activities cannot be charged to training, but do not specify

which of the other two cost categories—administration or participant

support—should be charged for such activities. The act, however,

defines the services included under participant support; namely, sup-

portive services (those services necessary to enable individuals who
cannot afford them to participate in the program), needs-based pay-

ments (payments made to economically disadvantaged individuals to

offset the costs associated with training), and certain work experience

costs.
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CkapterZ
Inacconle ReponlBg ofJTPA Coats Bcsalu
la AdBlniMimtive limila Bcii« Excnded

Some states have developed policies that allow the costs of employment-
generating activities (e.g., labor market studies, community profiles, and
job skill forecasts) to be charged to participant support, regardless of

the true nature of such costs. For example, we identified a policy in one
state that specifically allowed all costs for employment-generating activ-

ities to be charged to participant support. At one of the sdas visited in

this state, about $279,000 was charged to participant support in pro-

gram years 1988 and 1989 for such expenses as the private industry

council staffs salaries, rent, office supplies, and travel to seminars.

Another sda charged about $376,000 to partif i; ant support during pro-

gram years 1988 and 1989 for activities involving outreach, administra-

tion, and marketing.

Regional Labor officials reacted promptly when we brought this state's

policy to their attention and questioned whether the policy was consis-

tent with the act and regulations. They issued a cease and desist letter

to the state to stop sews from charging all costs of employment-
generating activities to participant support and requested the state to

determine the extent to which sdas were inappropriately charging these

costs. In its response to Labor, the state identified seven sdas as having

charged costs for employment-generating activities that were adminis-

trative in nature to participant support. The total amount of costs

improperly charged in program year 1989 at these sdas was about

$644,000.

Four of the other five states we visited also did not have policies in pro-

gram year 1989 that specifically required sdas to charge the costs for

employment-generating activities to administration. For example, one

policy simply stated that employment-generating activities may be

charged to either the participant support or administrative cost catego-

ries. Another state delegated to its sdas the responsibility for deter-

mining which cost category to charge for employment-generating costs.

The two Labor regional offices included in our review have instructed

states to revise their policies. In one letter, for example. Labor concluded

that

"... the costs of (employment-generating activities] would normally be expected to

be allocated to the Administration cost category, and that |thc) State policy needs to

be reviewed to more narrowly define the charging of these costs and to insure that it

is consistent with the intent of the Act and regulations."
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Chapter 2

Inammte Seporttng ofJTPA Costs Results

in Adralnistnitlve Umlu Being Exceeded

Of the States we visited, only one state's policy specifically required that

costs for employment-generating activities be charged to administration.

The policy states that

"Employment generating activities, defined as activities not directly related to the

provision of training or employment for participants, but which are generally

intended to increase job opportunities for eligible individuals in the area served by
the program, shall be charged to the administrative cost category."

Limitation on
Administrative Costs

Is Often Exceeded

As noted earlier, nine of the sdas we visited inaccurately reported the

amount of fimds spent on administration. We determined that seven of

these SDAS would have exceeded the statutory limitation placed on
administrative costs had they accurately reported such expenditures, hi

addition, they would have exceeded the allowable amount of funds to be

spent for administration by an average 68 percent. As illustrated in

figure 2.2, had the sdas accurately charged expenditures to the adminis-

trative cost category, the statutory limit would have been exceeded by
about 18 percent in one instance and over 190 percent in another.

Figure 2.2: Percentage That SOAs
Exceeded Allowable Administrative

Costs

Ssrvlcs [Mhrsry Aim (30A)
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Our findings reinforce a concern raised by Labor's Office of Inspector

General (OK). In a 1989 report,' the oig noted that determining whether
SDAS have oompbed with the basic restrictions on cost liniitations has

beonne increasing difficult and concluded that no accountability by
oost categmry exists for program expaiditures.

•StBiMBnal Brsort, OOto of ta^ieair GcBCfal,U& Detaftincnc of Labor, AptU l-ScptonbCT 30,

OBK
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Chapter 3

JTPA Funds Wasted on Questionable

Qn-the-Job Training

Most of the SDAs we visited wasted jtpa funds by developing on-the-job

training (ojt) contracts that appeared to be more of an employer sub-

sidy than a training mechanism. These sms developed ojt contracts for

lower skill jobs that substantially exceeded Labor's suggested training

times. In addition, many ojt clients had significant prior experience in

the job for which they were being trained and in several instances were
already employed by the ojt contractor.

Excessive Training in

Lower Skill

Occupations Wastes
JTPA Funds

SDAS provided ojt for lower skill jobs (e.g., carwash attendant, hotel

maid, and fast-food worker) for periods that exceeded Labor's suggested

training times for these types of jobs.' ojt affords jtpa participants the

opportunity to earn a wage while receiving direct, "hands-on" experi-

ence in a specific occupation.

In a prior report,^ we found that many ojt contracts for lower skill jobs

allowed too much time for training when compared with the suggested

training time for these occupations. Labor officials responded that they

were considering legislative and/or regulatory options to address this

issue. They further noted that they

"... expect that the types of lower skiU OJT contracts identified in the GAO report

as prone to excessive duration will gradually cease to exist."

But our review indicates that sdas are continuing to provide excessive

OJT for lower skill jobs.

Under standard ojt arrangements, employers provide jtpa participants

with training in a particular occupation for a specified length of time.

jtpa normally reimburses the employer for one-half of the participant's

wages during this training.

During our current review, we found that approximately-73 percent of

the lower skill ojt contracts exceeded the upper limit of Labor's training

guidelines. We defined lower skill jobs as those jobs that, according to

Labor, require no more than 3 months of training. Of the 558 ojt con-

tracts for lower skill jobs we reviewed, 407 exceeded Labor's suggested

training times for these positions. The cost to jtpa for the 558 lower-skill

'We used the specific vocational preparation (training time) included in Labor's Selected Characteria-

tics of Occupations Defined in the Dictionary of Occupational Titles.

'Job Training Partnership Act Services and Outcomeg for Participants With Differing Needs (GAO/
HRD.S9-B2,lune9,l«8«i.
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OJT omtracts was about $691 ,000, of which about 36 percent ($25

1

,000)

was for excess training. Table 3.1 shows, by sda, the percentage of lower

skill Q]T contracts that were longer than Labor's suggested training

times.

Table 3.1: Percentage of Loner Skfl OJT
Contracts Exceeding Labo*** SugBailed
Training Time SM



220

Chapters
JTPA Fimds Wasted on Qoeatioiiable

Oli-the>Iob Training

Figure 3.1: Suggested and Contracted Training Times tor Lower Skill OJT

30 AwrageWMkaotTnlnlng

JJdljJJdiJ
Servlea Dallvary Aims

I

Suggeslad Training Time

^^^1 Conlracted Training Time

Table 3.2 lists the training time for seven excessive ojT contracts for

lower skill jobs. All of these jobs have suggested traL-jng times of 30

days or less.

Table 3.2: Examples of Excessive OJT
(or Lower Skill Jobs Occupation
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Excessive Training for

Those With Prior

Experience

We noted instances at nine sdas where ojt contracts were used to train

individuals who already had signiflcant work experience in the occupa-
tion for which they were receiving ojt. About one-fourth of the 386
sampled individuals for whom work histories were available had at least

1 year of prior experience in the job for which they were being trained.

Table 3.3 illustrates seven instances where sdas entered into ojt con-

tracts to train individuals who had significant experience in these jobs.

Tabl* 3.3: Examplei ol Significant Prior

Expartanca in OJT Occupation

Occupation
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Chapter 4

Contracting Practices Contribute to

Program Vulnerability

Two-thirds of the SI:M^s we visited used questionable contract administra-

tion and monitoring practices, making contracting with training vendors

vulnerable to potential waste, abuse, and mismanagement. We noted

instances where si:ms

made payments to training vendors that were not in accordance with

contrjict requirements,

did not comply with federal guidelines on providing partial payments to

vendors,

modified condracts to allow payment to vendors who failed to meet per-

formance requirements, and
reimbursed vendors for unsupported expenditures.

While not all of these problems occurred at each sua we visited, the

occurrence was common enough to cause concern that the Job Training

Partnership Act program is vulnerable to waste, abuse, and

mismanagement

Improper Payments
Made Under Fixed
Unit Price,

Performance-Based
C!ontracts

Two-thirds of the sdas we visited that used fixed unit price, perform-

ance-based contracts either (1) made payments to vendors even though

the payments did not comply with contract requirements, (2) made par-

tial payments to vendors that did not comply with Labor's guidance, or

(3) wrote modifications to change contract conditions to permit full

payment

Under Labor's guidance for fixed unit price, performance-based con-

tracts, vendors can receive partial payments when they attain perform-

ance benchmarks. The performance must be measurable and

documented and cannot be for more than the estimated cost of providing

that portion of the contract jtpa regulations also require that full pay-

ment imder these contracts be contingent upon three conditions: comple-

tion of training, placement in a training-related job, and receipt of a

specified wage.

Payments Made Despite
Contract Requirements

Of the nine scms that used fixed unit price, performance-based contracts

with vendors, three made payments that were not in accordance with

contract requirements. In addition, two other sdas did not verify that

contract requirements were satisfied before paying the vendors.

At one SIM, for example, a provision in the contracts stipulated that ven-

dors would receive payment for each person placed in a training-related

GAO/H]tD«l«T jrrPA Ovenlght
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Chapter 4

Contimctliig Practices Contrtbote to

Procrmin VolnerabiUty

job if the person kept that job for some specified length of time—usually

3 or 4 weeks. The sda's procedures required that, before making pay-
ment, SDA staff were to verify that each person was placed in a training-

related job and had retained that job for the required length of time. At
this SDA, however, as many as two-thirds of the payments reviewed may
have been improper. We examined 75 payments made to seven vendors
and found that 1 1 payments were made before the completion of the
required job retention period and another 39 were made without per-

forming the job retention verification.

At another sua, inadequate monitoring procedures may have resulted in

improper payments being made. This sda's contracts called for vendors
to be paid for placements in training-related jobs obtained within 45
days of training completion. However, vendors were paid before the sqa
verified reported placements.

Partial Payments Not in

Compliance With Federal
Guidelines

Six of the SDAs that used fixed unit price,

performance-based contracts with vendors made partial payments that
were not in compliance with Labor guidelines for such contracts. As a
result, SDAS were often paying training vendors substantial amounts for

minimal effort (e.g., for enrolling clients), regardless of the amount of
training provided.

According to Labor officials, partial payments can only be based on a
documented measurable achievement; enrollment and attendance alone

do not constitute measurable achievements.' Labor's guidelines also note
that costs associated with intake, enrollment, and assessment—without
participation in occupational or basic skills training—cannot be the

basis for partial payments.

In contrast to Labor's guidance, six sdas awarded contracts that pro-

vided partial payments to vendors based on client enrollment. The
amount of these payments ranged from 24 percent of the contract to as
much as 79 percent. One sda's contract with a vendor offering clerical

training, for example, allowed the vendor to receive 79 percent of a

$239,000 contract if 85 participants were eiu-olled and remained in the

'An example of an acceptable basis for making a partial payment is illustrated by one SIM'S contract
with a vendor that stipulated that, before receiving its first partial payment, the vendor had to cer-

tify that participants satisfactorily completed 15 percent of the curriciilum with a grade of 70
percent
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ConCnctiiig Practices Contiflmtc to

Program Vntamabilitjr

program for 5 days of the 6-month traiiung program. Another sn/v's con-

tract with a vendor offering word processing training (a 12-week pro-

gram), permitted the vendor to receive 40 percent of the $ 177,000

contract if 100 participants were enrolled and spent just 1 day in

training.

Modifications Used to

Change Contract
Requirements

Two of the SDAs we visited modified performance requirements in sev-

eral instances, resulting in vendors being paid without meeting original

contract conditions. While Labor's guidance on fixed unit price,

performance-based contracts recognizes that "risk is an inherent fea-

ture" of these contracts, both for service providers and SUAS, there

appeared to be relatively little risk to the training vendors at these two

SDAS after the contract modifications were made.

One SUA modified contract time limits or placement wage requirements

to allow for full payment to be made to vendors. This sda used fixed unit

price, performance-based training contracts that contained precise defi-

nitions for completion, placement, and retention. However, the sda

allowed one vendor to receive full payment when it modified a contract,

without any apparent justification, to extend the placement period from

45 to 66 days in one case, and from 45 to 134 days in another case. The
vendor received $2,054 for these two placements that would not have

been paid had the contract not been modified. In another instance, the

SDA modified a contract to reduce the stipulated placement wage from

$5.50 to $5.00 per hour. As a result, the vendor received $2,100 that

would not have been paid under the original contract conditions.

At another sda, training vendors received incentive payments without

fulfilling the incentive requirements stipulated in the contract. Labor's

pohcy guidance strongly recommends that sdas focus more on at-risk

populations, stating that "(tlhis might involve an additional adjustment

to the unit price to provide increased financial incentive . .

." for serving

this group. This sda entered into training contracts that provided incen-

tive payments for services to the hard-to-serve, such as handicapped

individuals, school dropouts, and Aid to Families with Dependent Chil-

dren (afdc) recipients. However, the contracts also contained a clause

stating that if the vendor failed to enroll the specified number of hard-

to-serve clients, the sda would modify the contract to increase the place-

ment payments by the incentive amount, thereby negating any incentive

to enroll these clients.
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One of the sda's contracts provided an uicentive payment of $1,246 for

enrolling two afdc clients. When, after 9 months, the vendor had failed

to enroll two such clients, the sda modified the contract to increase the

placement payments by $1,245, thus negating any incentive effect. Simi-

larly, the SDA modified another contract to increase placement payments
by $1,140 when a vendor, after 8 months, could not enroll a single afdc
client (as sf)ecified in the contract). In both cases, the vendors received

the incentive payments without fulfilling the terms of the incentive

clauses.

Payments Made Under
Cost-Reuribursement

C!ontracts

Unsupported

Two of the five sdas using cost-reimbursement contracts had reimbursed
training vendors for incurred costs without ensuring that refwrted

expenditures were allowable and sufficiently documented. Such a prac-

tice could lead to a misuse of jtpa funds.

Generally, sdas entered into cost-reimbursement training contracts with
organizations such as community colleges, city-operated institutions,

and vocational schools. Under these arrangements, sdas reimburse ven-

dors for the cost of training based on the vendors' reported expendi-

tures. Five of the sdias we visited used such contracts to provide

occupational classroom training.

One SDA paid a vendor 75 percent of the value of two contracts worth
approximately $700,000 without verifying the accuracy of the sub-

mitted expenditure reports. For the first 9 months of the contract

period, the vendor submitted expenditure reports and received pay-

ments under these contracts that were totally unsupported by the

vendor's records. Nonetheless, the vendor received full reimbursement
for reported costs—about $530,000.

A subsequent visit by the sda disclosed that the vendor lacked any
records supporting program expenditures. We believe the sua should
have questioned the vendor when the first expenditure report requested

about $80,000 for administration, twice the amount allowed for the

entire year.

Another sda also did not verify the accuracy or appropriateness of

expenditures reported by vendors. In this instance, the sda paid about
$213,000 under a cost-reimbursement contract with a vendor to provide
training in office occupations. The vendor's monthly expenditure

reports requesting payment contained only one line item—training

—

and the requested amount. Neither additional documentation as to the

GA0/HKD«I«7 JTPA



226

Chapter 4
ContnKtliig Pndkca Contribate to

Fragnm VulnaaUUty

types of expenses incurred nor sn* verification of the accuracy or

appropriateness of the payment requests was presented in the reports.
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Incidents of waste, abuse, and mismanagement in the Job Training Part-

nership Act program are going undetected. State agencies, which have

the primary responsibility for overseeing jtpa implementation, often

faiiled to identify improper reporting of costs, questionable uses of on-

the-job trairung, and inadequate procurement practices occurring at the

SDAs included in our review.

Although JTPA requires that each program be independently audited at

least once every 2 years, such audits have not provided reasonable

assurance that jtpa programs are operating in accordance with appli-

cable laws and regulations. These audits generally did not detect the

improper management practices at the sdas we visited.

Federal oversight also has not been directed at identifying improper

practices or providing reasonable assurance that the program operates

in accordance with the law, regulations, and sound management prac-

tices. Such oversight consists primarily of broad policy guidance, limited

technical assistance, and minimal scrutiny of program implementation

and operation.

Inadequate State

Monitoring

Most states were not adequately monitoring local jtpa program opera-

tions. As reported in chapter 2, sdas in five of the six states we visited

were underreporting administrative expenditures, yet state monitors in

only two of these states questioned the sdas' basis for allocating

expenses among the cost categories.

States vary substantially in the extent to which they monitor local pro-

gram operations. One state we renewed did not perform any monitoring

of its sdas' financial management or procurement systems until program

year 1990. Similarly, another state had not performed any financial or

procurement monitoring since program year 1986, although it did so in

program year 1990. On the other hand, another state spent about 4

weeks per year at each of its 26 sdas assessing various sda activities,

including cash management, cost classification, cut, and contractor

monitoring.

State monitoring to ensure that ojt was reasonable apparently was not

occurring because none of the state monitorii\g reports we reviewed

identified length of training as a problem. As reported in chapter 3, the

1 1 SDAS that had ojt contracts consistently contracted with employers to

provide training in lower skill jobs for periods longer than the training
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times suggested by Labor. Over one-third of the ojt costs for these con-

tracts was being wasted on excess training.'

Furthermore, none of the state monitoring reports we reviewed identi-

fied weaknesses in the sdas' administration of their training contracts.

As reported in chapter 4, sdas were paying vendors even when contract

conditions were not met; providing vendors with partial payments,

thereby failing to comply with federal guidelines; and reimbursing ven-

dors for unsupported expenditures.

Additionally, property management could be susceptible to abusive

practices. States are responsible for ensuring that property purchased

with JTPA funds is being used for jtpa purposes as required by federal

regulations. Seven of the sdas we visited did not have adequate control

over property inventory. The five states where these sdas were located

either (I) did not assess sua property inventory control or (2) made no

mention of such weaknesses in their monitoring reports. For example,

directors of two sdas (in different states) were assigned automobiles

purchased or leased with jtpa funds. In neither case were records main-

tained to show what these vehicles were used for. We were able to

establish that one of these cars had been used regularly for personal

purposes and not just program-related ones.

Other instances of poor property management were noted during our

review. At one sea, for example, four computers that were issued to a

vendor were being used for non-JTPA purposes. In addition, about one-

fourth of the 100 items we tested at this sda were not at the locations

specified on the inventory list, and sda officials could not locate 15 of

these items. This property was valued at $44,000 and included a com-

puter, terminals, printers, and modems.

Recent Initiatives May
Improve Federal

Oversight

Labor's oversight responsibilities have been insufficient to address the

improper practices we identified. New initiatives by Labor are aimed at

improving program integrity, but it is too soon to determine whether

these efforts will reduce the program's vulnerability to waste, abuse,

and mismanagement.

'Inadcnowtedgementof the potential abuse of OJT, three states have begun to develop policy guid-

ance for SDAs to use when contracting with employeis for this training.
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Federal Policy Guidance
Has Been Limited

Labor's program-wide guidance to the states and sdas has been limited,

and this lack of clear guidance has caused some of the problems dis-

cussed in this report. Labor has, on a few occasions, issued notices in the

Federal Register , but these have not been formally incorporated into

JTPA regulations. Labor also has provided guidance to individual states

on specific questions and issues, such as the determination by two
regional offices that costs for employment-generating activities should

be charged to administration, but has not made such information avail-

able on a program-wide basis. Although Labor has issued policy guid-

ance regarding the use of performance-based contracts, it has not clearly

defined administrative costs, acceptable uses of orr, and adequate levels

of state monitoring.

Labor's compliance reviews as well as its previously required manage-
ment reviews have contributed to improving program management at

the state and local level. However, they have not detected, nor were
they intended to detect, improper or questionable practices at every sda.

New Oversight Initiatives

Are a Step in the Right
Direction

Labor has indicated a need to go beyond its current oversight and moni-

toring practices. As pointed out by Labor in a notice to its regional

offices, ".
. . it is evident that a more extensive and in-depth analysis is

needed to detect system irregularities and vulnerabilities."

Labor's February 1990 jtpa oversight plan states that, whUe the

existing system has enabled Labor to meet its monitoring responsibili-

ties, changes in the program's environment and priorities require a reas-

sessment of its oversight strategy. As a result, significant changes are

anticipated in the near future. Under consideration are recommenda-
tions to focus reviews on program quality, effectiveness, and outcomes.

Furthermore, Labor is considering shifting emphasis away from state

administration and towards local program operations. According to the

oversight plan, significant changes are being made to the current

system, including Labor's directive that

"Reviews will go beyond simply verifying the mere existence of written system pro-

cedures and look at actual operational effectiveness."

Labor also has initiated a series of special reviews targeted to specific

areas of program vulnerability. The two initial reviews were directed at

the areas of procurement and OJT. According to Labor, these reviews are

similar to but more in-depth than its compliance reviews.
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Labor also is developing additional clarification and guidance for the

states and sdas. In February 1991, Labor issued an advance notice of

proposed rulemaking that outlines areas of proposed regulatory change,

and it is seeking comments on the advisability of amending the program

regulations and the suggested areas for change. Labor's proposal

includes several of the actual and potential problem areas identified in

our review, including program monitoring, property management, ojt,

and employment-generating activities.

Labor's new initiatives are designed to improve the integrity of jtpa at

the state and local levels. However, it is too early to tell whether these

efforts will significantly increase progreim integrity and prevent future

waste and abuse.

Few JTPA Deficiencies

Noted During Audits

AU 12 of the SDAS we visited had been recently audited. Although we
found questionable practices being followed at each of these locations,

only three of the audit reports noted deficiencies relating to jtpa waste,

abuse, or mismanagement. The lack of findings in the audits raises ques-

tions as to the adequacy of independent audits to detect the types of

improper practices we identified during our review.

JTPA requires that, at least once every 2 years, all recipients of jtpa

funds undergo an independent financial and compliance audit. This

requirement can be satisfied either as part of a single audit of a state or

local government's entire fmancial operations or through an audit aimed

specifically at an individual jtpa program's operation The audit

requirements of 70 percent of the sdas are met under the Single Audit

Act. Of the 12 SDAS included in our review, 8 were included in audits

conducted under the provisions of the Single Audit Act.

The single audit concept was implemented in order to (1) eliminate audit

duplication, overlap by the responsible federal agencies, and gaps in

audit coverage; (2) provide a basis for additional audits and evaluations,

if needed; (3) identify accountability and ensure resolution of audit find-

ings; and (4) address the need for uniform single audit requirements.

The Congress enacted the Single Audit Act of 1984 to require state and
local governments that were receiving $100,000 or more in federal

financial assistance to be the subject of a single, organization-wide audit.

The Department of Labor, in its 1989 and 1990 reports on the manage-
ment control and financial management systems under the Federal Man-
agers' Financial Integrity Act, identified coverage of jtpa under the
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Single Audit Act as one of several "high risk areas." The 1990 report

stated:

"A determination must be made whether the scope of coverage under the Single

Audit Act is adequate to protect ILabor] interests under the Job Training Partner-

ship Act (JTPA) and other |Labor| programs."

Five of the eight single audit reports did not contain any significant jtpa

deficiencies. We could not, however, determine from these reports the

extent to which jtpa activities were examined. We stated in a previous

report^ that program managers and other audit report recipients had

difficulty in using single audit reports because they could not determine

whether their programs were tested for comphance or the extent of such

testing. GAO has another assignment underway performing an overall

assessment of the implementation of the Single Audit Act in 13 federal

programs, including jtpa.

Five of the sdas we reviewed received JTPA-specific audits.' None of

these audit reports, however, identified deficiencies and questionable

practices similar to those we found during our review.

Conelusions '^^ program oversight and monitoring at the federal and state levels is

inadequate. Widespread problems were noted at the states and sdas in

our review, leading us to conclude that the program is vulnerable to

waste, abuse, and mismanagement.

Labor's oversight has been limited to providing broad policy guidance

with limited technical assistance and scrutiny of program implementa-

tion. As a result, problems at the state and local levels were not

detected.

The extent of jtpa monitoring by the states varied, but generally the

states did not detect improper management practices of local programs.

Inaccurately reported administrative expenditures, excessively long ojt

contracts, and questionable contracting practices were generally

unreported.

^Single Audit Act Single Audit Quality Has Improved but Some Implementation Problems Remain

(GAO/AFMI>«9-72. July 27, 1989)

'At one of the SDAs, the grant recipient is the private industry council who contracts with the State

Department of &nploymem and Training to act as its administrative entity In program year 1989, a

JTPA-spedfic audit was performed on the private industry council's activities and the state's depart-

ment activities were included under the state's single audit
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Biannual audits, required by the act, have not detected program mis-

management We recognize that, given finite time and resources, such

audits cannot be expected to detect each and every incident of waste,

abuse, and mismanagement. However, only three of the audit reports

noted any such deficiencies relating to jtpa.

At the local level, we noted that 7 of 12 seias were circumventing the

legislative limit on administrative spending by not accurately classifying

all administrative costs. This practice also raises questions about the

accuracy of program expenditures reported to the Department of Labor

and the Congress.

The 1 1 SDAs providing training under ojt contracts were wasting scarce

JTPA resources by (1) entering into lower skill ojt contracts that

exceeded the length of training suggested by Labor, (2) training individ-

uals with significant prior work experience in the occupations for which

they were being trained, and (3) training individuals already working

for the OJT employer. Such practices, in effect, subsidize portions of an

employer's salary and training expenses.

Contracting practices followed by eight of the sdas were also contrib-

uting to program vulnerability by not following Labor guidelines or

adhering to their own contract requirements when paying vendors for

services rendered.

Labor, which is resporwible for issuing implementing regulations and
policy guidance, has allowed states and sdas considerable discretion in

implementing the program. To resolve those questionable practices and
problem areas identified through Labor's new detailed reviews, clear

and definitive guidance is needed to correct program-wide problems.

Labor's recent initiative to develop additional program regulations

should help in that regard.

RecommPnciationS ^*' reduce jtpa's potential for waste, fraud, and abuse, and to address

questionable management practices at the local level, we recommend
that Labor provide techiucal assistance to states for the development
and implementation of monitoring procedures directed at detecting

waste, fraud, and abuse within the program.
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We also recommend that Labor provide policy guidance to clarify regu-

lations for

accounting for and reporting administrative costs to accurately reflect

program expenditures;

developing ojt contracts that appropriately reflect the job requirements

as well as the individual's work experience;

maintaining adequate control over property purchased with jtpa funds

to ensure that it is used for its intended purposes; and

monitoring service providers to ensure that incidents of waste and abuse

are detected and corrective actions taken.

A0Pnrv pDmrnpntS '" '** ''^'^ ^' ^^^^' comments on a draft of this report (see app. Ill), the
o y Department of Labor generally agreed with our findings and conclu-

sions. Labor stated that it has proposed amendments to jtpa, introduced

on May 30, 1991, that would address most of our recommendations. In

addition, it has taken other steps that respond to our recommendations,

including conducting a program-wide series of special reviews in the

areas of jtpa procurement and on-the-job training and undertaking state

and SDA training initiatives.

These efforts are a step in the direction of strengthening jtpa program

monitoring and oversight. Labor's legislative proposal, if enacted, and

other initiatives will contribute to improved program management.

However, we believe that Labor needs to take additional actions in order

to fully implement our recommendations.

The following summarizes Labor's comments on each of our recommen-

dations and our analysis, where appropriate.

With respect to our recommendation that Labor provide states with

technical assistance on monitoring procedures. Labor referred to the iiu-

tiatives that it has taken or that are underway. These include its

reviews of procurement and ojt practices; system-wide procurement

training, including ojt procurement; on-site technical assistance for

areas with significant problems; and the development of a broad

strategy to improve training and technical assistance program-wide.

Labor said it has uncovered problems in its reviews, but added that over

90 percent have been resolved and the remainder are in the process of

being resolved. Labor also said that substantial operational changes

have been made, particularly in the area of ojt practices and

procedures.
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While Labor's monitoring reviews may have resulted in corrective

action, our review indicates that technical assistance to the states is

needed. Labor's reviews amounted to direct monitoring efforts on its

part and do not address the need for guidance and assistance to the

states and sdas in developing and implementing adequate monitoring

procedures. Moreover, while the results from Labor's reviews could be

useful to program managers, they are not being disseminated system-

wide. We believe that these results should be made universally available

to all JTPA managers in such a way as to (1) highlight both inappropriate

activities and laudable program practices and (2) encourage jtpa man-

agers to look for such inappropriate practices and to adopt successful

approaches. Regarding its other actions, Labor's training initiative is

limited to the area of procurement, whereas our efforts showed program

weaknesses in a number of areas, including classification of costs and
property management. Moreover, its on-site assistance is being provided

in only a few locations and its broad strategy is still under development.

With regard to our recommendation that Labor provide guidance to

clarify regulations related to accounting for and reporting on adminis-

trative costs. Labor stated that its legislative proposal would require

that all costs be charged to the appropriate cost category. Furthermore,

under this proposal it will issue rules that define each cost category and

ensure that the state governors carry out their responsibility to enforce

such provisions.

We believe that these provisions, and particularly the one relating to

defining cost categories, will contribute substantially to improvements

in this area. However, we also believe that the rules Labor issues should

clearly set forth which costs can be appropriately charged to each cost

category and that the Department should attempt to anticipate and
address any potential misunderstandings with respect to cost

classifications.

Regarding our recommendation that Labor provide guidance with

respect to developing appropriate on-the-job training contracts. Labor

referred to its monitoring reviews of state and sua ojt policies and prac-

tices. Furthermore, its legislative proposal would establish a limit on the

length of OJT contracts as well as provide other requirements. Labor
believes that these actions, as well as training for local program officials

on OJT procedures, are appropriate to Umit questionable ojt practices.

Labor said that further policy guidance is dependent on legislative

action.
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We believe that Labor's actions will contribute to improved ojt con-

tracting practices. However, we believe that Labor needs to take mea-

sures to insure that its proposed 6-month ceiling on ojt contracts does

not become the norm. Therefore, in developing its guidance and imple-

menting regulations, Labor needs to emphasize that the maximum
training length should be used only when it is the normal length of

training for a particular occupation or is fully justified by appropriate

factors, such as a participant being handicapped.

With respect to our recommendation regarding the monitoring of service

providers. Labor again referred to its monitoring reviews of orr and pro-

curement activities, training initiatives, and legislative proposal. It also

plans to establish an oversight approach that focuses on program and

management performance and preventive oversight. Labor's actions

should contribute to improved program management and monitoring.

Regarding our recommendation on maintaining adequate property con-

trol, Labor referred to its procurement training activities and legislative

proposal that will, in part, strengthen property management.

We believe that Labor's procurement traiiung, coupled with its compre-

hensive guide on procurement practices, will improve and strengthen

the program's procurement process. Further, its legislative proposal

incorporates federal requirements that, in part, address the proper use

and disposition of property. In view of the need for guidance by pro-

gram managers, we believe that Labor should include in its training pro-

gram and incorporate in its comprehensive guide, guidance on the

proper use and disposition of program property.
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Appendix 11

Tables Supporting Bar Graphs in Report Text

TaUe 11.1: Diftsrenca Batwean Raportad

and Actual Administrativa Cost* (Data for

Figure 2 1) SPA

A

Administrative costs

Reported Actual Difference

$183,237 $310,282

308,732 487,144

179,106 292,010

202,306 312,461

107,328 310,304

239,348 695,621

262,927 376,443

367,565 472.605

Table 11.3: SDAs Eiceading Alkmabla
Administrativa Cost* (Data for Figure 2.2)

SOA

A

Table 11.3: SOA* Excaeding Suggaalad
Training Tim* for Lowar SkM OJT (Data
for Figure 3 1

)

Average training time (Weeks)

Suggaated Contracted Excesa
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Appendix III

Comments From the Department of Labor

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF LABOR

July 2, 1991

The Honorable Charles A. Bowsher
Comptroller General of the
United States

U.S. General Accounting Office
441 G Street, N.W.
Room 7000
Washington, O.C. 20548

Dear Mr. Bowsher:

ThanX you for the opportunity to review and provide comments
on the U.S. General Accounting Office (GAO) draft report, entitled
Job Train ing Partnership Act: Inadequate Oversight Leaves Program
Vulnerable to Waste. Mismanagement and Abuse (GAO/HRD-91-97) . This
report provides further information on issues which have been the
basis for both administrative action and legislative proposals to
strengthen the Integrity of Job Training Partnership Act (JTPA)
programs. Accordingly, the Department will give careful consider-
ation to the recommendations contained in this report.

The Department has already taXen major steps to address the
concerns expressed in the report. All States and the majority
of service delivery aureas (SDAs) have recently been monitored in
depth with respect to procurement practices and on-the-job training
(OJT) program administration. Well over 90 percent of the problems
Identified in the reviews have been resolved. The Department has
proceeded with training State and SDA staff in procurement practices
and provided the system with a comprehensive technical assistance
guide. The Department has also provided training for all States
in the areas of OJT and proper program administration.

The Department's legislative proposal to amend JTPA which is
pending before the Congress very specifically addresses the program
integrity concerns identified in the report. The amendments naXe
significant changes in the law to strengthen program accountability.
These include new provisions reguiring the Governors to establish
and implement procurement standards to ensure fiscal accountability
and prevent fraud and abuse. The provisions would also ensure that
compliance with the standards is closely monitored and that, where
problems arise, corrective action is promptly taken or, where neces-
sary, appropriate sanctions are applied. Other provisions, such as
those relating to the charging of expenditxires to appropriate cost
categories, proper OJT administration, property management, and
restrictions on program income, also promote fiscal integrity.
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Enclosed ar* responses to your specific findings. I hope this
information will prove helpful in coi^iling your final report.

Sincerely,

' i/lymh martin
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U.S. Department of Labor's Response to
the Draft General Accounting Office Report
Entitled ~

Job Training Partnership Act: Inadequate
Oversight Leaves Program Vulnerable to
Waste, Hismanagement and Abuse

Following are the recommendations to the Secretary of Labor
contained in the OAO report, and the Department's responses.

To reduce the potential for waste, fraud, and abuse within
JTPA, GAO recommends that the Department of Labor assume
stronger leadership in assuring that service delivery areas
follow sound management and operational practices.
Specifically, Labor should:

I. Provide technical assistance to states for the
development and implementation of monitoring procedures
designed to detect waste, fraud, and abuse within the
program .

The Department has undertaken several Initiatives in
this regard. First, the Department's Employment and
Training Administration (ETA) has undertaken the
monitoring of procurement practices and on-the-job
training (OJT) administration for all States and SOAs.
To date, all States and the majority of SDAs have been
monitored. Problems have been uncovered, and well over
90 percent of the problems have been resolved with the
resolution of the balance in process. Procurement and
OJT were selected for review because these areas pur-
portedly involved the greatest extent of questionable
practices. On the basis of the reviews, substantial
changes have been made, especially in the area of OJT
practices and procedures.

Second, ETA has proceeded with training on procurement
(Including OJT procurement) for the entire JTPA system.
As part of this training, participants were provided
with a comprehensive guide on procurement practice with
specific Information on monitoring procurement systems.
This spring, all State Directors received training on
program integrity responsibilities as part of a
training conference for State liaisons. The ETA has
also included training on OJT as part of other training
conferences they sponsored this spring.

Third, ETA is providing on site technical assistance
for areas with severe problems, such as working with
one State to resolve some serious problems identified
in one of its service delivery areas (SDAs)

.
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Fourth, ETA is developing a nuch broader strategy to
isprove training and tecbnical assistance throughout
the JTPA systea. This strategy was described in a
Federal Register notice published on February 7, 1991
entitled "Building the Capacity of the JTPA System."
An eaeential feature of this capacity building effort
will be the training of JTPA staff in basic nonitoring
and program adainistration.

Provide policy guidance to clarify regulations
regarding :

A. Accounting for and reporting of administrative
costs to accurately reflect program expenditures.

Policy guidance for the proper classification of costs
is presented at Part 20 Section 629.38 of the Code of
Federal Regulations (CFR) . Pursuant to the rules, it
is the responsibility of the Governor to ensure that
SDAs emd substate areas properly charge expenditures
against the proper cost categories. The proper classi-
fication of costs has also been a concern in the
JTPA system as a result of the widespread practice
of performance based contracting pursuan'c to 20 CFR
629.38(e)(2), wherein all of the costs could be charged
to the training category. Our legislative proposal
would require that all costs, with two limited excep-
tions, be charged to the appropriate cost category.
Furthermore, the Department will issue rules defining
each of the cost categories and ensure that the
Governors fulfill their responsibility to enforce those
provisions.

B. Developing on-the-iob training contracts that
appropriatelv reflect the job's reouireaents and
the individual's work experience:

The ETA has monitored all States and is well on the way
to monitoring all SDAs' OJT policies and practices. An
essential element of this review is determining the
presence and enforcement of State and local policies
regarding the length of the training as it relates to
the occikpation, minimum and maximum durations, and
limitations on who is appropriate to refer to an OJT
c^portunity, especially participants with previous
experience in the firm or occupation. The Department
has also included additional provisions regarding OJT
in the proposed amendments. These provisions Include
limitations on the length of OJT to a period
"...generally required for acquisition of skills needed
for the position within a particular occupation, but in
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occupation, but In no event shall exceed six months."
The legislation also Indicates that the length of

training should be based on a standard reference such
as the Dictionary of Occupational Titles , and should
take into account prior woric experience, training
content, and the individual's service strategy. In
addition, the legislation includes requirements for OJT
contracts and would impose significant new conditions
on OJT brokering contracts.

The Department considers that it has tiUcen appropriate
action to limit questioneOjle OJT practices throughout
the JTPA system. Further policy guidance will depend
on the legislative action taken on the OJT provisions
Included in the proposed legislation.

C. Monitoring service nrovlders to ensure that
incidents of waste and abuse are detected and
minimized :

The ETA has taken direct and comprehensive action to
monitor all State and local JTPA programs for the areas
which were considered to be most vulnerable to waste
and abuse - OJT and procurement. Such monitoring not
only Included review of program policies and practices,
but also reviewed State and local monitoring practices.
Where deficient, immediate corrective action has been
required and in virtually all cases has been taken.
The ETA'S In-depth training on procurement includes
detailed instructions on monitoring. The ETA plans
to continue program oversight as a major priority.
Emphasis will be placed on having Governors assume more
fully their responsibility for program oversight and
monitoring. The ETA will move toward an oversight
approach which focuses on issues affecting program and
management performance, and will devote a significant
portion of Its efforts to preventive oversight, i.e.,
identifying Issues that signal potential problems.

The Department has Included in its legislative proposal
to amend JTPA specific provisions strengthening moni-
toring. All grantees and subgrantees are required to
conduct oversight to ensure compliance with procurement
standards. Further, the Governor is required to con-
duct annual onsite monitoring of each SDA and substate
area to ensure compliance with procurement standards.
These provisions are In addition to the current respon-
sibility of the Governor and private Industry councils
to monitor their programs for compliance with the Act.

PBae4a GAO/HaDSU7mA
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tRBwtttPnwi 'Hilt of labor

Farthaxaara, whan apacltlc caaaa of fraud and abuaa ara
nncovarad by or brought to tba attantlon of ETA,
I»ii1l ita action la taken to Invastigate and direct
carractiva action to be taken.

D. Maintaining adaiiniata control over property
r""->'"IWl With JTPA funda to ensure that it
la naed for Ita Intended pureoeee.

Tb» KI&'b procurement training includes specific
proviaiona for analyzing the costs of property and
other aapacta of property adainiatratlon

.

ThB Oq>artBent'8 JTPA asendnants include provisions
ragartllng property which specify that "The Federal
raqolreBenta governing the tltla, use and diapoaition
of raal property, aqulpaent and supplies purchased with
funds provided under thia Act aball be the Federal
requiraaenta generally applicable to Federal grants to
States and local govamiients . " Such provisions will
serve to atrangthen property aanagenent in the JTPA
aystoi.

OAO/aBI>«l«TJIM (Henlaht
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF JUDY A. ENGLAND-JOSEPH

Community Development
comprehensive approaches and local flexibility issues

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee:
We are pleased to be here today to participate in your hearing on S. 88, the Local

Empowerment and Flexibility Act of 1995, whose purpose is to create increased
flexibility for local governments and private nonprofit organizations using federal
programs to assist communities and their residents. The proposed act would, among
other things, create a council composed primarily of cabinet-level officials to review
and approve local plans for integrating federal funds to meet the needs of a specific
geographic area. The plans would include requests to waive federal laws and regula-
tions that hinder the locality's ability to implement its plan.
Our testimony is based primarily on our February 1995 report on community

groups that are using a multifaceted—or comprehensive—approach that relies on
residents' participation to address housing, economic, and social service needs in dis-
tressed neighborhoods. 1 Comprehensive efforts typically receive technical support
and funding from nonprofit organizations. State and local governments, and a vari-
ety of federal sources. Federal funding generally flows through State and local gov-
ernments in the form of block grants or goes directly to the organizations in the
form of categorical, or program-specific, funding. In our February report, we exam-
ined (1) why community development experts and practitioners advocate a com-
prehensive approach, (2) what challenges they see to its implementation, and (3)

how the Federal Government might support comprehensive approaches. The report
incorporated information obtained during our review of four organizations that are
applying a comprehensive approach for improving their respective communities. ^ In
addition, in this testimony we will discuss how recent experiences with the
Empowerment Zone and Enterprise Communities Program provide helpful insights
but also poke questions about the complexity of an undertaking like that envisioned
in the proposed Flexibility Act.

In summary, our February report and recent work have shown the following:

—Community development experts advocate comprehensive approaches to address
the problems of distressed neighborhoods because such complex, interrelated
problems are better addressed in tandem than individually. The comprehensive
approach was endorsed by the Department of Housing and Urban Development
(HUD) in March 1994. Several national foundations—frustrated with the re-

sults of programs they previously funded—have begun funding organizations
that are taking a comprehensive approach.

—However, multiple challenges confronted the four organizations we studied. The
organizations had to, among other things, piece together a complex web of fund-
ing from several private and public sources to cover program and administrative
costs. Overall, the groups relied on public funding—often with conditions and/
or restrictions on its use—for up to 30 to 60 percent of their budgets. The orga-
nizations also faced the onerous task of managing a diverse set of concurrent
housing, economic development, and social service programs.
—The Federal Government assists distressed urban communities and their resi-

dents through a complex system involving multiple federal departments and
agencies. Together, these agencies administer hundreds of programs in the
areas of housing, economic development, and social services. These agencies
have tended not to coordinate their efforts with one another because they have
separate missions and have been concerned about losing control over their own
resources. In addition, the federal efforts to coordinate that have been under-
taken have had few successes, leaving community organizations—such as the
ones we reviewed—^with the burden of trying to piece together programs to

serve their communities.
—The Empowerment Zone and Enterprise Communities program allowed commu-

nities to request waivers to certain federal requirements. In light of the lessons
HUD has learned from its experience with the Empowerment Zone and Enter-
prise Communities program, some questions that might be considered with re-

spect to the proposed Local Empowerment and Flexibility Act of 1995 include:

1 Community Development: Comprehensive Approaches Address Multiple Needs but Are Chal-
lenging to Implement (GAO/RCED/HEHS-95-69, Feb. 8, 1995).

2 The four organizations we studied were (1) the Core City Neighborhoods in Detroit, Michi-
gan; (2) the Dudley Street Neighborhood Initiative in Boston, Massachusetts; (3) the Marshall
Heights Community Development Organization in Washington, D.C.; and (4) the Neighborhood
Housing Services in Pasadena, California.
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(1) what process will allow the flexibility plans to be approved in a timely man-
ner while allowing the agencies time to consider and process the waiver re-

quests, (2) how will waiver requests that cut across federal agencies be ap-

proved and monitored, (3) how can accountability for the funds and programs
affected by the waivers be built into the process, and (4) what level of resources
will be necessary to administer the provisions of the proposed act and in an era
of downsizing, where will these resources come from?

Background

Despite overall economic growth in the United States during the 1980s, the eco-

nomic and social health of many cities declined. While crime, poverty, and the phys-
ical and social deterioration of urban neighborhoods increased, intergovernmental
aid to cities declined between 1980 and 1993 by about 19.4 percent in constant dol-

lars. Meanwhile, the out-migration of many middle-income residents and businesses
has caused cities' tax bases to shrink, hampering the ability of local governments
to assist economically and socially distressed areas suffering from a mix of inter-

related problems.
Over the past several decades, the public and private sectors have tried different

strategies to assist people living in distressed communities. Some of these efforts

have focused on improving the chances for individuals in these areas to obtain the
education, social services, and other support that they need in order to leave their

neighborhoods. Others have focused on improving the neighborhoods' physical envi-

ronment through affordable housing or economic development. Still others have
combined aspects of both approaches by addressing the needs of residents and their

environment. These latter efforts are referred to as "comprehensive" by community
development experts because they consider the housing, economic development, and
social service needs of communities and are considered community-based because
they focus on specific geographic areas and involve the residents in the planning
and implementation. Comprehensive community-based efforts have often begun
within communities in response to neighborhood conditions—rather than in re-

sponse to a federal program—and are operated by local nonprofit organizations.
The Empowerment Zone and Enterprise Communities Program, which was estab-

lished by the Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1993, represents a major federal
investment in comprehensive strategies and local flexibility. Under this program,
over 500 rural and urban communities submitted strategic plans for revitalizing a
distressed community. In their applications, communities were encouraged to iden-
tify the specific programmatic or regulatory impediments—within certain areas—to

achieving the outcomes they sought. On December 21, 1994, 71 urban and 33 rural
Empowerment Zones and Enterprise Communities were designated. Together, they
will receive $1 billion in Social Services Block Grant funding, tax incentives esti-

mated at $2.5 billion, and priority for other federal grant programs.

Complex Problems Call for Comprehensive Approaches

According to the experts we consulted, comprehensive approaches enhance the
chances of improving conditions in distressed neighborhoods because the problems
in these areas are complex and interrelated. Addressing these problems in tandem,
the experts believe, makes long-term results possible. In addition, the experts said
that comprehensive approaches are more viable now than they were in the past be-
cause community organizations have gained experience and an infrastructure has
evolved to provide funding and technical assistance. However, the experts cautioned
that conditions in distressed neighborhoods cannot be quickly reversed and that the
outcome of much of the work these groups do—community outreach, counseling, and
referral services—is hard to quantify, making evaluation of the results difficult. The
comprehensive approach was endorsed by HUD in March 1994 in a publication in

which the Secretary wrote, "We believe the best strategy to community
empowerment is a community-driven comprehensive approach which coordinates
economic, physical, environmental, community, and human needs." Dissatisfied with
the results of previous single-focused approaches to community revitalization, na-
tional organizations and foundations have begun funding organizations that are tak-
ing a comprehensive approach.

Comprehensive Approaches Are Difficult to Implement
Multiple challenges confronted the four organizations we studied. All experienced

substantial difficulty organizing residents, gaining their trust, and maintaining
their involvement. All four organizations said that residents needed to see a tan-
gible result—rehabilitated housing or a cleaner neighborhood—before they wanted
to participate. Obtaining financial support and managing a diverse set of concurrent
programs also presented significant challenges. The four organizations relied on a
myriad of public and private funding sources, such as federal block grant and pro-
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gram-specific funding, foundation grants, and corporate donations. Overall, the orga-
nizations relied on public funding—often with conditions and/or restrictions on its

use—for 30 to 60 percent of their budgets. After obtaining funds, the organizations
faced the challenge of concurrently managing multiple programs, each with several
separate funding sources; application requirements; and reporting expectations.
The four organizations we studied responded to the challenges confronting them

in a variety of ways. They obtained residents' support by including residents in their
planning and decision-making. They also used the multiple funding sources and col-

laborations to leverage resources that could then be applied over a wide range of
needs in the communities. In addition, each organization had access to some rel-

atively flexible funding—either public block grants or private foundation funds

—

that enabled it to set priorities consistent with its community's needs. Finally, the
organizations built a cadre of experienced staff to administer and manage the array
of programs.

Fragmentation of Federal Programs is Burdensome to Communities
The Federal Government assists distressed urban communities and their resi-

dents through a complex system involving multiple federal departments and agen-
cies. Together, these agencies administer hundreds of programs in the areas of hous-
ing, economic development, and social services. For example, we recently issued a
report listing over 340 federal economic development-related programs administered
by 13 of the 14 executive departments and many agencies and administrations.

^

Considered individually, many of these programs make sense. But together they
often work against the purposes for which they were established, according to a Na-
tional Performance Review report.

In addition, there has traditionally been little coordination among the many fed-

eral departments and agencies with the responsibility for administering the pro-
grams that can be used to assist distressed communities. Agencies have tended not
to coordinate efforts with one another because they have been protective of their
own resources and separate organizational missions.
The proliferation of federal programs and the lack of coordination among agencies

impose a burden on local organizations that attempt to piece together programs to

serve their communities. The neighborhood organizations we studied found it bur-
densome to manage multiple programs with individual funding streams, application
requirements, and reporting expectations. In addition, one organization reported
that it had strained its managerial and financial systems to meet federal record-
keeping and accounting standards for several funding sources. While the organiza-
tion implemented the necessary procedures to comply with the standards, officials

said that the administrative burdens nearly forced the organization to reduce the
scope of its services.

Lessons May be Learned From the Empowerment Zone and Enterprise Communities
Program

As you know, the Empowerment Zone and Enterprise Communities program al-

lowed communities to request waivers to certain federal requirements. In addition,
the President established the Community Empowerment Board to, among other
things, assist with the implementation of the program. In their applications for this
program, the 293 urban applicants made over 1,100 requests for federal program
flexibility covering 17 different federal departments and agencies. The Community
Empowerment Board first responded to flexibility requests from the 12 urban com-
munities that received the bulk of the funding under the program. According to
HUD—which administers the urban portion of the program—the 12 communities
made 270 waiver requests of which 115 could not be approved because statutory
changes would be needed. Favorable action was taken on approximately 130 of the
waiver requests, and about 25 requests were still under consideration as of Septem-
ber 20, 1995. Since then, the staff have begun to analyze the requests from the re-

maining communities and to look at other ways agencies might meet the needs of
the communities whose requests would require a statutory change, according to

HUD officials. HUD found that the waiver process was time consuming and re-

source intensive because:

—Localities often lacked enough knowledge about federal programs to define the
regulatory relief sought. For example, many of the requests submitted were rel-

evant to state rather than federal agencies. Others were requests for assistance
that could be resolved through dialogue between the appropriate federal, state,

and local agencies to work through perceived impediments. Provision of the

^Economic Development Programs (GAO/RCED-95-251R, July 28, 1995).
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technical assistance required to resolve these requests was staff-intensive for

the agencies involved.

—Although the Community Empowerment Board was established to manage
interagency cooperation, the majority of agencies have no formal process for re-

viewing and granting waivers. Some agencies lack global authority to grant reg-

ulatory waivers; others have authority but must formally issue new regulations

before granting any waivers. Authority to make decisions may be vested in the

field in some agencies or at central headquarters in others, adding to the time-

and staff-intensive nature of the process.

In light of the lessons HUD has learned from its experience with the

Empowerment Zone and Enterprise Communities Program, we would like to lay out
some questions that could be asked in considering the proposed Local Empowerment
and Flexibility Act of 1995. The questions are as follows:

—What kind of process will allow the flexibility plans to be approved and waivers
to be granted in a timely manner while allowing the affected agency or agencies
time to consider and process the requests?
—How will waiver requests that cut across federal agencies be approved and mon-

itored? This question becomes more troublesome if funds from various federal

programs are comingled.
—How can accountability for the funds and programs affected by the waivers be

built into the process without being overly burdensome for the localities? If per-

formance standards in the flexibility plans prepared by the localities are not
specific enough, it will be difficult to determine the waivers' impact and to en-

sure that program goals are achieved and funds adequately safeguarded.
—What level of resources will be necessary to administer the provisions of the

proposed act? Several agencies would face a time/resource burden similar to the
one they face under the Empowerment Zone and Enterprise Communities Pro-
gram. In an era of downsizing, where will these resources come from?

Mr. Chairman, this completes my prepared statement. I would be pleased to re-

spond to any questions that you or Members of the Committee may have.

Responses to Posthearing Questions by Senator Levin Regarding the Local
Empowerment and Flexibility Act of 1995

Question 1. Please provide your best estimate of the number of grants currently
administered under the approximately 600 categorical financial assistance grant
programs.
Answer. There were about 123,000 grants reported as of the third quarter of 1995,

according to the Federal Assistance Awards Data System. This figure reflects grant
transactions reported to the Census by all federal agencies that make grant awards.
According to Census officials, the 123,000 is an undercount because only the State
allocations are counted for about 160 grant programs where the Federal Govern-
ment provides its allocation to the State and the State further allocates the funding.
However, for the Medicaid, AFDC, Highway Construction, State Health, and Child
Support programs estimates are made to the county level.

Question 2. How will the commingling of funds from different programs and/or
agencies be monitored? How will an agency's accountability for funds be affected by
the commingling of funds from different agencies?
Answer. In its current form, S. 88 does not directly address federal monitoring of

commingled funds from different programs and/or agencies. This was an issue that
we raised in our statement. As you know whenever funds are commingled across
programs and among federal. State, and local governments it becomes difficult to

identify the programmatic impacts of federal funds. Financial accountability issues
are also somewhat different for consolidated grant programs. We discuss these prob-
lems in greater depth and describe some options the Congress has for building both
program and financial accountability into consolidated federal grant programs in

our report BLOCK GRANTS: Issues in Designing Accountability Provisions (GAO/
AIMD-95-226).

Regarding program accountability, S. 88 does contain some language that would
require that the flexibility plans address the usage of federal funds and how imple-
mentation of the plan adequately achieves the purposes of the Act and of each cov-
ered Federal financial assistance program under the plan. In addition, the Act
would require that each local government and qualified organization that would re-

ceive financial assistance enter into a memorandum of understanding that would,
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among other things, include measurable performance criteria and the data to be col-

lected to determine whether performance criteria is met.
Relying on States and localities both to set program objectives and determine the

measures and approach for evaluating performance in this way is one approach to
assuring program accountability that the Congress could choose. However, as our
report on block grant accountability notes, based on lessons from past block grants
the Congress should carefully consider its current and future needs for uniform data
and data collection procedures in a consolidated program or block grant context. Our
work on the block grants enacted during the 1980s showed that when consolidated
programs lack uniform definitions and data collection, the Congress has limited in-

formation and may find it difficult to draw meaningful conclusions about relative
effectiveness. In the absence of uniform information, polic5Tnakers are pressed to

make changes and add restrictions based on examples and reports that may or may
not represent broadscale problems with program implementation. For example, in

9 of 11 block grants in existence from fiscal year 1983 to 1991, the Congress added
new cost ceilings and set-asides or changed existing ones 58 times as a result of con-
gressional concern that States were not adequately meeting national needs.
Regarding financial accountability, we have said that the Single Audit Act of 1984

provides an important tool for ensuring that States are promoting financial account-
ability for consolidated or block-granted programs. Under S. 88 funds would be mon-
itored through this framework. The Act helps ensure that State agencies responsible
for block grant funds have sound financial management systems and internal con-
trols. The act promotes sound financial management by requiring each State or
agency to arrange for an annual (or in some circumstances, a biennial audit) of its

financial statements. The single audit also involves evaluating the adequacy of the
internal financial and management controls used by the agency to prevent problems
and ensure the integrity of public funds.
Question 3. Please provide your best estimate of the number of Local Flexibility

Plans that would be submitted to the Flexibility Council over the 5-year period cov-

ered by the Act.

Answer. It is difficult to estimate how many Local Flexibility Plans would be sub-
mitted over the 5-year period covered by the Act. Over 500 rural and urban commu-
nities applied for the Empowerment Zone and Enterprise Communities program.
The program is similar in that it required a comprehensive planning effort with
community involvement. The plans also included waiver requests. However, the EZ/
EC program is unlike what is proposed by the Flexibility Act because the EZ/EC
program was limited to 71 urban and 33 rural locations and involved additional fed-

eral financing. In addition, the EZ/EC program was heavily publicized and there
was an aspect of competition between applicants. These factors make it difficult to

determine whether a similar number of plans would be submitted under the Flexi-
bility Act.

PREPARED STATEMENT OF JOHN A. KOSKINEN

Mr. Chairman, I am pleased to have the opportunity today to testify before the
Committee on Governmental Affairs on S. 88, the "Local Empowerment and Flexibil-

ity Act of 1995." This Committee's leadership in the efforts to encourage innovation
and entrepreneurship at the State and local levels has been exemplary. The Admin-
istration commends you for your dedication to improving State and local flexibility.

The Administration believes S. 88 is focused on an important issue, especially the
question of how to assist our distressed rural and urban communities to empower
themselves, and we appreciate the chance to express our views and concerns about
this legislation.

The President has consistently supported efforts to empower communities to take
charge of their own destinies and to remove Federal impediments that constrain in-

novation, experimentation, and entrepreneurship at the local level. The President
and his Administration have worked hard to restore balance to the intergovern-
mental partnership between the Federal Government and State, local and tribal

governments, to promote bottom-up solutions to our nation's problems, and to cur-

tail the imposition of unfunded Federal mandates. In "Putting People First," the
President promised to create a program to allow cities the flexibility to redirect a
percentage of Federal assistance they receive to meet their own community prior-

ities and further their local revitalization strategies.

In a time of declining Federal resources, the granting of waivers and the provid-
ing of flexible funding streams are two ways to increase the impact of Federal pro-
grams. The President and his Administration have supported greater waiver author-
ity and flexibility in a number of ways. In September 1993, the National Perform-
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ance Review (NPR) recommended a bold, bottom-up grant-consolidation to encour-

age innovation and create flexibility in the face of grant proliferation. Then, in the

103rd Congress, the President proposed legislation as part of the EZ/EC initiative

that would have given the Federal Government broad authority to provide waivers
in a one-stop process to local governments that develop a comprehensive strategic

plan. As you are all aware, the Senate adopted similar legislation as an amendment
offered by Senator Hatfield to S. 4 the "Competitiveness Act", but the bill was not

enacted.

A few existing Federal programs are authorized to provide waivers to States in

administering programs within statutory and regulatory guidelines. The best known
are the demonstration authorities in AFDC and Medicaid. Those particular authori-

ties were designed to allow State experimentation with new ideas for research and
evaluation purposes, not as a vehicle for regulated State flexibility. This Administra-
tion has increased the use of the existing system of granting waivers and we are

proud of the fact that we have been able to reduce the time it takes to review waiver
requests. However, no matter how much we continue to streamline the existing

waiver process, there are statutory limits to our waiver authority.

In his 1996 Budget, therefore. President Clinton proposed that 271 separate pro-

grams be consolidated into 27 "Performance Partnerships." Each of these would con-

solidate funding streams and eliminate overlapping authorities, create financial in-

centives and reward results consistent with broad national purposes, and reduce
micro management and wasteful paperwork. The distinctive feature of the Perform-
ance Partnerships model, in contrast to the traditional block grant approach to con-

solidation, is the combination of greatly increased flexibility with accountability and
rewards for performance. This model empowers States and communities, who can
use Federal resources flexibly to construct the best local solutions to problems, and
rewards them for their success.

While the Administration's efforts to promote flexibility have proven to be a

strong beginning to devolving power to the local level, they are not complete an-

swers to the problem. For Federal grant programs to work, we believe strongly that
the Executive Branch agencies must have the flexibility to waive statutes and re-

move barriers that interfere with communities trying to improve their economic and
social conditions. Some departments currently have this authority, but others do
not. Your legislation, with some key changes, would help to address this issue.

The Administration would like to support legislation such as S. 88 introduced by
Senator Hatfield, if we can reach agreement on the issues that we believe are criti-

cal to the effectiveness of your legislation. These include:

• Improving ways to review applications for waivers, such as establishing an ap-
propriate time frame for reviewing waivers (the 45 day review period does not
provide sufficient time to ensure that strategic plans are of high quality) and
ensuring that the legislation does not make the process so complex and difficult

to administer that it unnecessarily delays community efforts.

• Making approval of plans contingent upon the submission of a strategic plan
containing specific goals and measurable performance criteria.

It is important, as we talk about waivers and flexibility, that we make certain

we are not waiving accountability. In fact, well-designed accountability provisions
help clarify the financial and programmatic relationship between the Federal Gov-
ernment and States and localities. Thus, we strongly believe the bill should clearly

maintain the financial accountability provided through single audits as a foundation
for ensuring appropriate financial management and internal controls.

In addition, we must not lose sight of the need to test and validate the integrity

of financial and performance information, as well as to develop the capacity to un-
derstand what it means. This will be as important to our State and local partners
as much as ourselves. We will all need to know what the data reveal. Are things
really getting better? Why? Was it due to the program, or was it simply that the
economy was stronger? Such evaluations will take resources—because such informa-
tion and understanding of the data does not come free.

• Making States as well as local governments eligible for waivers, expanding the
involvement of States in the review of proposed waivers and encouraging State
and local governments to eliminate barriers to innovations at the State and
local level.

• Providing additional exclusions for certain important areas, such as tax policy,

worker safety, environmental protection, labor standards and relations, finan-
cial management, and public health.
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• Providing appropriate authority for Federal agency heads to approve waiver re-

quests and sufficient administrative support for the interagency mechanism to

respond efficiently to the local strategic plans and waiver requests.

• Replacing the Flexibility Council with the Community Empowerment Board
(CEB), removing the Assistants to the President for Domestic and Economic
Policy, and maintaining the President's discretion in choosing the CEB's mem-
bers.

• Tying the continuation of waivers to the performance measures provided under
related strategic plan.

We support a performance-based approach in which States and localities would
be responsible for program outputs and outcomes, not simply implementation and
administrative processes. We think a focus on results is a more responsible way to

administer federally-assisted programs. Our goal is to have States and cities begin

to consider how they deploy all Federal resources available to them, whether block

grants or otherwise. We would, for example, be looking to see how they answer such
questions as: "What are we trying to accomplish?" and "Who will be held account-

able?"

• Narrowing the criteria of those who may apply, or providing some priority con-

sideration to communities of greater need or distress, so that agencies can proc-

ess requests in reasonable time frames.

Specifically, we propose that the CEB accept for review no fewer than 50 local

flexibility plans per year. This would allow the CEB to limit the number of commu-
nities that receive waivers, but would give the Board the option to consider more
than 50 plans if they have the time and resources.

We look forward to working with you to address these concerns and we thank you
for your leadership in sponsoring this bill and this hearing.

I would be happy to answer questions you and the members of your Committee
may have.

PREPARED STATEMENT OF SUE CAMERON

Thank you for the opportunity to testify today in support of the Local

Empowerment and Flexibility Act. My name is Sue Cameron, and I am the adminis-
trator of the health department in Tillamook County, Oregon. Tillamook is a rural

coastal county, with 20,000 people, and far more cows. Our economy is built on tour-

ism and timber resulting in our county placing 33rd out of 36 counties in per capita

income. We are a medically underserved county and 42% of our population is under
200% of the Federal Poverty Level. Our county motto is "Trees, Cheese, and Ocean
Breeze." And our most auspicious resident is Senator Hatfield.

I want to describe to you some remarkable developments in our home state and
our home county. Since 1989, Oregon has embraced a system known as the Oregon
Benchmarks, which is a set of 257 measurable goals for Oregon that grew out of

our strategic plan, Oregon Shines. Our goals include those for people, for the envi-

ronment and the economy. The Benchmarks represent a different way of thinking.

We talk about results: literacy—not dollars spent for schools or student-teacher ra-

tios; reduced crime—not prison beds; reduced teen pregnancy rates—not contracep-

tives delivered. We talk about accountability for results, and the key idea here is

that by being accountable for results we should not have to face the red tape and
micromanagement often imposed by government when results are vague or com-
pletely invisible. The second idea behind the Benchmarks is that we measure how
the entire community performs, and the idea that by looking holistically we can pull

together funding teams and organizations to actually achieve those results. Rather
than trying to manage individual programs, our goal is to bring all efforts together
to a common purpose. To use this system wisely, we need to decategorize funding
streams, pool funding and reduce barriers. We were the first state to move to a re-

sults-driven system, and we have had several years to develop this alternative ap-
proach—an approach embodied in the Local Empowerment and Flexibility Act.

I want to relay to you some of the actual experience that comes from moving to

a results-driven system. Let me take an example—teen pregnancy. Four years ago,

everyone concerned with the teen pregnancy issue in Tillamook County gathered in

a room and asked, "What can we do to reduce teen pregnancy?" We had good reason.

We had the second highest teen pregnancy rate in the state, an unacceptable 24 per
thousand; so we decided to focus on results. We asked every person there—people
from churches, schools, health clinics, interest groups of all kinds—what we could
do to get to our Oregon Benchmark of 9 per thousand. Each had a different idea,

21 -461 96-9
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and we were able to develop some strategies. One of them was to make sure every
girl who called for advice had a clinical contact within 24 hours—as opposed to the
four to six weeks many of them were facing after making an appointment. Another
was for the churches to help parents communicate well with their children to post-

pone sexual activity. We have largely achieved that goal, working in concert, and
I am firmly convinced this is a major factor in our success. The main point, though,
is that collaboration is the main reason for our accomplishments—many working to-

gether, applying different strategies from schools, clinics, churches, service organiza-

tions—together making a difference in the result. We could have made even more
progress had we been able to consolidate funding that was coming into the county
from a variety of federal programs. Luckily, Oregon a year ago signed an agreement
with the Federal Government called the Oregon Option, which allows us to pilot a
new kind of service delivery system based on results. Local, state and federal part-

ners are working together under this agreement to try to reduce red tape in ex-

change for being accountable, together, for a set of Oregon benchmarks. This kind
of arrangement would be greatly enhanced with the passage of this act.

Another example of local empowerment in Tillamook County is that over the last

9 months, we have through the Northwest Economic Adjustment Initiative put to-

gether a pilot "Jobs of the Woods" program that is managed by the Management
Training Corporation, our local job training provider. It includes as partners the

U.S. Forest Service, the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, the Bureau of Land Manage-
ment, U.S. Department of Labor, Tillamook County, Tillamook County Soil & Water
Conservancy District, the Oregon Department of Forestry, and the Oregon Economic
Development Department. We have employed 13 dislocated timber workers who are
working on state and federal forest land, performing restoration projects that will

help bring back both the fish to our streams and the trees to our land. These indi-

viduals are also receiving training to become multiskilled workers at family wage
jobs. This is a successful local, state and federal partnership that we hope will con-
tinue far into the future, and is one of the kinds of models that the Local
Empowerment and Flexibility Act will encourage. In order to create this kind of
project, we have had to face many state and federal barriers dealing with procure-
ment, training, and rules that make it difficult, if not impossible, to cross land own-
ership boundaries to achieve our goals. Enabling our partners, local, state, and fed-

eral, to overcome the barriers that we all encounter would enable us to employ more
people and to do a better job at solving the employment and environmental prob-
lems that our community has faced.

One thing that happens when you move to a results-driven system is that you
find yourself measuring how you are doing. We have moved to a greatly improved
system of timely, accurate measurement based on our Benchmarks. Through the Or-
egon Option, working with the U.S. Census Bureau and various state agencies, we
have designed new graphic tools to help local and state decision makers allocate re-

sources based on real—not anecdotal or imaginary—need. These tools are extremely
effective in mobilizing communities. I have provided you with some examples of
these new tools to show how the result-driven system can lead to an informed, ac-

countable resource allocation. This will clearly be needed in a block grant environ-
ment.

In closing, I want to thank you for the opportunity to explain how Tillamook
County has used the results-driven model to begin to move to better results, often
under difficult circumstances. We have formed broader partnerships and refined our
ability to measure how we are doing. We believe that the Local Empowerment and
Flexibility Act would help all American communities make the most of limited re-

sources, and we encourage others to move, as we have, to focusing on results.
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National Association of Counties

December 1, 1996

The Honorable Ted Stevens

United States Senate

SH-522 Hart Senate Office Building

Washington, DC. 20510-0201

Dear Senator Stevens

On behalf of county governments across the nation, I ain writing to express our

strong support for S 88, the Local Empowerment and Flexibility Act of 1995. As you

prepare for the December 5 hearing, I am very pleased you have invited Sue Cameron of

Tillamook County, Oregon to testify before the Senate Governmental Affairs Committee.

1 have asked her to mention the National Association of Counties' support for the bill in

her testimony

As federal aid to local governments decreases, we will be under increased pressure

to do more with less While the benefits provided by this legislation will not reduce the

need for federal aid, it will provide localities greater flexibility to design and implement

federal grant programs in a more efficient and cost effective manner

Under the proposal, local governments will be granted a waiver fi'om excessive

regulations and allowed to combine separate federal grants. This will enable them to use

a comprehensive approach to address the needs of their local residents and thereby spend

more of their grant funds on serving citizens and less on meeting excessive regulatory and

papenvork requirements

The attached is NACo's resolution urging support for the Local Flexibility Act,

which was adopted in 1994 in response to the original House bill. As county officials, we

stand ready to assist you in any way we can to secure the immediate passage of the Senate

companion bill, S 88 Thank you for your support and please feel fi-ee to contact Larry

Jones of the NACo staff if you have any questions.

Sincerely

Douglas%ovin

NACo President

Commissioner, Delta County (Mich)

«0 First Sneer NW
Washington. DC2000!-2080

202/393-6226

fan 202/393-2630
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National Association of Counties

RESOLUTION URGING SUPPORT FOR
THE LOCAL FLEXIBILITY ACT

WHEREAS, the Local Flexibility Act was introduced in 1993 to provide local

governments increased flexibility to administer federal programs; and

WHEREAS, under the proposed legislation, a five year demonstration program would be

established to encourage local govenmients to develop comprehensive plans that better meet the

needs of low income individuals by granting local governments waivers from federal regulations

in order to make it easier for them to combine federal grants in several categories; education,

employment and training, health, housing, nutrition, social services and economic development;

and

WHEREAS, the National Association of Counties also urges that other federal funded

programs such as the Intermodal Surface Transportation and Efficiency Act be coordinated with

programs sponsored under the Local Partnership Act; and

WHEREAS, the proposed legislation grew out of Vice President Al Gore's

recommendations in his National Performance Review report issued in 1993; and

WHEREAS, the Senate approved its version of the bill (S.4) earlier this year in the

National Competitiveness Act; and

WHEREAS, the House approved the National Competitiveness Act but did not adopt its

version of the Local Flexibility Act; and

WHEREAS, House and Senate conferees will consider the final approval of the Local

Flexibility Act in 1994:

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the National Association of Counties urges

House and Senate conferees on the National Competitiveness Act to approve the Local

Flexibility Act; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that NACo urges Congress to adopt the conference

report and the President to sign the measure into law.

Adopted August 4, 1994

440 First Street. NW
Wasltington. DC 20001-2080

202/393-6226

fax 202/393-2630
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF GAIL PHILLIPS

It is nice to see you again and I thank you Mr. Chairman for this opportunity

to testify favorably on the Local Empowerment and Flexibility Act and Senator Hat-
field for introducing this legislation. My name is Gail Phillips, and I am the Speaker
of the Alaska House of Representatives. Previous to my State Legislative service,

I also served in local government at the City Council and Borough Assembly levels.

My background and experience gives me the impetus for strongly supporting the

concept of this legislation.

Communities around our country are different from one another in many ways
This Act provides the framework which recognizes these differences by providing

greater flexibility to local governments to administer funding.

Federal regulation as administered across the country, in many instances, is not

as effective as it could be simply because communities and situations are so dif-

ferent.

Alaska communities, in many cases, are hit the hardest by unilateral regulation

and federal administration of funding because of their differences from other local-

ities across the country. Partly because of their size but also because of their dis-

tance from the Continental U.S. Many rural communities for example do not have
running water or sewage treatment facilities. Others are in desperate need of basic

housing and many do not have roads that connect them to anywhere let alone high-

ways to the outside world. Rural roads in Alaska are significantly different from
major highways.

I was raised in the community of Nome, Alaska, located in the Northwestern re-

gion of Alaska. The differences between Nome, a mining town of 5,000 residents and
a community such as Arlington, Virginia, are staggering.

Alaska will greatly benefit from this legislation given the unique situations found
in our state and the need to recognize the differences. There are great differences

in the need for rural health care providers and the unique circumstances found in

Alaska with regard to Clean Air and Water regulation.

My constituents are the people of Alaska and they feel strongly about the need
to decentralize government. I believe the American people feel the same way. This

Act is a great beginning at truly re-inventing government to better serve the needs
of its citizens while at the same time maximizing efficiency. Regulatory reform is

something we are all trying to accomplish—this certainly should help!

I do have several recommended additions to be included in the Act:

1. Additionally consider for state government funding Departments of Transpor-
tation, Education and Health.

2. Have a system of accountability built into the process.

3. CSice programs are designed, a provision should be added that will ensure
funding will remain intact and no significant changes will be made to the Act.

4. The Flexibility Council should have representation from state or local govern-

ment organizations.
5. After developing the list of regulations most frequently waived, the Flexibility

Council should prepare justification for dismissing these regulations.

6. Conditions for qualification need to be clearly defined so certain regionalized

councils are not included.

This Act is an important step for States rights of which I am a strong advocate.

I think a strong process for accountability will guarantee its success.

Local and State government entities need to work together to make certain this

succeeds.
I strongly urge adoption of this Act. Again, I appreciate this opportunity to testify

on this important legislation.

PREPARED STATEMENT OF R. SCOTT FOSLER

Good morning Mr. Chairman and members of the Committee. I am Scott Fosler,

President of the National Academy of Public Administration. I'm pleased to testify

on the important reforms to federal categorical grants and the intergovernmental
systems for administering them reflected in S. 88, The Local Empowerment and
Flexibility Act of 1995. My testimony today is also similar to that of the chair of

NAPA's Standing Panel on the Federal System, Carl Stenberg, as he testified in

early August to the House Subcommittee on Human Resources and Intergovern-
mental Affairs on H.R. 2086.
The Academy is an independent, nonpartisan, nonprofit organization chartered by

Congress to identify emerging issues of governance and to provide practical assist-
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ance to federal, State, and local governments to improve their performance. The
Academy's unique resource is its membership—more than 400 current and former
members of Congress, cabinet secretaries, senior federal executives. State and local

officials, businesspersons, diplomats, journalists, and civic activists who are elected

by their peers.

In 1993, the Academy created the Alliance for Redesigning Government to help

generate a dramatically more effective system of governance by connecting and sup-
porting people at the federal. State, and local levels who are developing new and
better ways to make government work. Through the Alliance's bimonthly news-
letter, The Public Innovator, this network is up-to-date on cutting-edge practices

and reforms being implemented. As always, the Academy stands ready to share its

resources with this committee and the rest of Congress.
We want to express our appreciation to Senator Hatfield and to this Committee

for examining a series of issues that are vital to our nation's future.

The federal categorical grants system has grown like topsy. A 1995 study by the
Advisory Commission on Intergovernmental Relations (ACIR) reported that there
were 618 categorical programs available to State and local governments in the fed-

eral system as of January 1, 1995. The count included 110 education programs,
more than 100 health care grant programs, 82 social service grant programs, and
close to 30 grant programs dealing with community and regional development.
As the number and variety of categorical grants has grown, so too has the list

of requirements and restrictions imposed through both statute and regulation. Born
of good intentions, in practice they can hinder or frustrate effective efforts to achieve
the ambitious goals these programs have established. Negotiating the maze of man-
dates related to planning, applying for, and administering some of these programs
would test the patience of Job and the wisdom of Solomon.

It also imposes significant compliance costs. Scarce resources are diverted from
the intended recipients to administration and overhead. In his statement introduc-

ing S. 88, Senator Hatfield starkly stated the problem: "Many of these programs are
too narrow and regulatory rigidity translates into funding spent wastefully in audits
and record-keeping rather than directed to meet community needs."

In exercising their duties, federal officials are exercising a sacred public trust.

They must ensure that the public's money is allocated to meet the nation's highest
priorities and that each and every taxpayer dollar is used as effectively as possible.

Generally, the intergovernmental system has sought to meet this obligation by im-
posing a series of processes, management, accounting, and reporting requirements.
However, depriving State and local governments of discretion that could produce

misbehavior also limits the discretion that could call forth outstanding innovation
and achievement of important and legitimate public responsibilities. That doesn't

mean the Federal Government should hand out blank checks. It does mean a more
balanced approach that gives greater flexibility to make the system work and at the
same time requires accountability for achieving results.

In the kind of overly centralized, prescriptive system that's been created, we also

pay a price for limiting the ability of others to experiment and to learn how to get
the public's work done better, faster, or cheaper. Setting priorities and ensuring ac-

countability for producing real results are the responsibility of top policymakers and
political leaders. Dictating the details of the strategies, methods, and procedures ap-
plied to meet those goals may be counterproductive, however. The control of discre-

tion and resources does not guarantee that the holder has a monopoly on the knowl-
edge about how to adapt and respond to the disparate needs of communities across
the country. America is too diverse for "one size fits all" policies and programs. Ad-
ministrative "stovepipe" mentality precludes addressing functionally related needs.
To be effective, federal. State, and local programs must recognize the differences
among our communities, permit variation in spending and administration based on
local needs and changing conditions, and seek to provide flexibility while enhancing
accountability for results that really matter.
During the 1980s, corporations around the world learned a powerful lesson. If the

gap between those with the power to decide and those on the production line or in

the front line with consumers grows too large, the businesses' vitality and profit-

ability sag. The Federal Government specifically—and the public sector generally

—

should learn how these lessons apply to the public service.

Public and nonprofit organizations at the State and local level are the front line
in our intergovernmental partnership. They are the vital key to achieving the best
possible performance. Rather than enforce compliance with rigid rules, the Federal
Government should challenge these capable and committed people to apply the full

measure of their skills, creativity, and adaptability to achieving results for commu-
nities and people. The good news is that there is a wellspring of promising innova-
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tions at the State and local levels and from community-based and other nonprofit

organizations that others can learn ft-om.

The bad news is that the burden of federal compliance and oversight measures
can be overwhelming and often wasteful and detrimental to achieving program
goals. For example, in Multnomah County, Oregon, a local community college leads

a consortium that has integrated a wide range of services and is showing remark-
able success in supporting the transition from dependency to work for local welfare

recipients. A portion of the funds are provided by the Job Training Partnership Act
(JTPA). The JTPA link created two administrative problems. First, although JTPA
funding amounts to less than 10 percent of the community college's overall funding,

a separate accounting process is required to meet JTPA's precise financial monitor-

ing and reporting requirements. Second, in some cases equipment purchased with
JTPA funds cannot be used by clients or students who do not meet JTPA eligibility

requirements. To comply with the letter of the law, some equipment would be left

idle when it could be put to fuller use with clients who are not JTPA eligible.

To achieve the highest level of performance, we should create systems that are

capable of continuous learning and adjustment. Prescriptive systems place too much
emphasis on outmoded "command-and-control" models and too little emphasis on
flexibility with accountability for meeting ambitious performance goals and cross-

cutting needs.
We can and must do better. S. 88 is a good starting point in at least five respects:

• First, authorizing Local Flexibility Plans creates a powerful incentive for the

most innovative local governments and nonprofit organizations to pioneer new
approaches to meeting pressing social needs. It will help demonstrate the effi-

cacy of placing greater emphasis on aligning public and nonprofit resources

through a "bottom up" process. State governments are also an important con-

duit for categorical programs and provider of services and we urge you to con-

sider expanding the bill to include State Flexibility Plans as well. The broaden-
ing of the scope of the Flexibility Plan approach has merit in view of the fact

that relatively few direct federal-local grant programs currently exist.

• Second, the bill would require participants to "specify goals and measurable per-

formance criteria," to monitor and report performance against these goals, and
to provide for a "comprehensive evaluation" of the impacts and costs. All are

important steps toward more results-oriented governance systems.
The proposal, however, may benefit from greater specificity on the procedures

for ensuring accountability. The "Evaluation and Termination" provisions would
require annual reports on activities under each approved Local Flexibility Plan.

Periodic reporting will be necessary, but it may be better to authorize The Flexi-

bility Council to establish reporting periods appropriate for individual cases.

Further, rather than emphasizing termination of plans when goals and perform-
ance criteria have not been met, the proposal should stress prompt consultation

between the federal agencies and the local authorities and the opportunity to

adjust both the flexibility plan and its goals and measurable objectives based
on experience and chaifging conditions. Ambitious goals may not be met by suc-

cessful programs, just as modest goals can be met by failing programs.
• Third, the bill recognizes the importance of developing data bases, planning, and

evaluation processes in building more results-oriented governance systems. Pol-

icymakers too often assume data are available—reliable, current, and with ap-

propriate geographical coverage—to support effective benchmarking, perform-
ance monitoring, and reporting. This is not generally the case. Data systems
and collection efforts should be improved to meet the uses envisioned. Confiden-
tiality requirements, such as those that limit the use of Social Security numbers
as identifiers, can limit the utility of administrative data bases for these pur-

poses. In many cases, integrating administrative data bases across an array of

State and local programs will be the best method for tracking results. On the

federal level, proposals to reduce funding or limit the type of social and demo-
graphic data to be collected in the next census would also hamper performance
measurement. Both are issues that merit congressional attention.

• Fourth, the proposal creates a feedback system by requiring reports on the fed-

eral regulations most frequently waived under this new authority. Congress
should consider giving an "early out" to statutory and administrative restric-

tions that are identified as outmoded in the course of implementation and eval-

uation of Local Flexibility Plans. The process used to review and recommend
the closure of military bases is one model that may be worth considering for

this purpose. That approach could provide a mechanism to trigger congressional
action to allow broader exemption from general rules when identical or similar
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waivers arise from separate jurisdictions and from across the jurisdictions of a
number of authorizing committees.

• Finally, section 10 of the proposal will help ensure that technical assistance will

be available to local governments and others involved in designing flexibility

plans. This is a desirable feature in view of the complexity of and inadequate
information available about applying this new approach. While federal agencies
can be an effective provider of such assistance, you may consider broadening the
range of options by authorizing or directing the agencies to support technical
assistance provided by others—such as State governments, State and National
associations of public officials, and NAPA and other organizations with existing
capacity to provide effective technical assistance and support.

The 104th Congress has dedicated itself to addressing fundamental issues in our
system of governance. In his January 4, 1995 address to the opening of this session.

Speaker Gingrich declared: "We should insist that our success for America is felt

in the neighborhoods, in the community, is felt by real people leading real lives who
can say 'y^ah, we're safer, we're healthier, we're better educated, America suc-

ceeds.'" In light of the critical role the State and local public and nonprofit sectors
play in meeting those goals, the reforms and exciting challenges presented by this

proposal would be a good step toward translating the speaker's and this Congress'
vision into reality.

Thank you Mr. Chairman for the opportunity to testify on this important pro-

posal. I would be happy to answer any questions you or other members may have.

PREPARED STATEMENT OF CHARLES GRIFFITHS

Mr. Chairman, I appreciate the opportunity to comment on S. 88, the Local
Empowerment and Flexibility Act of 1995.
My remarks today are from the perspective of a staff member of the Advisory

Commission on Intergovernmental Relations. The Commission itself has not taken
a position on either S. 88, or its companion legislation, H.R. 2086, that has been
introduced by Representative Shays, Chairman of the Human Resources and Inter-

governmental Relations Subcommittee of the Government Reform and Oversight
Committee.

I hasten to add, however, that I believe the Commission would endorse the gen-
eral purposes and thrust of this legislation. For over two decades, ACIR has stressed
the need for the type of federal assistance reform embodied in S. 88.

Mr. Chairman, I have worked in the intergovernmental arena for nearly 25 years.
Prior to coming with the ACIR, I served as Chief of Federal Program Coordination
for the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, and then served as Director of the Penn-
sylvania Intergovernmental Council, a state-local body similar to ACIR.

I am well acquainted with the growth, benefits, and problems associated with fed-

eral assistance. In a sense. State and local governments have had a "love-hate" rela-

tionship with federal aid. These governments have certainly appreciated the help
that federal aid has been in critical program areas. At the same time, though, these
governments have had to endure federal program structures, processes, and require-
ments that often frustrated State and local efforts to apply and manage this assist-

ance effectively and efficiently.

In response to the frustrations expressed by State and local governments, there
have been numerous efforts over the years to reform the federal aid system, by
streamlining and simplifying it in ways intended to increase effectiveness and effi-

ciencies. Some of these efforts were successful in whole or part, while others failed.

I believe that there are four basic ingredients to successful federal aid reforms:

• Holistic rather than partial solutions. If a reform attempts to treat only part
of a problem or need, it will likely fail. I believe that S. 88 goes much further
than previous reform efforts towards a holistic solution to federal aid prob-
lems and needs, but I will have some suggestions for additional steps in this
regard.

• Sufficient commitment of time to allow the reform to succeed. The 5 year au-
thorization provided in this bill provides critical time for implementation, but
it should not be viewed as a 'once-and-done' effort, but rather as an initial

testing and refinement period for a longer intergovernmental commitment.
• Flexibility that allows recipients to apply and adapt federal aid to particular

circumstances and capacities. This is a primary purpose of S. 88, and its prin-
ciple strength. I will, however, have additional suggestions in this regard.

• Avoiding excessive complexity in the objectives being sought and the proc-
esses involved. The results must be truly cost-effective and time-saving. I be-
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lieve that S. 88 strives to avoid excessive complexity but, again, I will suggest
additional ways to help achieve this goal.

Before turning to my suggestions, I would like to briefly outline two past reform
efforts that I believe are instructive, and which help to set the foundation for my
suggestions.

Integrated Grant Administration

The Integrated Grant Administration (IGA) was initiated in 1972 by 0MB, as a
test for simplifying the funding and administration of federal program assistance.

The central objective of the IGA was to simplify the process by which State and
local grantees idfentified, applied for, and administered funds comprised of more
than one Federal assistance program to carry out a single project. Initially, the only

programs excluded were those supporting construction or the acquisition of land.

Later, even these exclusions were lifted for some demonstration projects.

Federal Regional Councils (FRCs), which were in place at that time, were given

the primary responsibility for liaison with State and local governments, and to co-

ordinate the packaging of IGA applications.

To qualify as an IGA project, the federal programs involved had to be included

in a single application, be related by a common purpose or ability to support related

goals, and based on an overall strategy to achieve a common objective.

One Federal agency "point-of-contact" was be appomted to process each consoli-

dated application, rather than making an applicant deal with multiple federal agen-
cies. A single grant award notice was issued with synchronized funding periods.

Funding was "pooled" from the different federal agencies, and delivered as a single

funding stream through one federal agency.
Grantees were required to submit single financial reports to a single federal agen-

cy. These reports were guided by one set of coordinated federal requirements to

monitor progress.
It should be noted that the IGA provided no additional funds to grantees other

than what they were already eligible to receive, and which had been appropriated.

The IGA began with 24 approved projects totaling over $33 million. OMB's first

assessment of the program was a favorable one. For example, the assessment found
that the IGA promoted improved intergovernmental working relationships.

On the other hand, assessments by 0MB and GSA found a need for greater com-
mitment on the part of federal agencies for participating in this program. Problems
of "turf", as well as statutory barriers to program consolidation were seen as stum-
bling blocks to agency cooperation.

It was also found that the IGA required more time and effort by federal agencies
than what would be normally expected with individual categorical grants. Observers
believed this to be a normal part of the "learning curve", and not necessarily a long-

term condition.

This latter finding suggested that significant changes to existing financial assist-

ance processes require several years to implement and refine, before their full po-

tential could be realized.

Joint Funding Simplification Act of 1974

Based on the encouraging experience of the IGA, the House Subcommittee on
Intergovernmental Relations held "New Federalism" hearings in 1974.
At the time, H.R. 11236, the Joint Funding Simplification Act, was before the

Subcommittee. The purpose of this legislation was to embody the essence of the IGA
experiment.

In the hearings on this legislation, it was again stressed that it takes time to im-
plement and perfect significant changes to the federal aid system. It was pointed
out, for example, that the early years of the IGA tended to concentrate more on pro-

cedural issues than substantive outcomes.
The Joint Funding Simplification Act was enacted in 1974. The three purposes of

the act closely resemble the purposes of S. 88:

• Enable States, local governments, and private nonprofit organizations to use
assistance of the U.S. Government more effectively and efficiently;

• Adapt the assistance more readily to particular needs through wider use of

projects that are supported by more than one executive agency, assistance
program, or appropriation. . . ; and

• Encourage Federal-State arrangements under which local governments and
private nonprofit organizations may more effectively and efficiently combine
Federal and State resources to support projects of common interest to those
local governments and those organizations.

Some of the key provisions of this act included:
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• Requiring the President to promulgate regulations to assure that the act was
applied by all federal agencies consistently, in accordance with the purposes
of the act;

• Authorizing federal agencies to identify programs suitable for joint funding,
and to develop guidelines and common application forms;

• Authorizing federal agencies to modify administrative requirements that
might impede joint funded projects;

• Permitting the Administration to develop a system for designating "lead agen-
cies" to coordinate the review of joint programs applications, and for oversee-

ing projects that are approved;
• Authorizing the creation of "joint management funds" to finance multipurpose

projects, into which the participating agencies could transfer their share of

the funding to be paid out by the "lead agency"; and
• Permitting federal agencies to determine a single "non federal matching

share" for each project, where such requirements applied.

It is interesting to note that this act also permitted a federal agency to enter into

joint funding agreements with States, where a single federal program could be joint-

ly funded with a single State program, and granted to a local government for imple-
mentation.
After becoming law, and in successive executive orders, oversight of this act was

given first to GSA, and then later to 0MB. The act was authorized for 5 years. In
1980, the act was reauthorized for another 5 years. However, in 1982, this act, along
with a number of other laws considered to be obsolete or ineffective, including the
Intergovernmental Cooperation Act of 1968, were repealed.

I have been unable to find any significant evaluations of the Joint Funding Sim-
plification Act. I did find, however, passing comments about the act that lead one
to the conclusion that act never really got off the ground. Some who remember the
act believe that there was never a strong commitment on the part of federal agen-
cies to make this process work (because of the difficulties of crossing agency and
program boundaries). Those State and local governments who knew about the act
(and this was not a large number), found it difficult and time-consuming to pursue
joint funding, and therefore became less interested in attempting to do so.

S. 88 '

I believe that S. 88, in combination with current block grant reforms, provides an
important opportunity to address grant assistance issues that have bothered State
and local governments for many years.

The suggestions below attempt to build on the lessons of the past, and to reflect

the circumstances found today.

Governmental Focus

S. 88 focuses on local governments. This is understandable because local govern-
ments are on the "front-line" for achieving most federal policy objectives. The suc-
cess of these objectives rests largely on the ability of local governments to apply and
manage federal and State funding as effectively and efficiently as possible.

S. 88 attempts to strengthen local abilities by providing increased flexibility for

local officials to pursue federal objectives in a cost-effective manner most suitable
to local circumstances and needs. Greater flexibility will enable local officials to bet-

ter coordinate and achieve federal. State, and local priorities.

S. 88 is particularly useful to smaller and rural communities that lack the capac-
ities to obtain and manage federal programs. In effect, these communities are not
able to participate as full partners in our intergovernmental system for no other
reason than their size.

Nonetheless, S. 88 is less than an holistic solution because it leaves out State and
tribal governments. I believe that the purposes of this legislation are equally impor-
tant for State and tribal governments. S. 88 is concerned with achieving maximum
economies and efficiencies in the use of federal funds, by focusing on outcomes rath-
er than rigid requirements and processes. Certainly these are worthy goals for State
and tribal governments as well.

In addition, we are now in a period of dramatic reforms of American Federalism.
These reforms will result in shifting roles and responsibilities, including how federal
money is distributed and applied. The movement towards consolidating and blocking
federal programs at the State level will result in stronger state-local assistance rela-
tionships. These changes will give States a greater role and involvement in the kind
of "local empowerment and flexibility" envisioned by S. 88. Not to give States and
tribal governments the same flexibility is to leave out a very important component
that can be critical to the purposes of the act, and to federal reform efforts.
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Purposes

The purposes of S. 88 are meritorious. But I believe that the legislation can be
strengthened in two ways.

First, the bill appears to concentrate on consolidating two or more federal pro-

grams or appropriations. I believe that it is also important to provide the flexibility

for federal and State agencies to join programs that can serve a common purpose
at the local level. This may involve the pooling of funds through a single administer-

ing agency, and/or synchronizing time periods, regulatory requirements, and report-

ing. I would add here that this flexibility should be available even if only one federal

program is involved.

Perhaps the ball's language could be changed under Section 3.(3), that includes

a new subsection (C) to read: "integrating one or more federal programs or appro-
priations with one or more State programs."

Second, I believe one purpose of the bill should be to streamline federal planning
requirements, by providing common standards that can be met by applicants with
existing comprehensive plans that are up-to-date and reasonably adequate. This is

particularly important to smaller local governments. Federal planning requirements
are costly for small communities, and more so if they have to develop separate plans
for each federal program.
This purpose could be made clear if, under Section 3, a new (2) were inserted as

follows: "reduce local government costs by streamlining federal planning require-

ments, and by allowing communities to use existing, updated comprehensive plans

for federal program planning purposes."

Definitions

The definition of "eligible local government" does not appear to include entities

other than a single government. It does not, for example, appear to include Councils
of Government, or other regional bodies that may be eligible to receive federal as-

sistance. For rural areas, these regional entities often serve groups of local govern-
ments in certain programmatic areas because they have a greater capacity to do so.

I believe that the term "eligible local government" should be changed to "eligible

applicant", and that the definition of "eligible applicant" include local governments,
councils of governments, qualified regional bodies, and States if my previous' sugges-
tion is included.

If regional bodies are not included, it may remain difficult if not impossible for

some smaller governmental bodies to participate (even with increased flexibility) be-

cause they lack the capacity or expertise.

One important benefit of having regional bodies listed as "eligible applicants," is

that these entities could than prepare a single Flex Plan for two or more smaller
communities. As the bill is now written, if several local governments wished to co-

operate in a joint program endeavor, the bill would require separate flexibility plans
and assurances from each community. It would be much more cost-effective if a re-

gional body could develop a single plan, with assurances of participation and public

hearings by the participating governments.

APPLICATION REVIEW AND APPROVAL OF FLEXIBILITY PLANS

S. 88 creates a Flexibility Council at the federal level to receive local flexibility

plan proposals, to approve or disapprove applications, and to provide technical as-

sistance if requested and feasible. The bill gives agencies the authority to detail per-

sonnel to the Council. Given the current fiscal situation, it is likely that detailed

personnel would be required.
I have several suggestions related to this part of the bill which I believe would

be less expensive but more effective for the Federal Government, and which would
be more consistent with the federalism reforms now underway.

First, I believe that the Federal role should be as minimal as possible. This can
be done by giving the States an optional coordinating role for processing local Flex
Plan proposals, and also for recommending approval actions to the Flexibility Coun-
cil. States are in a much stronger position to evaluate the circumstances and merits
of local proposals. This would reduce the workload (and cost) at the Federal level,

and the time required to make final decisions.

• In turn. States could opt to use sub-state regional bodies as the first level of
review and comment as a means to reduce the State's workload. This would be
particularly relevant in rural areas which are often served by regional planning
agencies such as Rural Development Councils.

• As a means to offset the costs of this state role. States could be allowed to in-

clude these costs as indirect costs under the Federal Cash Management Act.
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This would amount to minor losses to the Federal Treasury, that would be more
than offset by the reduced Federal costs for reviewing local applications.

• The direct role (and cost) for the Flexibility Council would be lessened as more
States opt to serve this coordinating function.

One other option to consider in this regard is to permit interstate bodies the op-

portunity to coordinate appropriate flex plan reviews and recommendations. An ex-

ample of an interstate body is the Appalachian Regional Commission, and there is

legislation today that would create similar regional Economic Development Commis-
sions to succeed the Department of Commerce. These interstate bodies consist of

federal and state representation, and are therefore ideal for this role.

Second, we can take the lesson of past experience with the IGA and Joint Funding
Simplification Act, by giving the Flexibility Council the authority to designate "lead

agency" responsibility for different types of Flex Plans. This would minimize the

need for detailing staff to the Council, and place review decisions in agencies with
relevant experience and program relationships.

• That would leave the Flexibility Council primarily with an oversight respon-

sibility, including reporting to the Congress and President about the issues and
achievements under the law.

• With respect to the Council, the current Community Empowerment Board
(CEB) would be an appropriate structure to be assigned this responsibility.

Finally, this bill does not speak to a very important issue, which is the need to

simplify application requirements and costs. A major component of this need is to

make clear that the Flexibility Plan of an applicant will satisfy the application re-

quirements for all of the Federal programs included in the Plan.

If the Flexibility Plan is simply an additional layer on top of individual program
applications, the bill will fail to provide the cost and time savings intended under
the law. This provision would also help to stimulate greater inter-agency coordina-

tion and cooperation at the Federal level with respect to the standardization of proc-

esses and requirements.

Program Waivers

Program waivers are a critical aspect of S. 88. In order to give applicants suffi-

cient flexibility to accomplish the objectives set out in the Flex Plan, it may be nec-

essary to waive certain statutory or regulatory requirements that would otherwise
inhibit success. This provision recognizes that "one-size" public laws and regulations
cannot be expected to fit all local needs and circumstances, and hence the need for

exceptions by waiver.
I would like to make a few observations and suggestions related to this waiver

provision.

First, the bill prohibits waivers that would qualitatively reduce the level of serv-

ices or benefits to any individual or family that are eligible for benefits under one
or more of the covered programs.

I would suggest that the language in Section 8 (b)(2) be revised to read as follows:

"The Flexibility Council may not waive a requirement . . . unless the Council finds
that [waiver] shall not result in a net qualitative reduction in services or benefits
for any individual or family, within available federal funding levels, that is eligible

for benefits. . .
."

I propose this change because the major thrust of S. 88 is its focus on achieving
desired outcomes. In some circumstances, recipients of program benefits may prefer
and be better off if the Flex Plan includes certain "trade-offs" that may reduce some
benefit levels in favor of raising other tj^jes of benefits. This could involve, for exam-
ple, a reduction in housing assistance in favor of increased health or child-care bene-
fits.

In this example, the level of specific benefits may be altered, but the net level of
qualitative benefits would remain the same.
Given that the bill prohibits any increases of funding other than what would oth-

erwise be available, it might be necessary to alter the "mix" of the money available
to achieve the most beneficial outcomes.
The addition of the language, ".

. . within available federal funding levels . .

."

is intended only to clarify that net qualitative benefit levels are to be measured
within the context of actual Congressional appropriations.

Finally, the bill prohibits waivers of Federal matching requirements. I would like
to suggest that there may be instances when a waiver of matching requirements
may be appropriate, either in whole or part, for communities experiencing financial
distress, or for very small communities that have very limited fiscal capacities. The
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situation in Washington, DC is instructive in this regard, related to the City's prob-

lems in matching transportation funding.

For these types of communities, their ability to make use of federal assistance

may depend on a lower matching ratio or, in some cases, no matching requirements.

To be truly flexible, the bill should recognize the special fiscal circumstances of

distressed or small communities (perhaps within some population parameters), and
allow for negotiated matching ratios if justified by fiscal considerations, and the ob-

jectives being sought.

Community Advisory Committees

Most federal programs require that an applicant for assistance establish some
type of special advisory body for review and comment on the program design, oper-

ation, and accomplishments.
Such requirements are intended to ensure adequate public participation and

input. For larger governments, such requirements are not a significant problem.
They already have and regularly use many such mechanisms. If anything, the issue

for them will be avoiding redundancy.
But, for smaller communities, the added cost can be significant given the probable

size of the assistance and the program objectives being sought. The point that I

would like to make here is that applicants should be given the option of using exist-

ing citizen participation mechanisms that are in place, provided that they are rea-

sonably representative of the stakeholders targeted by the Flex Plan. This is likely

to be the case if the government or organization is already administering an existing

federal program.

Reports

I would like to conclude by commenting briefly on Section 12 of the legislation.

This section requires GAO to conduct a study of the law's implementation, and
report to the Congress within 54 months of the date of enactment. The study is to

look at the extent of local government use of the law, the effectiveness of federal

programs as part of the flexibility process, and to provide recommendations with re-

spect to local flexibility.

GAO is an experienced and quality research agency. But this agency does not
have State and local government officials serving in its leadership to guide the

study, and to decide what recommendations most eflectively express their view of

the law's merits and shortcomings.
I would like to suggest, Mr. Chairman, that this type of evaluation should be an

intergovernmental endeavor with involvement by federal. State, and local govern-
ment representatives. As such, I believe that an organization like ACIR may better

serve this purpose.
Finally, I would also like to suggest that the report of this experience be pre-

sented to the President as well as the Congress. Again, this process involves and
impacts all branches and levels of government.

I appreciate the opportunity to make these comments on S. 88, and will be happy
to answer any questions that you may have.

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development
Washington, DC 20410-7000

Ms. Susan Beekman
Senior Evaluator, U.S. General Accounting Office, Washington, DC 22002

Dear Ms. Beekman: You have requested the number of staff detailed to the
Urban EZ/EC Task Force and the CEB, and suggested that this be provided for dif-

ferent time intervals. Following are the number of staff detailed to the Task Force
at three different dates:

July, 1994—67
August, 1995—48
January, 1996—20

The reason for these variations is that functions and organization have changed
as the Task Force has evolved. From July through December, 1994, the Task Force
was engaged in reviewing the applications. Two hundred and ninety-two applica-

tions were received by the Urban Task Force. A very extensive review procedure
was established, and a large number of staff was necessary to accomplish this task
within a reasonable time frame.
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Following the designations, the Task Force was reconfigured on a geographic
basis to provide outreach and contacts to the communities designated. This phase
lasted from January through August, 1995. In September, the Task Force was re-

cast as a support organization, responding to the waiver (now known as flexibility)

and federal funding requests, and proving a source of expertise. Agencies currently

represented on the Task Force include: Department of Housing and Urban Develop-
ment, Department of Transportation, Health and Human Services, Department of

Justice, Department of Labor, Environmental Protection Agency, Small Business
Administration, CJeneral Services Administration, Department of Commerce and the
Department of Education.

In addition to the staff provided for the Task Force, the CEB agencies have pro-

vided support to the effort. Each agency has a primary representative and one or

more alternates on the CEB Working Group. These are the contacts through which
requests for information or action, such as waivers and funding requests, are chan-
neled to the regular program operations of the respective agencies.

The CEB itself is staffed by agency representatives assigned to the Office of the
Vice President. HUD, EPA and HHS have assigned one full-time employee to the
CEB staff DOT has assigned one full-time employee to work jointly with the CEB
and the National Performance Review (NPR). SBA had one full-time employee as-

signed to the CEB from March to December, 1995.

I hope you will find this responsive to your request. Please let me know if you
need further information.

Very sincerely yours,
Howard Glaser,

Deputy Assistant Secretary for Operations.
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